
THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
  
 

A G E N D A 
      

DATE:  Wednesday, November 18, 2015 
CLOSED MEETING:     6:00 P.M. 
REGULAR MEETING:  7:00 P.M.  

 
≠ Denotes resolution prepared  
 

1. Call the Meeting to Order  
 
2. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest & the General Nature Thereof. 
 

≠  3. Adoption and Receipt of Minutes of the Previous Meeting. 
 

(a) Council Meeting – November 4, 2015  
(b) Closed Council Meeting –November 4, 2015 
(c) Public Meeting  – L. Ferraro Inc. – McLean Road West – September 10, 2015 
(d) Public Meeting  – Glenn Allan & Yvonne Frosch c/o Robert & Lisa Frosch – 

6525 Concession 1 – October 21, 2015  
 
4. Business Arising Out of the Minutes. 
 
5. PUBLIC MEETINGS  
 

1.  Parks Master Plan  
 
*note this Public Open House will be held on Thursday, November 26, 2015 at 
7:00 p.m. at the Optimist Recreation Centre – 23 Brock Road South  
 

(a)   Public Open House Flyer  
 

 
6. COMMUNICATIONS  
 
≠1. County of Wellington Official Plan Amendment No. 96 – OP-2015-05  

County of Wellington – Community Improvement  
  

(a) Correspondence from County of Wellington regarding County Official Plan 
Amendment #96 – County File No.:  OP-2015-05, County of Wellington – 
Community Improvement dated November 2, 2015.  

 



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
November 18, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

  
 

P a g e  | 2 
 

≠2.   Request for Speed Limit Reduction 
 

(a) Correspondence from Ms. Sandra Pady regarding request for speed limit 
reduction Concession 4, between sideroad 20 and Wellington County Road 35 
dated November 3, 2015.  

 
3.  Region of Waterloo Biosolids Strategy  
 

(a) Correspondence from Region of Waterloo regarding Region of Waterloo 
Biosolids Strategy dated October 28, 2015.  

 
4. Source Protection Municipal Implementation Fund  
 

(a) Correspondence from Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change dated 
October 26, 2015.  

 
5. 6637 Concession 2 
 

(a) Correspondence from Ms. Patricia Maton regarding 6637 Concession 2, RR 22, 
Cambridge, ON  N3C 2V4 dated October 20, 2015.  

 
6. Mini Lakes  
 

(a) Correspondence from Stantec Consulting Ltd. Regarding ECA – Mini Lakes 
WWTP Upgrades dated October 26, 2015.   
 

(b) Report from Stantec Consulting Ltd. regarding Mini Lakes Mobile Home 
Community Quarterly Monitoring Program – 3rd Quarter 2015 dated November 
2, 2015.  *note a full copy of the report is available in the Clerk’s Office for 
viewing.  
 

(c) Correspondence from GM Blue Plan Engineering regarding Mini Lakes 
Wastewater Treatment Plan Effluent Monitoring Report, 3rd Quarter (2015) dated 
November 6, 2015.   

  
7.  CBM - St. Mary’s Cement  

Licence No. 625189  - Roszell Pit  
6618 and 6524 Roszell Rd 
 

(a) Correspondence from Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry regarding 
Minor Site Plan Amendment under the Aggregate Resources Act – Licence No. 
621589, St. Mary’s Cement, Part Lots 1 & 2, Concession 3 & 4 dated September 



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
November 18, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

  
 

P a g e  | 3 
 

2, 2015 with attached Page 2 of 6 Operation Plan.   *Note Operational Plan is 
available in the Clerk’s Office for viewing.  

 
8. Mill Creek Pit  

Licence  No. 5738  
7115 Concession 2 

 
(a) Correspondence from Dufferin Aggregates regarding Monthly Monitoring Report, 

Mill Creek Pit, License No. 5738, Township of Puslinch, Wellington County (June 
2015) dated July 14, 2015.   

 
Mr. Stan Denhoed, Harden Environmental Services Ltd. has reviewed the 
report and has no comment.  

 
9. Speed Spy Results – Arkell, Crieff and Townline Rd.  
 

(a) Correspondence from Ontario Provincial Police regarding Speed Spy Results – 
Arkell, Crieff and Townline Rd. dated November 5, 2015.   

 
≠10. Intergovernmental Affairs 
 

(a) Various correspondence for review. 
 
7. DELEGATIONS/PRESENTATIONS  
 
≠1. 7:00 p.m. – Steve Thurlow, Dillon Consulting, Puslinch Fire and Rescue Service, 

Master Fire Plan, Final Report.  *note see Agenda Item 8.1(b) 
 
8. REPORTS 
 
1. Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services  
 
≠(a) Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services Monthly Report – October 2015  
≠(b) Report FIR-2015-004 – Master Fire Plan  
  (c) Essentials of Municipal Fire Protection & Emergency Management  
 
2. Finance Department 
 
≠(a)  Financial Reports - October 2015    

 i. Financial Report as of October 31, 2015  
ii. Cheque Register –October 1, 2015 to October 31, 2015 
iii. Financial Report by Department –October 2015  



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
November 18, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

  
 

P a g e  | 4 
 

iv. Total Revenues, Contributions from Working Reserves and Expenditures 
– All Departments – October, 2015. 

 
3. Administration Department 
 
≠(a)  Report ADM-2015-019 – Aberfoyle Meadows Limited Release of Securities *to 

be distributed under separate cover – Monday, November 17, 2015.    
 
4. Planning and Building Department 
 
≠(a) Chief Building Official Report – October 2015 
 
≠(b) County of Wellington Planning Committee Report regarding Aggregate 

Resources Act Review – Blueprint for Change – PD2015-37 dated November 12, 
2015.   

 
5. Roads & Parks Department  
 
 None.  
    
6.  Recreation Department 
 
 None.  
 
7.  Mayor’s Updates  
 

(a) Business Retention and Expansion International (BREI) Award of Excellence  
 

 9. NOTICES OF MOTION  
  

None.    
 

 10.  COMMITTEE  MINUTES  
 

None.  
 
11. MUNICIPAL ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
November 18, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

  
 

P a g e  | 5 
 

 
≠ 13. CLOSED ITEMS  

 
Council will reconvene into Closed Session after open matters are completed, if 
required.  
 

(a) Confidential Report ADM-2015-017- Citizen Appointments to Advisory 
Committees of Council regarding personal matters about an identifiable 
individual including municipal or local board employees.  

 
(b) Confidential verbal report from Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk regarding litigation 

or potential litigation, including matters before administrative tribunals 
affecting the municipality or local board and advice that is subject to Solicitor-
Client privilege, including communications necessary for that purpose – Reid 
– 7827 Wellington Rd. 36. 

 
(c) Confidential Report ADM-2015-020 from Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk regarding 

Litigation or potential litigation, including matters before administrative 
tribunals affecting the municipality or local board – Aberfoyle Meadows 
Limited.  * to be distributed under separate cover – Monday, November 
17, 2015.    

 
≠14.  BY-LAWS  

 
(a) A by-law to permit the Municipality to impose fees or charges with respect to 

services or activities provided, related costs payable, and for the use of its 
property. 
 

≠15. CONFIRMING BY-LAW  
 

(a) By-law to confirm the proceedings of Council for the Corporation of the 
Township of Puslinch 

 
≠16. ADJOURNMENT 



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 November 4, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 

Page 1 of 13 
 

   
M I N U T E S 

 
DATE:  Wednesday, November 4, 2015  
TIME:   12:30 p.m. 

 
The October 7, 2015 Regular Council Meeting was held on the above date and called to order 
at 12:30 pm in the Council Chambers, Aberfoyle.  
 
1. ATTENDANCE:   

 
Mayor Dennis Lever – Absent  
Councillor Matthew Bulmer 
Councillor Susan Fielding  
Councillor Ken Roth  
Councillor Wayne Stokley  
 
STAFF IN ATTENDANCE: 

 
1. Donna Tremblay, Deputy Clerk 
2. Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk  
3. Paul Creamer, Director of Finance/Treasurer 
4. Don Creed, Director of Public Works and Parks  
5. Robert Kelly, Chief Building Official 

    
OTHERS IN ATTENDANCE 
 
1. Kevin Johnson  
2. Sandra Solomon 
3. Andreanne Simard 
4. Doug Smith  
5. Kathy White   
 

2. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST & THE GENERAL NATURE THEREOF: 
 
None.  
 
Acting Mayor, Susan Fielding read a message from Mayor Lever as follows:  
 
Mayor Lever sends his apologies for not being able to attend this afternoon’s Council 
session.  He is meeting with Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry representatives in 
Toronto regarding the Aggregate Resources Act review. 
 
 

3. ADOPTION OF THE MINUTES: 
 

(a) Budget Meeting –  October 14, 2015 
(b) Council Meeting – October 21, 2015  
(c) Closed Council Meeting – October 21, 2015 
(d) Public Meeting  –  2016 Proposed User Fee By-Law - September 17, 2015  
(e) Public Meeting  – Proposed Grant Application Policy and Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy - 

September 17, 2015  
 

Councillor Bulmer advised that the location on both of the Public Meetings of  
September 17, 2015 was incorrect as the Public Meetings took place at the Puslinch 
Community Centre and not the Puslinch Town Office.  
 
Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk advised that changes would be made.   

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 November 4, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 

Page 2 of 13 
 

 
Resolution No. 2015-414:  Moved by Councillor Stokley and  

Seconded by Councillor Roth 
 
That the minutes of the following meetings be adopted as written and distributed:  
 
(a) Budget Meeting –   October 14, 2015 
(b) Council Meeting – October 21, 2015 
(c) Closed Council Meeting – October 21, 2015 
 
That the minutes of the following meetings be received:  
 
(d) Public Meeting – 2016 Proposed User Fee By-Law – September 17, 2015 
(e) Public Meeting – Proposed Grant Application Policy and Fee Waiver/Reduction Policy – 

September 17, 2015 
 
CARRIED 

 
4. BUSINESS ARISING OUT OF THE MINUTES: 

 
None.  
 

5. PUBLIC MEETINGS:  
 
1.  Community Improvement Plan  
 
*note this Public meeting will be held on Thursday, November 5, 2015 at 7:00 p.m. at 
the Municipal Complex- 7404 Wellington Rd. 34    
 
(a) Notice of Public Meeting and Open House. 

 
2.  Parks Master Plan  
 
*note this Public Open House will be held on Thursday, November 26, 2015 at 7:00 
p.m. at the Optimist Recreation Centre – 23 Brock Road South  
 

(a)   Public Open House Flyer  
 
 

6. COMMUNICATIONS: 
  

Request re: Santa Claus Parade  
 

Resolution No. 2015-415:  Moved by Councillor Stokley and  
   Seconded by Councillor Roth 
 

That Council hereby waives the procedural by-law to allow and consider a matter Santa 
Claus Parade after the preparation of an agenda regarding a matter which is time sensitive.    

 
CARRIED 

 
Acting Mayor, Fielding advised those in attendance that a request had been received from 
the Santa Claus Parade Committee advising that this year marks the 20 anniversary of the 
parade which is scheduled to be held on Sunday, November 22, at 2:00 p.m. The parade 
committee has invited the Township to enter a float.  The committee is requesting that 
those participating arrive at the Township Offices between 1:00 and 1:30 p.m. on parade 
day.  
 
Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk advised that a request would be sent to both Council and staff for 
volunteer participation and will report back to the parade committee.   



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 November 4, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 

Page 3 of 13 
 

 
 

≠1. Green Legacy Committee  
 

(a) Correspondence from County of Wellington regarding Local Representative – Green 
Legacy Committee dated October 5, 2015.   

 
Resolution No. 2015-416:  Moved by Councillor Roth and  

 Seconded by Councillor Stokley 
 

That Council receive the correspondence from Mark Van Patter, Manager of Planning and 
Environment, Green Legacy Chair dated October 5, 2015, and  

 
That Council, appoint Matthew Bulmer as the Township of Puslinch’s representation on the 
Green Legacy Committee and Wayne Stokley as an alternate for the remainder of the 
2014-2018 Term of Council. 

 
CARRIED   

 
  2. Mini Lakes   
 

(a) Correspondence from Stantec Consulting Ltd. to the Township regarding ECA – Mini 
Lakes WWTP Upgrades dated October 26, 2015  

 
3.  Dufferin Aggregates  
 

(a) Correspondence from Dufferin Aggregates regarding September 2015 monitoring report 
Mill Creek Pit Licence #5738, dated October 13, 2015. (7115 Concession 2) 

 
Mr. Stan Denhoed, Harden Environmental Services Ltd. has reviewed the report 
and is satisfied that there are no exceedences.  

 
≠4. 2016 User Fees and Charges   
 

(a) Petition regarding Proposed By-Law for 2016 User Fees and Charges – Senior Lunches 
provided by the Mission and Outreach Committee of Mount Carmel-Zion United Church 
dated October 7, 2015.   
 

Resolution No. 2015-417:  Moved by Councillor Roth and  
 Seconded by Councillor Bulmer 
 
That Council receive the Petition regarding Proposed By-Law for 2016 User Fees and 
Charges – Senior Lunches provided by the Mission and Outreach Committee of Mount 
Carmel-Zion United Church dated October 7, 2015. 
 
CARRIED  
 

 
5.  Highway #6 – Morriston By-Pass    
 

(a) Correspondence from William Knetsch regarding Morriston Highway #6  dated October 
14, 2015.  

 
≠6.  CBM Puslinch Pit - Licence # 17600 (4313 Sideroad 25 S)  

 Neubauer Pit Licence No. 625284 (7203 Concession 2)    
 

(a) Correspondence from Groundwater Science Corp. regarding CBM Puslinch Pit (Licence 
No. 17600) and Neubauer Pit (Licence No. 625284) Monitor MP7 Removal dated 
October 19, 2015.    

 



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 November 4, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 

Page 4 of 13 
 

(b) Correspondence from Harden Environmental Services Ltd. regarding Decommission 
PQA well No. 7 dated October 20, 2015. 

 
(c) Correspondence from Groundwater Science Corp. regarding Puslinch Pit Licence No. 

17600 Monitoring Report Update dated October 19, 2015.  
 

*Mr. Stan Denhoed, Harden Environmental Services Ltd. has reviewed the report and 
advises that he does not see any issues with the results.  

  
Resolution No. 2015-418:  Moved by Councillor Bulmer and  
 Seconded by Councillor Roth 

 
That Council receive:   
 
(a) Correspondence from Groundwater Science Corp. regarding CBM Puslinch Pit (Licence 

No. 17600) and Neubauer Pit (Licence No. 625284) Monitor MP7 Removal dated 
October 19, 2015.    

 
(b) Correspondence from Harden Environmental Services Ltd. regarding Decommission 

PQA well No. 7 dated October 20, 2015. 
 

(c) Correspondence from Groundwater Science Corp. regarding Puslinch Pit Licence No. 
17600 Monitoring Report Update dated October 19, 2015. ; and  

 
That Staff advise Groundwater Science Corporation that the Township does not have 
concerns with the removal of MP7 from the monitoring program.  

 
CARRIED  

 
 
≠7. Request to Reduce Rental Fees  
 

(a) Correspondence from Dr. Steve Noonan, President Guelph Triathlon Club dated 
October 19, 2015.   
 

Resolution No. 2015-419:  Moved by Councillor Roth and  
 Seconded by Councillor Stokley 

 
That Council receive the correspondence from Dr. Steve Noonan, President Guelph 
Triathlon Club dated October 19, 2015. 
 
CARRIED  
 
 Resolution No. 2015-420:  Moved by Councillor Roth and  
 Seconded by Councillor Stokley 
 
That Council authorize the use of the Optimist Recreation Centre by the Guelph Triathlon 
Club on a weekly basis for 2-3 hours each week on Saturdays or Sundays during the 
months of November and December 2015 and January to April, 2016 at a reduced rental 
rate of $18.00 per hour  plus HST and applicable rental insurance; and  
 
That Council direct staff to advise the Guelph Triathlon Club. 
 
LOST  

 
8.  Community Based Strategic Plan  
 

(a) Community Based Strategic Plan – Puslinch Strategic Working Group (PSWG) Session 
#2 report from Whitesell & Company dated September 29, 2015.   

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 November 4, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 

Page 5 of 13 
 

 
≠9. Niska Rd. 
 

(a) Correspondence from City of Guelph regarding City of Guelph Municipal Class 
Environmental Assessment – Niska Rd dated October 29, 2015.  

 
(b) Correspondence with Laura Murr dated November 2, 2015  with attachment.  

 
Councillor Bulmer requested that staff obtain additional information including: the potential 
traffic impact on Pioneer Trail; whether the City of Guelph’s proposed rezoning from 
industrial to commercial uses in the Hanlon Industrial area on Laird Rd. will have any 
potential impacts to Township roads and obtain input from the Guelph Hiking Trail Club on 
the impact of the removal or expansion of the Bailey Bridge.   
 
Councillor Stokley requested that inquires be made of the conservation authority as to their 
intentions for the lands in the project area.       
 
Resolution No. 2015-421:  Moved by Councillor Roth and  
 Seconded by Councillor Stokley 

 
That Council receive the correspondence from the City of Guelph regarding City of Guelph 
Municipal Class Environmental Assessment – Niska Rd. dated October 29, 2015;  and  
 
That Council direct staff to report back on the potential impact to Township’s roads with 
respect to increased traffic; and 
 
That the Puslinch Heritage Committee be made aware of the project and that staff report 
back on the steps involved on a Cultural Heritage Landscape Study. 
 
CARRIED  

 
10.  Donations  
 

(a) Correspondence from Township to Whistlestop Co-Operative Preschool Inc. regarding 
donation for Alf Hales Cupboard Replacement at Puslinch Community Centre dated 
October 28, 2015. 

 
(b) Correspondence from Township to Optimist Club of Puslinch Ladies regarding donation 

for Alf Hales Cupboard Replacement at Puslinch Community Centre dated October 28, 
2015. 
 

Councillor Bulmer inquired as to whether a letter of thanks had been sent to the group who 
erected a new arbor at the Millennium Garden.    
 
Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk advised that a letter would be sent.    

 
≠11.  Intergovernmental Affairs   

 
(a) Various correspondence for review.  

 
IG Item - Councillor Bulmer inquired as to whether the Hydro MOU would still be valid given 
that Hydro One will become a publicly traded corporation.   

 
Acting Mayor Fielding suggested that Councillor Bulmer follow up with the Conservation 
Authority directly to obtain this information.   

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 November 4, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 

Page 6 of 13 
 

 
 Resolution No. 2015-422:   Moved by Councillor Stokley and  

 Seconded by Councillor Roth 
 

That the correspondence items listed on the Council Agenda for November 4, 2015 
Council meeting be received. 
 
CARRIED 
 

7. DELEGATIONS/PRESENTATIONS 
 

1. Mr. James Etienne, Senior Water Resource Engineer, Grand River Conservation 
Authority regarding water quantity / Tier 3 projects.   
  
Mr. Etienne made a presentation to Council with respect to the Grand River 
Conservation Authority water quantity and Tier 3 projects.  
 

Resolution No. 2015-423:   Moved by Councillor Roth and  
   Seconded by Councillor Stokley  
 
That Council receive the delegation from Mr. James Etienne, Senior Water Resource 
Engineer, Grand River Conservation Authority regarding water quantity / Tier 3 projects. 
 
CARRIED 

 
2. Ms. Jessica Veldman, Information Services Librarian and Mr. Neil Arsenault, Puslinch 

Branch Supervisor regarding Technology at Wellington County Library.   
 

Ms. Jessica Veldman and Mr. Neil Arsenault made a presentation and demonstration to 
Council with respect to the various technology tools available at the Wellington County 
Libraries.  

 
Resolution No. 2015-424:   Moved by Councillor Stokley and  

   Seconded by Councillor Roth 
 
That Council receive the delegation from Ms. Jessica Veldman, Information Services 
Librarian and Mr. Neil Arsenault, Puslinch Branch Supervisor regarding Technology at 
Wellington County Library. 
 
CARRIED 
 

8. REPORTS: 
 

1. Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services  
 

(a)  County of Wellington Emergency Management Program – 2015 Annual Report to 
Council with attachment. 

 
Linda Dickson, MCIP, RPP, Emergency Manager/CEM provided Council with a 
summary of the report.  

 
Resolution No. 2015-425:   Moved by Councillor Roth and  

   Seconded by Councillor Bulmer  
 

That Council receive the County of Wellington Emergency Management Program – 2015 
Annual Report to Council and 2015 Annual Municipal Maintenance Checklist; and  

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 November 4, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 

Page 7 of 13 
 

 
That Council authorizes that this report serves as the annual review of the Township’s 
Emergency Management Program for 2015.     

 
CARRIED  

 
2. Finance Department  

 
(a) Report FIN-2015-034– 2016 User Fee By-Law and Update on Grant Application 

Policy and Fee Reduction Waiver Policy. 
 

Resolution No. 2015-426:  Moved by Councillor Bulmer and  
   Seconded by Councillor Roth   
 
That Report FIN-2015-034 regarding the 2016 User Fees and Charges By-law and 
Update on Grant Application Policy and Fee Reduction Waiver Policy be received; and 
 
That Council enact a by-law to adopt the 2016 User Fees and Charges in accordance 
with the by-law laid out in Schedule A of Report FIN-2015-029 – 2016 Proposed User 
Fees and Charges; and   
 
That Council proceeds with the current Grant Application Policy and Fee Reduction 
Waiver Policy Council Resolution 2015-043 for the 2016 Budget and staff report back to 
Council in the Spring of 2016. 

 
CARRIED  

 
 

3. Administration Department 
 

(a) Report ADM-2015-018 – Revised 2015-2016 Council Budget Meeting Schedule. 
 
Resolution No. 2015-427:   Moved by Councillor Roth and  

   Seconded by Councillor Bulmer 
 

That Report ADM-2015-018 regarding the Revised 2015-2016 Council/Budget Meeting 
Schedule, be received; and  

 
That Council adopt the Revised 2015-2016 Council/Budget Meeting Schedule, 
attached as Appendix “A” to Report ADM-2015-018; and  

 
That the revised schedule be circulated to the County of Wellington; and  

 
That the Township’s website be updated to reflect the changes. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 
4. Planning and Building Department  

 
(a) Risk Management Official and Inspector Appointments Report dated Otober 21, 

2015.  
 
Resolution No. 2015-428:   Moved by Councillor Stokley and  

 Seconded by Councillor Roth 
 
That Council receive the Risk Management Official and Inspector Appointments Report 
dated October 21, 2015; and  
 



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 November 4, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 

Page 8 of 13 
 

That Council adopt a by-law to appointment Risk Management Officials and Risk 
Management Inspectors and alternates. 
 
CARRIED  
 

5. Roads & Parks Department  
  

None.  
 

6. Recreation Department 
 
None.  
 

7. Mayor’s Updates  
 

None.  
 

    
9. NOTICE OF MOTION:  

  
(a) Councillor Stokley – Pickleball Drop In Session  

 
 Resolution No. 2015-429:   Moved by Councillor Stokley and  
   Seconded by Councillor Roth 
 

WHEREAS the Guelph Wellington Seniors’ Pickleball Association (GWSPA) is a group 
of approximately 90 seniors who participate in pickleball activities at various locations 
throughout Guelph/Wellington and Region of Waterloo;   

AND WHEREAS pickleball is a fast growing sport for seniors in Guelph/Wellington; 

AND WHEREAS the residents of Puslinch have expressed an interest in the 
development of a pickleball league;   

AND WHEREAS the Recreation and Parks Master Plan recommends that the Township 
identify potential opportunities for community-led programming and facility rentals, with 
an emphasis on low cost options for older adults/seniors and children/youth 

AND WHEREAS the GWSPA has expressed interest in organizing and participating in a 
drop-in demonstration and instructional session for the residents of Puslinch, at the 
Optimist Recreation Centre gymnasium, in order to seek the interest and participation of 
Puslinch residents in the development of a Puslinch Pickleball League;  

AND WHEREAS the GWSPA has indicated that they will provide instructors and 
equipment for the drop-in demonstration and instruction session at no cost to the 
Township; 

AND WHEREAS Puslinch Recreation Committee supports the GWSPA request to 
provide a drop-in pickleball demonstration and instructional session;   

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council for the Township of Puslinch 
hereby approves the use of the Optimist Recreation Centre gymnasium by the GWSPA 
and hereby waives the rental fees associated with use of the gymnasium for the 
pickleball demonstration to be held for 3 days – Monday, Wednesday and Friday - from 
9:00 a.m. to 12:00 noon during the week of November 30, 2015; and  

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 November 4, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 

Page 9 of 13 
 

  

FURTHER THAT upon conclusion of the demonstration should the GWSeniors’ 
Pickleball Association wish to proceed with the development of a pickleball league at 
the Optimist Recreation Centre that GWSPA initiate discussions with Staff regarding the 
terms and conditions of use of the facility including costs, needs and resources and any 
agreement with respect to such be evaluated and considered by Council. 

 CARRIED 
 

(b) Councillor Roth - Rezoning of Use of Barns in the Township. 
 
Resolution No. 2015-430:   Moved by Councillor Roth and  
   Seconded by Councillor Stokley  
 

WHEREAS there have been an increasing amount of rezoning applications filed with 
the Township to prohibit the keeping of livestock in a barn; 

AND WHEREAS such rezoning applications to prohibit the keeping of livestock in a 
barn are initiated as a result of a condition of provisional consent to sever a lot; 

AND WHEREAS Council deems it prudent to obtain additional information on the 
potential impacts and challenges associated with prohibiting the keeping of livestock in 
a barn including: 

• Potential deterioration of the barn as a result of no longer keeping livestock in the barn; 
• Awareness of and notification to subsequent owners of the property regarding the 

restrictive use of the barn; 
• Potential impacts regarding enforcement; 
• Change of use requirements under the Building Code Act where a barn is used for an 

alternate purpose; 
• Potential overall impacts of such a restriction on agriculture; 
• Understanding of the Ontario Federation of Agriculture’s position on the matter; 
 

AND WHEREAS Council for the Township is desirous of obtaining assistance from the 
County on best practices and as it relates to this matter specifically: 

• Information on consent (lot creation) or other planning policies in place in other 
jurisdictions regarding applications of this nature; 

• The definition of a barn or agricultural livestock building; 
• Potential challenges and impacts to agriculture associated with rezoning a barn to no 

longer permit the keeping of livestock; 
• Planning policy best practices; 
• Position of the OFA on the matter; 

 
NOW THEREFORE Council for the Township of Puslinch hereby directs staff to work with 
the County Planning Department, and others as required, to obtain this information and 
report back to Council. 

A recorded vote was requested 

Recorded Vote 
 

Yes No Conflict Absent 

Councillor Bulmer  √   
Councillor Roth √    
Mayor Lever    √ 
Councillor Stokley √    
Councillor Fielding  √   
Total: 2 2  1 

 
LOST  



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 November 4, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 

Page 10 of 13 
 

 
10. COMMITTEE MINUTES 

 
(a) Committee of Adjustment – September 8, 2015 
(b) Planning & Development Advisory Committee – September 8, 2015  
(c) Recreation Committee – October 20, 2015  
 
Resolution No. 2015-431   Moved by Councillor Roth and  

Seconded by Councillor Bulmer 
 
That Council hereby receives the following minutes as information:  

 
(a) Committee of Adjustment – September 8, 2015 
(b) Planning and Development Advisory Committee –September 8, 2015  
(c) Recreation Committee – October 20, 2015 

 
CARRIED 
 

11. MUNICIPAL ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
Municipal Land Transfer Tax  
 
Councillor Stokley inquired of staff as to whether the Township will consider the Provincial 
Governments proposal to amend the Municipal Act to allow the Township to set its own 
land transfer tax.  
 
Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk advised that she was aware of the Provincial Governments 
proposal, that no information has been provided to the Township and at this point they will 
be awaiting further information for Council’s consideration. 
 
Puslinch Historical Society Presentation  
 
Councillor Bulmer advised that he attended a presentation at the Badenoch Community 
Centre for the history of Badenoch, Corwhin, "The Lake" and Glenchristie areas (School 
Sections 9 to 12) on Tuesday October 6, 2015.  Councillor Bulmer advised that there were 
excellent presentations given that evening and that the event was well attended.   
 
Fleet Report  
 
Councillor Fielding inquired of staff as to when the Fleet Report would be provided to 
Council. 
 
Paul Creamer, Director of Finance/Treasurer, advised that he is to receive a draft report 
shortly and will advise Council once available.  
 
Brad Whitcombe Dedication Ceremonies  
 
Councillor Fielding advised that she attended the County of Wellington dedication 
ceremonies for the renaming of the Southern Green Legacy Nursery to The Bradford 
Whitcombe Green Legacy Nursery and the Community Room at Puslinch Library on 
November 2, 2015.  Councillor Fielding advised that the ceremony was a well attended 
touching ceremony.   
 

12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
 
None.  

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 November 4, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 

Page 11 of 13 
 

 
13. CLOSED MEETING 
 

Council was in closed session from 12:32 p.m. to 12:39 p.m.  
Council recessed from 12:40 p.m. to 1:00 p.m. 
 
(a) Confidential Report ADM-2015-017- Citizen Appointments to Advisory Committees of 

Council regarding personal matters about an identifiable individual including municipal 
or local board employees.  
 

(b) Confidential Verbal report from Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk regarding personal matters 
about an identifiable individual including municipal or local board employees, labour 
relations or employee negotiations – Legislative Assistant and Customer Service 
Representative positions  

 
Resolution No. 2015-432:     Moved by Councillor Bulmer and  

 Seconded by Councillor Roth 
 

That Council shall go into closed session under Section 239 of the Municipal Act for the 
purpose of: 

 
(a) Confidential Report ADM-2015-017- Citizen Appointments to Advisory Committees 

of Council regarding personal matters about an identifiable individual including 
municipal or local board employees.  

 
(b) Confidential Verbal report from Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk regarding personal matters 

about an identifiable individual including municipal or local board employees, labour 
relations or employee negotiations – Legislative Assistant and Customer Service 
Representative positions. 

 
CARRIED 

 
Resolution No. 2015-433    Moved by Councillor Roth and  

 Seconded by Councillor Stokley 
 

That Council move into open session. 
 

CARRIED 
 
(a) Confidential Report ADM-2015-017- Citizen Appointments to Advisory Committees of 

Council regarding personal matters about an identifiable individual including municipal 
or local board employees.  
 
Resolution No. 2015-434    Moved by Councillor Roth and  

  Seconded by Councillor Bulmer 
 

That Council receive Report ADM-2015-017- Citizen Appointments to Advisory 
Committees of Council regarding personal matters about an identifiable individual 
including municipal or local board employees; and  
 
That Council will evaluate the applications received on November 18, 2015.   

 
CARRIED  
 
(b) Confidential Verbal report from Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk regarding personal matters 

about an identifiable individual including municipal or local board employees, labour 
relations or employee negotiations – Legislative Assistant and Customer Service 
Representative positions. 

 



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 November 4, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 

Page 12 of 13 
 

Resolution No. 2015-435:   Moved by Councillor Bulmer and  
           Seconded by Councillor Roth     

 
That Council receive the confidential verbal report from Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk regarding 
personal matters about an identifiable individual including municipal or local board 
employees, labour relations or employee negotiations – Legislative Assistant and Customer 
Service Representative positions. 
 
CARRIED 
 
 

14. BY-LAWS:  
 
(a)  A by-law to authorize speed limits and repeal By-Law no. 51/14. – Resolution No. 

2015-405 
 

(b) A by-law to amend By-Law No. 19/85, as amended, by rezoning a portion of Part of Lot 
16, Concession 7, (Persian Investments Limited) from Agricultural (A) to site specific 
(IND-8) Zone. – Resolution No. 2015-402  

 
(c) A by-law to appoint Kyle Davis as Risk Management Official and Risk Management 

Inspector and Robert Kelly as alternate for the Township of Puslinch. 
 
Resolution 2015-436:     Moved by Councillor Stokley and  

Seconded by Councillor Roth 
 

That the following By-law be taken as read three times and finally passed in open Council: 
 
(a) By-law 60/15 being a by-law to authorize speed limits and repeal By-Law no. 51/14.  
 
(b) By-law 61/15 being a by-law to amend By-Law No. 19/85, as amended, by rezoning a 

portion of Part of Lot 16, Concession 7, (Persian Investments Limited) from Agricultural 
(A) to site specific (IND-8) Zone.  

 
(c) By-law 62/15 being a by-law to appoint Kyle Davis as Risk Management Official and 

Risk Management Inspector and Robert Kelly as alternate for the Township of Puslinch.    
 

CARRIED 
 

    
15. CONFIRMING BY-LAW  

 
(a) By-Law to confirm the proceedings of Council for the Corporation of the Township of 

Puslinch  
 

Resolution 2015-437:    Moved by Councillor Roth and  
Seconded by Councillor Stokley 

 
That the following By-law be taken as read three times and finally passed in open Council: 
 
(a) By-Law 63/15 being a by-law to confirm the proceedings of Council for the Corporation 

of the Township of Puslinch at its meeting held on the 4th day of November, 2015. 
 
CARRIED  

 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 November 4, 2015 COUNCIL MEETING 

 
 
 

Page 13 of 13 
 

 
16.  ADJOURNMENT: 
 

Resolution No. 2015-438   Moved by Councillor Stokley and  
Seconded by Councillor Roth 
 

That Council hereby adjourns at 3:32 p.m. 
    
CARRIED 

 
   ________________________________________ 

    Susan Fielding, Acting Mayor 
    

 ________________________________________ 
  Karen Landry, CAO Clerk 



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

DATE: Thursday September 10, 2015 

TIME: 6:00 p.m. 

PLACE: Puslinch Municipal Complex 

FILE NUMBER: Zoning Amendment File D14/FER 
 L. Ferarro Inc. 

MEMBERS: Mayor Dennis Lever - Chair 
 Councillor Ken Roth 
 Councillor Susan Fielding 
 Councillor Wayne Stokley 
 Councillor Matthew Bulmer 

The Chair welcomed those attending the Public Meeting. 

No pecuniary interest was declared by any member of Council. 
 
The Chair advised that purpose of the Public Meeting is to inform and provide the public with the 
opportunity to ask questions, or to express views with respect to the proposed Zoning By-law 
Amendment commenced by the Applicant: L. Ferarro Inc., located on McLean Road West. 
 
The Chair advised that the members of Council are here to observe and listen to public 
comments; however, they will not provide a position on the matter. 
 
The Chair informed attendees when Council makes a decision, should you disagree with that 
decision, the Planning Act provides you with an opportunity to appeal this application to the 
Ontario Municipal Board for a hearing. Please note that if a person or public body does not make 
oral submissions at a public meeting or written submissions to the Township of Puslinch before the 
decision is made, the person or public body is not entitled to appeal the decision of the Township of 
Puslinch to the Ontario Municipal Board.  In addition, if a person or public body does not make an 
oral submission at a public meeting, or make written comments to the Township of Puslinch before 
the decision is made, the person or public body may not be added as a party to the hearing of an 
appeal before the Ontario Municipal Board unless, in the opinion of the Board, there are 
reasonable grounds to do so.   

The Chair noted that the Planning Act requires that at least one Public Meeting be held for each 
development proposal.  
 
The Chair instructed the format of the Public Meeting is as follows:  
 

• The applicant will present the purpose and details of the application and any further 
relevant information. 

• Following this the public can obtain clarification, ask questions and express their 
views on the proposal.  

• Following this members of Council have the opportunity to obtain clarification and 
ask questions of the proposal.  

• The applicant and staff will attempt to answer questions or respond to concerns this 
evening. If this is not possible, the applicant and/or staff will follow up and obtain this 
information. Responses will be provided when this matter is brought forward and 
evaluated by Council at a later date. 

Presentations 

Nancy Shoemaker, Planner, Black, Shoemaker, Robinson and Donaldson Ltd., agent for L. 
Ferarro Inc., introduced the application. The parcel is located on the south side of McLean 
Road, west of the Kerr Industrial Subdivision. The parcel is 22 hectares with 654 metre frontage. 
The proposal is to amend the Agricultural Zone to Industrial Zone to permit similar uses as the 
Kerr Industrial Subdivision. The woodland in the south-east corner of the property will be 
rezoned to Natural Environment.  

Nancy Shoemaker stated the Growth Plan and Provincial Policy Statement encourage 
municipalities to ensure there is adequate land available for employment uses and encourages 



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

the development of underutilized lands. The Official Plan designates the property as Secondary 
Agricultural, but the south-east corner is woodland. The property is within Official Plan Special 
Policy Area PA7-1 that is the location for business and industry in the Township. 

Nancy Shoemaker noted the reports prepared for the application include: 

• Functional Servicing 
• Traffic Impact Study 
• Planning Impact Statement 

• Aggregate Assessment 
• Environmental Assessment 
• Conceptual Site Plan 

Nancy Shoemaker indicated that the owner is to potentially move forward with a consent 
application to sever the parcel into three parcels. 

Nancy Shoemaker indicated the feedback received from the first circulation comments requires 
a more detailed inventory of snakes and vascular plants and more ecological enhancements to 
the natural features. Additional nitrate analysis is required and to address this monitoring wells 
have been installed. The transportation study noted that a left hand turn lane is probable and 
the topographic survey is in the process of completion. The Ministry of Transportation has 
stated that there may have been more land shown on the conceptual plan than what may 
actually be needed for the future 401 Highway road widening. A final complete submission is in 
the process of being prepared. 

Question/Comments 

There were no questions or comments from the gallery and the Chair asked if any member of 
Council had any questions or comments.  

Councillor Fielding did not have any questions. 

Councillor Stokley noticed a water monitoring station on the property and questioned if it was 
recently installed. 

Nancy Shoemaker responded that water monitors are placed in the south-west corner, the 
south-east corner and in the north where they wouldn’t be damaged by any development. They 
are 40 feet deep and the water table is approximately 22 feet deep and the underground soils 
are very cobbly. 

Councillor Stokley noted Nestle has monitoring wells on the parcel across the road. 

Nancy Shoemaker stated that they do not have access to those water monitoring stations.  

Councillor Bulmer stated that the ground is cobble soils and questioned if there are any 
expectations that these materials should be used for resources prior to development. 

Nancy Shoemaker noted the property is not large enough to be used as a pit, and if it were 
utilized as a pit the land would become unusable after extraction.  

Councillor Bulmer commented that the Traffic Impact Study detailed that TAC stopping 
distances were not met, and though it is not a high-traffic road the Township cannot control 
traffic flows. 

Nancy Shoemaker indicated that one proposed entrance is close to a bend and that has been 
flagged as a possible concern. 

Councillor Bulmer remarked that it is not an immediate issue, but wants to ensure the 
development is as safe as possible. 

Councillor Roth did not have any questions. 

Mayor Lever stated an industrial development is a better use of the site than a gravel pit. 

There were no further questions and the Chair called an end to the public meeting and advised 
that Council would not be taking action on this proposal tonight. 

Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 6:17 p.m. 



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

DATE: Thursday October 21, 2015 

TIME: 6:30 p.m. 

PLACE: Puslinch Municipal Complex 

FILE NUMBER: Zoning Amendment File D14/FRO 
 Glenn Allan & Yvonne Frosch c/o Robert & Lisa Frosch 

MEMBERS: Mayor Dennis Lever - Chair 
 Councillor Ken Roth 
 Councillor Susan Fielding 
 Councillor Wayne Stokley 
 Councillor Matthew Bulmer 
 

The Chair welcomed those attending the Public Meeting. 

No pecuniary interest was declared by any member of Council. 

The Chair advised that purpose of the Public Meeting is to inform and provide the public with the 
opportunity to ask questions, or to express views with respect to the proposed Zoning By-law 
Amendment commenced by the applicants Glenn Allan & Yvonne Frosch c/o Robert & Lisa 
Frosch, located on 6525 Concession 1. 
 
The Chair advised that the members of Council are here to observe and listen to public 
comments; however, they will not provide a position on the matter. 
 
The Chair informed attendees when Council makes a decision, should you disagree with that 
decision, the Planning Act provides you with an opportunity to appeal this application to the 
Ontario Municipal Board for a hearing. Please note that if a person or public body does not make 
oral submissions at a public meeting or written submissions to the Township of Puslinch before the 
decision is made, the person or public body is not entitled to appeal the decision of the Township of 
Puslinch to the Ontario Municipal Board.  In addition, if a person or public body does not make an 
oral submission at a public meeting, or make written comments to the Township of Puslinch before 
the decision is made, the person or public body may not be added as a party to the hearing of an 
appeal before the Ontario Municipal Board unless, in the opinion of the Board, there are 
reasonable grounds to do so.   

The Chair noted that the Planning Act requires that at least one Public Meeting be held for each 
development proposal.  
 
The Chair instructed the format of the Public Meeting is as follows:  
 

• The applicant will present the purpose and details of the application and any further 
relevant information. 

• Following this the public can obtain clarification, ask questions and express their 
views on the proposal.  

• Following this members of Council have the opportunity to obtain clarification and 
ask questions of the proposal.  

• The applicant and staff will attempt to answer questions or respond to concerns this 
evening. If this is not possible, the applicant and/or staff will follow up and obtain this 
information. Responses will be provided when this matter is brought forward and 
evaluated by Council at a later date. 

Presentations 

Jeff Buisman of Van Harten Surveying Inc., representing the Frosch’s, presented the application 
stating the property is located on Concession 1, east of Townline Road. The proposed zoning 
amendment request is to not permit livestock in the existing barn to address MDSI (Minimum 
Distance Separation) compliance for a severance. There are two dwellings on the property and 
the one smaller dwelling is being severed. The remnant land is 73 hectares containing a single 
family dwelling, barn and accessory buildings.  



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

Jeff Buisman indicated that the barn is in good condition and provides appealing aesthetics to 
the property. There is plenty of other space on the property for another barn that could house 
animals and noted that there is precedent for rezoning a barn to not house livestock as there 
have been similar rezonings done in the Township. 

Jeff Buisman stated the minimum MDS distance is 500 metres and when there is a cluster of 
dwellings the MDS distance doubles. A larger farm also increases MDS distances. OMAFRA 
guidelines note that rezoning a barn is an option to meet MDS requirements. 

Jeff Buisman indicated that in the past a Change of Use Permit has been completed for similar 
situations, but then it is not clear that the building cannot be used for livestock. The barn can still 
be used for storage of hay or equipment. 

Jeff Buisman noted that the Township’s Chief Building Official is concerned with future 
enforcement to ensure the barn is not being used for animals, but Jeff Buisman feels that the 
rezoning is a public process and is on record for future owners of the property to be notified. 

Jeff Buisman indicated the owners wish to have the barn remain on the property and the 
additional dwelling on the property that is being severed was a surplus farm dwelling. 

Sarah Wilhelm, County of Wellington Senior Planner, confirmed that legal-non conforming 
status of the dwelling. 

Question/Comments 

There were no questions or comments from the gallery and the Chair asked if any member of 
Council had any questions or comments.  

Councillor Stokley stated he is pleased that the situation is being remedied to eliminate the two 
dwellings on one property and asked of any future plans for the property. 

Robert Frosch responded that hay and equipment is being stored in the barn and the family is 
planning on maintaining and keeping the farm. 

Councillor Fielding stated she does not have objections to the barn rezoning and the Township 
has completed similar zoning amendments. 

Mayor Lever indicated that the rezoning of barns to not permit livestock requires the onus of 
enforcement to fall on the Township.  

Ken Elligson of 6494 Concession 1 remarked that it would be a shame to see the barn come 
down. It is a beautiful barn and he had the use changed on his barn when he had a severance 
done in the past. 

There were no further questions and the Chair called an end to the public meeting and advised 
that Council would not be taking action on this proposal tonight. 

Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 6:42 p.m. 

 

 

 

 








































































































































































 Final Report Presentation 

 

 Steve Thurlow   

                Dillon Consulting Limited 

  

 December, 2015 



2 

• What is a Master Fire Plan 

• Municipal Responsibilities 

• Ontario Fire Protection Model 

• Methodology 

• Benefits of a Master Fire Plan 

• Public Fire Safety Guidelines 

• Recommendations 

• Implementation Plan 

• Questions 

 



 

 

 

 

Comprehensive evaluation of a fire and rescue service’s 

current operations, staffing and service delivery. 

Assessment of current services in relation to legislated 

standards and municipal best practices. 

Creation of a strategic, multi-year plan to deliver 

services based on the “needs and circumstances” of 

the community. 

3 



Fire Protection and Prevention Act 1997 (FPPA) 

states that every municipality shall: 

(a) Establish a program for public education with 

respect to fire safety and certain components of fire 

prevention; and 

(b) Provide other fire protection services as it 

determines may be necessary in accordance with its 

needs and circumstances. 

4 



  
(a) Establish a program for public education 

• Simplified Risk Assessment – to identify 

the extent of other fire protection services; 

• A smoke alarm program; 

• Fire safety education activities 

distributed to residents/occupants; and 

• Inspections upon complaint or when 

requested to assist with code compliance. 

 

 

(a) Establish a program for public education 

5 



   (b) Provide other fire protection services 

• Identify the level of fire protection 

(suppression) service the municipality deems 

necessary based on its own “needs and 

circumstances.” 

• Determined through evaluating factors such 

as: fire risk, liability, financial capabilities, 

resources, and community and Council 

expectations. 

 

 

(b) Provide other fire protection services 

6 



7 

• Smoke Alarm Program, school and seniors education, risk 

management, etc.   

Public 

Education and 

Prevention 

• Occupancy Inspections, Licensing Approval, Violation 

Enforcement, Fire Investigations, etc.  

Fire Safety 

Standards and 

Enforcement 

• Ontario Fire Marshal’s Office guidance notes; National Fire 

Protection Association Standards (NFPA); Ministry of Labour 

(Section 21 Guidance Notes); Industry best practices 

Emergency 

Response 

THE 

THREE 

LINES OF 

DEFENCE 



8 

• Review fire and rescue services compared to best practices, peers, 

OFMEM (Public Fire Safety Guidelines), and NFPA. 
High-Level Environmental Scan 

• Community Risk Profile, Suppression Response GIS-based Model Assessment 

• Community development/growth 
Align with Township Plans & 

Strategies 

• Community Risk, Economic Circumstances, comparable communities 
Consider Options based on 

Local Needs and Circumstances 

• 1
st
 Master Fire Plan focusing on service levels and sustainability of 

Volunteer Firefighters.  

Develop Recommendations & 

Implementation Plan 



9 

Assess Township compliance with current legislative 

requirements. 

Further educate Council and the community with 

respect to the programs and services provided.  

Provide Council and staff with evidence-based 

strategic framework for delivering fire protection 

services in response to identified community fire risks. 

Opportunity for stakeholder input in developing 

performance goals and objectives. 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 



10 

The OFMEM began a comprehensive review of all Public Fire Safety Guidelines in 

January 2015. The following information is presented on the OFMEM website 

regarding this review: 

 

“Please be advised that the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management (OFMEM) has 

commenced a comprehensive review of all OFMEM Public Fire Safety Guidelines (PFSGs). The OFMEM 

anticipates releasing updated guidelines by the end of 2015. Pending the release of the new guidelines, 

the existing guidelines will remain on our website for reference. In addition, the OFMEM recommends 

municipalities access other resources from our website such as Technical Guidelines or Communiques.” 

 



11 

Plan includes 45 recommendations relating 

to the 5 current divisions of the Puslinch Fire 

and Rescue Services including: 

» Administration; 

» Fire Prevention; 

» Public Education; 

» Training; and 

» Fire Suppression 

 

  

 

 

 

 



12 

•Strategies requiring Council support to guide the overall 

delivery of fire protection services within the community.   

Strategic 

Priorities 

•Recommendations that require Council consideration and 

approval in determining service levels (performance 

objectives, staffing, operating and capital budget). 

Service Levels 

• Related to the day to day operation of the department through the 

authority delegated to the Fire Chief. 
Operational 

R
E
C

O
M

M
E
N

D
A
T
I
O

N
S

 



13 

That Council approve the strategic priorities identified within the proposed Master Fire 

Plan to guide the development and delivery of fire protection and emergency services 

within the Township of Puslinch including: 

• The utilization of a Community Risk Profile to determine the fire safety risks within the Township 

as the basis for developing clear goals and objectives for all fire protection and emergency 

services to be provided by the Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services; 

• The optimization of the first two lines of defence including public education and fire prevention, 

and the utilization of fire safety standards and fire code enforcement to provide a comprehensive 

fire protection program within the Township based on the results of the Community Risk Profile;  



14 

• Emphasis on the value of all emergency services that are 

provided by the Puslinch Fire and Rescue such as responses 

to motor vehicle accidents and medical responses that 

enhance life safety within the Township; and  

 

• Emphasis on strategies that support the sustainability of 

fire protection and emergency services that provide the 

most cost effective and efficient level of services resulting 

in the best value for the community. 

 

 



15 

• That consideration be given to increasing the hours of 

work for the part-time Administrative Assistant from the 

current 10 hours per week to 24 hours per week to 

support the administrative needs of the PFRS. 

• That the Township prioritize the full implementation of the 

updated fire dispatch services agreement with the City of 

Guelph, including the provisions of performance 

measures similar to those identified within the NFPA 1221 

standard, or alternatively begin investigating alternative 

solutions for the provisions of full fire dispatch services. 

 



16 

• That subject to Council’s consideration and approval of the proposed Master Fire Plan that a 

Fire Prevention Policy be created utilizing the framework of PFSG 04-45-12 “Fire Prevention 

Policy” for consideration and approval by Council, and attached as an appendix to the fire 

department Establishing and Regulating By-law. 

 

• That subject to the consideration and approval of the proposed public fire safety education 

activities and program cycle objectives by Council that they be included within the proposed 

Fire Prevention Policy and proposed Establishing and Regulating By-Law.  

 



17 

• That Council consider the provision of 20 hours per week to 

support a dedicated position of part-time Public Fire and Life 

Safety Educator reporting to the part-time Chief Fire Prevention 

Officer with the responsibility to coordinate and optimize the public 

fire safety education objectives of the PFRS. 

• That subject to the consideration and approval of the proposed 

fire inspection goals and objectives by Council that they be 

included within the proposed Fire Prevention Policy and proposed 

Establishing and Regulating By-Law.  

 

 



18 

• That consideration be given to increasing the hours of work for the part-time Chief Fire 

Prevention Officer from the current 16 to 24 hours per week to achieve the proposed fire 

inspection frequencies identified within the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

 

• That the PFRS reduce the current level of emergency response services and related training 

for Confined Space Rescue and Slope/High Angle Rope Rescue incidents from an operational 

capability to an awareness level of response, and that these service levels be reflected in the 

proposed Establishing and Regulating By-law. 

 

 

 



19 

• That the emergency response performance objectives identified within the proposed Master 

Fire Plan be considered and approved by Council and included within the new Establishing 

and Regulating By-law including: 

Initial Response Staffing Performance Objective: 

» That the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve an initial response deployment of four 

firefighters to all fire related emergency calls.  

 

Depth of Response Staffing Performance Objective: 

» That the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve a depth of response deployment to all fire 

related emergency calls of four firefighters to low risk occupancies, 14 firefighters to moderate risk 

occupancies, and 24 firefighters to high risk occupancies. 

 

 

 

 

 



20 

 

Response Time Performance Objective: 

• That the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve the response time 

performance objective referenced within the NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone 

including a minimum of six firefighters responding within a 14 minute response time 

(turnout time + travel time) with a performance objective of 80%. 

 

 

 

 



21 

• That the Fire Chief be directed to develop a department policy for responding to medical 

responses that details the types of medical responses, requirements for volunteer firefighters 

responding, and requirements for data collection to be presented to Council for consideration 

and approval and inclusion within the recommended updated Establishing and Regulating By-

law. 

 

• That consideration be given to reducing the hours of work for the part-time Fire Chief from 

the current 30 hours per week to 24 hours per week. 

 

 

 

 



22 

• That consideration be given to making the position of part-time Deputy Fire Chief of 

Administration permanent with direct responsibility for the Fire Prevention, Public Education and 

Training Divisions with a set schedule of 24 hours per week.  

• That consideration be given to making the position of part-time Deputy Fire Chief of Operations 

permanent with direct responsibility for the Fire Suppression Division with a set schedule of 24 

hours per week.  

• That Council implement the strategies to optimize the Volunteer Firefighter Recruitment Process 

identified within the proposed Master Fire Plan including increasing the approved complement of 

the PFRS by 6 volunteer firefighters. 

 

 

 

 

 



23 

• That Council implement the strategy to optimize the use of part-time resources included within 

the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

• That Council authorize the Chief Administrative Officer and Fire Chief to approach the City of 

Cambridge to negotiate a revised Automatic Aid Agreement for the provision of fire suppression 

services as reflected in the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

• That Council authorize the Chief Administrative Officer and Fire Chief to approach the City of 

Guelph to negotiate an Automatic Aid Agreement for the provision of fire suppression services as 

reflected in the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 



24 

• That subject to Council’s desire to enhance the level of fire 

suppression and emergency services that site Option “C,” 

as presented within the proposed Master Fire Plan, 

including the addition of nine volunteer firefighters be 

considered for a satellite station (second station).  

• That the Township of Puslinch prioritize the purchase of a 

replacement 75 foot Quint for Aerial #33.  

• That the Township of Puslinch purchase a 4-wheel drive 

pick-up truck capable of carrying 5 to 6 volunteer 

firefighters and associated department equipment.    

 

 

 

 

 



25 

 

Subject to Council’s consideration of the proposed Satellite Station it is recommended that the 

Township purchase a new or used triple combination pumper for operation from the proposed 

station. 

 

 

 

 



26 

 

In addition to the recommendations presented for consideration in respect to the 

proposed Strategic Priorities and Service Levels there are 22 further 

recommendations related to the ongoing operation of the Puslinch Fire and Rescue 

Services. 

 

These are presented within the proposed Master Fire Plan to assist the Fire Chief 

towards enhancing the overall efficiency and effectiveness of the department 

 

 

 

 



27 

• Proposed Master Fire Plan includes a high-level implementation plan; 

• Implementation Plan reflects that this is the first time the Township has prepared a 

Master Fire Plan; 

• Recognition that further financial analyses will be required in considering the impact 

of the recommendations on the Townships ongoing operating and capital budget. 

• It is recommended that further detailed financial analyses be contained within 

further detailed Implementation Plan developed by the Fire Chief  

 

 

 



28 



Puslinch Fire and Rescue Service 
Monthly Report 
October 2015 

 
 

 

 

 

Christmas Tree Safety 

As you deck the halls this holiday season, 
please be fire smart. A small fire that 
spreads to a Christmas tree can grow large 
very quickly. 
 
Picking the Tree 
Choose a tree with fresh, green needles 
that do not fall off when touched. 

 
Placing the Tree 

• Before placing the tree in the stand, 
cut 2 inches (5 cm) from the base of 
the trunk. 

• Make sure the tree is at least three 
feet away from any heat sources, 
like fireplaces, radiators, candles, 
heat vents or lights. 

• Make sure the tree is not blocking an 
exit 

• Add water to the tree stand and 
check it daily. 
 

Lighting the Tree 

• Use lights that have been ULC 
approved. Some lights are only  
approved for indoor or outdoor use. 

• Replace any string of lights with 
worn or broken cords or loose bulb  

 
 
 
 
 
connections. Read and obey the 
manufacturer’s instructions for the 
number of light strands to connect. 

• Never use lit candles to decorate the 
tree. 

• Always turn off Christmas tree lights 
before leaving home or going to bed. 
 

After Christmas 

Get rid of the tree after Christmas or when it 
is dry. Dried-out trees are a fire danger and 
should not be left in the home or garage, or 
placed outside against the home. Check 
with your local community to find a recycling 
program. Bring outdoor electrical lights 
inside after the holidays to prevent hazards 
and make them last longer.  

FACTS 

 One of every three home Christmas 
tree fire are caused by electrical 
problems 

 Although Christmas tree fires are not 
common, when they do occur, they 
are more likely to be serious. 

 A heat source too close to the tree 
caused one in every four of the 
fires. 

Puslinch Fire & Rescue services are always 
available to provide education and tips on 
your home fire safety concerns. Call (519) 
821-3010 

Significant Events/ Incidents/Trends 

 



. 

 

 

. 
 

 

 

Building Fire 3% 

Vehicle Fire 5% 

MVC 
39% 

Medical 23% 

Burning 
Complaints 4%  

Mutual Aid 3% 

CO/Alarms 15% 

Other 4% 

2015 YTD Emergency Calls 

Other Fire 1% 

REPORT MONTH: 2015 October  

  Oct 
Monthly 

Total 

Oct  2015   
YTD 

Oct  
2014 
YTD 

Oct    
2013   
YTD 

Oct 
 $ Loss 

Monthly 

Oct  2015           
   $ Loss YTD 

FIRE: Structure 0 8 10 9 $0 $290,200 
Vehicular 2 15 21 20 $0 $76,000 
Grass and 
Bush 

2 9 3 5 $0 $5000 

Other 2 4 6 9 0  
  Monthly 2015 YTD 2014 

YTD 
2013 YTD    

Motor Vehicle Collisions  7 115 136 87    
Medical Assist  7 69 48 44    
Mutual Aid  0 8 6 2    
Carbon Monoxide  1 13 7 5    
Automatic Alarm  1 33 34 29    
Burning Complaints  0 11 16 7    
Incorrect Page  0 1 4 2    
Other  3 12 15 15    

TOTALS:  Monthly 2015 YTD 2014 
YTD 

2013 YTD    

 25 298 306 234    
Estimated Total Dollar Loss 
Due to Fire 

 $0 $371,200 $855,000 $925,000    

Grass Fire 3% 



 

Professional Development 

Activity     Month   Day 

Pre-Planning     Nov   3 & 4 

Back to Basics     Nov   10 & 11

Rope Rescue      Nov       17 & 18 

Incident Command    Nov    24 & 25 

Medical      Dec   1 & 2 

Master Fire Plan Staff    Dec   8 & 9 

Christmas Party    Dec   16  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70 Puslinch Fire Calls - 2009-2015 

Calls/Mth

Prevention & Public Education 2015 October 
Activity:  Monthly Total 2015 YTD 

Inspections 2 24 
Water Tank Inspection 0 61 
Investigations 0 8 
Emergency Planning 3 15 
Public Education Volunteer 0 8 
Public Education Paid 0 4 
Meeting 3 26 
Home Safe Home Campaign 125 125 



Large Animal Rescue Training  

 

Horse Rescue 

 



1 
 

 

REPORT FIR 2015-004 
 

TO:   Mayor and Members of Council 

FROM:  Steven Goode, Fire Chief 

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2015 

SUBJECT:  Master Fire Plan   
 File No. P15FIR  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Report FIR-2015-004 and presentation titled “Township of Puslinch Master Fire 
Plan Presentation and Final Report to Council” be received; and 
 
That the Master Fire Plan be adopted, in principle, subject to further reporting and 
budget approval; and  
 
That the Fire Chief be directed to report back to Council in the first quarter 2016 on the 
action plan for phased implementation.   

DISCUSSION 

Purpose  
 
To seek Council approval in principle of the Master Fire Plan and direct the Fire Chief to 
report back to Council in the first quarter 2016 on the action plan for phased 
implementation.   
 

Background 
 
In 2014, Puslinch Fire and Rescue Service received budget approval to undertake the 
completion of the comprehensive Fire Master Plan. The Master Fire Plan provides a 
multi – year strategic direction for the Township fire and rescue services based on the 
“needs and circumstances” of the community. The plan is intended to serve as the 
strategic planning framework to guide policy, organizational, capital and operating 



2 

decisions and ensure that current and future needs are met in a fiscally prudent and 
responsible manner.  

Dillon Consulting was hired to work with Township staff on the review of the current and 
future service delivery requirements and to assess current services in relation to 
legislated requirements, industry standards and best practices. Consultation was 
undertaken with each fire division, Senior Township staff and members of the public.  

On June 11, 2015 Dillon Consulting provided staff and members of the public with the 
Master Fire Plan preliminary findings.  

The Master Fire Plan includes recommendations for all divisions within Puslinch 
Fire and Rescue Services. The final report identified forty-five (45) 
recommendations. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no financial implications associated with the adoption of this report. Any 
financial implications associated with the implementation of the Master Fire Plan will be 
considered through separate reporting to Council. 

APPLICABLE LEGISLATION AND REQUIREMENTS 

None 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment 1 – 2015 Master Fire Plan 



䴀䄀匀吀䔀刀 䘀䤀刀䔀 倀䰀䄀一
䘀椀渀愀氀 刀攀瀀漀爀琀

一漀瘀攀洀戀攀爀 ㈀　㔀

匀甀戀洀椀琀琀攀搀 戀礀㨀

吀漀眀渀猀栀椀瀀 漀昀 倀甀猀氀椀渀挀栀

 倀唀匀䰀䤀一䌀䠀 䘀䤀刀䔀 䄀一䐀 
刀䔀匀䌀唀䔀 匀䔀刀嘀䤀䌀䔀匀



 

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 

Master Fire Plan Final Report 
 

November 2015 – 14-1138 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

i 

 

Table of Contents 
 

Executive Summary 
 

1.0 Introduction 1 

1.1 Community Background ................................................................................................ 2 

1.2 Department Background ............................................................................................... 4 

2.0 Legislation 5 

2.1 Fire Prevention and Protection Act, 1997 ..................................................................... 5 

2.2 Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management, Ontario ............................... 8 

2.2.1 PFSG 01-02-01 “Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model” .................. 9 

2.2.2 PFSG 00-00-01 “Framework for Setting Guidelines within a Provincial- 
 Municipal Relationship” .................................................................................. 11 

2.2.3 PFSG 03-02-13 “Master Planning Process for Fire Protection Services” ......... 12 

2.2.4 PFSG 01-01-01 “Fire Protection Review Process” ........................................... 12 

2.2.5 PFSG 04-08-10 “Operational Planning: An Official Guide to Matching 
Resource Deployment and Risk” ................................................................................. 14 

2.2.6 PFSG 04-40-03 “Selection of Appropriate Fire Prevention Programs” ........... 15 

2.3 Occupational Health and Safety Act ............................................................................ 15 

3.0 Administration Division 16 

3.1 Vision, Mission, Goals and Objectives ......................................................................... 16 

3.2 Department Services ................................................................................................... 17 

3.3 Department Staff Resources ....................................................................................... 18 

3.3.1 Fire Chief (Part-time) ....................................................................................... 18 

3.3.2 Deputy Fire Chief/Operations (Part-time) ....................................................... 19 

3.3.3 Deputy Fire Chief/Administration (Part-time) ................................................. 20 

3.3.4 Administrative Support (Part-time) ................................................................. 21 

3.4 Current Organizational Structure ................................................................................ 22 

3.5 Administrative Workspace .......................................................................................... 24 

3.6 Annual Report.............................................................................................................. 24 

3.7 By-Laws & Agreements................................................................................................ 25 

3.7.1 Establishing and Regulating By-Law ................................................................ 25 

3.7.2 Appointment By-Laws ..................................................................................... 26 

3.7.3 Rates and Fees By-law ..................................................................................... 27 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

ii 

 

3.8 Development Charges ................................................................................................. 29 

3.9 Additional By-Laws ...................................................................................................... 29 

3.10 Mutual Aid Agreements .............................................................................................. 30 

3.10.1 Automatic Aid Agreements (Fire Protection Agreements) ............................. 31 

3.10.2 Tiered Response Agreement ........................................................................... 31 

3.10.3 Dispatch Services Agreement .......................................................................... 32 

3.10.4 Hydrant Agreement ......................................................................................... 34 

3.11 Departmental Policies and Standard Operating Guidelines ........................................ 34 

3.12 Departmental Records Management .......................................................................... 36 

3.13 Strategic Priorities ....................................................................................................... 36 

3.14 Administration Division Summary and Recommendations ......................................... 37 

4.0 Community Risk Profile 39 

4.1 Summary of Community Risk Profile ........................................................................... 40 

5.0 Fire Prevention & Public Education 42 

5.1 Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model ........................................................ 42 

5.2 Division Staff Resources .............................................................................................. 43 

5.2.1 Chief Fire Prevention Officer (Part-time) ........................................................ 43 

5.2.2 Public Fire and Life Safety Educator (Proposed) ............................................. 45 

5.3 Fire Prevention Policy .................................................................................................. 46 

5.4 Current Public Education Programs and Activities ...................................................... 47 

5.5 Proposed Public Education Programs and Activities ................................................... 48 

5.6 Smoke Alarm and Home Escape Planning Programs .................................................. 50 

5.7 Current Fire Inspection Program ................................................................................. 51 

5.8 Enhancing Fire Safety in Occupancies Housing Vulnerable Ontarians, Ontario 
Regulation 150/13 ....................................................................................................... 53 

5.9 Fire Safety Inspections and Enforcement .................................................................... 53 

5.10 Fire Safety Plans .......................................................................................................... 53 

5.11 Proposed Fire Inspection Program .............................................................................. 54 

5.11.1 Fire Investigations and Cause Determination ................................................. 56 

5.12 Fire Prevention and Public Education Priority Setting Worksheet .............................. 56 

5.13 Fire Prevention/Public Education Workspace ............................................................. 58 

5.14 Fire Prevention/Public Education Division Summary and Recommendations............ 58 

6.0 Training Division 60 

6.1 Division Staff Resources .............................................................................................. 60 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

iii 

 

6.1.1 Training Captain (Part-time) ............................................................................ 60 

6.1.2 Training Officer (Part-time) ............................................................................. 61 

6.2 Training Standards ....................................................................................................... 61 

6.3 Comprehensive Annual Training Program .................................................................. 63 

6.4 Wellington County Recruit Training Program ............................................................. 63 

6.5 Live Fire Training ......................................................................................................... 64 

6.6 Online Training ............................................................................................................ 65 

6.7 Specialized Training Programs ..................................................................................... 65 

6.8 Company Officer Training ............................................................................................ 66 

6.9 Incident Command Training ........................................................................................ 67 

6.9.1 Blue Card Fire Command Training ................................................................... 68 

6.10 Succession Planning ..................................................................................................... 68 

6.11 Training Workspace ..................................................................................................... 69 

6.12 Training Division Summary and Recommendations.................................................... 69 

7.0 Fire Suppression Division 71 

7.1 Emergency Response................................................................................................... 72 

7.2 Importance of Time with Respect to Fire Growth ....................................................... 72 

7.3 Current Fire Suppression Guidelines, Industry Standards, Industry Best Practices .... 74 

7.3.1 PFSG 04-08-10 Operational Planning: An Official Guide to Matching  
 Resource Deployment and Risk ....................................................................... 74 

7.3.2 National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) ................................................... 77 

7.3.3 NFPA 1710 Standard ........................................................................................ 77 

7.3.4 NFPA 1720 Standard ........................................................................................ 81 

7.4 Summary of Fire Suppression Guidelines, Industry Standards, and Industry Best 
Practices ...................................................................................................................... 82 

7.4.1 Initial Response Staffing Deployment: ............................................................ 82 

7.4.2 Depth of Response Staffing Deployment: ....................................................... 82 

7.5 Fire Suppression Response Performance Objectives .................................................. 85 

7.6 OFMEM Reviews.......................................................................................................... 86 

7.6.1 1982 Report on Municipal Fire Protection Information Survey ...................... 86 

7.6.2 2004 Staffing of Emergency Responses to Reported Structure Fires.............. 87 

7.6.3 2008 Report on Municipal Fire Protection Information Survey ...................... 87 

7.7 Historical Emergency Response Capabilities ............................................................... 88 

7.7.1 Emergency Call Volume ................................................................................... 88 

7.7.2 Emergency Response Types ............................................................................ 89 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

iv 

 

7.7.3 Call Volume Response Types (Dillon) .............................................................. 90 

7.7.4 Call Volume Response Types (OFMEM) .......................................................... 90 

7.7.5 Percentage of Call Volume Response Types (OFMEM) ................................... 91 

7.7.6 Response Time Assessment ............................................................................ 92 

7.7.7 Dispatch Times ................................................................................................ 92 

7.7.8 Travel Times..................................................................................................... 96 

7.7.9 Travel and Turnout Time (Response Time) ..................................................... 96 

7.7.10 Total Response Time ....................................................................................... 98 

7.8 Satellite Station Trial ................................................................................................... 99 

7.9 Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation ...................................................................... 102 

7.10 Medical Responses .................................................................................................... 103 

7.11 Assessment of Existing Fire Suppression Coverage ................................................... 107 

7.11.1 Historic Call Locations.................................................................................... 107 

7.11.2 Existing Automatic Aid and Fire Protection Agreements .............................. 107 

7.11.3 Existing Conditions – NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone ......................... 113 

7.12 Options for Enhancing Fire Suppression Services ..................................................... 115 

7.12.1 Optimizing the Utilization of Automatic Aid Agreements ............................. 116 

7.12.2 Optimizing the Volunteer Firefighter Recruitment Process .......................... 121 

7.12.3 Proposed Organizational Structure ............................................................... 122 

7.12.4 Proposed Organizational Structure ............................................................... 123 

7.12.5 Optimizing the Use of Part-time Resources .................................................. 124 

7.12.6 Optimizing the Current Scheduling and Call-out Process.............................. 125 

7.13 Satellite Station Option ............................................................................................. 127 

7.13.1 Staffing Requirements ................................................................................... 127 

7.13.2 Station Design and Construction ................................................................... 128 

7.13.3 Land and Water Storage Tank ....................................................................... 128 

7.13.4 Optimal Satellite Station Location Analysis ................................................... 129 

7.13.5 Satellite Station Operating and Capital Cost Summary ................................. 134 

7.14 Fire Suppression Division Summary and Recommendations .................................... 134 

8.0 Station, Apparatus & Equipment 137 

8.1 Fire Station ................................................................................................................ 137 

8.2 Staffing and Responsibilities...................................................................................... 137 

8.3 Types of Major Fire Apparatus .................................................................................. 138 

8.4 PFRS Major Apparatus ............................................................................................... 139 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

v 

 

8.5 Apparatus Replacement Plan .................................................................................... 140 

8.5.1 Aerial #33 Replacement Strategy .................................................................. 141 

8.5.2 Additional Multi-use Vehicle ......................................................................... 143 

8.6 Satellite Station Major Apparatus Strategy ............................................................... 143 

8.7 Diesel Emissions ........................................................................................................ 144 

8.8 Equipment ................................................................................................................. 145 

8.9 Fire Station, Major Apparatus, & Equipment Summary and Recommendations ..... 145 

9.0 Communications & Technology 147 

9.1 Fire Dispatch .............................................................................................................. 147 

9.1.1 Existing Dispatch ............................................................................................ 147 

9.1.2 New Dispatch ................................................................................................. 147 

9.2 Radio Communications.............................................................................................. 147 

9.3 Internal Department Communications ..................................................................... 147 

9.4 Communications and Technology Summary and Recommendations....................... 148 

10.0 Economic Circumstances 149 

10.1 Summary of Economic Circumstances ...................................................................... 149 

11.0 Public Consultation Process 150 

11.1 Steering Committee .................................................................................................. 150 

11.2 Project Meetings ....................................................................................................... 150 

11.3 Stakeholder Consultation .......................................................................................... 150 

11.3.1 Interviews with Key Staff and Stakeholders ................................................ 150 

11.3.2 Volunteer Firefighter Stakeholder Session .................................................. 151 

11.3.3 Targeted Stakeholder Telephone Consultation ........................................... 151 

11.4 Results for General Comments.................................................................................. 156 

11.5 Summary.................................................................................................................... 156 

12.0 Implementation Plan 157 

 

  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

vi 

 

Figures 

Figure 1:  Puslinch Location Map .................................................................................................. 3 

Figure 2: Factors in a Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model ..................................... 10 

Figure 3:  Comprehensive Model Applied to a Typical Fire Department .................................... 10 

Figure 4:  Framework for Optimizing Public Fire Safety ............................................................. 14 

Figure 5:  Current (Temporary) Organizational Structure ........................................................... 23 

Figure 6: Example Fire Propagation Curve ................................................................................. 73 

Figure 7:  initial Response Fire Scene Responsibilities ................................................................ 78 

Figure 8: Depth of Response Fire Scene Responsibilities ........................................................... 80 

Figure 9:  Call Volume by Year (2009 to 2014) ........................................................................... 89 

Figure 10:  Call Volume Response Types (Dillon) 2009 to 2014 .................................................... 90 

Figure 11:  Percentage of Call by OFMEM Response Type (2009-2014) ....................................... 92 

Figure 12:  Historical Dispatch Times by Type (2009-2014) .......................................................... 93 

Figure 13:  Historical Turnout Times by Type (2009-2014) ........................................................... 94 

Figure 14:  Historical Travel Times by Response Type (Dillon) (2009-2014) ................................. 96 

Figure 15:  Historical Travel and Turnout Times by Response Type (2009-2014) ......................... 97 

Figure 16:  Historical Total Response Times by Type (2009-2014) ............................................... 99 

Figure 17: 2013 Satellite Station Test Trial Location .................................................................. 101 

Figure 18:  Current Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation ......................................................... 105 

Figure 19:  Historic Calls (January 2009 – October 2014) ........................................................... 108 

Figure 20:  Rockwood Automatic Aid Coverage Area ................................................................. 109 

Figure 21:  Cambridge Fire Protection Agreement ..................................................................... 111 

Figure 22:  Existing Conditions – NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone Coverage ..................... 114 

Figure 23:  Proposed City of Cambridge Automatic Aid Coverage .............................................. 118 

Figure 24: Proposed City of Guelph Automatic Aid Coverage .................................................... 120 

Figure 25:  Proposed Organizational Structure ........................................................................... 124 

Figure 26:  Option “A” Satellite Station Location ........................................................................ 130 

Figure 27:  Option “B” Satellite Station Location ........................................................................ 131 

Figure 28:  Option "C" Satellite Station Location ........................................................................ 133 

 

 

 

Tables 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

vii 

 

Table 1:   PFRS Current Staffing ................................................................................................. 24 

Table 2:  Summary of 2015 Fees for Service .............................................................................. 28 

Table 3:   Schedule of Development Charges (By-Law No.054/14) ............................................ 29 

Table 4:  Proposed Public Fire Safety Education Activities and Programs Cycle Objectives...... 49 

Table 5:  Township of Puslinch Current Fire Inspection Goals and Objectives (Performance 
Measure) ..................................................................................................................... 52 

Table 6:  Township of Puslinch Proposed Fire Inspection Goals and Objectives (Performance 
Measures) .................................................................................................................... 55 

Table 7:   Fire Prevention and Public Education Priority Setting Worksheet .............................. 57 

Table 8:  Comparison of Ontario and NFPA Standards .............................................................. 62 

Table 9:  Concordance of Ontario and NFPA Standards ........................................................... 62 

Table 10: Time to Reach 1 MW and 2 MW Fire Growth Rates in the Absence of Fire 
Suppression ................................................................................................................. 73 

Table 11:  PFSG 04-08-10 Critical Task Matrix ............................................................................. 76 

Table 12:  NFPA 1720 ................................................................................................................... 81 

Table 13:  Recommended Depth of Response ............................................................................. 85 

Table 14:  Emergency Response Types ........................................................................................ 89 

Table 15:  Call Volume Response Types (OFMEM) ...................................................................... 91 

Table 16:  Comparison Turnout Times ......................................................................................... 95 

Table 17:  Comparison Response Times....................................................................................... 98 

Table 18: Cambridge Fire Department Responses ..................................................................... 110 

Table 19:  Calibrated Speed ....................................................................................................... 112 

Table 20:  NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone Assessment .................................................... 113 

Table 21:  Estimated Operating Budget Increase ....................................................................... 125 

Table 22: Estimated Updated Capital and Operating Financing Requirements ....................... 134 

Table 23:  Apparatus and Model Year ........................................................................................ 139 

Table 24: PFRS Major Apparatus Replacement Plan ................................................................. 141 

Table 25:  Business/Community Group/Institution Use of PFRS’s Fire 
Services in Past 5 Years ............................................................................................. 152 

Table 26:  Awareness of PFRS Operation as a Part-Time and Volunteer Department .............. 152 

Table 27:  Awareness of PFRS’s Test Trial Station ..................................................................... 152 

Table 28:  PFRS’s Core Service Accessed in Past 5 Years ........................................................... 152 

Table 29:  Reliability of Responses to Fire Incidents ................................................................. 153 

Table 30:  Impact of the Existing Fire Station Location ............................................................. 153 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

viii 

 

Table 31:  Impact of PFRS’s Policies/Procedures on Stakeholder’s Mandate ........................... 153 

Table 32:  Perception of Value of Rescue-Related Services as Part of PFRS’s Core Services .... 153 

Table 33:  Business/Community Group/Institution Use of PFRS’s Training .............................. 154 

Table 34 Reliability of Responses to Fire Incidents..................................................................... 154 

Table 35:  Business/Community Group/Institution Use of PFRS’s Training .............................. 154 

Table 36:  Received Fire Education Services from PFRS’s ......................................................... 154 

Table 37:  Satisfaction with PFRS’s Fire Education Services ...................................................... 154 

Table 38:  Satisfaction with PFRS’s Fire Education Services ...................................................... 155 

Table 39:  Satisfaction with PFRS’s Fire Prevention Strategies ................................................. 155 

Table 40:  Awareness of PFRS’s Investigation Capabilities ....................................................... 155 

Table 41:  Stakeholders Inspected Within the Past Five Years ................................................. 155 

Table 42:  Requested an Inspection .......................................................................................... 156 

Table 43:  Awareness of PFRS’s investigation capabilities ........................................................ 156 

Table 44: Proposed Implementation Plan ................................................................................. 158 

 

  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

ix 

 

Appendices 

A  Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model (PFSG 01-02-01) 

B  Framework for Setting Guidelines within a Provincial-Municipal Relationship 
(PFSG 00-00-01) 

C  Master Planning Process for Fire Protection Services (PFSG 03-02-13) 

D  Fire Protection Review Process (PFSG 01-01-01) 

E  Economic Circumstances (PFSG 02-03-01) 

F  Comprehensive Community Fire Risk Assessment (PFSG 02-02-03) 

G  Capabilities of Existing Fire Protection Services (PFSG 02-04-01) 

H  Review of Economic Circumstances for Township of Puslinch 

I  Selection of Appropriate Fire Prevention Programs (PFSG 04-40-03)  

J  Sample Establishing and Regulating By-law (PFSG 01-03-12) 

K  Co-ordination, Development, Approval and Distribution of Standard Operating 
Guidelines for Various Disciplines (PFSG 04-69-13) 

L    Community Risk Profile (Township of Puslinch) & Operational Planning: An Official 
Guide to Matching Resource Deployment and Risk (PFSG 04-08-10) 

M  Fire Prevention Policy (PFSG 04-45-12) 

N  Definitions of OFMEM Response Types  

 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

x 

 

Executive Summary 
This Master Fire Plan (MFP) has been developed to provide the Township of Puslinch with a 

strategic framework to assist Council in making decisions regarding the provision of fire 

protection and emergency services based on in-depth analyses of its “local needs and 

circumstances” as defined by the Fire Protection and Prevention Act (1997) (FPPA).  

Our interpretation of Council’s commitment to public safety is to provide the optimal level of 

fire protection and emergency services in responding to the Township’s legislated 

responsibilities as contained within the FPPA and the Occupational Health and Safety Act 

(OHSA). 

Significant emphasis has been placed on the use of Public Fire Safety Guidelines (PFSG) and the 

resources provided by the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management (OFMEM). 

One of the primary roles of the OFMEM is to provide assistance to municipalities through the 

provision of information and processes to support determining the fire protection services a 

municipality requires, based on its local needs and circumstances. The Comprehensive Fire 

Safety Effectiveness Model and Fire Risk Sub-Model are examples of the OFMEM documents 

that have been utilized to prepare this MFP. 

Within the Province of Ontario the delivery of fire protection services are guided by the FPPA 

including the strategic optimization of the three lines of defence which include: 

I. Public Education and Prevention; 

II. Fire Safety Standards and Enforcement; and 

III. Emergency Response. 

Optimization of the first two lines of defence has proven to be an effective strategy in reducing 

the impacts of fire, and fire related injuries across the province. The OFMEM has indicated that 

further optimization of programs targeted specifically at the first two lines of defence must be 

a priority for fire services within Ontario. Emergency response, including fire suppression 

resources, is a necessary tool in managing the overall fire risk within a community. However, as 

indicated by the OFMEM, preventing fires through the delivery of education and prevention 

programs, and utilization of the appropriate fire safety standards and enforcement strategies is 

the most effective means to further reduce the impacts of fire, and fire related injuries across 

the province.    

The analyses within this report recognize four strategic priorities for the delivery of fire 

protection services within the Township of Puslinch including: 

o The utilization of a Community Risk Profile to determine the fire safety risks within the 
Township as the basis for developing clear goals and objectives for all fire protection 
and emergency services to be provided by the Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services; 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

xi 

 

o The optimization of the first two lines of defence including public education and fire 
prevention, and the utilization of fire safety standards and fire code enforcement to 
provide a comprehensive fire protection program within the Township based on the 
results of the Community Risk Profile;  

o Emphasis on the value of all emergency services that are provided by the Puslinch Fire 
and Rescue such as responses to motor vehicle accidents and medical responses that 
enhance life safety within the Township; and  

o Emphasis on strategies that support the sustainability of fire protection and emergency 
services that provide the most cost effective and efficient level of services resulting in 
the best value for the community. 

The FPPA states that, "every municipality shall, establish a program in the municipality which 

must include public education with respect to fire safety and certain components of fire 

prevention; and provide such other fire protection services as it determines may be necessary in 

accordance with its needs and circumstances.”    

In our view the Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services (PFRS) reflects a progressive fire service that, 

with the support of the current and previous municipal Councils, has developed a 

comprehensive fire protection plan that is supported by a high degree of public satisfaction 

and support. The findings of this MFP reflect that the Township of Puslinch is currently 

providing a level of fire protection services commensurate with its legislated responsibilities as 

defined by the Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997.  A summary of the MFP 

recommendations are provided below.  

Industry best practices suggest that a review of the MFP should be conducted at five year 

intervals to ensure it continues to provide Council and staff with the strategic planning 

framework to address evolving trends and community growth in sustaining the most cost 

effective and efficient level of fire protection and emergency services resulting in the best 

value for the community.  

Summary of Recommendations 
The following is a summary of our recommendations for each division of the PFRS:  

Administration Division: 

1. That the Mission Statement of the Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services be updated to 

include a Vision Statement and to reflect the framework of the OFMEM PFSG 03-02-13 

“ Master Planning Process for Fire Protection” subject to approval of the proposed 

Master Fire Plan by Council. 

2. That consideration be given to increasing the hours of work for the part-time 
Administrative Assistant from the current 10 hours per week to 24 hours per week to 
support the administrative needs of the PFRS. 

3. That the administrative workspace for the PFRS be reviewed in consideration of the 
recommendations of the Master Fire Plan and the current facilities review of the 
Township administrative offices. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

xii 

 

4. That the Fire Chief be directed to prepare a fire department Annual Report including an 
updated Community Risk Profile for consideration by Council. 

5. That the Establishing and Regulating By-Law #12/10 be reviewed and revised subject to 
the consideration and approval of the proposed Master Fire Plan by Council. 

6. That the part-time Deputy Fire Chiefs Appointment By-law #019/14 be reviewed and 
revised subject to the consideration and approval of the recommendations impacting 
these positions included within the proposed Master Fire Plan by Council. 

7. That following Council’s consideration of the proposed Master Fire Plan that the Fire 
Chief be directed to review the current Mutual Aid Agreements in consideration of the 
fire suppression deployment options and utilization of automatic aid presented within 
the proposed Master Fire Plan.  

8. That the Township prioritize the full implementation of the updated fire dispatch 
services agreement with the City of Guelph, including the provisions of performance 
measures similar to those identified within the NFPA 1221 standard, or alternatively 
begin investigating alternative solutions for the provisions of full fire dispatch services. 

9. That the PFRS develop distinct formats for all PFRS Department Policies (DP’s) and 
Standard Operating Guidelines (SOG’s) to include a date of approval and signed 
approval by the Fire Chief or designate, and that all Department Policies and Standard 
Operating Guidelines be reviewed on annual basis as required by SOG #0-103.  

10. That additional licensing be acquired for the FIREHOUSE records management software 
program to further enhance the records management practices of the PFRS.  

11. That Council approve the strategic priorities identified within the proposed Master Fire 
Plan to guide the development and delivery of fire protection and emergency services 
within the Township of Puslinch. 

Fire Prevention/Public Education Division: 

12. That subject to Council’s consideration and approval of the proposed Master Fire Plan 

that a Fire Prevention Policy be created utilizing the framework of PFSG 04-45-12 “Fire 

Prevention Policy” for consideration and approval by Council, and attached as an 

appendix to the fire department Establishing and Regulating By-law. 

13. That subject to the consideration and approval of the proposed public fire safety 

education activities and program cycle objectives by Council that they be included 

within the proposed Fire Prevention Policy and proposed Establishing and Regulating 

By-Law.  

14. That Council consider the provision of 20 hours per week to support a dedicated 

position of part-time Public Fire and Life Safety Educator reporting to the part-time 

Chief Fire Prevention Officer with the responsibility to coordinate and optimize the 

public fire safety education objectives of the PFRS. 

15. That the PFRS Smoke Alarm Program be updated as a department Standard Operating 

Guideline and included within the proposed Fire Prevention Policy for consideration and 

approval by Council. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

xiii 

 

16. That PFSG OFM-TG-01-2012 be considered in developing the proposed Fire Prevention 

Policy for consideration and approval by Council. 

17. That subject to the consideration and approval of the proposed fire inspection goals 

and objectives by Council that they be included within the proposed Fire Prevention 

Policy and proposed Establishing and Regulating By-Law.  

18. That consideration be given to increasing the hours of work for the part-time Chief Fire 

Prevention Officer from the current 16 to 24 hours per week to achieve the proposed 

fire inspection frequencies identified within the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

Training Division: 

19. That the PFRS develop a comprehensive annual training program based on the NFPA 

Professional Qualifications Standards and the core functions of a comprehensive annual 

training program identified within the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

20. That the part-time Fire Chief be directed to review the participation of the PFRS in joint 

training initiatives with the other Fire Department within Wellington County in seeking 

efficiencies in the provision of training programs for the PFRS. 

21. That the PFRS include live fire training as a required element within the proposed 

comprehensive annual training program.  

22. That the PFRS investigate the use of an online firefighter training program as a 

component of delivering the proposed comprehensive annual training program. 

23. That the PFRS reduce the current level of emergency response services and related 

training for Confined Space Rescue and Slope/High Angle Rope Rescue incidents from 

an operational capability to an awareness level of response, and that these service 

levels be reflected in the proposed Establishing and Regulating By-law. 

24. That the part-time Fire Chief be directed to investigate the options available for the 

delivery of operational level emergency response for incidents including Confined Space 

Rescue, Slope/High Angle Rope Rescue, HAZMAT response, and Trench Rescue. 

25. That the PFRS enhance the training opportunities for Company Officers to achieve the 

competencies identified within the new NFPA 1021 Standard – Level II for Company 

Officers. 

26. That the PFRS consider adoption of the Blue Card Fire Command Training Program as a 

component of the proposed Comprehensive Annual Training Program. 

27. That the PFRS develop a succession plan for the PFRS including opportunities to 

enhance the leadership and management training available for all officers. 

Fire Suppression Division: 

28. That the emergency response performance objectives identified within the proposed 

Master Fire Plan be considered and approved by Council and included within the new 

Establishing and Regulating By-law including: 

Initial Response Staffing Performance Objective: 

That the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve an initial response 

deployment of four firefighters to all fire related emergency calls.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

xiv 

 

Depth of Response Staffing Performance Objective: 

That the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve a depth of response 

deployment to all fire related emergency calls of four firefighters to low risk 

occupancies, 14 firefighters to moderate risk occupancies, and 24 firefighters to 

high risk occupancies. 

Response Time Performance Objective: 

That the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve the response time 

performance objective referenced within the NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand 

Zone including a minimum of six firefighters responding within a 14 minute 

response time (turnout time + travel time) with a performance objective of 80%. 

29. That the PFRS continue to participate in the Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation 

process, and where possible identify additional alternative water supply locations to 

provide further enhancements to the accreditation. 

30. That the Fire Chief be directed to develop a department policy for responding to 

medical responses that details the types of medical responses, requirements for 

volunteer firefighters responding, and requirements for data collection to be presented 

to Council for consideration and approval and inclusion within the recommended 

updated Establishing and Regulating By-law. 

31. That Council authorize the Chief Administrative Officer and Fire Chief to approach the 

City of Cambridge to negotiate a revised Automatic Aid Agreement for the provision of 

fire suppression services as reflected in the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

32. That Council authorize the Chief Administrative Officer and Fire Chief to approach the 

City of Guelph to negotiate an Automatic Aid Agreement for the provision of fire 

suppression services as reflected in the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

33. That Council implement the strategies to optimize the Volunteer Firefighter 

Recruitment Process identified within the proposed Master Fire Plan including 

increasing the approved complement of the PFRS by 6 volunteer firefighters. 

34. That consideration be given to reducing the hours of work for the part-time Fire Chief 

from the current 30 hours per week to 24 hours per week. 

35. That consideration be given to making the position of part-time Deputy Fire Chief of 

Administration permanent with direct responsibility for the Fire Prevention, Public 

Education and Training Divisions with a set schedule of 24 hours per week.  

36. That consideration be given to making the position of part-time Deputy Fire Chief of 

Operations permanent with direct responsibility for the Fire Suppression Division with a 

set schedule of 24 hours per week.  

37. That Council implement the strategy to optimize the use of part-time resources 

included within the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

38. That a revised on-call process be implemented to ensure a minimum response to 

include a minimum of six volunteer firefighters and a senior officer at all times.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

xv 

 

39. That a revised call-out process be considered to provide an option for alerting either the 
on-call crew, our alternatively all of the fire suppression resources of the PFRS. 

40. That subject to Council’s desire to enhance the level of fire suppression and emergency 

services that site Option “C,” as presented within the proposed Master Fire Plan, 

including the addition of nine volunteer firefighters be considered for a satellite station 

(second station).  

Station, Apparatus & Equipment: 

41. That the Township of Puslinch prioritize the purchase of a replacement 75 foot Quint 
for Aerial #33.  

42. That subject to the purchase of a new or used 75 foot Quint that the Township revise 
the major apparatus replacement plan to accommodate a 20 year life cycle from the 
time of construction for the purchased apparatus. 

43. That the Township of Puslinch purchase a 4-wheel drive pick-up truck capable of 
carrying 5 to 6 volunteer firefighters and associated department equipment.    

44. Subject to Council’s consideration of the proposed Satellite Station it is recommended 
that the Township purchase a new or used triple combination pumper for operation 
from the proposed station. 

45. That the PFRS develop a life cycle replacement plan for all equipment including 
firefighters bunker gear and self-contained breathing apparatus based on industry best 
practices and manufacturer’s directions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

1 

 

1.0 Introduction 

The Township of Puslinch (Township) initiated this Master Fire Plan (MFP) study to assess 

current and future levels of service and programs provided by the Puslinch Fire and Rescue 

Services (PFRS).  The Master Fire Plan is a strategic document that will assist the Township and 

PFRS with planning the delivery of fire protection services over the next ten year period with 

consideration for the 20 year planning horizon.  Master Fire Plans are typically ten year plans, 

with a review of the plan conducted at the five year horizon.  Completion of the MFP 

recognizes the commitment of the Township’s Council and senior staff in achieving the most 

cost effective and efficient level of fire protection services resulting in the best value for the 

community.  

This MFP provides a complete review of the current operations of the PFRS to assist Council in 

establishing key objectives for the department. The plan includes recommendations to address 

both short-term and long-term strategies for the Township, consistent with the master fire 

planning process outlined within the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management, 

Shaping Fire-Safe Communities Initiative. 

The overarching goal of this report is to present a clear understanding of the existing and 

future requirements of the PFRS.  Referencing best practices, including relevant standards and 

legislation, this report was prepared by completing an assessment of the following 

departmental administrative and operational components: 

• Governance, legislation, by-laws and SOG/SOP’s; 

• Administration, structure and workload; 

• Fire prevention and public education; 

• Firefighter staffing and service agreements; 

• Community fire risk and hazards; 

• Emergency response and station location; 

• Firefighter training; 

• Apparatus, equipment, inventories and maintenance; 

• Dispatch and communications; 

• Community consultation; and 

• Budgets and revenues. 

The Master Fire Plan was developed with a broad and comprehensive stakeholder consultation 

program.  This included interviews with fire rescue department and Township staff, roundtable 

discussion session with the volunteer firefighters, targeted community stakeholder telephone 

interviews and continuous consultation with the Township’s Fire Chief, Deputy Fire Chief, Chief 

Administration Officer (CAO) and Director of Finance.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

2 

 

1.1 Community Background 

The Township of Puslinch is located in the County of Wellington. The Township is comprised of 

five hamlets including Aberfoyle, Arkell, Crieff, Morriston and Puslinch. The community is a 

predominantly rural and agricultural area which has been experiencing residential infill 

development and growth as a result of its proximity to Guelph, Cambridge and other urban 

centers within southern Ontario. The Township’s current population is approximately 7,029 

people (2011 Census) experiencing an approximate 5.1% increase in population since 2006.   

The current density of the Township is approximately 33 people per square kilometre.  

It is anticipated that Puslinch’s population will continue to grow in the future. The County’s 

Official Plan outlines that the Township is anticipated to grow 32.7% from 2011 to 2031. The 

majority of expected growth is anticipated to occur within the hamlets of the Township.  

The PFRS currently operates from one centrally located fire station.  The staff includes a part-

time Fire Chief, two temporary part-time Deputy Fire Chiefs,  a part-time Chief  Fire  Prevention  

Officer,  a  part-time Training  Captain,  part-time Training Officer,  part  time  Administrative  

Assistant,  four volunteer Captains, 28 volunteer firefighters and four auxiliary firefighters.   

The primary duty of an Auxiliary Firefighter is to perform firefighting duties when accompanied 

and supervised by a member of the fire department including duties such as truck checks, 

attend community events, and support fire prevention and public education initiatives.   

The Township of Puslinch encompasses an area of 215 square kilometers in southern Ontario.  

Shown in Figure 1, Puslinch is situated on the southern edge of Wellington County and is 

bordered by Guelph to the north, Cambridge to the west, Hamilton to the south, and the Town 

of Milton to the east.   

PFRS provides services to the stretch of Highway 401 between Townline Road, Cambridge (Exit 

286) and Guelph Line in Campbellville (Exit 312) which, on a given day, more than 50,000 

visitors pass through.  The department provides rescue from fires, motor vehicle collisions, 

medical assist calls, land/water based and ice rescues, confined space and rope rescue. 

Highway 401, which runs east-west through the Township, and Highway 6, which runs north-

south through the Township, are the primary access routes into Puslinch. The Township is also 

serviced by a number of county roads as well as concession and side roads which provide 

transportation links throughout Puslinch and to neighbouring Townships and municipalities of 

the County Of Wellington. The only public transportation in the Township is run by GO Transit 

which provides access to surrounding municipalities.   

 

  



Cambridge

Hamliton

ErinMapleton

Minto Wellington North

Puslinch

Centre Wellington

Guelph-Eramosa

Guelph

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

\\dillon.ca\DILLON_DFS\Toronto\Toronto CAD\GIS\141138 - Puslinch Fire and Rescue

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 7/16/2015

COUNTY OF WELLINGTON
TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
WATERBODY
HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL
COLLECTOR
LOCAL

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

PUSLINCH LOCATION MAP
FIGURE #1



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

4 

 

1.2 Department Background 

The evolution of delivering fire protection within the Township of Puslinch is well documented 

within a book written by former Volunteer Fire Chief Dan Quinnell titled “Puslinch Fire 

Department 1968-2008”. The background within this book dates back to the early 1900’s, 

including a detailed description of how the fire department evolved to its current state.  

The Puslinch Fire Department was created on September 9, 1968 through passing of a by-law 

by the presiding Council. The initial group of 34 volunteer firefighters commenced an initial 

training program with the assistance of the Fire Marshal’s Office (now the OFMEM). The 

Puslinch Fire Department officially started providing fire protection services to the Township 

on January 1st 1969.   

The first fire station was located on Brock Road South, and it had enough space to 

accommodate two fire vehicles. An addition to the building allowed space for a radio room, 

classroom, shower, washroom, office for the Fire Chief and four fire vehicles.  

In 1981, the Township completed the construction of its new municipal offices located on 

Wellington Road 34 just west of Brock Road. In addition to the fire department this new 

complex provided a centrally located facility for the roads department and municipal offices. In 

2002, an addition to the municipal offices was completed providing more office space for the 

fire chief, training officers, fire prevention and equipment storage.  

Another important and relevant element to this MFP is the Township’s history of having 

agreements with surrounding municipalities in supporting the fire department’s resources in 

the delivery of fire protection services. For example, Puslinch has a long history of shared 

services and fire protection agreements with the City of Cambridge.  

 

  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

5 

 

2.0 Legislation 

2.1 Fire Prevention and Protection Act, 1997 

Within the Province of Ontario the relevant legislation for the operation of a fire department is 

contained within the Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997 (FPPA).  The following are 

applicable sections of the FPPA for reference purposes: 

 

PART I 
DEFINITIONS 

 

Definitions 

1.(1) In this Act,  
 
“fire chief” means a fire chief appointed under section 6 (1), (2) of (4); (“chef des 
pompiers”) 
“fire code” means the fire code established under Part IV; (“code de prevention des 
incendies”) 
“fire department” means a group of firefighters authorized to provide fire 
protection services by a municipality, group of municipalities or by an agreement 
made under section 3; (“service d’ incendie”) 
“Fire Marshal” means the Fire Marshal appointed under subsection 8 (1); 
(“commissaire des incendies”) 
“fire protection services” includes fire suppression, fire prevention, fire safety 
education, communication, training of persons involved in the provisions of fire 
protection services, rescue and emergency services and the delivery of all those 
Services; (“services de protection contre les incendies”) 
“municipality” means the local municipality as defined in the Municipal Act, 2001; 
(“municipalite”) 
“prescribed” means prescribed by regulation (“prescript”) 
“regulation” means a regulation made under this Act; (“reglement”) 
“volunteer firefighter” means a firefighter who provides fire protection services 
either voluntarily or for a nominal consideration, honorarium, training or activity 
allowance; (“pompier volontaire”) 
 

Application of definition of 
firefighter  
 

(3) The definition of firefighter in subsection (1) does not apply to Part IX. 1997, c. 4, 
s. 1 (2) 
 

Automatic aid agreements 

(4) For the purposes of this Act, an automatic aid agreement means any agreement 
under which, 

(a) a municipality agrees to ensure the provision of an initial response to fires and 
rescues and emergencies that may occur in a part of another municipality where a 
fire department in the municipality is capable of responding more quickly than 
any fire department situated in the other municipality, or 
 
(b) a municipality agrees to ensure the provision of a supplemental response to 
fires, rescues and other emergencies that may occur in a part of another 
municipality where a fire department situated in the municipality is capable of 
providing the quickest supplemental response to fires, rescues and other 
emergencies occurring in the part of the other municipality. 1997, c. 4, s. 1 (4) 

 

 

 

 
 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

6 

 

PART I 
DEFINITIONS 

 

PART II 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES 

 

Municipal responsibilities 

 

2.(1) Every municipality shall 
(a) establish a program in the municipality which must include public education 
with respect to fire safety and certain components of fire prevention, and 
 
(b) provide such other fire protection services as it determines may be necessary 
in accordance with its needs and circumstances. 

 

Services to be provided 

 

(3) In determining the form and content of the program that it must offer under 
clause 
(1)(a) and the other fire protection services that it may offer under clause (1)(b), a 
municipality may seek the advice of the Fire Marshal 
 

Automatic aid agreements 
(6) A municipality may enter into an automatic aide agreement to provide or receive 
the initial or supplemental response to fires, rescues and emergencies. 
 

 
Review of municipal fire 
services 

 

 
(7) The Fire Marshal may monitor and review the fire protection services provided 
by 
municipalities to ensure that municipalities have met their responsibilities under this 
section, and if the Fire Marshal is of the opinion that, as a result of a municipality 
failing to comply with its responsibilities under subsection (1), a serious threat to 
public safety exists in the municipality, he or she may make recommendations to the 
council of the municipality with respect to possible measures the municipality may 
take to remedy or reduce the threat to public safety. 
 

Failure to provide services 

(8) If a municipality fails to adhere to the recommendations made by the Fire 
Marshal under subsection (7) or to take any other measure that in the opinion of the 
Fire Marshal will remedy or reduce the threat to public safety, the Minister may 
recommend the Lieutenant Governor in Council that a regulation be made under 
subsection (9). 
 

Regulation 

(9) Upon the recommendation of the Minister, the Lieutenant Governor in council 
may make regulations establishing standards for fire protection services in 
municipalities and requiring municipalities to comply with the standards. 
 

Fire departments 

(1) A fire department shall provide fire suppression services and may provide other 
fire protection services in a municipality, group of municipalities or in territory 

without municipal organization. 1997, c. 4, s. 5 (1) 
 

Same 
(2) Subject to subsection (3), the council of a municipality may establish more than 
one fire department for the municipality. 1997, c. 4, s. 5 (2) 
 

Exception 

(3) The council of a municipality may not establish more than one fire department if, 
for a period of at least 12 months before the day this Act comes into force, fire 
protection services in the municipality were provided by a fire department 
composed exclusively of full-time firefighters. 1997, c. 4, s. 5 (3) 
 

Same  
(4) The councils of two or more municipalities may establish one or more fire 
departments for the municipalities. 1997, c. 4, s. 5 (4) 
  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

7 

 

PART I 
DEFINITIONS 

 

Fire chief, municipalities 

6. (1) If a fire department is established for the whole or part of a municipality or for 
more than one municipality, the council of the municipality or the councils of the 
municipalities, as the case may be, shall appoint a fire chief for the fire department. 
 

Same 
(2) The council of a municipality or the councils of two or more municipalities may 
appoint a fire chief for two or more fire departments. 
 

Responsibility to council 
(3)  A fire chief is the person who is ultimately responsible to the council of a 
municipality that appointed him or her for the delivery of fire protection services 
 

Powers of a fire chief 

 

 (5) The fire chief may exercise all powers assigned to him or her under this Act 
within the territorial limits of the municipality and within any other area in which 
the municipality has agreed to provide fire protection services, subject to any 
conditions specified in the agreement.  

 

 

PART III 
FIRE MARHALL 

 

Appointment of Fire Marshal 
8 (1) There shall be a Fire Marshal who shall be appointed by the Lieutenant 
Governor in Council. 
 

Powers of Fire Marshal 

 

9.(1) the Fire Marshal has the power, 
 

(a) to monitor, review and advise municipalities respecting the provision of fire 
protection services and to make recommendations to municipal councils for 
improving the efficiency and effectiveness of those services; 
 
(b) to issue directives to assistants to the Fire Marshal respecting matters 
relating to this Act and the regulations; 
(c) to advise and assist ministries and agencies of government respecting fire 
protection services and related matters; 
 
(d) to issue guidelines to municipalities respecting fire protection services and 
related 
Matters; 
 
(e) to co-operate with anybody or person interested in developing and 
promoting the principles and practices of fire protections services; 
 
(f) to issue long service awards to persons involved in the provision of fire 
protection services; and 
 
(g) to exercise such other powers as may be assigned under this Act or as may 
be necessary to perform any duties assigned under this Act. 

 

Duties of Fire Marshal 

 

9.(2) It is the duty of the Fire Marshal, 
 

(a) to investigate the cause, origin and circumstances of any fire or of any 
explosion or condition that in opinion of the Fire Marshal might have caused a 
fire, explosion, loss of life, or damage to property; 
 
(b) to advise municipalities in the interpretation and enforcement of this Act 
and the 
regulations; 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

8 

 

PART I 
DEFINITIONS 

 

 
(c) to provide information and advice on fire safety matters and fire protection 
matters by means of public meetings, newspaper articles, publications, 
electronic media and exhibitions and otherwise as the Fire Marshal considers 
available; 
 
(d) to develop training programs and evaluation systems for persons involved in 
the 
provision of fire protection services and to provide programs to improve 
practices relating to fire protection services; 
 
(e) to maintain and operate a central fire college; 
 
(f) to keep a record of every fire reported to the Fire Marshal with the facts, 
statistics and circumstances that are required under the Act; 
 
(g) to develop and maintain statistical records and conduct studies in respect of 
fire protection services; and 
 
(h) to perform such other duties as may be assigned to the Fire Marshal under 
this Act. 
 

 

2.2 Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management, Ontario 

As indicated within the FPPA the duties of the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency 

Management (OFMEM) include responsibilities to assist with the interpretation of the Act, to 

develop training and evaluation systems and enforcement of the Act and its regulations. One 

of these roles includes the review of compliance with the minimum requirements of a 

Community Fire Safety Program, which must include: 

• A smoke alarm program with home escape planning; 

• The distribution of fire safety education material to residents/occupants; 

• Inspections upon complaint or when requested to assist with code compliance 

(including any necessary code enforcement); and 

• A simplified risk assessment. 

The OFMEM has developed Public Fire Safety Guidelines (PFSG) to assist municipalities in 

making informed decisions to determine local “needs and circumstances” and achieve 

compliance with the FPPA. 

It is important to note that the OFMEM began a comprehensive review of all Public Fire Safety 

Guidelines in January 2015. The following information is presented on the OFMEM website 

regarding this review: 

“Please be advised that the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency 

Management (OFMEM) has commenced a comprehensive review of all OFMEM 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

9 

 

Public Fire Safety Guidelines (PFSGs). The OFMEM anticipates releasing 

updated guidelines by the end of 2015. Pending the release of the new 

guidelines, the existing guidelines will remain on our website for reference. In 

addition, the OFMEM recommends municipalities access other resources from 

our website such as Technical Guidelines or Communiques.” 

With the Township’s approval, Dillon Consulting Limited continued the completion of this MFP 

utilizing the current PFSGs, recognizing the current review process is underway.  

2.2.1 PFSG 01-02-01 “Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model” 

The Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model (PFSG 01-02-01, attached as Appendix A) 
was developed by the OFMEM to assist communities in evaluating their level of fire safety. The 
model recognizes that there is more to providing fire protection services than just building fire 
stations, purchasing equipment and deploying firefighters. The Comprehensive Fire Safety 
Effectiveness Model (CFSEM) confirms that the fire service within Ontario is currently 
experiencing an evolution of significant change. In response to increasing public expectations 
and diminishing financial resources municipalities are being forced to critically assess their fire 
protection needs in identifying new and innovative ways to providing the most cost effective 
fire protection services.  

The following is an excerpt from PFSG 01-02-01:  

“The provision of fire protection in Ontario is a municipal responsibility. The 

level and amount of fire protection provided is determined by the residents of 

the community through decisions made by and support provided by the local 

municipal council. Due to a wide variety of factors, the Ontario fire service finds 

itself in a period of change. Increased community expectations coupled with 

reduced financial resources are forcing all communities to critically assess their 

fire protection needs and to develop new and innovative ways of providing the 

most cost effective level of service. A refocus on fire protection priorities is 

providing progressive fire departments and communities throughout Ontario 

with an exciting opportunity to enhance community fire safety. There is more 

to providing fire protection than trucks, stations, firefighters and equipment.”  

The CFSEM identifies that every municipality should be guided by a master or strategic plan 

covering a planning horizon of five to ten years. Shifting from the traditional focus of hazard 

identification and fire suppression response the CFSEM recognizes more comprehensive risk 

assessment and optimizing the use of fire prevention and control systems are part of a 

paradigms shift within the fire service.  

Figure 2 below shows each of the factors which make up the comprehensive model. Although 

the chart is divided equally, each factor will in reality contribute differently to the total level of 

fire protection provided to a community. 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

10 

 

FIGURE 2: FACTORS IN A COMPREHENSIVE FIRE SAFETY EFFECTIVENESS MODEL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3 shows how the comprehensive model can be applied to a typical fire department. The 

"gap" depicts the difference between the existing level of protection and the ideal. 

FIGURE 3:  COMPREHENSIVE MODEL APPLIED TO A TYPICAL FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilizing the framework of the CFSEM and the fire protection service assessment processes 

developed by the OFMEM the primary objective of this MFP is to identify, through evidence-

based analysis, the presence of any existing gaps in the current delivery of fire protection 

services within the Township of Puslinch. The MFP also identifies where options for optimizing 

the level of fire protection services may be available.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

11 

 

In response to any existing gaps identified this MFP recommends strategies that are intended 

to optimize the use of the “three lines of defence” including:  

I. Public Education and Prevention 
II. Fire Safety Standards and  Enforcement 

III. Emergency Response  

A further description of each line of defence includes: 

I. Public Education and Prevention: 

Educating residents of the community on means for them to fulfill their responsibilities for their 

own fire safety is a proven method of reducing the incidence of fire.  Only by educating 

residents can fires be prevented and can those affected by fires respond properly to save lives, 

reduce injury and reduce the impact of fires;  

II. Fire Safety Standards and Enforcement:  

Ensuring that buildings have the required fire protection systems, safety features, including fire 

safety plans, and that these systems are maintained, so that the severity of fires may be 

minimized;  

III. Emergency Response:  

Providing well trained and equipped firefighters directed by capable officers to stop the spread 

of fires once they occur and to assist in protecting the lives and safety of residents. This is the 

failsafe for those times when fires occur despite prevention efforts. 

The CFSEM emphasizes the importance and value of preventing a fire.  This is important from 

both an economic and public safety perspective. At the same time, the CFSEM ensures an 

appropriate level of health and safety for firefighters. The model also recognizes that 

developing programs and providing resources to implement the first line of defence (a 

proactive public education and fire prevention program) can be the most effective strategy to 

reduce and potentially minimize the need for the other lines of defence.  

2.2.2 PFSG 00-00-01 “Framework for Setting Guidelines within a Provincial-Municipal 
Relationship” 

PFSG 00-00-01 (attached as Appendix B) provides an understanding of the municipal and 

provincial roles and responsibilities in terms of delivering fire protection services at the local 

level. The following is an excerpt from the background section of this guideline that states the 

following: 

“Municipalities are compelled to establish a program in the 

municipality which must include public education with respect to fire 

safety and certain components of fire prevention. The act also states 

that municipalities are responsible for arranging such other fire 

protection services as they determine may be necessary according to 

their own needs and circumstances. The relationship between the 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

12 

 

province and municipalities is based on the principle that 

municipalities are responsible for arranging fire protection services 

according to their own needs and circumstances.” 

As referenced in this document, PFSGs represent one component of the strategy that the 

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services proposes for public fire protection in 

Ontario. The strategy referenced in PFSG 00-00-01 includes: 

 Clarifying municipal responsibility for local fire protection, while protecting the provincial 

interest in public safety. 

 Removing remaining legislative barriers which forestall the restructuring and reorganization of 

municipal fire services. 

 Facilitating a shift in focus which places priority on fire prevention and public education as 

opposed to fire suppression. 

 Providing municipalities with decision-making tools to help them provide services according to 

their own needs and circumstances. 

 Facilitating more active involvement of the private sector and other community groups in fire 

prevention and public education through the Fire Marshals Public Fire Safety Council. 

2.2.3 PFSG 03-02-13 “Master Planning Process for Fire Protection Services” 

PFSG 03-02-13 (attached as Appendix C) outlines the process to develop a Master Fire Plan as 

the strategic blueprint for the delivery of fire protection services that address the “local needs 

and circumstances” as defined by the FPPA, and in determining the level of fire protection 

services the community can afford. 

An excerpt from PFSG 03-02-13 guiding principles indicates the following: 

 The residents of any community are entitled to the most effective, efficient and safe fire 
services possible; 

 The content of existing collective agreements will be respected and the collective 
bargaining process will be recognized as the appropriate channel for resolving labour 
relations issues under collective agreements and the Fire Protection and Prevention Act; 

 Collective bargaining issues affecting public safety will be identified; and 

 Those responsible must work within these parameters in making recommendations for 
improving municipal fire services. 

2.2.4 PFSG 01-01-01 “Fire Protection Review Process” 

Analyzing local needs and circumstances is a core component of the fire master planning 

process. PFSG 01-01-01 (attached as Appendix D) identifies the three main issues that define 

local circumstances including the guidelines to be utilized: 

 PFSG 02-03-01 “Economic Circumstances” (attached as Appendix E) 

 PFSG 02-02-03 “Comprehensive Community Fire Risk Assessment” (attached as 
Appendix F) 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

13 

 

 PFSG 02-04-01 “Capabilities of Existing Fire Protection Services” (attached as 
Appendix G) 

PFSG 01-01-01 describes a number of factors to be considered in conducting the review 

including: 

 The overall objective of any fire protection program is to provide the optimum level of 
protection to the community, in keeping with local needs and circumstances;  

 Extensive research has demonstrated that there are a variety of factors that will have 
an impact on the fire department's capacity to fulfill this objective;  

 Conversely, there are many different options that a municipality may pursue to improve 
the efficiency and effectiveness of its fire protection system;  

 Local circumstances will have a profound effect on which factors are most important 
for any one municipality, and what options are available for its fire protection system; 

 Selecting among these options is an extremely complex task; and 

 Success will require a combination of specialized expertise in fire protection, and a 
thorough appreciation of your municipality's economic, social and political 
circumstances.  

Figure 4 reflects the framework for developing a plan for optimizing public fire safety.   

  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

14 

 

FIGURE 4:  FRAMEWORK FOR OPTIMIZING PUBLIC FIRE SAFETY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.2.5 PFSG 04-08-10 “Operational Planning: An Official Guide to Matching Resource 
Deployment and Risk”  

PFSG 04-08-10 (attached as Appendix L) was developed by the OFMEM to assist municipalities 

in meeting their responsibilities under Section 2. (1) (b) “provide such other fire protection 

services as it determines may be necessary in accordance with its needs and circumstances” of 

the FPPA. 

As stated by the OFMEM in PFSG “04-08-10 Operational Planning: An Official Guide to 

Matching Resource Deployment and Risk: 

“The overall public safety objective of a municipality is to provide the community with an 

optimal level of fire protection. Fire suppression is one aspect of the three lines of defence; the 

other two lines are Public Education and Prevention and Fire Safety Standards and Enforcement. 

A municipality needs to evaluate its existing fire suppression capabilities to ensure that it is 

managing all fire risk levels within the community, responding to and addressing fires that 

occur, and meeting public and council expectations.” 

Se
t 

P
o

lic
y 

P
ar

am
e

te
rs

 a
n

d
  

C
o

m
m

it
te

e
 S

tr
u

ct
u

re
 

Capabilities of 

Existing Fire 

Protection 

Risk Assessment 

Economic 

Circumstances 

St
at

u
s 

R
ep

o
rt

 

Determining  

Local Needs and 

Circumstances 

M
as

te
r 

P
la

n
 

Identify 

Operational 

Impact of 

Developing  

Fire Protection Strategy 

Develop 

Implementation 

Options 

Assess 

Implementation 

Options 

Monitor 

Master Fire Plan 

Implementation Plan 

Evaluate 

Revise 

Performance Measures 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

15 

 

2.2.6 PFSG 04-40-03 “Selection of Appropriate Fire Prevention Programs”  

PFSG 04-40-03 (attached as Appendix I) identifies the four minimum requirements of the FPPA 

Section 2. (1) (a) “establish a program in the municipality which must include public education 

with respect to fire safety and certain components of fire prevention” including: 

 Simplified risk assessment; 

 A smoke alarm program; 

 Fire safety education material distributed to residents/occupants; and 

 Inspections upon compliant or when requested to assist with code 

compliance. 

2.3 Occupational Health and Safety Act 

The Occupational Health and Safety Act, R.S.O. 1990 (OHSA) requires every employer to, “take 

every precaution reasonable in the circumstances for the protection of the worker.” The OHSA 

provides for the appointment of committees, and identifies the “Ontario Fire Services 

Section 21 Advisory Committee” as the advisory committee to the Minister of Labour with the 

role and responsibility to issue guidance notes to address firefighter-specific safety issues 

within Ontario.   

Where 20 or more workers are regularly employed at a workplace, the OHSA requires the 

establishment of a Joint Health and Safety Committee (JHSC).  The committee must hold 

regular meetings including the provision of agendas and minutes.  

Firefighter safety must be a high priority in considering all of the activities and services to be 

provided by a fire department. This must include the provision of department policies and 

procedures, or Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) that are consistent with the direction of 

the OHSA Section 21 Guidance Notes for the fire service. 

 

 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

16 

 

3.0 Administration Division 

The administrative functions of the PFRS are overseen by the part-time Fire Chief. At the 

Chief’s request Council approved Report FIR 2014-001 that requested the appointment of two 

temporary part-time Deputy Fire Chiefs. A temporary part-time Deputy Fire Chief of 

Administration was appointed through By-law 028/14. To fill the role of temporary part-time 

Deputy Fire Chief of Operations Council approved the appointment of five Captains on a 

rotating basis. These appointments are also included within By-law 028/14.  

Determining the appropriate organizational structure for the PFRS, including the number of 

part-time Deputy Fire Chiefs and their respective roles and responsibilities, is an objective of 

this MFP. Further discussion of these positions is included within following sections of this 

review.  

Administrative support for the PFRS is currently provided by a part-time Administrative 

Assistant. This person reports directly to the part-time Fire Chief and has an office located 

within the fire station. 

Working as a management team, this group is responsible for overseeing the delivery of all 

services provided by the department, including monitoring the resources and operations of the 

suppression, prevention and public education, and firefighter training functions of the 

department.  

The Administration Division is also responsible for the preparation and management of 

budgets, personnel management, resource management and records management in 

accordance with the Townships Records Management By-Law and Records management 

Program. 

3.1 Vision, Mission, Goals and Objectives 

The OFMEM identifies the importance of a fire department mission statement within PFSG 03-

02-13 “Master Planning Process for Fire Protection.” A mission statement should identify the 

goals and objectives of the department, identify the primary stakeholders (e.g. volunteer 

firefighters) and acknowledge the types of services and commitment of the department in 

order to achieve success.  

The current PFRS mission statement is as follows: 

“We, the members of Puslinch Fire & Rescue, dedicate our efforts to provide for the safety and 

welfare of our residents and the public through preservation of life, property, and the 

environment. 

• Prevent 

• Save Lives 

• Protect Property” 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

17 

 

 

The objectives of the Puslinch Fire and Rescue are: 

1. To prevent fire – quickly realized that the best way to tackle the problem was to 
prevent fire from starting. 

2. To reduce the loss of life & property – if a fire does start – when achievement of the 
first objective not realized. 

The Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services’ mission statement and objectives relate to the Office of 

the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management’s (OFMEM) comprehensive fire safety 

effectiveness model’s three lines of defence, as they cover life safety, prevention and 

education, and emergency response. Best practices within the industry indicate that the 

mission statement of the department should be accompanied with a vision statement as well. 

The vision statement should identify how the department plans to implement the mission 

statement and how the department sees itself in preparing for the future.   

Subject to Council’s consideration and approval of this MFP consideration should be given to 

updating the PFRS mission statement and objectives to reflect the strategic priorities outlined 

and recommendations contained within this MFP. Where possible, the mission statement 

should include more specific detail with regard to the types of services and programs to be 

delivered to the community, reflecting alignment with the “needs and circumstances” clause of 

the FPPA. Consideration should also be given to creating a vision statement for the PFRS. A 

vision statement is intended to express the future goals and objectives of the fire and rescue 

services. In our experience updating the mission statement and objectives and creating a vision 

statement provides an opportunity for an excellent team building exercise.    

It is recommended that the mission statement of the Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services be 

updated to include a Vision Statement and to reflect the framework of the OFMEM PFSG 03-

02-13 “Master Planning Process for Fire Protection” subject to approval of the proposed 

Master Fire Plan by Council. 

3.2 Department Services 

All services provided by the PFRS are included within the Establishing and Regulating By-

law 12/10 approved by Council on January 20th 2010. The core services provided by the PFRS 

are included within “Appendix A to By-law 12/10.” These services include fire suppression and 

emergency response, fire prevention, fire safety education, emergency dispatching and 

communications.  

By-law 12/10 assigns the organization of the department into the following divisions: 

• Fire Prevention; 

• Fire Suppression; 

• Training; 

• Public Education; and 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

18 

 

• Administrative Services. 

3.3 Department Staff Resources 

The composition of the PFRS is prescribed within By-Law No. 12/10 and requires the PFRS to 

“consist of a Fire Chief, Deputy Fire Chief, Captains, other Officers, firefighters, administrative 

support staff and any other person as may be authorized or considered necessary from time to 

time by Council or by the CAO for the Fire Department to perform Fire Protection Services.”  

As indicated previously within this review Council has endorsed a temporary strategy to 

include two part-time Deputy Fire Chiefs within the composition of the PFRS. The analysis of 

this strategy and the overall composition of the PFRS is an objective of this MFP that will be 

discussed further within this review.  

3.3.1 Fire Chief (Part-time) 

By-law 12/10 defines this position as follows: “Fire Chief means the person appointed by 

Council to act as Fire Chief for the Corporation and is ultimately responsible to Council as 

defined in the FPPA.”  In the Township of Puslinch the part-time Fire Chief reports to Council 

through the Township’s Chief Administrative Officer/Clerk (CAO/Clerk).  

As an employee of the Township the part-time Fire Chief is compensated based on the staff 

remuneration rates established by Council on an annual basis. For the year 2014 the approved 

hourly wage for the position of part-time Fire Chief was $36.86. The part-time Fire Chief is 

currently authorized for 20 to 30 hours per week to fulfill his administrative responsibilities.  In 

addition to compensation for administrative responsibilities the Chief is also compensated 

based on the hourly rate for this position when responding to emergencies, attending training 

sessions and other approved department business.  

An overview of the part-time Fire Chief’s roles and responsibilities as defined by By-law 12/10 

include: 

• Provide leadership and direction to all staff, maintain effective working relations with 

all departments and staff. 

• Develop, administer and control the annual departmental operating and capital 

budgets.  Oversee, manage and approve expenditures in compliance with Township By-

laws, policies and procedures. 

• Establish goals, objectives, financial and human resource requirements and 

performance indicators related to departmental functions and monitor the 

achievement of results. 

• Provide direction of work priorities for the department operations based on needs, 

direction of Council, legislative requirements and risk mitigation. 

• Oversee and ensure the maintenance of all apparatus, equipment and grounds. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

19 

 

• Develop and monitor departmental policies, procedures and standards that guide and 

direct the activities within the department, and ensure full compliance with legislative 

and regulatory requirements to reduce corporate liabilities and mitigate risk. 

• Research, prepare and present reports to Council or committees of Council making 

recommendations regarding policy initiatives related to departmental services, capital 

requirements or special projects as directed. 

• Perform human resource functions, such as preparing job descriptions, recruitment, 

training, supervision, performance evaluation, discipline, and attendance management 

in accordance with Township policies.  Monitor performance levels, assign duties, and 

provide guidance fostering a team work environment.   

• Supervises the Deputy Fire Chief, Fire Prevention Officer and Volunteer Fire Fighters. 

• Identify, establish and implement best practices related to department activities with a 

focus on continuous improvement, efficiencies and cost effectiveness. 

• Attend Council and committee meetings to represent the department, make 

recommendations as appropriate, respond to enquiries and provide professional advice. 

• Ensure timely responses are provided to department inquiries from Council and the 

public. 

• Represent the department and/or Township with residents, community groups and/or 

associations, consultants and vendors as required. 

• Perform additional duties and special projects as required. 

• Be responsible to work in compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act and 

Regulations, the Township of Puslinch Occupational Health, Safety and Workplace 

Violence Policy and Procedures, as well as established industry guidelines. 

Further analysis and recommendations regarding the part-time Fire Chief’s position is included 

within Section 8.12 Options for Enhancing Fire Suppression Services section of this MFP. 

3.3.2 Deputy Fire Chief/Operations (Part-time) 

This temporary position is authorized by By-law 028/14 reporting directly to the part-time Fire 

Chief.  As an employee of the Township the part-time Deputy Fire Chief/Operations is 

compensated based on the staff remuneration rates established by Council on an annual basis. 

For the year 2014 the approved hourly wage for the position of part-time Deputy Chief of 

Operations was $31.56. The part-time Deputy Fire Chief of Operations is currently authorized 

for 10 hours per week to fulfill his administrative responsibilities. In addition to compensation 

for administrative responsibilities this position is also compensated based on the hourly rate 

for this position when responding to emergencies, attending training sessions and other 

approved department business.  

An overview of the part-time Deputy Fire Chief/Operations roles and responsibilities as defined 

by Report FIR 2014-001 include: 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

20 

 

General duties and responsibilities: 

• Provide leadership and direction to all staff, maintain effective working relations with 

all departments and staff. 

• Assist the Fire Chief with administering and controlling the annual departmental 

operating and capital budgets.   

• Assist the Fire Chief with establishing goals, objectives, financial and human resource 

requirements and performance indicators related to departmental functions and 

monitor the achievement of results. 

• Assist the Fire Chief with developing and monitoring departmental policies, procedures 

and standards that guide and direct the activities within the department, and ensure 

full compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements to reduce corporate 

liabilities and mitigate risk. 

• Perform incident command at emergency scenes 

• Assist the Fire Chief with the identifying, establishing and implementing best practices 

related to department activities with a focus on continuous improvement, efficiencies 

and cost effectiveness. 

• Attend Council and committee meetings to represent the department, make 

recommendations as appropriate, respond to enquiries and provide professional advice. 

• Ensure timely responses are provided to department inquiries from Council and the 

public. 

• Represent the department and/or Township with residents, community groups and/or 

associations, consultants and vendors as required. 

• Perform additional duties and special projects as required. 

• Be responsible to work in compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act and 

Regulations, the Township of Puslinch Occupational Health, Safety and Workplace 

Violence Policy and Procedures, as well as established industry guidelines. 

Specific duties and responsibilities: 

• Oversee and ensure the maintenance of all apparatus, building, equipment and 

grounds. 

Further analysis and recommendations regarding the part-time Deputy Fire Chief/Operations 

position is included within Section 8.12 Options for Enhancing Fire Suppression Services section 

of this MFP. 

3.3.3 Deputy Fire Chief/Administration (Part-time) 

This temporary position is authorized by By-law 028/14 reporting directly to the part-time Fire 

Chief.  As an employee of the Township the part-time Deputy Fire Chief/Administration is 

compensated based on the staff remuneration rates established by Council on an annual basis. 

For the year 2014 the approved hourly wage for the position of part-time Deputy Chief of 

Administration was $31.56. The part-time Deputy Fire Chief/Administration is currently 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

21 

 

authorized for 10 hours per week to fulfill his administrative responsibilities. In addition to 

compensation for administrative responsibilities this position is also compensated based on 

the hourly rate for this position when responding to emergencies, attending training sessions 

and other approved department business.  

The part-time Deputy Fire Chief/Administration roles and responsibilities are also defined by 

Report FIR 2014-001 include the same general duties and responsibilities as the part-time 

Deputy Fire Chief/Operations and the following specific duties and responsibilities: 

Specific duties and responsibilities; 

• Research, prepare and present reports to Council or committees of Council making 

recommendations regarding policy initiatives related to departmental services, capital 

requirements or special projects as directed. 

• Perform human resource functions such as recruitment, training, supervision, 

performance evaluation, and discipline and attendance management in accordance 

with Township policies.  Monitor performance levels, assign duties, and provide 

guidance fostering a team work environment.   

• Act as the Fire Chief in the absence of the Fire Chief. 

• Respond to complaints and inquiries from the public, staff, outside agencies and other 

enforcement or inspection units regarding building code matters and regulatory by-

laws.  

• Investigate complaints and conduct site inspections. 

Further analysis and recommendations regarding the part-time Deputy Fire Chief/ 

Administration position is included within Section 8.12 Options for Enhancing Fire Suppression 

Services section of this MFP. 

3.3.4 Administrative Support (Part-time) 

The Administrative Assistant reports directly to the part-time Fire Chief and is responsible for 

providing administrative support to the PFRS. As an employee of the Township the part-time 

Administrative Support position is compensated based on the staff remuneration rates 

established by Council on an annual basis. For the year 2014 the approved hourly wage for the 

position of part-time Administrative Assistant was $19.69. The part-time Administrative 

Support position is currently authorized for 10 hours per week to fulfill the administrative 

responsibilities of this position.  

The current duties of the Administrative Assistant include but are not limited to: 

• Answer the phone and record questions for Fire Prevention Officer of other fire 

personnel.  

• Enter data in program(s) recording number of responses, types, statistical information.  

• Prepare monthly and annual statistical reports on behalf of the department. 

• Report to the OFMEM on all responses. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

22 

 

• Request reports from Ontario Provincial Police (OPP) for all collisions being invoiced on 

Highway 401 and Highway 6.  

• Prepare and submit invoices to the Ministry of Transportation for the recovery of costs 

for attendance at collisions. 

• Provide administrative support to the Fire and Rescue Services department. 

• Respond to general inquiries. 

• Develop and maintain job -related procedures. 

• Perform additional duties and special projects as required. 

• Be prepared to do dispatch duties when firefighter numbers are not sufficient. 

• Be responsible to work in compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act and 

Regulations, the Township of Puslinch Occupational Health, Safety and Workplace 

Violence Policy and Procedures, as well as established industry guidelines. 

Our analyses of the current administrative duties of this position indicates that there is 

insufficient time to complete all of the duties assigned to this position. Often other staff are 

required to complete administrative tasks that could be more effectively and efficiently 

completed by the Administrative Assistant.  

The recommendations of this proposed MFP identify several areas including fire prevention, 

public education and training where additional programs and activities are recommended. To 

support these programs and activities additional administrative support will be required. Based 

on our analyses of the current workload, and the additional work load that will be created we 

are recommending that the hours of work for the administrative assistant be increased from 

the current 10 hours per week to 24 hours per week.  

It is recommended that consideration be given to increasing the hours of work for the part-

time Administrative Assistant from the current 10 hours per week to 24 hours per week to 

support the administrative needs of the PFRS. 

The Administrative Assistant position is currently solely an administrative function within the 

department with no participation in the operational areas of providing fire suppression, fire 

prevention or public education service delivery. Further analysis and recommendations 

regarding the part-time Administrative Assistant position are included within Section 8.12 

Options for Enhancing Fire Suppression Services section of this MFP. 

3.4 Current Organizational Structure 

By-law #12-10 identifies the current organization of Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services that 

includes the following divisions: 

• Fire Prevention; 

• Fire Suppression; 

• Training; Public Education; and 

• Administrative Services. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

23 

 

The current organizational structure, including the two temporary part-time Deputy Chief 

positions, is illustrated below in Figure 5. 

 

FIGURE 5:  CURRENT (TEMPORARY) ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 

 

 
 

The current total staffing of the department is illustrated in Table 1. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

24 

 

TABLE 1:   PFRS CURRENT STAFFING 

Role / Division #Part-Time Staff 
#Volunteer 
Firefighters 

Fire Chief 1 0 

Temporary Deputy Fire Chiefs 2 0 

Administration Assistant 1 0 

Chief Fire Prevention Officer 1 0 

Training Captain 1 0 

Training Officer 1 0 

Captains 0 4 

Acting Captains  0 2 

Firefighters 0 25 

Auxiliary Firefighters 0 4 

Total Staffing: 7 35 

3.5 Administrative Workspace 

The PFRS has workspace within the fire station for the current administrative work functions of 

the department. This workspace includes individual offices for the Fire Chief and 

Administrative Assistant.  There is also shared workspace for the Deputy Fire Chiefs, Chief Fire 

Prevention Officer, Public Education Officer, Captains and Training Officers. 

The current administrative workspace has reached its capacity. Where possible the 

department is sharing space between multiple functions (positions) in order to complete the 

administrative functions. Although this model for workspace is functional, it is not the most 

effective and efficient model for the individual workspace functions. Several of the offices open 

directly into the training room that can create a conflict when the both spaces are being used 

at the same time. In our view this is particularly challenging for the part-time Chief Fire 

Prevention Officer who can be dealing with other agencies and the public while a training 

exercise is being facilitated.  

It is recommended that the administrative workspace for the PFRS be reviewed in 

consideration of the recommendations of the Master Fire Plan and the current facilities review 

of the Township administrative offices. 

3.6 Annual Report 

The “Optimizing Public Fire Safety” model recognizes the importance of ongoing monitoring, 

evaluation and revisions to the fire protection services approved by Council. Fire services 

across the province have utilized Annual Reports to Council as a tool to provide a high degree 

of accountability and transparency on behalf of the Fire Chief in reporting to the community 

and Council on the level of fire protection services provided.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

25 

 

This regular reporting process is also an ideal opportunity to update the Community Risk 

Profile and fire related by-laws and can provide further value in identifying changes or trends 

within the community. The part-time Fire Chief currently provides Council with monthly 

reports. These reports give Council an update of: 

• Monthly significant events; 

• Fire loss for the month, the year to date, and the past two years; 

• Year to date emergency calls by type; and 

• Month and year to date prevention and public education activities. 

In our view the department should enhance the current monthly reporting process to Council 

by preparing an Annual Report summarizing the status of all core services approved by Council. 

It is recommended that the Fire Chief be directed to prepare a fire department Annual Report 

including an updated Community Risk Profile for consideration by Council. 

3.7 By-Laws & Agreements 

3.7.1 Establishing and Regulating By-Law 

The Establishing and Regulating By-law for a fire department should provide a clear and 

accurate policy direction reflecting how a municipal council intends fire protection services to 

function and operate. PFSG 01-03-12 “Sample Establishing and Regulating By-law” 

(Appendix J) prepared by the OFMEM provides a description of the primary issues to be 

addressed, as well as a template for completing an Establishing and Regulating By-law. The 

primary components identified by the OFMEM include the following: 

• general functions and services to be provided;  

• the goals and objectives of the department;  

• general responsibilities of department members;  

• method of appointment to the department; 

• method of regulating the conduct of members;  

• procedures for termination from the department;  

• authority to proceed beyond established response areas; and  

• authority to effect necessary department operations.  

The Township of Puslinch has a comprehensive establishing and regulating by-law in place that 

was approved on January 20th 2010.  By-law #12/10 includes two appendices that identify the 

core services and the approved fire department organizational chart. Our review of By-law 

#12/10 identified a number of items that should be updated, or alternatively be reviewed as a 

result of considering the recommendations of this MFP. These include: 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

26 

 

“Appendix A – Core Services”:  

Section 1.1: This section references how fire suppression services shall be delivered in 

both an offensive and defence mode. In our experience with other municipalities that 

provide fire suppression services utilizing volunteer firefighters, and working with staff 

from the OFMEM, we suggest that the Township may want to include further wording in 

this section to describe the volunteer firefighter deployment model.  This would include 

referencing the relationship between the number of volunteer firefighters that are able 

to respond and how that relates to the level of service that may be provided. Based on 

our review of the department’s deployment experience we suggest there are examples of 

incidents when there was an insufficient number of volunteer firefighters on scene to 

safely conduct offensive firefighting strategies that would include either interior attack or 

simultaneous interior attack and rescue. 

Section 1.3: This section references the types of special technical and/or rescue services 

that the department will respond to and the level of services they will provide. This 

section appropriately refers to providing these services in accordance with available 

resources. In our experience with other municipalities that provide specialized services 

utilizing volunteer firefighters, and working with staff from the OFMEM, we believe 

further consideration should be given to providing more clarity as to the levels of services 

for each specialized service that will be provided. For example, this section explains how 

special technical and/or rescue services, such as water/ice rescue services will be 

provided up to and including the land-based and entry level, in accordance with available 

resources. In our view each specialized service should be identified individually along with 

the level of service to be provided, e.g. awareness, technical or operational and all special 

technical services should be in accordance with available resources. 

Section 1.4: This section references the training standards that the PFRS will utilize. These 

should be updated to reflect the current transition to the National Fire Protection 

Association Professional Qualifications Standards. 

Section 4.1: This section references the delivery of emergency dispatching and 

communications that has now been included within another agreement for contracting 

this service from another municipality. Clarification should be included to reference the 

contracted dispatching services. 

It is recommended that the Establishing and Regulating By-Law #12/10 be reviewed and 

revised subject to the consideration and approval of the proposed Master Fire Plan by Council. 

3.7.2 Appointment By-Laws 

Fire Chief: The FPPA requires a municipality to appoint a Fire Chief through the approval of a 

municipal by-law. The Township of Puslinch approved By-law #019-14 on March 5th 2014 

appointing the current part-time Fire Chief.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

27 

 

Deputy Fire Chief: The Township is currently reviewing the roles and responsibilities of the 

position of Deputy Fire Chief. To support this review the Township approved By-law #028/14 

on April 2nd 2014 to temporarily appoint two part-time Deputy Fire Chiefs. These two positions 

include part-time Deputy Fire Chief of Administration and part-time Deputy Fire Chief of 

Operations. During this review the Township has identified one candidate that will be fulfilling 

the role of part-time Deputy Fire Chief of Administration and five candidates that will be 

fulfilling the role of part-time Deputy Fire Chief of Operations.  

The analysis of services and resources within this MFP support the need for two part-time 

Deputy Fire Chiefs. The roles and responsibilities and recommendations for these positions are 

contained within Section 6.0 Fire Prevention and Public Education and Section 8.0 Fire 

Suppression Division of this report. 

It is recommended that the part-time Deputy Fire Chief Appointment By-law #019/14 be 

reviewed and revised subject to the consideration and approval of the proposed Master Fire 

Plan by Council. 

3.7.3 Rates and Fees By-law 

By-law # 076/14 was approved by Council on December 17th 2014 providing the authority for 

the Township to impose fees or charges with respect to activities provided by the Township. 

“Schedule E” of this by-law identifies the various services and activities that the fire 

department is authorized to recover fees for.  

The Township applies the most recent Ontario Ministry of Transportation rate for fire 

department response services on Kings Highways. This relates to the cost of an emergency 

response including personnel and apparatus. This rate is currently $410.00 per vehicle for the 

first hour, for up to three vehicles, and $205.00 per vehicle per half hour thereafter. The 

Township applies this rate to various emergency response services, including burning permit 

violations, false alarm calls (after the second false alarm in any calendar year), and motor 

vehicle accidents/collisions (with the exception of Township residents who are exempt). Our 

analysis indicates that these current rates and service charges are consistent with those of 

other comparable municipalities. 

There are a number of other services and activities included within this by-law for recovering 

costs related to fire inspections, fire safety plan review and burning permits which have lower 

rates and fees than those of other municipalities. In our experience this is not uncommon, and 

can in part be associated with not reviewing each of these rate and fees on an annual basis in 

comparison to actual costs and a group of comparator municipalities.  

By-Law No. 74/13 permits the Township of Puslinch to impose fees of service charges with 

respect to services or activities provided. Table 2 displays the current fees for services provided 

by the fire and rescue services.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

28 

 

TABLE 2:  SUMMARY OF 2015 FEES FOR SERVICE 

Service Unit/Description Fee (No Tax) 

Open Burning Permit Per Permit $20.00 

Burning Permit Violations or Unauthorized Open Air 
Burning 

Per Hour Per Truck $410.00 

Fire Extinguisher Training Per Person $15.00 

Sale of Fireworks Permit Per Permit $100.00 

Discharge of Fireworks Permit Per Permit $100.00 

Smoke Alarm Per Alarm $0.00 

Information of Fire Reports Regarding Emergency Incidents Per Report $75.00 

Occupancy Load Flat Fee $100.00 

Fire Safety Plan Review Per Plan $120.00 

Post Fire Watch Per Hour Per Truck $410.00 

Boarding up or Barricading Plus Materials Per Hour Per Truck $410.00 

Key Boxes Per Box $100.00 

Special Events – Request for Attendance Per Event $0.00 

Daycare & Home Daycare Inspections Per Inspection $100.00 

Industrial/ Commercial/ Institutional/ Assembly/ 
Apartment 

Base Inspection $100.00 

Industrial/ Commercial/ Institutional/ Assembly/ 
Apartment 

Plus each tenant/ 
occupant/ apartment 

unit 
$25.00 

Emergency Response to Motor Vehicle 
Occurrence/Incident/Collision 

Per Hour Per Truck $410.00 

Fire Alarm False Alarm Calls Per Hour Per Truck $410.00 

 

 

 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

29 

 

3.8 Development Charges 

The Township of Puslinch collects and administers development charges in compliance with 

the Development Charges Act, 1997 (DCA). The current development charges By-law No. 

054/14 came in effect August 13, 2014 and will expire on September 3, 2019.  

The current development charges by-law includes the collection of fees for fire services as 

identified in the Township’s Schedule of Development Charges (DCs), shown in Table 3. 

Eligible categories for inclusion in the collection of development charges are fire stations (and 

associated land) and firefighting apparatus (including pumpers aerial devices, and rescue 

vehicles). Small equipment and gear (e.g. bunker gear and breathing apparatus) are also 

eligible.  

The Township of Puslinch retained the services of Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. to 

complete a Development Charges Background Study in June 2014. The results of the study 

were used to update the Township’s development charges to accurately reflect servicing needs 

and recover costs related to growth in Puslinch.    

TABLE 3:   SCHEDULE OF DEVELOPMENT CHARGES (BY-LAW NO.054/14) 

Schedule of Development Charges 
Town-Wide Development Charges (By-Law No. 054/14) 

Service 
Component 

Residential Dwellings 
Non Residential 

Other than 
Industrial 

Single Detached 
Dwelling or Semi-

Detached Dwelling 

Apartments 

Rows & Other 
Multiples 

Per square 
metre of gross 

floor area 
2 Bedrooms + 

Bachelor & 
1 Bedroom 

Fire Services $1,459 $884 $598 $1,109 $0.46 

 

The Watson & Associates study identified several fire service elements as growth-related, and 

therefore DC eligible.  This included the Township’s anticipated need for additional fire facility 

space, additional vehicles, and additional equipment with DC eligible funds of $728,972.00 to 

cover costs.  The fire equipment needs include self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA) 

compressor and cascade cylinders, equipment for new auxiliary firefighters (four), and radio 

communication interfacing.   

3.9 Additional By-Laws 

Through resolution of Council the Township of Puslinch has approved a number of additional 

by-laws that provide valuable insight into the operation of the PFRS, these include: 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

30 

 

By-Law #034/14: that establishes the remuneration practices for members of the PFRS 

including hourly rates and expenses. 

By-Law #039-14:  that regulates the sale, storage, display and setting of fireworks within the 

Township of Puslinch. 

By-Law # 9/95: that established the municipal addressing system including policies for 

numbering civic addresses and signage. 

By-Law # 45/14: that regulates the setting of open air burning within the Township of 

Puslinch including the terms and conditions of permits, enforcement and penalty provisions. 

By-Law #16/12: that includes policies approved by Council applying to the operation and 

governance of the Township of Puslinch including a ‘Code of Conduct’ for staff. 

3.10 Mutual Aid Agreements 

Mutual aid agreements are predetermined plans that allow a participating fire department to 

request assistance from a neighbouring fire department. Public Fire Safety Guideline (PFSG 04-

05-12 Mutual Aid) provided by the OFMEM identifies the information required to develop and 

approve these agreements. 

There are two main scenarios when mutual aid agreements are enacted:  

1. When a fire department is on-scene at an emergency, has received information that 
immediate assistance is required, it may ask for mutual aid assistance from a 
neighbouring fire department. 

2. Where distance and/or conditions are such that a neighbouring fire department could 
provide a more timely response, fire departments may immediately request a 
simultaneous response from a participating fire department. 

The Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services is an active participant in the following agreements: 

• Mutual and Automatic Aid Plan Program for the County of Wellington; 

• Mutual Aid Agreement between the Township of Puslinch and the Town of Milton; and 

• Mutual Aid Agreement between the Township of Puslinch and the City of Hamilton.  

Our review indicates that the Township of Puslinch recognizes the objectives and values of 

participating in mutual aid agreements. The Township has developed agreements with 

neighbouring municipalities within the County of Wellington, as well as the communities that 

share municipal boundaries on the south and east of the Township.  

Our review of the current operating practices of the department in utilizing mutual aid 

agreements reflects that the department may, at times, be implementing these agreements in 

advance of the conditions or procedures that are identified within the respective plans. In 

some instances the utilization of the current mutual aid agreements more closely reflect the 

procedures typically included within an automatic aid agreement rather than a mutual aid 

agreement.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

31 

 

It is recommended that following Council’s consideration of the proposed Master Fire Plan that 

the Fire Chief be directed to review the current Mutual Aid Agreements in consideration of the 

fire suppression deployment options and utilization of automatic aid presented within the 

proposed Master Fire Plan.  

3.10.1 Automatic Aid Agreements (Fire Protection Agreements) 

In contrast to mutual aid agreements, automatic aid agreements are programs designed to 

provide and/or receive assistance from the closest available resource, irrespective of municipal 

boundaries, on a day-to-day basis.  

The obvious advantage of implementing an automatic aid program, or fire protection 

agreement, is that the person experiencing the emergency receives fire services from the 

closest available provider by supplying seamless service through the elimination of artificial 

service boundaries. Some of the additional benefits that an automatic aid agreement provides 

include: 

• enhancement of the level of public safety;  

• reduction of the critical element of time elapsed between the commencement of a fire 

and the application of an extinguishing agent to the fire by dispatching the closest 

available assistance; 

• reduction of life, property and environmental losses; and  

• improvement of public and firefighter safety.  

The Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services is an active participant in the following agreements: 

• Township of Guelph Eramosa Automatic Aid Agreement; and 

• City of Cambridge Fire Protection Agreement. 

The use of automatic aid and fire protection agreements are further assessed within 

Section 8.0 Fire Suppression Division of this report. 

3.10.2 Tiered Response Agreement 

Within the Province of Ontario emergency response to incidents involving medical aid by the 

local fire department are commonly included within a regional tiered response agreement. 

These agreements are valuable in defining the emergency medical levels of service that a fire 

department will provide in the context of the regionally based provision of ambulance services. 

The Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services signed a Tiered Response Agreement with the Guelph 

Wellington Emergency Medical Service on August 17, 2012. The agreement is renewed 

automatically on an annual basis unless terminated in writing.   

The information presented below provides an overview of the current tiered response 

agreement with Guelph Wellington Emergency Medical Service: 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

32 

 

Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services will respond to any of the following medical emergency calls 

within their response area: 

• Any ‘Code 4’ (emergency response) triggered in the primary assessment including: 

• Obvious immediate threat to life  or vital signs absent (VSA) 

i. Choking, not breathing, severe respiratory distress, unconscious 
ii. Airway/breathing compromise 

• Burns/electrocutions/inhalation 

• Near drowning 

• Motor vehicle collision (MVC) 

• Penetrating trauma 

Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services will respond to any of the following medical emergency calls 

within their response area when the ambulance is not at the Clair Road Station: 

• Breathing problem 

• Chest pain/heart problem 

• Convulsion/seizure 

• Cardiovascular stroke 

• Decreased level of consciousness/unconscious 

• Blunt trauma/assault 

Puslinch Fire and Rescue will also respond to any medical emergency call, including when there 

will be a significant delay (greater than 15 minutes) in the arrival of the ambulance.  

3.10.3 Dispatch Services Agreement 

The Township of Puslinch Council authorized participation in a dispatch agreement with the 

City of Guelph on September 5th 2007. Since that time the Guelph Fire Department has 

provided the core dispatching services for the PFRS. Within the terms of that agreement the 

PFRS was still required to assign the first arriving firefighter to the role of dispatcher to 

facilitate the monitoring of emergency responses and coordinating of additional resources. The 

scope of the 2007 agreement included: 

Guelph Fire Department Dispatch will: 

• accept calls from 911, police, Central Ambulance Communications Centre (CACC) and 

directly from private citizens; 

• notify Township firefighters through the pager to reply to the calls; 

• provide incident information to the Township and  keep an electronic record of such 

telephone and radio transmissions and provide copies to the PFRS upon request; and 

• monitor all incidents dispatched to the Township and provide a level of support equal to 

that provided to the Guelph Fire Department. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

33 

 

Report FIR-2015-001 presented to Council on March 18th 2015 by the Fire Chief requested 

authorization to enter into a new agreement with the City of Guelph for the provision of full 

fire dispatch services. This new agreement includes an updated formula for determining the 

operating costs, including establishing a process for determining the per capita fees for this 

service. 

Report FIR-2015-001 also presented an updated scope of services to be provided by the 

Guelph Fire Department. In comparison to the previous agreement the updated agreement 

includes a revised scope of services including: 

The City of Guelph will: 

a. accept calls from 911, police, Central Ambulance Communications Centre (CACC) and 
directly from private citizens, directed to the City of Guelph’s Emergency Services – 
Guelph Fire Department (the “Guelph Fire Department”);  

b. in response to all such calls, page the PFRS to reply to the calls;   
c. keep an electronic record of such telephone and radio transmissions and provide copies 

to the PFRS upon request;  
d. provide incident information to the Township; the Township shall acknowledge, to the 

Guelph Fire Department, receipt of each dispatch received from the Guelph Fire 
Department and shall acknowledge, to the Guelph Fire Department, when each 
dispatched unit is on scene and when each dispatched unit is back in service; and  

e. monitor all incidents dispatched to the PFRS and provide a level of support equal to that 
provided to the Guelph Fire Department; this will include but not be limited to tracking 
resources on scene, monitoring radio calls for safety, providing notifications, requesting 
extra resources, etc.  

Subject to the full implementation and operationalization of this new agreement the PFRS will 

no longer require the first volunteer firefighter to assume the role of dispatcher at the fire 

station. This is a significant enhancement in assembling the number of volunteer firefighters 

available to respond as part of the initial response to an emergency. It also reduces the training 

requirements of the PFRS for dispatching and reduces the liabilities associated with monitoring 

and managing the resource needs during an incident. 

Our review indicates that there have been a number of challenges experienced with fully 

implementing the updated dispatch agreement. To date the Township is still not fully receiving 

the scope of services defined within the proposed dispatch agreement. The agreement has also 

not been executed by the City. 

The scope of the MFP did not evaluate all of the challenges associated with implementing this 

agreement. The review completed, however, did indicate that this is a significant agreement 

which should be prioritized in terms of completing the full implementation, or alternatively 

investigating other opportunities for contracting these services. The updated agreement 

reflects the current industry practices of establishing fees based on a per capita basis and 

defining the scope of services included. One area that we recommend for further consideration 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

34 

 

is the inclusion of performance measures for the call taking and dispatching services identified 

within the updated agreement. 

Current industry practices in Ontario for the provision of emergency call taking and fire 

dispatching reflect the use of the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) “1221 Standard 

for the Installation, Maintenance, and Use of Emergency Services Communications Systems” as 

the guideline for provision of services. The updated agreement does not include any 

performance measures for call taking and dispatching, such as those contained in the NFPA 

1221 standard. 

Based on our review, the Township should prioritize the full implementation of the updated 

dispatch agreement, including the addition of performance measures similar to those 

identified within the NFPA 1221 standard, or alternatively investigating other solutions for the 

provision of fire dispatch services. 

It is recommended that the Township prioritize the full implementation of the updated fire 

dispatch services agreement with the City of Guelph including the provisions of performance 

measures similar to those identified within the NFPA 1221 standard, or alternatively begin 

investigating alternative solutions for the provisions of full fire dispatch services. 

3.10.4 Hydrant Agreement 

The Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services has an agreement with the City of Guelph to use the fire 

hydrants along the City of Guelph / Township of Puslinch boundary. The City of Guelph Hydrant 

Agreement, signed November 2012, establishes basic terms between the two municipalities 

and states that additional terms may be added. The basic terms are as follows: 

1. Locations of hydrants authorized for use: 
a. Downey Road at Hanlon Creek Boulevard  
b. Last hydrant south on Gordon Street 
c. Victoria Road South at Clair Road East 
d. Stone Road East at Watson Parkway 
e. Niska Road at Ptarmigan Drive 
f. Do not use the hydrant on Watson Parkway at Dunlop Drive 

2. Notify the Water Services of hydrant use during business hours, Monday to Friday 8:00 
AM to 4:00 PM. Notify of hydrant use after hours. 

3. After hydrant use notify the Water Distribution Technician with date, time, and water 
used in square metres. If using hydrants for training purposes, notify in advance of use. 

Our review indicates the hydrant agreement providing hydrant access in the Guelph area 

provides a beneficial service to the Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services. 

3.11 Departmental Policies and Standard Operating Guidelines 

Our experience within the Ontario Fire Service reflects the use of department policies as the 

appropriate tool to communicate specific direction to all staff.  In comparison to operating 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

35 

 

guidelines, which provide a framework to guide decision making, department policies reflect 

more stringent and defined practices which minimize variance from the directive given. An 

example of a fire department policy would be a “Respect in the Workplace Policy” where 

specific direction is given to all members of the department that reflects the policy of the 

department in consideration of relevant legislation governing the topic.  

Standard Operating Guidelines (SOGs) are commonly used within the fire service to establish a 

written statement to guide the performance or behaviour of departmental staff, whether 

functioning alone or in groups. PFSG 04-69-13 “Co-ordination, Development, Approval and 

Distribution of Standard Operating Guidelines for Various Disciplines” (included as Appendix K) 

provides the following points to reflect the intent of Operating Guidelines: 

• Enhance safety;  

• Increase individual and team effectiveness;  

• Improve training efficiency; 

• Improve orientation for entry-level staff; 

• Improve risk management practices; 

• Prevent / avoid litigation; 

• Create objective post-incident evaluations; and 

• Permit flexibility in decision making. 

PFSG 04-69-13 further suggests that creating and empowering a committee of fire service staff 

to research, develop, and draft operating guidelines can be a successful model for 

administering these core documents. Activities that impact firefighter safety, the most 

common emergency operations, or high risk operations should be the top priority for a fire 

rescue service to have in place. Reviewing and updating SOGs is an ongoing evolution within 

the fire service.  

The PFRS has established a review process and assigned accountability for reviewing SOGs on 

an annual basis through SOG #0-103 Standard Operating Guidelines & Policy Development 

Revisions that assigns this role to the Health and Safety Committee.  

Our review of the PFRS current policies and SOGs indicates an appropriate representation of 

the guidelines that should be in place, based on the services and activities provided by the 

PFRS. A number of the SOGs have not been reviewed since 2008 indicating that they have not 

been reviewed as required within SOG #03-103. The current format of the guidelines provides 

no indication of the date and person approving the policy or guideline.  In our view these are 

elements that should be included on all department policies and guidelines.  

Where possible, consideration should also be given to clarifying current SOGs that may be 

more appropriately presented as a department policies rather than a guideline, including a 

dedicated format and numbering system. For example, SOG #8-112 On Call Weekends and 

Nights’ is currently presented in the format of an SOG and yet it is titled as a “Policy” and is 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

36 

 

defined within the purpose as “To establish a policy.” This strategy will also be required for the 

Fire Prevention Policy proposed within this MFP. 

It is recommended that the PFRS develop distinct formats for all PFRS Department Policies 

(DP’s) and Standard Operating Guidelines (SOG’s) to include a date of approval and signed 

approval by the Fire Chief or designate, and that all Department Policies and Standard 

Operating Guidelines be reviewed on annual basis as required by SOG #0-103.  

3.12 Departmental Records Management 

PFRS Standard Operating Guideline No. 8-105 Records and Reports establishes the policies and 

guidelines for maintaining records and reports. The guideline states that all fire reports, 

casualty reports, and response reports are forwarded to the OFMEM within three days of the 

end of the month within which the incident occurred. For internal records and reports the Fire 

Chief will designate members to keep accurate and detailed records of all PFRS activities.  

The PFRS has recently implemented a new software program to integrate the records 

management process. The FIREHOUSE software program purchased is widely used within the 

fire service in Ontario and has proven to be an effective tool in managing the records 

management needs of similar sized fire departments. Implementing this type of electronic data 

management system does require additional training and appropriate licensing in order to 

achieve the full efficiency of the program.  

Our review indicates there is currently only one license in place for use by the PFRS. In our view 

this limits that efficiency and effectiveness of this software. This may also be limiting the 

training and holistic application of this software by the various potential users within the 

department. 

It is recommended that additional licensing be acquired for the FIREHOUSE records 

management software program to further enhance the records management practices of the 

PFRS.  

3.13 Strategic Priorities 

The purpose of this MFP is to provide Council and senior staff with a strategic framework to 

assist in making decisions regarding the provision of fire protection services. This MFP has been 

prepared with regard for the legislated and regulatory responsibilities of the municipality as 

contained within the Fire Protection and Prevention Act (1997) (FPPA) and the Occupational 

Health and Safety Act, R.S.O. 1990 (OHSA).  

Emphasis has been placed on the use of the current Public Fire Safety Guidelines and the 

resources provided by the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management. One of the 

primary roles of the OFMEM is to provide assistance to municipalities through the provision of 

information and processes to support determining the fire protection services a municipality 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

37 

 

requires based on its local needs and circumstances.  The Comprehensive Fire Safety 

Effectiveness Model and Fire Risk Sub-Model are examples of the OFMEM documents that 

have been referenced to prepare this Master Fire Plan. 

Our interpretation of Council’s commitment to the community is to provide the optimal level 

of fire protection services as determined through the analysis of the “needs and circumstances” 

of the Township of Puslinch as referenced in the FPPA, and in achieving the most cost effective 

and efficient level of fire protection services resulting in the best value for the community.  

The analyses within this report recognize four strategic priorities for the delivery of fire 

protection and emergency services within the Township of Puslinch including: 

o The utilization of a Community Risk Profile to determine the fire safety risks within the 
Township as the basis for developing clear goals and objectives for all fire protection 
and emergency services to be provided by the Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services; 

o The optimization of the first two lines of defence including public education and fire 
prevention, and the utilization of fire safety standards and fire code enforcement to 
provide a comprehensive fire protection program within the Township based on the 
results of the Community Risk Profile;  

o Emphasis on the value of all emergency services that are provided by the Puslinch Fire 
and Rescue such as responses to motor vehicle accidents and medical responses that 
enhance life safety within the Township; and  

o Emphasis on strategies that support the sustainability of fire protection and emergency 
services that provide the most cost effective and efficient level of services resulting in 
the best value for the community. 

It is recommended that Council approve the strategic priorities identified within the proposed 

Master Fire Plan to guide the development and delivery of fire protection and emergency 

services within the Township of Puslinch. 

3.14 Administration Division Summary and Recommendations  

Under the leadership of the current part-time Fire Chief the PFRS has sustained the delivery of 

fire protection services as initially created through the vision and dedication of volunteer 

firefighters. The current organizational model of the PFRS has evolved to the use of part-time 

resources to support the foundation of dedication and commitment that continues to be 

evident in the volunteer firefighters within the department today.    

Through the approval of this master fire planning process Council has indicated a strong desire 

to sustain the use of volunteer firefighters as the primary providers of fire suppression services 

within the Township. However, past and current members of Council and members of the fire 

department have, through their ongoing support, recognized the intrinsic value of working 

with neighbouring communities to achieve the most cost effective and efficient level of fire 

protection services resulting in the best value for the community.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

38 

 

This master fire planning process reflects an opportunity to assess all the various activities and 

programs provided by the PFRS, including options for enhancing the organizational model of 

the department. The following recommendations are presented for Council’s consideration in 

support of achieving the strategic priorities of the MFP.  

Recommendations for the Administration Division include the following:  

1. That the Mission Statement of the Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services be updated to 

include a Vision Statement and to reflect the framework of the OFMEM PFSG 03-02-13 

“ Master Planning Process for Fire Protection” subject to approval of the proposed 

Master Fire Plan by Council. 

2. That consideration be given to increasing the hours of work for the part-time 

Administrative Assistant from the current 10 hours per week to 24 hours per week to 

support the administrative needs of the PFRS. 

3. That the administrative workspace for the PFRS be reviewed in consideration of the 

recommendations of the Master Fire Plan and the current facilities review of the 

Township administrative offices. 

4. That the Fire Chief be directed to prepare a fire department Annual Report including an 

updated Community Risk Profile for consideration by Council. 

5. That the Establishing and Regulating By-Law #12/10 be reviewed and revised subject to 

the consideration and approval of the proposed Master Fire Plan by Council. 

6. That the part-time Deputy Fire Chiefs Appointment By-law #019/14 be reviewed and 
revised subject to the consideration and approval of the recommendations impacting 
these positions included within the proposed Master Fire Plan by Council. 

7. That following Council’s consideration of the proposed Master Fire Plan that the Fire 

Chief be directed to review the current Mutual Aid Agreements in consideration of the 

fire suppression deployment options and utilization of automatic aid presented within 

the proposed Master Fire Plan.  

8. That the Township prioritize the full implementation of the updated fire dispatch 

services agreement with the City of Guelph including the provisions of performance 

measures similar to those identified within the NFPA 1221 standard, or alternatively 

begin investigating alternative solutions for the provisions of full fire dispatch services. 

9. That the PFRS develop distinct formats for all PFRS Department Policies (DP’s) and 
Standard Operating Guidelines (SOG’s) to include a date of approval and signed 
approval by the Fire Chief or designate, and that all Department Policies and Standard 
Operating Guidelines be reviewed on annual basis as required by SOG #0-103.  

10. That additional licensing be acquired for the FIREHOUSE records management software 

program to further enhance the records management practices of the PFRS.  

11. That Council approve the strategic priorities identified within the proposed Master Fire 

Plan to guide the development and delivery of fire protection and emergency services 

within the Township of Puslinch. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

39 

 

4.0 Community Risk Profile 

The Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management Fire Risk Sub-model1 introduces 

the importance of community risk in the following paragraph: 

“Assessing the fire risk within a community is one of the seven components that comprise the 

Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model.  It is the process of examining and analyzing 

the relevant factors that characterize the community and applying this information to identify 

potential fire risk scenarios that may be encountered.  The assessment includes an analysis of 

the likelihood of these scenarios occurring and their subsequent consequences.” 

Community fire risks are further explained in detail within the OFMEM’s Fire Risk Sub-model as 

follows: 

“The types of fire risks that a community may be expected to encounter are influenced by its 

defining characteristics.  For example, a “bedroom community” presents a different set of 

circumstances over one that is characterized as an “industrial town.”  Communities that are 

distinguished by older buildings will pose a different set of concerns over those that are 

comprised of newer buildings constructed to modern building codes.  Communities populated 

by a high percentage of senior citizens present a different challenge over ones with a younger 

population base.  

Assessing fire risk should begin with a review of all available and relevant information that 

defines and characterizes your community.  Eight key factors have been identified that 

contribute to the community’s inherent characteristics and circumstances.  These factors 

influence events that shape potential fire scenarios along with the severity of their outcomes: 

• Property Stock  

• Building Height and Area  

• Building Age and Construction  

• Building Exposures  

• Demographic Profile  

• Geography/Topography/Road Infrastructure  

• Past Fire Loss Statistics  

• Fuel Load” 

Utilizing the framework provided within the OFMEM’s Fire Risk Sub-model provides the 

opportunity to assess the potential fire risk scenarios that may be present by creating a 

Community Risk Profile. The profile can then be used to assess the current level of fire 

 

 

1
 Source: Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model, Fire Risk Sub-Model, June 2009 Office of the Fire Marshal, 

Ontario 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

40 

 

protection services provided, and identify where, if any, potential gaps exist, or areas that a 

municipal Council may want to consider in determining its own needs and circumstances as 

defined by the FPPA.   

The detailed Community Risk Profile is contained within Appendix L and contains detailed 

analyses of the eight key factors identified OFMEM’s Fire Risk Sub-model. 

4.1 Summary of Community Risk Profile 

The Township of Puslinch represents the typical level of risk that would be found in 

comparable municipalities within the Province of Ontario. These include smaller hamlet 

settlement areas surrounded by large tracts of agricultural and natural environment zones 

forming a larger community.  The geography, topography and road infrastructure are also 

consistent with those of similar communities. The road network layout is primarily a grid 

pattern of collector and arterial rural roads with local roads in the small urban centres.  

The population of the Township of Puslinch is anticipated to steadily increase by approximately 

1.6% per year over the 20 year horizon.  By 2031 the population is expected to have grown 

32.7% from 2011.  Only a small portion of the growth (10%) is expected to be accommodated 

within the defined boundaries of Aberfoyle and Morriston. Growth in rural areas is expected to 

be compatible with the rural character of the Township. Employment projections from the 

County indicate that employment growth will also occur at a slower rate of 1.4% per year 

during this period.  

Residential occupancies dominate the community at 93% of the building stock. Industrial and 

agriculture and farm-related buildings (not classified within the OBC) are the second largest 

percentages of property stock, both at 2.3%.  

Within the province residential occupancies have historically accounted for approximately 72% 

of all structure fires and 86% of all fire related deaths. For the five year period from 2009 to 

2013 the Township of Puslinch reported 23 fires of which 78% occurred in ‘Group C - 

Residential Occupancies’, which is higher than the provincial average of 72%.  This relates to 

the high percentage of residential occupancies in the Township’s building stock. 

The analysis of the buildings within the Township of Puslinch in regards to height and area 

represent a minimal risk. This includes all occupancy classifications. There are a limited number 

of large area (by square footage) industrial buildings.  Only seven industrial building were 

identified by PFRS as high risk. Historic buildings in the downtown areas of Aberfoyle and 

Morriston present a higher risk for fire loss because they were constructed before Ontario Fire 

Code changed in 1981 and the exposure to surrounding buildings.   

The demographic analysis of the Township of Puslinch indicates that by age category the 

Township is representative of the provincial statistics; the only exception being a slightly higher 

than average population of senior residents. The Township’s senior population, therefore, 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

41 

 

should be considered a vulnerable demographic and a target for public education and 

prevention efforts. 

The Township also faces a minor population shift during the spring and summer months, due 

to the abundance of camping and trailer sites, as well as seasonal cottages. Fire protection 

strategies should be accommodated as part of broader services, such as pro-active fire 

inspections of the facilities occupied by this demographic.  

Geographic Information Systems (GIS) modeling of the actual emergency calls that occurred 

during the period 2009 to 2014 are reflected in the Fire Risk and Response (Calls Locations) 

profile in Appendix L.  

The analyses within Section 7.0 Fire Suppression Division included within this proposed MFP 

indicates that the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve the response time 

performance objective referenced within the NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone. This 

includes a minimum of six firefighters responding within a 14 minute response time (turnout 

time + travel time) with a performance objective of 80%. 

Results of the Community Risk Profile indicates that, of the geocoded calls, the department has 

been able to respond to 57% of high risk calls, 56% of moderate risk calls, and 50% of low risk 

calls within the 14 minute or less response time in the community.  

The GIS model was also used to approximate geographic coverage of the existing risk zone 

areas. Analysis indicates that 30% of the high risk areas, 12% of the moderate risk areas and 2% 

of the low risk areas are covered within the 14 minute predicted response time. The detailed 

methodology and results (including figures) from the GIS model of the risk profile are 

contained within Appendix L. The Community Risk Profile will form the basis for strategically 

planning the fire protection plans, optimizing the three lines of defence and developing 

department procedures, programs and services. It should be reviewed and revised on an 

annual basis in order to maintain an up-to-date assessment of community risk and community 

needs for fire protection and prevention. This strategy would replace the process to develop a 

Simplified Risk Assessment which is required by the OFMEM.  

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

42 

 

5.0 Fire Prevention & Public Education 

The minimum requirements of fire prevention and fire safety education programs are outlined 

within the Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997 (FPPA).  The minimum required services are 

referenced in the following section of the FPPA: 

Section 2.(1) of the Fire Protection and Prevention Act states:  

“(1) Every municipality shall,  

1. Establish a program in the municipality which must include public education with 
respect to fire safety and certain components of fire prevention; and  

2. Provide such other fire protection services as it determines may be necessary in 
accordance with its needs and circumstances.”  

PFSGs 04-40-03 and 04-40-12 “Selection of Appropriate Fire Prevention Programs” (included as 

Appendix I provides further information defining the minimum acceptable level of fire 

prevention and fire safety education services that a municipality must provide including:  

• Simplified Risk Assessment; 

• Smoke alarm program; 

• Fire safety education material distributed to residents/occupants; and 

• Inspections upon complaint or when requested to assist with code compliance.  

Assessing community fire risk allows a municipality to determine the level of fire protection 

services required based on local needs and circumstances. This includes the level fire 

prevention and public fire safety education required to comply with the minimum levels 

identified within the FPPA.  

Integrating risk analysis into the process to determine the level of fire protection services to be 

provided by a municipality recognizes there are alternatives to simply providing fire 

suppression services and emergency response. The introduction of sprinkler systems is an 

example of integrating alternatives to managing the inherent risks of a building rather than 

simply developing a larger emergency response deployment plan.  

5.1 Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model 

The fire prevention and public education services provided by a fire department are intended 

to optimize impact of applying the first two lines of defence identified within the Ontario Fire 

Protection Model including: 

I. Public Education and Prevention 

II. Fire Safety Standards and Enforcement 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

43 

 

The first two lines of defence have been defined as: 

“I. Public Education and Prevention: 

Educating residents of the community on means for them to fulfill their responsibilities 
for their own fire safety is a proven method of reducing the incidence of fire.  Only by 
educating residents can fires be prevented and can those affected by fires respond 
properly to save lives, reduce injury and reduce the impact of fires; and 

II. Fire Safety Standards and Enforcement:  

Ensuring that buildings have the required fire protection systems, safety features, 
including fire safety plans, and that these systems are maintained, so that the severity 
of fires may be minimized.” 

Information reported by the OFMEM indicates that from 2009 to 2013 the number of fire 

losses, described as any fire with an injury, fatality or dollar loss reported, have declined from 

12,945 in 2009 to 10,733 in 2013 resulting in a decrease of 17%. This occurred during a time 

period when the population and number of structures across Ontario continued to grow. 

Through our discussions with Fire Chiefs across the province and staff from the OFMEM there 

is consensus that the efforts of fire departments dedicated at optimizing the first two lines of 

defence are responsible for reducing fire losses and improving the overall level of fire 

protection within the community. 

In our view, strategies that optimize the use of the first two lines of defense to address the 

findings of the Community Risk Profile (Appendix L) should be considered a strategic priority of 

this MFP. For example, this should include prioritizing fire prevention and public education 

programs in areas of the community where vulnerable occupants such as seniors reside.   

In our view the strategic priorities of this MFP should include the following: 

“The optimization of the first two lines of defence, including public education and fire 

prevention, and the utilization of fire safety standards and fire code enforcement to provide a 

comprehensive fire protection program within the Township based on the results of the 

Community Risk Profile.”  

5.2 Division Staff Resources  

5.2.1 Chief Fire Prevention Officer (Part-time) 

The part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer reports directly to the Fire Chief and is directly 

responsible for coordinating the delivery of the fire prevention and public education services 

provided by the department. These services include conducting fire inspections (as a result of a 

request or compliant) and ensuring continued compliance within the minimum legislated 

responsibilities for fire prevention and public education as defined by the FPPA.  

As an employee of the Township the part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer is compensated 

based on the staff remuneration rates established by Council on an annual basis.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

44 

 

For the year 2014 the approved hourly wage for the position of part-time Chief Fire Prevention 

Officer was $30.92. The part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer is currently authorized for 16 

hours per week to fulfill his administrative responsibilities. In addition to compensation for 

administrative responsibilities the part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer is also compensated 

based on the hourly rate for this position when responding to emergencies, attending training 

sessions and conducting other approved department business. The part-time Chief Fire 

Prevention Officer is currently shared between the Township of Puslinch and the Township of 

Wellington North. 

An overview of the part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer’s roles and responsibilities include: 

• Inspects and conducts investigations on all types of new and existing buildings to 

ensure conformity with applicable by-laws, codes and regulations; 

• Responsible and accountable for the overall supervision of the Public Education Officer; 

• Conducts evaluations and performance appraisals of the Public Education Officer; 

• Investigates all fires; 

• Reviews and evaluates building plans and specifications for development proposals and 

applications; 

• Reviews Fire Safety Plans with the part-time Fire Chief; 

• Responds to complaints and inquiries from the public, staff, outside agencies and other 

enforcement or inspection units regarding fire related matters; 

• Investigates complaints and conducts site inspections; 

• Collects evidence, obtains statements from witnesses, prepares and swears to 

information, affidavits, subpoenas and summons; 

• Follows up on investigations within established standards, issues tickets, summons and 

lays charges in accordance with the Provincial Offences Act; 

• Testifies as a witness for the Township at court, hearings or appeals; 

• Conducts educational programs related to fire safety; 

• Prepares and presents seminars on fire prevention and safety to groups and members 

of the public; 

• Ensures timely responses are provided to department inquiries from Council and the 

public; 

• Represents the department and/or Township with residents, community groups and/or 

associations, consultants and vendors as required; 

• Performs additional duties and special projects as required; and 

• Works in compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act and Regulations, the 

Township of Puslinch Occupational Health, Safety and Workplace Violence Policy and 

Procedures, as well as established industry guidelines. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

45 

 

Further analysis and recommendations regarding the part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officers 

position are included within Section 6.11 Proposed Fire Inspection Program and Section 8.12 

Options for Enhancing Fire Suppression Services of this MFP. 

5.2.2 Public Fire and Life Safety Educator (Proposed) 

Although this position is specifically identified within the current Establishing and Regulating 

By-law the roles and responsibilities of this position are currently distributed to a number of 

the volunteer firefighters.  

The fire service industry led by the OFMEM and the Ontario Association of Fire Chiefs has 

recognized the value of public fire safety education through the development of the Public Fire 

and Life Safety Educators Certificate Program. Consistent with the NFPA 1035 “Standard for 

Professional Qualifications for Fire and Life Safety Educator, Public Information Officer, and 

Juvenile Fire-setter Intervention” this includes the core competencies to complete tasks such 

as: 

• Select instructional materials, given a subject, learning objectives, and related resources, 

so that the materials are specific to the audience and activity objectives; 

• Adapt a lesson plan, given the lesson content and information on the audience, so that 

the material presented meets the needs of the audience; 

• Analyze community fire risk, design and manage programs, integrate prevention 

interventions to address community fire risk, create and lead a risk reduction program; 

and 

• Develop informational material, given an identified fire or life safety objective and 

characteristics of the target audience, so that information provided is accurate, relevant 

to the audience and specific to the audience and needs of the target audience.  

Two of the current volunteer firefighters have achieved this certification. However, there are 

no scheduled hours for when these firefighters are available to deliver the public education 

programs and activities.  In our view there are two options for the Township to consider to 

deliver the proposed public education programming and activities, these include dedicating the 

number of hours proposed for the two current volunteer firefighters to implement these 

initiatives, or alternatively hiring a dedicated part-time Fire and Life Safety Educator. The 

proposed Public Fire and Life Safety Educator position would be tasked with the responsibility 

to coordinate and optimize the efforts of the PFRS in the delivery of fire and life safety 

programs and establish further goals and objectives for all activities and programs.  

Further analysis and recommendations regarding the part-time Fire and Life Safety Educator 

position are included within Section 6.5 Proposed Public Education Programs and Activities and 

Section 8.12 Options for Enhancing Fire Suppression Services of this MFP. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

46 

 

5.3 Fire Prevention Policy 

The Community Risk Profile included within this MFP was used to assess the current fire 

prevention and public safety programs provided by the PFRS in relation to the Township’s 

legislative responsibilities and our understanding of best practices within the Ontario Fire 

Service. 

The Township of Puslinch does not currently have a comprehensive fire prevention policy in 

place that is approved by Council.  PFSG 04-45-12 “Fire Prevention Policy” (included in 

Appendix M) provides an appropriate framework for developing a fire prevention policy. 

An example of the purpose of a fire prevention policy includes: 

• To establish policies and procedures for fire department personnel for fire prevention, 

public education programs and activities as a primary means of protecting lives and 

property from fire; and  

• To maintain compliance with the minimum fire prevention and public education 

activities as required by the Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997.  

The Fire Prevention Policy should also identify the following fire prevention and fire safety 

education activities such as: 

• Fire inspection activities; 

• Fire code enforcement; 

• Fire and life safety education; 

• Fire investigation and cause determination; 

• Fire loss statistics; and 

• Fire department operational guidelines identifying how, when and where activities will 

be conducted. 

The PFRS has a number of SOGs related to the delivery of fire prevention and public education 

programs such as, SOG #8-101 Fire Cause Determination, SOG #8-102 Fire Safety and 

Enforcement and SOG #8-104 Home Safe Home that reference the information that would 

typically be included within a Fire Prevention Policy.  

In our view, the PFRS should have a Council approved ‘Fire Prevention Policy’ attached as an 

appendix to the Establishing and Regulating By-law that reflects the levels of fire prevention 

and public education services approved by Council.  

It is recommended that, subject to Council’s consideration and approval of the proposed 

Master Fire Plan, that a Fire Prevention Policy be created utilizing the framework of PFSG 04-

45-12 “Fire Prevention Policy” for consideration and approval by Council, and attached as an 

appendix to the fire department Establishing and Regulating By-law. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

47 

 

5.4 Current Public Education Programs and Activities 

The current Establishing and Regulating By-law #12/10 identifies in “Appendix A Core Services” 

the fire safety education that the PFRS is authorized by Council to deliver. These include: 

(a) Distribution of fire and life safety information and public education programs shall be 
administered in accordance with the FPPA and policies of the Fire Department’s Public 
Education Division; 

(b) A residential home fire safety awareness program shall be ongoing; 

(c) Smoke alarms for residential occupancies shall be provided to those in need; 

(d) Fire and life safety communiques shall be distributed to the media on a regular basis; 
and 

(e) The Fire Department shall maintain at least one Public Fire and Life Safety Educator to 

the Ontario Fire Service Standard.  

The current by-law acknowledges the benefits and importance of providing fire and life safety 

public education programming to the Township’s residents. The part-time Chief Fire 

Prevention Officer is responsible for coordinating the department’s public education programs 

and activities. Our review indicates that these programs and activities currently include the 

following: 

• Media releases and public safety announcements; 

• Smoke alarm, home escape planning; 

• Home Safe Home Program; 

• Public fire and life safety events and displays; 

• Awareness and targeted education programs, such as students, seniors, and fire-safe 

living; and 

• Fire Prevention Week, community event activities. 

The experience of other municipalities has proven that expanding and enhancing public 

education efforts can be an effective strategy to mitigate emergency call volume and increase 

the overall level of fire safety within a community. Information provided by the OFMEM 

indicates that “between 2000 and 2004 the leading cause of senior (aged 65 and over) fire 

deaths in the province were attributed to “open flame tools/smoker’s articles” and “cooking 

equipment”. These ignition sources were responsible for 35% and 10% respectfully of fire 

deaths for this age category during this period. It is believed that the decline in cognitive and 

physical abilities contributes to the frequency of fire incidents relating to careless use of these 

ignition sources”.  

In our view this is an example of where the proposed Public Fire and Life Safety Educator and 

the proposed enhanced public education programs that target the seniors demographic within 

the community should be reviewed to include clear goals and objectives, and then enhanced to 

address this identified vulnerable demographic. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

48 

 

5.5 Proposed Public Education Programs and Activities 

Implementing goals and objectives for conducting public fire safety education activities and 

programs cycles is consistent with responding to the strategic priorities identified within this 

MFP. This would include developing cycles for providing fire safety education to the various 

occupancies classifications identified by the Community Risk Profile. Developing a cycle 

provides the opportunity to prioritize the delivery of fire safety education programs based on 

the results of the Community Risk Profile specifically for vulnerable demographics such as 

children and seniors. 

Our research into developing fire safety program delivery cycles looked at the relevant NFPA 

standards, PFSG’s and industry best practices.  Table 4 reflects the proposed public fire safety 

education activities and program delivery cycles for occupancy classifications. 

  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

49 

 

 

TABLE 4:  PROPOSED PUBLIC FIRE SAFETY EDUCATION ACTIVITIES AND PROGRAMS CYCLE OBJECTIVES 

Occupancy Classification 
(OBC) 

Buildings 
Proposed Fire Safety 

Program Delivery Cycle 
Objectives 

Group A – Assembly  
Schools, Recreation Centres (Arenas) 

 
1 – 2 Years 

Group A – Assembly  
Licensed Properties, Nursery/Day Care Facilities, 

Churches, Special Occasion Permits 
1 – 2 Years 

Group B – Institutional B1 - General 1 – 2 Years 

Group B – Institutional B-2 & B-3 Long-Term Care and Care Facilities Annually 

Group C – Residential 

Apartments regulated by Part 9.3 of the OFC 
Apartments regulated by Part 9.5 of the OFC 
Apartments regulated by Part 9.8 of the OFC 

Hotels, Motels and occupancies regulated by Part 9.9 of 
the OFC 

Home Inspection Program 

1 - 2 Years 
1 – 2 Years 
1 - 2 Years 
3 – 4 Years 

Upon Request 

Group D - Business Business and Personal Services Occupancies Upon Request 

Group E - Mercantile Mercantile Occupancies 3 - 4 Years 

Group F - Industrial F1 – High Hazard 1 – 2 Years 

Group F - Industrial F2 – Medium Hazard 3 – 4 Years 

 

Through our consultation with PFRS it is clear that the volunteer firefighters currently 

dedicated significant time to conducting public education activities. A large portion of this time 

is not specifically tracked in order to quantify the current number of hours. Based on our 

experience and the results of the current effort that can be documented it is our 

recommendation that for the Township to achieve the proposed Public Fire Safety Education 

Activities and Programs Cycle Objectives proposed, the identified part-time hours for the 

dedicated position of part-time Public Fire and Life Safety Educator would be required. 

It is recommended that subject to the consideration and approval of the proposed public fire 

safety education activities and program cycle objectives by Council that they be included 

within the proposed Fire Prevention Policy and proposed Establishing and Regulating By-Law.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

50 

 

It is recommended that Council consider the provision of 20 hours per week to support a 

dedicated position of part-time Public Fire and Life Safety Educator reporting to the part-time 

Chief Fire Prevention Officer with the responsibility to coordinate and optimize the public fire 

safety education objectives of the PFRS. 

5.6 Smoke Alarm and Home Escape Planning Programs  

The provision of a smoke alarm program including home escape planning is a legislated 

responsibility of the Township. Achieving compliance with the provincial smoke alarm 

requirements has been a challenge for fire departments across Ontario. As a result of fire 

tragedies across the province, the OFMEM has introduced a “zero tolerance policy” for 

occupancies requiring smoke alarms.  

The purpose of the PFRS Smoke Alarm Program is stated as: 

a) Ensure smoke alarms are installed and operating properly in all dwellings, and ensure 
compliance under Section 2.13 of the Ontario Fire Code; 

b) Maintain fire deaths and property losses at a minimum; 

c) Educate residents about the importance of installing and maintaining smoke alarms;  

d) Promote residents to develop and practice an effective home escape plan; 

e) Assist the Township of Puslinch to meet its legislative requirements of the FPPA; and 

f) Create and opportunity for positive community relations with the Puslinch Fire and 
Rescue Services. 

The current PFRS Smoke Alarm Program reflects the components of a comprehensive program 

that includes a variety of strategies such as a Home Fire Safety Campaign and Public Fire Safety 

Information Distribution to achieve the Township’s legislated responsibilities.  

The presence of working smoke alarms and home fire escape planning that is practised 

regularly by occupants are critical components of the first line of defence in an overall 

community fire protection plan. The relevance of these components must be further 

emphasized in areas of the community where extended emergency response travel times may 

be present, and vulnerable demographics such as children and seniors reside.  

As of April 15th 2015 homeowners and property owners/tenants in buildings that contain no 

more than 6 suites must install and maintain carbon monoxide alarms as required by the 

Ontario Fire Code. Generally this means that a carbon monoxide alarm must be installed 

adjacent to each sleeping area of the residence. As the FPPA has also been revised to address 

“unsafe levels of carbon monoxide” the fire service has been tasked with monitoring 

compliance with this legislation. Recent experience has shown that fire departments are 

amending their Smoke Alarm Programs to include carbon monoxide alarms as well. 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

51 

 

In addition to the Smoke Alarm Program the PFRS also delivers a Home Safe Home program 

(SOG #8-104) as an extension of the department’s public education program initiatives. This 

program requires each fire suppression crew to enter homes in their designated area and 

educate occupants about identifying common fire hazards in the home and provide an 

opportunity for positive public relations. An information package is also to be given out and 

explained by firefighters. Visits are recorded on a map and the Captain enters the information 

into a log sheet. The log sheets are then transformed into monthly statistical data sheets.  

Our review indicates that the current Smoke Alarm Program is not recognized as a Standard 

Operating Guideline or department policy, and it has not been updated to include 

requirements for carbon monoxide alarms.  In our view it should be included as a department 

SOG and referenced within the proposed Fire Prevention Policy.  

It is recommended that the PFRS Smoke Alarm Program be updated as a department Standard 

Operating Guideline and included within the proposed Fire Prevention Policy for consideration 

and approval by Council. 

5.7 Current Fire Inspection Program 

The current Establishing and Regulating By-law #12/10 identifies in “Appendix A Core Services” 

the fire prevention services that the PFRS is authorized by Council to deliver. These include: 

o Enforcing the Ontario Fire Code by conducting comprehensive inspections (complaint, 

request, retrofit, or self-initiated) of all classes of buildings and occupancies in the 

territorial limits of the Corporation; 

o Record and report all findings and issue orders to improve fire safety; 

o Where directed, determine the origin and cause of fires; 

o Responsible for Fire Safety Planning, which involves liaison with architects, consulting 

engineers, contractors and owners to ensure fire safety requirements are met; 

o Examine plans and specifications to ensure life safety requirements have been met in 

accordance with the Ontario Fire Code and Ontario Building Code;  

o Prepare reports, letters and orders in accordance within applicable legislation 

requirements; 

o Perform other duties as assigned; 

o Reference the Ontario Fire Code, Fire Protection and Prevention Act, Building Code, and 

other related standards, legislation and reference materials for Puslinch Fire and 

Rescue Fire Prevention activities (as approved by the Fire Chief); and 

o Reference the Ontario Fire Service Standard for Fire Prevention Officers, and the 
Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing Standards for fire prevention training. 

The current by-law acknowledges the benefits and importance of providing fire prevention 

programs and activities within the Township. The part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer is 

responsible for coordinating the department’s fire prevention program. SOG #8-102 Fire Safety 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

52 

 

and Enforcement further defines these responsibilities including an inspection frequency for 

occupancies within the Township. 

Table 5 identifies the current goals and objectives (performance measure) for the frequency of 

fire inspections within the Township of Puslinch. 

TABLE 5:  TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH CURRENT FIRE INSPECTION GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 
(PERFORMANCE MEASURE) 

Occupancy 
Classification 

(OBC) 
Buildings 

Current  
Fire Inspection 

Frequencies 
(Performance 

Measure) 

Group A – Assembly  
 

Schools, Recreation Centres (Arenas), Curling/Golf 
Centres 

 
6-12 Months 

Group A – Assembly  
 

Licensed Properties, Nursery/Day Care Facilities, 
Churches, Special Occasion Permits 

6-12 Months 

Group B – Institutional Nursing homes, Homes for Special Care 6-12 Months 

Group C – Residential 

Apartments regulated by Part 9.3 of the OFC 
Apartments regulated by Part 9.5 of the OFC 
Apartments regulated by Part 9.8 of the OFC 
Home Inspection Program 

6-12 Months 
6-12 Months 
6-12 Months 

Upon Request 

Group D - Business Business and Personal Services Occupancies 12-18 Months 

Group E - Mercantile Mercantile Occupancies 12-18 Months 

Group F - Industrial Factories and Complexes 12-18 Months 

 

In our experience the fire inspection frequencies identified within SOG #8-102 are more 

frequent than what would be found in a comparable community with similar fire risk. Our 

analysis of the part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer’s current workload also indicates that 

the PFRS is not achieving the fire inspection frequencies identified within SOG #8-102. 

Developing goals and objectives for fire inspection frequencies that reflect the results of the 

Community Risk Profile support the strategic priority of this MFP, including:  

“The optimization of the first two lines of defence including public education and fire prevention, 

and the utilization of fire safety standards and fire code enforcement to provide a 

comprehensive fire protection program within the Township based on the results of the 

Community Risk Profile.”  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

53 

 

5.8 Enhancing Fire Safety in Occupancies Housing Vulnerable Ontarians, 
Ontario Regulation 150/13 

Ontario Regulation 150/13 was filed on May 9, 2013. This regulation introduced amendments 

to the Ontario Fire Code that came into force on January 1, 2014.  The OFMEM led the 

development of this new regulation in consultation with a Technical Advisory Committee 

consisting of industry experts.   

Compliance with this new regulation will be achieved through a multi-pronged strategy 

including mandatory inspections by local fire departments and a process of providing training 

for facility staff and upgrades to existing buildings. The installation of automatic sprinkler 

systems is also a mandatory requirement of this new legislation. 

Under the direction of the OFMEM one of the first impacts on local fire departments was the 

development of a building registry of all buildings affected by the new legislation. The PFRS is 

in the process of developing the building registry. Once completed the building registry will 

assist in providing the PFRS with a tool for managing the workload requirements of this new 

legislation.  

The proposed fire inspection program within this MFP includes the requirements for annual 

testing of fire safety plans including conducting an evacuation and an inspection of each 

building affected by this legislation on an annual basis.  

5.9 Fire Safety Inspections and Enforcement 

The OFMEM developed Technical Guideline OFM-TG-01-2012 “Fire Safety Inspections and 

Enforcement” that includes a scope “to assist municipalities and their fire services in meeting 

their fire safety inspection and enforcement responsibilities in the most effective and efficient 

way possible, as provided by the FPPA”. 

Our review of this guideline indicates that it supports the direction of the “first two lines of 

defence” as a means to optimize the level of fire protection services within a community.  This 

technical guideline provides municipalities with strategies, particularly related to enforcement 

of the OFC, in situations where achieving compliance has or may be difficult to achieve.   

It is recommended that PFSG OFM-TG-01-2012 be considered in developing the proposed Fire 

Prevention Policy for consideration and approval by Council. 

5.10 Fire Safety Plans 

The Ontario Fire Code requires a fire safety plan for specific occupancy types. These plans 

provide the on-site staff and the responding fire and rescue services with an understanding of 

the protocols to be utilized in the event of an emergency.  Plans typically include building 

layouts, evacuation plans, details regarding fire alarm and life safety systems in place, and the 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

54 

 

protocols for staff in an emergency. The Puslinch part-time Fire Chief and part-time Chief Fire 

Prevention Officer are responsible for reviewing and approving the fire safety plans. 

The Ontario Fire Code (Section 2.8) requires a fire safety plan for specific occupancy types.  

These premises include (but are not limited to): 

(a) an assembly occupancy, 

(b) a care occupancy, 

(c) a care and treatment occupancy, 

(d) a detention occupancy, 

(e) a residential occupancy where the occupant load exceeds 10, 

(f) a retirement home, 

(g) a business and personal services occupancy where the occupant load exceeds 300, 

(h) a mercantile occupancy where the occupant load exceeds 300, 

(i) a high hazard industrial occupancy where the occupant load exceeds 25, 

(j) a medium hazard industrial occupancy where the occupant load exceeds 100, or 

(k) a low hazard industrial occupancy where the occupant load exceeds 300. 

 

The Chief Fire Official (part-time Fire Chief) of the municipality is required by the fire code to 

review and approve the fire safety plans for the occupancies listed above when the building is 

first occupied and on an ongoing basis. Fire Safety Plans are currently delegated for review by 

the part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer and approved by the part-time Fire Chief. 

5.11 Proposed Fire Inspection Program 

Based on our analysis of the Community Risk Profile and the new Ontario Regulation 150/13, 

revised fire inspection goals and objectives (performance measures) are proposed within this 

MFP. The proposed fire inspection goals and objectives align with prioritizing the optimization 

of the first two lines of defence and the strategic priorities of this MFP. 

To achieve the proposed objectives, the PFRS will need to reassess, and re-prioritize the 

current inspection program.  To achieve the routine inspection cycles proposed, including 

prioritizing high risk occupancies and implementing the residential occupancy cycles, the 

department will need to look at alternative strategies for the current inspection program, 

including increasing the number of hours for the part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer.  

Further benefits of increasing the number of hours for the part-time Chief Fire Prevention 

Officer are presented within Section 8.0 Fire Suppression Division of this plan.   

Table 6 identifies the proposed goals and objectives (performance measure) for conducting fire 

inspections within the Township of Puslinch based on the Community Risk Profile presented 

within this MFP.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

55 

 

TABLE 6:  TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH PROPOSED FIRE INSPECTION GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 
(PERFORMANCE MEASURES) 

Occupancy 
Classification 

(OBC) 
Buildings 

Current  
Fire Inspection 

Frequencies 
(Performance 

Measure) 

 
Proposed  

Fire Inspection 
Frequencies 

(Performance 
Measure) 

Group A – Assembly  
 

Schools, Recreation Centres (Arenas), 
Curling/Golf Centres 

 
6-12 Months Annually 

Group A – Assembly  
 

Licensed Properties, Nursery/Day Care 
Facilities, Churches, Special Occasion Permits 

6-12 Months Annually 

Group B – Institutional Nursing homes, Homes for Special Care 6-12 Months Annually 

Group C – Residential 

Apartments regulated by Part 9.3 of the OFC 
Apartments regulated by Part 9.5 of the OFC 
Apartments regulated by Part 9.8 of the OFC 
Home Inspection Program 

6-12 Months 
6-12 Months 
6-12 Months 

Upon Request 

Annually 
Annually 
Annually 

Smoke Alarm 
Program 

Group D - Business Business and Personal Services Occupancies 12-18 Months 2- Years 

Group E - Mercantile Mercantile Occupancies 12-18 Months 2 - Years 

Group F - Industrial Factories and Complexes 12-18 Months 2 - Years 

 

As previously indicated the current workload of the part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer 

does not provide sufficient time to achieve the objectives of the current fire inspection 

frequencies. The proposed fire inspection goals and objectives reflect the results of the 

Community Risk Profile presented within this report to achieve the Township’s legislated 

responsibilities for occupancies including new legislation for ‘Enhancing Fire Safety in 

Occupancies Housing Vulnerable Ontarians, Ontario Regulation 150/13’. 

To achieve the proposed fire inspection frequencies identified we are recommending that the 

hours of the part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer be increased from the current 16 hours per 

week to 24 hours per week.  

It is recommended that subject to the consideration and approval of the proposed fire 

inspection goals and objectives by Council that they be included within the proposed Fire 

Prevention Policy and proposed Establishing and Regulating By-Law.  

It is recommended that the hours of work for the part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer be 

increased from the current 16 to 24 hours per week to achieve the proposed fire inspection 

frequencies identified within the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

56 

 

Further analysis and recommendations regarding the part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officers 

position are included within Section 8.12 Options for Enhancing Fire Suppression Services of 

this MFP. 

5.11.1 Fire Investigations and Cause Determination 

Investigating the origin and cause of a fire is a municipal fire and rescue services’ responsibility.  

Where fires meet specific criteria the local fire and rescue service can request assistance from 

the OFMEM to conduct these investigations.  The criteria and process for this request are 

contained within OFMEM Communique #2010-12.   

SOG #8-101 Fire Cause Determination establishes policies and guidelines to ensure fire cause 

determination is conducted. The SOG states “The commanding officer, or designate, shall make 

every effort to determine the cause of every fire within the fire department’s protection area. 

External agencies such as the police, hydro electric utility, Fuel Energy Branch, Technical 

Standards Safety Association, and OFMEM Investigation can be used to assist the local 

investigation. 

The OFMEM Investigator must be notified when any of the following conditions exist: 

1. Fire damage exceeds $500,000 
2. Explosions 
3. Fire death or injury that could result in death (includes firefighters) 
4. Multi-unit residential (where fire spread is beyond unit of origin) 
5. Suspicious nature or arson fire 
6.  Gaseous explosions 
7. Clandestine drug labs 
8. Injuries due to fires (includes firefighters) 
9. Fires in buildings with vulnerable occupants – senior residence 

The SOG also defines when the OFMEM should be contacted and that accurate documentation 

is filed for possible future investigations, prosecutions, and litigations.  

Currently the part-time Fire Chief and part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer are the only two 

individuals in the PFRS with the sufficient training to investigate the cause of fires. Subject to 

consideration and approval of the proposed organizational model for the PFRS additional 

senior staff should be trained to support this function.   

5.12 Fire Prevention and Public Education Priority Setting Worksheet  

The priority setting worksheet developed by the OFMEM is an effective tool utilized by fire 

departments to identify and monitor activities targeted at fire prevention and public education. 

Table 7 is the current priority setting worksheet which reflects the recommendations of this 

Master Fire Plan. 

 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

57 

TABLE 7:   FIRE PREVENTION AND PUBLIC EDUCATION PRIORITY SETTING WORKSHEET 

Priority Status Effectiveness, Goals/Objectives 

Fire Safety Priority 

(In order of Priority) 

Current fire prevention / public education programs that address the fire safety priority 

Existing programs ensure compliance with minimum FPPA requirements? 

 
Options for enhancement / improvement to address the fire safety 
priorities & community risk 

Fire Prevention (Inspection) Activities Public Education Activities Y/N Fire Prevention Activities Public Education Activities 

1) Children Annual Fire Code Inspections 

 

 

 

 

 

Media Releases, Public Safety Announcements 

Smoke Alarm - Home Escape Planning 

Home Safe Home Program 

Fire and Life Safety Displays 

Targeted Education Programs 

Fire Prevention Week Activities 

Y Proposed Fire Inspection Cycles Proposed Public Education Programs 
and Activities Cycles 

2) Seniors Vulnerable Occupancy Inspections 

 

 

 

 

 

Media Releases, Public Safety Announcements 

Smoke Alarm - Home Escape Planning 

Home Safe Home Program 

Fire and Life Safety Displays 

Targeted Education Programs 

Fire Prevention Week Activities  

Y Proposed Fire Inspection Cycles Proposed Public Education Programs 
and Activities Cycles 

3) All Residents Smoke Alarm Program 

 

 

 

 

 

Media Releases, Public Safety Announcements 

Smoke Alarm - Home Escape Planning 

Home Safe Home Program 

Fire and Life Safety Displays 

Targeted Education Programs 

Fire Prevention Week Activities  

Y Proposed Fire Inspection Cycles 

 

Updated Smoke Alarm Program 
to include Carbon Monoxide 
Checks 

Proposed Public Education Programs 
and Activities Cycles 

4) Industrial / Commercial General Inspections (12-18 Months) 

Testing of Fire Safety Plans (Drills) 

 

Fire Training 

General Fire Safety Talks 

Y Proposed Fire Inspection Cycles Proposed Public Education Programs 
and Activities Cycles 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

58 

 

5.13 Fire Prevention/Public Education Workspace 

Workspace for the Fire Prevention/Public Education Division is shared amongst all of the staff 

resources assigned to these functions. This shared space strategy has been necessary to 

provide office space for the number of staff resources that require access to desk space and a 

computer to complete their work.  

Although this model for workspace is functional, it is not the most effective and efficient model 

for the individual workspace functions. Several of the offices open directly into the training 

room, which creates a conflict when the functions of both spaces are being utilized at the same 

time. In our view this is particularly challenging for the part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer 

who can be dealing with other agencies and the public while an internal department training 

exercise is being facilitated.  

As recommended within the Administration Section of this MFP the administrative workspace 

for the PFRS should be reviewed in consideration of the recommendations of the proposed 

Master Fire Plan and the current facilities review of the Township Administrative Offices. 

5.14 Fire Prevention/Public Education Division Summary and 
Recommendations  

Our analysis of the current fire prevention and public education activities and programs 

provided by the PFRS indicates that the Township is achieving its minimum legislated 

responsibilities for these areas of the FPPA.  

The strategic priorities contained within the proposed MFP are presented to provide Council 

with a framework for providing the most cost effective and efficient level for fire protection 

services that provides the most value to the community.  

The recommendations within this proposed MFP for enhancing the fire prevention and public 

education activities and programs currently being delivered by the PFRS are intended to 

optimize the benefits of these activities in reducing the probability and consequences of a fire, 

resulting in a safer community. 

Recommendations for the Fire Prevention/Public Education Division include the following: 

12. That subject to Council’s consideration and approval of the proposed Master Fire Plan 

that a Fire Prevention Policy be created utilizing the framework of PFSG 04-45-12 “Fire 

Prevention Policy” for consideration and approval by Council, and attached as an 

appendix to the fire department Establishing and Regulating By-law. 

13. That subject to the consideration and approval of the proposed public fire safety 

education activities and program cycle objectives by Council that they be included 

within the proposed Fire Prevention Policy and proposed Establishing and Regulating 

By-Law.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

59 

 

14. That Council consider the provision of 20 hours per week to support a dedicated 

position of part-time Public Fire and Life Safety Educator reporting to the part-time 

Chief Fire Prevention Officer with the responsibility to coordinate and optimize the 

public fire safety education objectives of the PFRS. 

15. That the PFRS Smoke Alarm Program be updated as a department Standard Operating 

Guideline and included within the proposed Fire Prevention Policy for consideration and 

approval by Council. 

16. That PFSG OFM-TG-01-2012 be considered in developing the proposed Fire Prevention 

Policy for consideration and approval by Council. 

17. That subject to the consideration and approval of the proposed fire inspection goals 

and objectives by Council that they be included within the proposed Fire Prevention 

Policy and proposed Establishing and Regulating By-Law.  

18. That consideration be given to increasing the hours of work for the part-time Chief Fire 

Prevention Officer from the current 16 to 24 hours per week to achieve the proposed 

fire inspection frequencies identified within the proposed Master Fire Plan. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

60 

 

6.0 Training Division 

The current training program includes volunteer firefighter recruit training, officer 

development, emergency medical care, vehicle driver/operator training, fire suppression, and 

specialized technical training. Training is overseen by the part-time Training Officer who is 

responsible for ensuring that all PFRS personnel receive the training necessary to meet the 

legislative requirements of the Ontario Fire Prevention and Protection Act (FPPA) and the 

Occupational Health and Safety Act of Ontario (OHSA).  

Through our review and discussions with the part-time Fire Chief, part-time Deputy Fire Chief 

of Administration and volunteer firefighters our observations concluded that there is a 

comprehensive annual training program in place. 

Our experience and knowledge of the Ontario Fire Service indicate that firefighter training is an 

area that has come under a high level of scrutiny over the past decade. The results of 

numerous inquests and investigations have concluded that firefighter training must be 

considered a strategic priority for municipalities, in their role as employer, and fire service 

leaders, and as supervisors. The Ministry of Labour has committed significant resources to 

audit and support this strategic priority. This division is responsible for ensuring that all PFRS 

personnel receive the training necessary to meet the legislative requirements of the Ontario 

Fire Prevention and Protection Act, 1997 (FPPA) and the Occupational Health and Safety Act of 

Ontario (OHSA).  

6.1 Division Staff Resources 

6.1.1 Training Captain (Part-time) 

The part-time Training Captain is responsible for coordinating the delivery of the department’s 

training program. This includes developing the annual training program, ensuring the required 

learning objectives are achieved and that the required training records are maintained.  

As an employee of the Township the part-time Training Captain is compensated based on the 

staff remuneration rates established by Council on an annual basis. For the year 2014 the 

approved hourly wage for the position of part-time Training Captain was $26.79. 

The part-time Training Captain is currently authorized for ten hours per week to fulfill his 

administrative responsibilities. In addition to compensation for administrative responsibilities 

the part-time Training Captain is also compensated based on the hourly rate for this position 

when responding to emergencies, attending training sessions and other approved department 

business. The part-time Training Captain is also a member of the Wellington County Training 

Officers Association. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

61 

 

Further analysis and recommendations regarding the part-time Training Captain position are 

included within Section 8.12 Options for Enhancing Fire Suppression Services of this MFP. 

6.1.2 Training Officer (Part-time) 

The part-time Training Officer reports directly to the part-time Training Captain. This position is 

responsible for conducting research, developing lessons plans and ensuring that all necessary 

training props and equipment are available for scheduled training sessions. 

The part-time Training Officer is a recognized training facilitator and as part of his duties 

facilitates the delivery of a range of training sessions to the volunteer firefighters. As an 

employee of the Township the part-time Training Officer is compensated based on the staff 

remuneration rates established by Council on an annual basis. For the year 2014 the approved 

hourly wage for the position of part-time Training Captain was $26.79. 

The part-time Training Officer is also currently authorized for ten hours per week to fulfill his 

administrative responsibilities. In addition to compensation for administrative responsibilities 

the part-time Training Officer is also compensated based on the hourly rate for this position 

when responding to emergencies, attending training sessions and other approved department 

business. 

Further analysis and recommendations regarding the part-time Training Captain position are 

included within Section 8.12 Options for Enhancing Fire Suppression Services of this MFP. 

6.2 Training Standards 

In partnership with the Ontario Association of Fire Chiefs, the Office of the Fire Marshal and 

Emergency Management and other fire service stakeholders the Ontario Fire Services 

Standards (OFSS) were developed. Together these competency-based standards were applied 

in developing a comprehensive provincial fire service training program that included a 

firefighter curriculum, Fire Prevention Officer Diploma program, Company Officer Diploma 

program, and a Training Officer Diploma program.  

The OFMEM announced in April of 2013 that the Ontario Fire Service would be adopting the 

National Fire Protection Association Professional Qualifications (NFPA Pro-Qual) Standards. 

Table 8 below reflects the results of the comparative analysis between the previous Ontario 

Standards and the representative NFPA Standards.  

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

62 

 

TABLE 8:  COMPARISON OF ONTARIO AND NFPA STANDARDS 

Previous Ontario Standard New NFPA Standard 

Ontario Firefighter Standard 
NFPA 1001 – Standard for Fire Fighter Professional 

Qualifications 

Ontario Company Officer Standard 
NFPA 1021 – Standard for Fire Officer Professional 

Qualifications 

Ontario Fire Prevention Officer Standard 
NFPA 1031 – Standard for Professional Qualifications for 

Fire Inspector and Plan Examiner 

Ontario Training Officer Standard 
NFPA 1041 – Standard for Fire Service Instructor 

Professional Qualifications 

 

In January of 2014 the newly created Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management 

distributed Communique 2014 – 04 to the Ontario Fire Service reflecting the grandfathering 

and transition process to the use of the NFPA Professional Qualifications Standards. Table 9 

below reflects the OFMEM’s determination of concordance between the previous Ontario 

Standards and the representative NFPA Standards.  

 

TABLE 9:  CONCORDANCE OF ONTARIO AND NFPA STANDARDS 

Previous Ontario Standard New NFPA Standard 

Ontario Firefighter Curriculum NFPA 1001 Standard – Level I and Level II 

Company Officer Diploma Program NFPA 1021 Standard – Level II 

Fire Prevention Officer Diploma Program NFPA 1031 Standard – Fire Inspector Level I 

Training Officer Diploma Program NFPA 1041 Standard – Fire Instructor Level II  

 

Communique 2014 – 04 indicates that “Members of the fire service who wish to take advantage 

of the grandfathering policy and obtain a Letter of Compliance with NFPA Standards must 

submit an application through their fire department, approved and signed by their fire chief, 

before December 31, 2015.”  

As indicated within this communique the PFRS has until December 31st 2015 to apply for the 

grandfathering policy of the new NFPA standards. The department has initiated this process 

and submitted the documentation for grandfathering a large percentage of the current 

volunteer firefighters and officers. 

SOG #7-100 Training Requirements outlines the current training program of the PFRS as the 

Ontario Firefighters Curriculum. As part of the transition to the new NFPA standards this SOP 

will need to be revised.  

Training sessions are currently held every Tuesday morning and Wednesday evening. All 

firefighters are expected to attend and participate in these training sessions with a minimum 

attendance requirement of 50% quarterly and 60% annually. Attendance is monitored on a 

quarterly basis by the part-time Fire Chief and part-time Deputy Chief of Operations.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

63 

 

Within the consultation process with the volunteer firefighters it was identified that at times 

there is insufficient time to complete all of the training required within the scheduled training 

times. In our view this can partly be attributed to the time available within a training evening 

or morning, and in part to the increasing amount of training that is required to sustain the 

competencies of a volunteer firefighter.  

This MFP recommends the development of a comprehensive annual training program based on 

the new NFPA Professional Qualifications Standards. As part of developing this program 

consideration should be given to this feedback, and where necessary further consultation and 

feedback should be sought from the volunteer firefighters and Officers. 

6.3 Comprehensive Annual Training Program 

In our view the NFPA standards identified should form the basis of a new comprehensive 

annual training program for all firefighters and officers within the PFRS.  

Addressing an employer’s responsibilities as defined by the Occupational Health and Safety Act 

and specifically the Section 21 Guidance Notes for Firefighters is another mandatory 

component that should be included as part of a comprehensive annual training program. 

In addition to responding to the relevant firefighting standards, curriculum and health and 

safety requirements, a comprehensive annual training program should include the following 

core functions: 

 Identifying training needs in relation to services provided; 

 Coordinating / scheduling theoretical and practical training; 

 Monitoring and evaluating in relation to outcomes achieved; 

 Evaluating (on an ongoing basis) in relation to industry best practices and 
legislative requirements; 

 Overseeing program objectives and records management; and 

 Assessing (on an ongoing basis) program delivery for efficiency and effectiveness. 

The current PFRS training program includes a three year cycle to complete all of the required 

elements.  

It is recommended that the PFRS develop a comprehensive annual training program based on 

the NFPA Professional Qualifications Standards and the core functions of a comprehensive 

annual training program identified within the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

6.4 Wellington County Recruit Training Program 

In 2014 the PFRS participated in a volunteer firefighter recruit training program that was 

coordinated by the County. Through the efforts of the County and the Wellington County 

Training Officer’s Association this program provided a coordinated initial training program for 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

64 

 

volunteer firefighter recruits. Feedback received through consultation with the recruits 

attending this program, volunteer firefighters and senior staff from the PFRS, indicated this 

was a good program. 

Some concerns were identified with respect to the consistency of the training provided within 

the PFRS internal recruit program.  It was suggested that further training was required to 

ensure that the volunteer recruits attending this program met the training requirements of the 

PFRS before being allowed to participate in emergency response.  

In our view this type of feedback is not uncommon when bringing together members from 

different fire departments. Our understanding is that the PFRS has initiated a review of 

participating in this program with the objective of how best to coordinate the efforts of the 

County departments with that of the traditional PFRS recruit training program.  

It is recommended that the Fire Chief be directed to review the participation of the PFRS in 

joint training initiatives with the other fire departments within Wellington County in seeking 

efficiencies in the provision of training programs for the PFRS. 

6.5 Live Fire Training 

The purpose of live fire training is to provide realistic fire training simulations under safe and 

controlled conditions.  With relatively low volumes of fire calls it is important that the 

department provides access for all volunteer firefighters to simulate safe and effective fire 

suppression operations in an appropriate training facility. Live fire training exercises are 

intended to simulate the actual fire conditions that a volunteer firefighter may encounter and 

provide simulated heat, humidity, restricted vision and smoke conditions. This type of training 

is also very beneficial for firefighters, and particularly Company Officers, in learning to 

understand fire behaviour including identifying evolving smoke conditions as they may relate 

to the potential for fire extension or conditions such as a “flashover”. 

Live fire training sessions are an element of the volunteer recruit firefighter training program 

provided at the Waterloo Fire Training Grounds. When possible the PFRS also attempts to 

include live fire training sessions within the annual training schedule. This can include small 

scale burns held in conjunction with regular training, or alternatively attending training at the 

Cambridge Fire Department Training Tower.   

The PFRS does not have a dedicated training centre with the facilities capable of facilitating this 

type of training. When possible they utilize donated structures, or attend scheduled training at 

one of the fire training facilities identified above or the Ontario Fire College in Gravenhurst. 

It is recommended that the PFRS include live fire training as a required element within the 

proposed comprehensive annual training program.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

65 

 

6.6 Online Training 

Access to online training programs can provide greater flexibility in delivering the 

comprehensive training program recommended, particularly for volunteer firefighters. Online 

programs can be designed to meet varying learning styles and objectives. As well, they provide 

flexibility in access from the fire station or at home. Participation can be either individually or 

in groups.   

The PFRS has accessed online training in the past to facilitate training such as WHMIS. 

Volunteer recruits also participate in a number of online programs in conjunction with the 

County Training School.  

The Fire Learning Management System (FLMS) is an example of an innovative and cost 

effective tool for delivering online firefighter training. The learning materials are accessed 

through the internet at any time of day. FLMS allows each member of the fire department to 

log on to their own account and complete courses created by the fire department / Training 

Division. These courses can be self-delivered or supervised and delivered by officers or Trainer-

Facilitators (TFs).  

Volunteer firefighters can access course materials anytime they want outside of the regular 

training schedule. Courses contain learning activities and materials presented in a logical, 

familiar fashion. Use of technology such as this would allow the PFRS to build and customize its 

own training course content and support the proposed comprehensive annual training 

program. This particular system also allows courses to be shared with other fire departments. 

The FLMS program is available for all firefighter and company officer subjects and is currently 

being revised to reflect the transition to the NFPA firefighter training programs being adopted 

by the OFMEM.  

It is recommended that the PFRS investigate the use of an online firefighter training program 

as a component of delivering the proposed comprehensive annual training program. 

6.7 Specialized Training Programs 

In addition to basic firefighting training fire departments must also consider the training needs 

associated with specialized services. Specialized services (e.g. technical rescues) are the types 

of services that typically require a higher level of technical training and equipment to safely 

mitigate the emergency.  

Our review identified that the following specialized services are currently being provided the 

PFRS:  

• HAZMAT Response (Awareness Level) 

• Confined Space Rescue (Operations Level) 

• Slope/High Angle Rope Rescue (Operations Level) 

• Trench Rescue  (Awareness Level) 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

66 

 

• Water / Ice Rescue (Land-Based and Entry Level)  

In our view the level of training currently provided for Confined Space Rescue and Slope/High 

Angle Rope Rescue services is not consistent with the findings of the Community Risk Profile 

and the ability of the PFRS to sustain the required high degree of proficiency and accreditation 

in each specialized area.  

In our view the PFRS should only be training to, and providing a level of emergency response 

service consistent with, an ‘awareness level’ of emergency response for these activities.  

Consideration should be given to identifying other options, such as partnerships with other 

communities through automatic aid agreements, contracted services with other agencies, or 

partnering with the private sector in order to provide any services required above the 

awareness level for Confined Space Rescue and Slope/High Angle Rope Rescue. 

It is recommended that the PFRS reduce the current level of emergency response services (and 

related training) for Confined Space Rescue and Slope/High Angle Rope Rescue incidents from 

an operational capability to an awareness level of response, and that these service levels be 

reflected in the proposed Establishing and Regulating By-law. 

It is recommended that the part-time Fire Chief be directed to investigate the options available 

for the delivery of operational level emergency response for incidents including Confined Space 

Rescue, Slope/High Angle Rope Rescue, HAZMAT response, and Trench Rescue. 

6.8 Company Officer Training 

The fire service is a paramilitary organization that relies on a rank structure to manage the 

roles and responsibilities of the organization and the operational services it delivers. This 

structure needs to include an appropriate span of control in order to be efficient and effective. 

A sufficient number of officers are also required to ensure the function of incident command 

can be implemented at all emergency scenes, and depending on the incident action plan, have 

sufficient additional officers to facilitate other roles such as sectoring of the scene, and Safety 

Officer.  

Municipalities are required to ensure a sufficient number of supervisors (officers) are trained 

to oversee the workforce. Within the Occupational Health and Safety Act, Part III, Duties of 

Employers and Other persons, Section 12, subsection (2) states that: “Without limiting the 

strict duty imposed by subsection (1), an employer shall,“(c) when appointing a supervisor, 

appoint a competent person;” 

As an employer, the Township of Puslinch is legislated by this section of the OHSA to ensure 

that all supervisors, which includes the role of incident commander, be competent.  

The OHSA defines a “competent person” to mean a person who: 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

67 

 

(a) “is qualified because of knowledge, training and experience to organize the work 
and its performance, 

(b) is familiar with this Act and the regulations that apply to the work, and 
(c) has knowledge of any potential or actual danger to health or safety in the 

workplace: (“personne competente”)” 
 

The PFRS currently supports the need for Company Officer training and supports this need by 

providing opportunities for Company Officers (Volunteer Captains and Volunteer Lieutenants) 

to participate in additional training opportunities such as those offered by the Ontario Fire 

College.  

It is recommended that the PFRS enhance the training opportunities for Company Officers to 

achieve the competencies identified within the new NFPA 1021 Standard – Level II for 

Company Officers. 

6.9 Incident Command Training 

Guidance notes to protect the health and safety of firefighters are developed by the Ontario 

Fire Service Section 21 Advisory Committee and distributed by the Ministry of Labour. 

Firefighters Guidance Note #2-1 – Incident Command reflects the importance of having an 

Incident Command System (ICS). 

Incident Command Systems are designed to positively affect the outcome of an emergency 

scene operation and the health and safety of firefighters. These systems can have a dramatic 

effect on the efficiency and effectiveness of the emergency response and safety on the 

emergency scene. This includes all incidents that the fire department may respond to including 

the fire ground, hazardous materials incidents, automobile extrications, water/ice rescues and 

any other incident the fire department responds to where emergency responders and 

apparatus must be coordinated.    

Firefighters Guidance Note #2-1 – Incident Command references a number of recognized 

systems including the “Phoenix Fireground Command System.” This system was developed by 

Alan V. Brunacini the former Fire Chief of the Phoenix Fire Department. Chief Brunacini is a 

renowned expert on incident command. In his book titled “Fire Command” (second edition) he 

includes the following statement:  

“To provide continuous command, the first fire department unit or officer arriving at the scene 

should assume command, until relieved by a ranking officer, or until command is passed 

(transferred) or terminated. The initial assumption of command is mandatory.” 

Incident command should be established by the first arriving officer and be sustained until the 

emergency is mitigated. The Incident Commander (officer) is responsible for all aspects of 

managing the emergency incident including developing an “Incident Action Plan” and 

managing all operations on scene. This includes: 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

68 

 

 Establish immediate priorities, especially the safety of responders, other emergency 
workers, bystanders, and people involved in the incident. 

 Stabilize the incident by ensuring life safety and managing resources efficiently and 
cost effectively. 

 Determine incident objectives and strategy to achieve the objectives. 

 Establish and monitor incident organization. 

 Approve the implementation of the written or oral Incident Action Plan. 

 Ensure adequate health and safety measures are in place. 

SOG #6-115 ‘Taking Command’ describes the roles and responsibilities of firefighters and 

officers in taking command of an incident. The PFRS also has a number of other SOGs related 

to incident command and identifying a Safety Officer. 

6.9.1 Blue Card Fire Command Training  

The PFRS has been investigating the implementation of the Blue Card Fire Command Training 

Program to further enhance the incident command training within the department. This 

training and certification process utilizes both on-line and in-class simulation training that 

focuses on structural fires. However, the program can be easily adapted to address all types of 

incidents the PFRS responds to.   

This training program is based on the work of Chief Brunacini and has been applied in many fire 

departments across North America including Ontario.   

It is recommended that the PFRS consider adoption of the Blue Card Fire Command Training 

Program as a component of the proposed Comprehensive Annual Training Program. 

6.10 Succession Planning 

Fire departments and municipalities are recognizing the importance and value that succession 

planning has within the municipal fire service. Succession planning has not traditionally been 

an area of concern or consideration within the fire service in Ontario. An effective succession 

plan requires the implementation of strategies to ensure that opportunities, encouragement 

and additional training are available for those staff that may be considering further 

advancement within an organization.  A comprehensive succession plan also supports the 

concepts of coaching and mentoring in support of staff considering future career opportunities.  

The recent process to provide the volunteer captains with the opportunity to rotate through 

the position of Deputy Chief of Operations is a good example a strategy that recognizes the 

importance of succession planning. However, there is no formal succession planning process in 

place within the department. Succession plans can provide a framework of skills and 

experience that are required for each position within the department. For candidates seeking 

promotion or further responsibilities the succession plan can provide a career path to the 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

69 

 

position of their choosing. Succession planning can also provide Council with the knowledge 

that there are trained and skilled candidates available in the event vacancies occur within the 

department.  

It is recommended that the PFRS develop a succession plan for the PFRS including 

opportunities to enhance the leadership and management training available for all officers. 

6.11 Training Workspace 

Workspace for the Training Division is also shared amongst the staff resources assigned to this 

division. This shared space strategy was necessary in order to provide office space for the 

number of staff resources that require access to desk space and a computer to complete their 

work.  

As indicated previously within this report, the current workspace within the PFRS is not 

providing the most optimal functional space to meet the needs of the current and future 

staffing allocation and workspace functions of the PFRS.  

As recommended within the Administration Section of this MFP it is recommended that the 

administrative workspace for the PFRS be reviewed in consideration of the recommendations 

of the Master Fire Plan and the current facilities review of the Township Administrative Offices. 

6.12 Training Division Summary and Recommendations 

The PFRS has initiated the transition process to the use of the NFPA Professional Qualifications 

Standards including the optimization of the grandfathering provisions provided by the OFMEM. 

In our view the PFRS has been proactive and efficient in taking the necessary steps to transition 

to the new training standards.  

The analysis within this review has identified a number of areas within the current training 

program where further consideration of the current training levels should be reviewed, and 

where additional programs may further enhance the training program.  

In our view the current training program provided by the PFRS further reflects the high degree 

of dedication and commitment that the members of the PFRS have towards servicing their 

community. The recommendations presented are intended to enhance the current training 

program. 

Recommendations for the Training Division include the following:  

19. That the PFRS develop a comprehensive annual training program based on the NFPA 

Professional Qualifications Standards and the core functions of a comprehensive annual 

training program identified within the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

20. That the part-time Fire Chief be directed to review the participation of the PFRS in joint 

training initiatives with the other Fire Department within Wellington County in seeking 

efficiencies in the provision of training programs for the PFRS. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

70 

 

21. That the PFRS include live fire training as a required element within the proposed 

comprehensive annual training program.  

22. That the PFRS investigate the use of an online firefighter training program as a 

component of delivering the proposed comprehensive annual training program. 

23. That the PFRS reduce the current level of emergency response services and related 

training for Confined Space Rescue and Slope/High Angle Rope Rescue incidents from 

an operational capability to an awareness level of response, and that these service 

levels be reflected in the proposed Establishing and Regulating By-law. 

24. That the part-time Fire Chief be directed to investigate the options available for the 

delivery of operational level emergency response for incidents including Confined Space 

Rescue, Slope/High Angle Rope Rescue, HAZMAT response, and Trench Rescue. 

25. That the PFRS enhance the training opportunities for Company Officers to achieve the 

competencies identified within the new NFPA 1021 Standard – Level II for Company 

Officers. 

26. That the PFRS consider adoption of the Blue Card Fire Command Training Program as a 

component of the proposed Comprehensive Annual Training Program. 

27. That the PFRS develop a succession plan for the PFRS including opportunities to 

enhance the leadership and management training available for all officers. 

 

 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

71 

 

7.0 Fire Suppression Division 

The Township of Puslinch shares the characteristics of many primarily rural / agricultural 

communities in Ontario that include small urban centres surrounded by large sections of rural 

geography. Providing emergency response in these rural municipalities in the form of 

firefighting resources capable of effectively mitigating a fire in a timely manner can be difficult 

and challenging. Travel distances and water supply are only two factors that can impact the 

ability to provide this type of mitigation within an established time frame.  

Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services currently has a part-time Fire Chief who, in addition to 

performing his administrative/management responsibilities, also oversees the fire suppression, 

or emergency response functions of the PFRS. A temporary part-time Deputy Chief of 

Administration is currently supporting the Chief in overseeing the administrative/management 

functions. Similarly, the temporary position of part-time Deputy Chief of Operations is 

supporting the Chief in overseeing the fire suppression functions. The role of this temporary 

part-time Deputy Chief of Operations is currently being rotated between five appointed 

Captains, as per By-Law #028/14.  

Since inception in 1968 the PFRS has successfully sustained utilizing volunteer firefighters for 

the delivery of fire suppression and emergency response activities. The PFRS currently includes 

a complement of 31 dedicated volunteer firefighters and officers and 4 auxiliary firefighters. 

This core group of volunteer firefighters is supported through the provision of a number of 

agreements with surrounding communities including fire protection agreements, automatic aid 

and mutual aid. 

In addition to fire suppression (firefighting) the PFRS responds to a range of other emergency 

including motor vehicle collisions, medical assist calls, land/water based and ice rescues, 

confined space and rope rescue. The master fire planning process places on a strong focus on 

assessing the municipality’s legislative responsibilities within the FPPA. This strategy is 

appropriate and included within this MFP; however, the PFRS is also recognized within the 

community and by Council for their dedication and commitment in providing many other non-

fire related services. This recognition has been reflected in the strategic priorities included 

within this MFP including:  

“Emphasis on the value of all services other than those legislated by the Fire Protection and 

Prevention Act, 1997 that are provided by the Puslinch Fire and Rescue such as responses to 

motor vehicle accidents and medical responses that enhance life safety within the community.” 

and 

“Emphasis on strategies that support the sustainability of fire protection services that provide 

the most cost effective and efficient level of fire protection services resulting in the best value 

for the community.” 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

72 

 

7.1 Emergency Response  

The Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model recognizes the high importance of the first 

two lines of defence in mitigating the potential of a fire occurring. In the event a fire does 

occur and emergency response is required the model defines the third line of defence as: 

“III. Emergency Response (Suppression): 

Providing well trained and equipped firefighters directed by capable officers to stop the 
spread of fires once they occur and to assist in protecting the lives and safety of 
residents.  This is the failsafe for those times when fires occur despite prevention 
efforts.” 

In our view the three lines of defence represent a proven model for optimizing the benefits of 

proactive prevention and education programs; appropriate use of standards and code 

enforcement and, as the model suggests, the provision of emergency response as the ‘failsafe’ 

for when these efforts when incidents occur despite all efforts towards optimization of the first 

two lines of defence.    

A core component of evaluating the overall effectiveness of providing fire suppression services 

includes considering a measurement-supported set of performance targets (i.e. service 

standards) and setting clear goals and objectives. Within Ontario there is no specific legislated 

standard that a community must achieve with regard to the type of firefighter (career/part-

time/volunteer) or the number of firefighters required to respond to any given incident.  The 

FPPA does require that a municipal Council assess this level of resources based on determining 

its “local needs and circumstances.”  

To assist with evaluating the level of fire suppression resources required by the Township of 

Puslinch this study identified the different guidelines and standards that are currently relevant 

within Ontario. Through comparison of each with a typical fire scenario this analysis presents 

insight into the industry best practices based on a risk-based approach. 

7.2 Importance of Time with Respect to Fire Growth 

Time is a critical component with respect to the growth of a fire and the success of 

intervention by firefighters.  Research conducted by the OFMEM and National Research 

Council of Canada indicates that a fire in a non-sprinklered residential occupancy can spread 

from the room where the fire originates in ten minutes or less. Tests have shown that the fire 

can extend from this room of origin in as little as three minutes, under fast fire growth 

conditions.   

Fire growth rates, defined by the Society of Fire Protection Engineers, as slow, medium and 

fast are listed in Table 10. The fire growth rates are measured by the time it takes for a fire to 

reach a 1 megawatt (MW) fire. This is roughly equivalent to an upholstered chair burning at its 

peak.  A 2 MW fire is approximately equal to a large upholstered sofa burning at its peak.   



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

73 

 

 

TABLE 10: TIME TO REACH 1 MW AND 2 MW FIRE GROWTH RATES IN THE ABSENCE OF FIRE 
SUPPRESSION 

Time to Reach 1 MW and 2 MW Fire Growth Rates in the Absence of Fire Suppression 

Fire Growth Rate 
Time in Seconds to  

Reach 1MW 
Time in Seconds to  

Reach 2 MW 

Slow 600 seconds 848 seconds 

Medium 300 seconds 424 seconds 

Fast 150 seconds 212 seconds 

(Courtesy of the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management). 

 

Within the ten minute time period flashover conditions can occur.  Flashover occurs when the 

combustible items within a given space reach a temperature that is sufficiently high for them 

to auto-ignite.  The graph in Figure 6 highlights the importance of the first two lines of defence 

including early detection (Working Smoke Alarms) actions of the occupants including (Home 

Escape Planning) and prompt notification of the fire department. The success of firefighting 

intervention, given the exponential increase in fire temperature, and the potential for loss of 

property/loss of life with the progression of time further support the importance of public 

education and prevention programs.  

 

FIGURE 6: EXAMPLE FIRE PROPAGATION CURVE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reference: Fire Underwriters Survey “Alternative Water Supplies for Public Fire Protection: An Informative Reference 

Guide for Use in Fire Insurance Grading “May 2009 and NFPA "Fire Protection Handbook" 2001 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

74 

 

The fire progression curve reflects the importance of time during the “detection – report” stage. 

This is the time period not impacted by any actions by the fire department. The time period 

controlled by the fire department begins when the call is initially received by “dispatch” and 

includes several other components leading up to the initiation of “intervention” by fire 

suppression staff. 

Understanding factors such as “growth rate” and “time” in terms of how quickly a fire can 

reach a critical stage such as “flashover” are important considerations in assessing fire 

suppression performance targets. For example, where areas of the community may have 

extended response times due to long travel distances, in excess of 10 minutes, the potential for 

the fire to have spread from the room of origin, and or already reached a “flashover” state, will 

be significantly higher.  

In these situations consideration should be given to the first two “lines of defence” including 

the provision of more public education and fire prevention activities as a means to inform the 

public on how to be prepared and react in the event of a fire.  

7.3 Current Fire Suppression Guidelines, Industry Standards, Industry Best 
Practices 

Within Ontario there is no specific legislated standard that a community must achieve with 

regard to the type of firefighter (career/part-time/volunteer) or the number of firefighters 

required to respond to any given incident.  The FPPA does require that a municipal Council 

assess this level of resources based on determining its “local needs and circumstances.”  

Over the past decade there has been a transition within the fire service industry across North 

America to the utilization of community risk-based analysis to determine the appropriate level 

of firefighter deployment based on the critical tasks to be performed to effectively, efficiently 

and safely conduct fire suppression operations.  

The OFMEM represents the agency responsible for fire protection within the Province of 

Ontario, and the NFPA represents the most highly recognized fire service association in North 

America. In our view these agencies cumulatively represent the authorities for identifying an 

appropriate methodology and process for determining firefighter deployment in the Township 

of Puslinch. 

7.3.1 PFSG 04-08-10 Operational Planning: An Official Guide to Matching Resource 
Deployment and Risk  

PFSG 04-08-10 (Appendix L) was released by the OFMEM in January 2011 and includes a 

“Critical Task Matrix” to assist municipalities in determining the level of fireground staffing 

capabilities based upon low, moderate, high and extreme risks.  The Critical Task Matrix is 

defined by the OFMEM as: 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

75 

 

“The critical Task Matrix is based on the Incident Management 
System (IMS). It will assist in identifying fireground staffing 
capabilities based upon low, moderate, high and extreme risk 
levels within your community. The Office of the Fire Marshal 
(OFMEM) has identified the critical tasks from the Incident 
Management System that are used during fireground 
operations. These tasks are consistent with applicable 
legislation, industry best practices and the Ontario Fire College 
Curriculum.” 

The matrix further recognizes that within the IMS that: 

• Upon arrival and rapid size-up, the incident commander can upgrade or downgrade 

response; 

• Crews can be reassigned to other tasks once original assignments are complete; 

• Response protocols can be established with specific risk levels used to assist with pre-

planning to obtain more resources based on the escalating nature of the emergency; 

• Fire departments perform rescue and building personnel conduct evacuations according 

to their approved fire safety plans; 

• Some tasks will never be assigned based on the tactical approach chosen by the incident 

commander (offensive versus defensive).  

The Critical Task Matrix provides a lower and upper range of the number of firefighters 

required to respond for each of the four risk levels. The actual number of firefighters within 

each range is based upon analysis of actual fires, the Occupational Health and Safety Act 

Section 21 Guidance Notes affecting firefighters, and industry best practices.  Table 11 reflects 

the PFSG 04-08-10 (Appendix L) Critical Task Matrix. 

The OFMEM Critical Task Matrix indicates that the lower and upper level incident response 

range to effectively, efficiently and safely conduct fire suppression operations to safely 

complete the tasks associated with a fire in moderate risk (Group C - Residential Occupancy) 

would be 16 to 43.   

In comparison, the matrix indicates that the lower and upper level incident response range to 

effectively, efficiently and safely conduct fire suppression operations tasks associated with high 

risk occupancy (e.g. Group B – Institutional Occupancy) would be 36 to 83.  

  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

76 

 

TABLE 11:  PFSG 04-08-10 CRITICAL TASK MATRIX 

Fireground Critical Task 
Low Risk Moderate Risk High Risk Extreme Risk 

LERL UERL LERL UERL LERL UERL LERL UERL 
In

ci
d

e
n

t 
R

e
sp

o
n

se
 

(N
o

te
: W

h
er

e 
ze

ro
 o

r 
n

o
 n

u
m

b
er

 h
as

 b
ee

n
 a

ss
ig

n
ed

, t
h

e 
ta

sk
 

m
ay

 b
e 

p
er

fo
rm

ed
 a

t 
th

e 
d

ir
ec

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e 
in

ci
d

en
t 

co
m

m
an

d
er

.)
 

 

Incident Command* 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 

Pump Operator 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 

Attack Line (Confine & Extinguish) 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 

Additional Pump Operator(s) 0 0 0 2 2 4 4 6 

Additional Attack Line Backup 0 0 0 4 4 8 8 12 

Search & Rescue 0 0 2 4 2 6 2 8 

Initial Rapid Intervention Team (IRIT) 0 0 4 6 8 16 12 22 

Ventilation 0 2 2 2 2 4 2 8 

Water Supply – Pressurized 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 

Water Supply – Non Pressurized 0 3 1 4 2 6 4 8 

Forcible Entry Team 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Utilities 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 

Laddering (Ground Ladders) 0 2 0 2 0 4 0 6 

Laddering (Aerial or Elevating Device 

Operator) 

0 0 0 2 0 2 0 2 

Exposure Protection   0 4 2 6 2 6 

Incident Safety Officer   0 1 1 1 1 1 

Accountability   1 1 1 1 1 1 

Entry Control   0 2 1 4 1 4 

Rehabilitation   0 1 1 1 1 1 

Salvage   0 2 2 2 2 2 

Lighting     0 2 0 2 

Directing Occupants     0 4 0 4 

Scribe     1 1 1 1 

Sector Officers     1 4 1 4 

Air Management (Air Refilling Station, etc.)       1 2 

O
th

e
r 

O
r 

A
d

d
it

io
n

al
 

R
e

sp
o

n
se

 C
o

n
si

d
er

at
io

n
s 

Logistics Officer         

Administrative and/or Finance Officer         

Planning Officer         

Evacuations (Large Scale)         

Communications (Dispatch)         

Public Information Officer         

Overhaul         

Additional Firefighters         

Summary 

Incident Response Range 4 13 16 43 36 83 49 108 

Total Fire Department Including External         

Fire Call Incident Response Range         

NOTES:  

 LERL = Lower Effective Response Level  

 UERL = Upper Effective Response Level (together form the critical staffing range) 

 This tool provides a range of staffing requirements only. Actual numbers may vary depending on the fire risk that exists in the 
municipality. Tasks performed on fireground based on decisions made by Incident Commander. 

 Planning moderate, high and extreme risk occupancies/locations will further validate staffing requirements to ensure the optimum 
level of protection for the municipality. 

 Simultaneous events will require further consideration due to additional personnel requirements beyond the scope of the matrix. 

 Incident Command will assume responsibilities for the accountability and entry control tasks when no person has been assigned, or 
until a person has been assigned the task.   

(Source: Ontario Fire Marshal (2011), Operational Planning: An official Guide to Matching Resource Deployment and Risk) 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

77 

 

7.3.2 National Fire Protection Association (NFPA)  

The National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) is an international non-profit organization that 

was established in 1896. The organization’s mission is to reduce the worldwide burden of fire 

and other hazards on the quality of life by providing and advocating consensus codes and 

standards, research, training, and education. With a membership that includes more than 

70,000 individuals from nearly 100 nations, NFPA is recognized as one of the world's leading 

advocates of fire prevention and an authoritative source on public safety. 

NFPA is responsible for 300 codes and standards that are designed to minimize the risk and 

effects of fire by establishing criteria for building, processing, design, service, and installation in 

the United States, as well as many other countries. Its more than 200 technical code and 

standard development committees are comprised of over 6,000 volunteer seats. Volunteers 

vote on proposals and revisions in a process that is accredited by the American National 

Standards Institute (ANSI). 

7.3.3 NFPA 1710 Standard 

NFPA 1710 “Standard for the Organization and Deployment of Fire suppression Operations, 

Emergency medical Operations, and Special Operations to the Public by Career Fire 

Departments” provides a resource for determining and evaluating the number of career 

firefighters required based upon recognized industry best practices.  

NFPA 1710 is a standard that is designed for larger municipalities that, as a result of many 

factors, are operating their fire department utilizing primarily career firefighters. Relevant 

references from NFPA 1710 include the following: 

• This standard applies to the deployment of resources by a fire department to 

emergency situations when operations can be implemented to save lives and property; 

• The standard is a benchmark for most common responses and a platform for 

developing the appropriate plan for deployment of resources for fires in higher hazard 

occupancies or more complex incidents. 

The NFPA references support the strategic priority of saving lives and property, as well as 

recognizing the standard as a “benchmark” for determining the appropriate level of resources 

based on the complexity and level of risk present. 

This standard identifies the minimum deployment of firefighters based on an “Initial Arriving 

Company” and an “Initial Full Alarm Assignment.”  

Initial Arriving Company – “Initial Response” 

Initial response is consistently defined in the fire service as the number of firefighters initially 

deployed to respond to an incident.  Fire service leaders and professional regulating bodies 

have agreed that until a sufficient number of firefighters are assembled on-scene, initiating 

tactics such as entry into the building to conduct search and rescue, or initiating interior fire 

suppression operations are not safe practices. If fewer than four firefighters arrive on scene, 

http://www.nfpa.org/itemDetail.asp?categoryID=500&itemID=18020&URL=About%20Us/Overview/History
http://www.nfpa.org/catalog/category.asp?category_name=Membership
http://www.nfpa.org/catalog/category.asp?category_name=Membership
http://www.nfpa.org/categoryList.asp?categoryID=124


Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

78 

 

they must wait until a second vehicle, or additional firefighters arrive on scene to have 

sufficient staff to commence these activities. 

NFPA 1710 refers to the ‘Initial Arriving Company’ as an ‘Engine Company’ and further defines 

the minimum staffing level of an Engine Company as four firefighters whose primary functions 

are to pump and deliver water and perform basic firefighting at fires, including search and 

rescue.  

An initial response of four firefighters once assembled on-scene is typically assigned the 

following operational functions.  The officer in charge shall assume the role of Incident 

Commander; one firefighter shall be designated as the pump operator; one firefighter shall 

complete the task of making the fire hydrant connection; and the fourth firefighter shall 

prepare an initial fire attack line for operation.   

The assembly of four firefighters on the fire scene provides sufficient resources to safely 

initiate some limited fire suppression operations.  This first crew of four firefighters is also able 

to conduct the strategic operational priority of “size-up” whereby the officer in-charge can 

evaluate the incident and where necessary, request an additional depth of resources that may 

not have been dispatched as part of the initial response.  

Fire scene responsibilities of an initial response are highlighted in Figure 7 below.   

 

FIGURE 7:  INITIAL RESPONSE FIRE SCENE RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Office of the Fire Marshal, Ontario, Public Fire Safety Guideline 04-08-12, December, 2001. (Rescinded 

November 10, 2010)) 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

79 

 

The NFPA 1710 standard identifies an initial response deployment of four firefighters to 

effectively, efficiently and safely conduct initial fire suppression operations.  As listed in the 

Fireground Critical Tasks and summarized in Table 11 the critical tasks with four firefighters on-

scene include incident command, pumper operator and an attack line.  This relates to a low-

risk call response or an initial response for all calls.  

Initial Full Alarm Assignment – “Depth of Response” 

In comparison to the initial response, the depth of response relates to the “total” number of 

firefighters initially assigned to an incident. Depth of response is also commonly referred to as 

“First Alarm” or “Full Response.” For example NFPA 1710 defines “Initial Full Alarm Assignment” 

as “Those personnel, equipment, and resources ordinarily dispatched upon notification of a 

structure fire.”  

The standard utilizes the example of a fire risk scenario in a 2,000 square foot, two-storey 

single-family dwelling without a basement and with no exposures present. This represents a 

typical home of wood frame construction located in a suburban neighbourhood having access 

to a municipal water supply including fire hydrants. Within this MFP, this occupancy would be 

classified as a ‘Group C - Residential Occupancy’ (relating to a moderate risk).   

It is very important to recognize that depth of response is referring to the “total” number of 

firefighters initially assigned to an incident. The total number of firefighters assigned to an 

incident can vary based on the type of occupancy and the level of risk present. Fires involving 

occupancies that have been assigned a higher level of risk such as high or extreme may require 

a higher number of firefighters as part of the initial depth of response.  

The NFPA 1710 standard for depth of response to the fire risk scenario presented is fourteen 

firefighters, fifteen if an aerial device is to be used. The NFPA 1710 fire scene responsibilities 

for depth of response including an aerial are highlighted in Figure 8. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

80 

 

FIGURE 8: DEPTH OF RESPONSE FIRE SCENE RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
(Shown including an aerial device – 15 firefighters) Modified from the Office of the Fire Marshal, Ontario, Public Fire 

Safety Guideline 04-08-12, December, 2001. (Rescinded November 10, 2010). 

 

The NFPA 1710 standard identifies a depth of response deployment of 14 firefighters (with one 

additional firefighter with an aerial on-scene) to effectively, efficiently and safely conduct 

initial fire suppression operations in a fire risk scenario representing a single-family detached 

dwelling. Within this MFP this occupancy would be classified as a ‘Group C - Residential 

Occupancy’ (equivalent to a moderate risk).    As listed in the Fireground Critical Tasks  and 

summarized in Table 11, the critical tasks for a moderate level risk include: 

• Incident Command / Accountability (1 firefighter) 

• Pump Operator (1 firefighter) 

• Two Attack Lines (4 firefighters) 

• Search and Rescue (2 firefighters) 

• Forcible Entry (1 firefighter) 

• Water supply (1 firefighter) 

• Initial Rapid Intervention Team (2 firefighters) 

• Ventilation (2 firefighters) 

• Laddering - Aerial – (additional 1 firefighter, optional) 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

81 

 

7.3.4 NFPA 1720 Standard 

NFPA 1720 “Standard for the Organization and Deployment of Fire suppression Operations, 

Emergency medical Operations, and Special Operations to the Public by Volunteer Fire 

Departments” provides a resource for determining and evaluating the number of volunteer 

firefighters required based upon recognized industry best practices.  

The NFPA 1720 standard further supports the minimum initial response staffing to include four 

firefighters including “Initial firefighting operations shall be organized to ensure that at least 

four fire fighters are assembled before interior fire suppression operations are initiated in a 

hazardous area”. This particular standard recognizes that the four firefighters may not arrive 

on the same vehicle, but that there must be four on the scene prior to initiating any type of 

interior firefighting operations.  

Within this standard the NFPA identifies five different categories described as “Demand Zones” 

that relate to the type of risk that may be found within a typical community; either by 

population density, travel distance, or special circumstances. The standard then identifies a 

minimum level of firefighters that would be recommended for each of these categories. 

Table 12 presents the NFPA 1720 standard minimum staffing levels by demand zone. 

 

TABLE 12:  NFPA 1720 

Demand Zones Demographics 
Minimum # of 

Firefighters 
Responding 

Response Time 
(Turnout + Travel) 

in Minutes 

Performance 
Objective 

Urban Area 
>1000 people per square 

mile 
15 9 90% 

Suburban Area 
500-1000 people per square 

mile 
10 10 80% 

 Rural Area  <500 people per square mile 6 14 80% 

Remote Area Travel Distance + or – 8 miles 4 
Dependent upon 

travel distance 
90% 

Special Risks 
To be determined by Fire 

Department 

To be determined 
by Fire 

Department 

To be determined 
by Fire 

Department  
90% 

 

The NFPA 1720 standard utilizes population density as a factor in evaluating the minimum 

number of firefighters recommended for depth of response. As a standard primarily for use by 

volunteer fire departments it recognizes lower population densities are typically found in 

smaller communities in comparison to much higher population densities found in large urban 

centres. 

The NFPA 1720 standard identifies an initial response deployment of four firefighters to 

effectively, efficiently and safely conduct initial fire suppression operations.   



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

82 

 

The NFPA 1720 standard identifies a depth of response deployment range of four to 15 

firefighters depending on the risks associated with fire demand zones to effectively, efficiently 

and safely conduct initial fire suppression operations.  

Our analysis indicates that the Township of Puslinch has a population density of 32.9 people 

per square mile based on the 2011 Statistics Canada census data. This indicates that the Rural 

Area Demand Zone would be the applicable performance measure for assessing the minimum 

number of firefighters and response time (turnout time + travel time) for the Township of 

Puslinch with a performance objective of 80%. 

7.4 Summary of Fire Suppression Guidelines, Industry Standards, and 
Industry Best Practices 

In our view the framework for identifying community risk and deploying sufficient firefighting 

resources to address the community risk present is accurately presented in PFSG 04-08-10 

Operational Planning: An Official Guide to Matching Resource Deployment and Risk 

(Appendix L).   

7.4.1 Initial Response Staffing Deployment: 

Having considered PFSG 04-08-10, NFPA 1710 and 1720 Standards and based on our 

experience in working with other municipalities across Ontario current best practices within 

the Ontario Fire Service for deployment of an initial response to effectively, efficiently and 

safely conduct initial fire suppression operations reflects a minimum deployment of four 

firefighters.  

In our view an appropriate deployment of an initial response within the Township of Puslinch 

should include a minimum initial response of four firefighters to provide sufficient 

deployment to effectively, efficiently, and safely conduct initial fire suppression operations.  

This accounts for the critical fireground tasks of: 

• Incident Command- 1 firefighter/officer 

• Pump Operation – 1 firefighter 

• Initial Attack Line - 2 firefighters  

7.4.2 Depth of Response Staffing Deployment: 

Current best practices within the Ontario Fire Service for depth of response reflect the 

principles of PFSG 04-08-10 (Appendix L) that applies fireground critical tasks for determining 

the appropriate number of firefighters to be deployed based on the associated occupancy risk.  

Fireground critical tasks refer to the types of activities that are required to be completed by 

firefighters to effectively and safely mitigate a fire situation. PFSG 04-08-10 provides a lower 

and upper effective range of firefighters for each of the occupancy risks levels including low, 

moderate, high and extreme. The OFMEM has identified the critical tasks from the Incident 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

83 

 

Management System (IMS) that are used during fireground operations.  As indicated within the 

guideline these tasks are consistent with applicable legislation, industry best practices and the 

NFPA training standards.   

Residential occupancies and specifically single family residences provide an example of the 

type of fire risk present and fireground critical tasks required to effectively, efficiently and 

safely mitigate an incident. This is particularly relevant to Ontario where residential 

occupancies have historically accounted for 72% of all structure fires and 86% of all fire related 

deaths. During the five year period from 2009 to 2013 the Township of Puslinch reported that 

78% of fires occurred in Group C - Residential occupancies, which is an even higher percentage 

than that of the province.  

The fireground critical tasks and initial full response assignment (depth of response) identified 

within NFPA 1710 utilize the following definition of a residential occupancy: 

“The fire risk scenario in a 2,000 square foot, two-story single-
family dwelling without a basement and with no exposures 
present. This represents a typical home of wood frame 
construction located in a suburban neighbourhood having 
access to a municipal water supply including fire hydrants.” 

The NFPA staffing deployment for this residential fire risk is 14 firefighters, 15 if an aerial 

device is deployed.  

The identification of fire risk classifications (e.g. low, moderate, high and extreme) is 

determined based on analyzing and reviewing all available information that defines the 

characteristics of a community. The Community Risk Profile included within this MFP 

(Appendix L) provides the analysis for the Township of Puslinch. The analysis considers the 

eight key risk factors identified within the OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-Model.  

The fire suppression resources necessary to complete the fireground critical tasks can vary 

based on the type of occupancy. For example, a fire situation in the example of a single family 

dwelling (moderate risk) will require sufficient fire suppression resources that are determined 

based on the Community Risk Profile and the relevant PFSG and the NFPA 1710 / 1720 and 

OHSA standards reflecting best practices in fire suppression activities. 

High risk occupancies, such as a nursing home where higher risks such as on older demographic 

(seniors) that may become disoriented, or unable to evacuate themselves, present different 

challenges for responding firefighters. The nature of these occupancies to have more residents 

than a single family home present further challenges for conducting search and rescue and 

evacuation activities.  

To determine the appropriate firefighter deployment for low, moderate, high and extreme 

risks occupancies within the Township of Puslinch an assessment of the Community Risk 

Profile; relevant PFSG and the NFPA 1710 / 1720 standards; and OHSA Section 21 Guidance 

Notes was completed.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

84 

 

The analysis identified a best practices firefighter deployment to complete the fireground 

critical tasks associated with each occupancy risk level. For low risk occupancies this reflects a 

minimum deployment of four firefighters. This represents the appropriate fire suppression 

resources to complete the following fireground critical tasks: 

 Incident Command -  1 firefighter/officer 

 Pump Operator – 1 firefighter 

 Initial Attack Line – 2 firefighters 

For moderate risk occupancies including ‘Group C - Residential occupancies’ (e.g. Single – 

Family Dwelling) a minimum deployment of 14 firefighters is required to complete the 

additional fireground critical tasks based on the fire risks present. The additional fireground 

critical tasks include activities such as providing an additional fire attack line requiring two 

firefighters, and providing a Rapid Intervention Team (RIT) comprised of two firefighters who 

are assigned the specific task of being prepared to respond quickly in the event one of the fire 

attack teams or other firefighters on scene require immediate assistance.  

In comparison to the low and moderate risk occupancies, high risk occupancies, such as the 

nursing home referenced above, require additional fireground critical tasks to be completed 

and a higher minimum deployment of firefighters. The additional fireground critical tasks 

include activities such as providing a dedicated crew of two firefighters for positioning ladders 

on the building to support fire suppression and rescue activities, and the provision of an 

Incident Safety Officer to oversee and ensure all firefighting activities are conducted safely.   

The recommended depth of response firefighter deployment is identified in Table 13 below: 

  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

85 

 

TABLE 13:  RECOMMENDED DEPTH OF RESPONSE 

Fireground Critical Tasks Low Risk Moderate Risk High Risk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Incident 

Response 

Incident Command 1 1 1 

Pump Operator 1 1 1 

Additional Pump Operator 0 0 1 

Initial Attack Line (Confine & Extinguish) 2 2 2 

Additional Attack Line (Confine & 
Extinguish) 

0 2 2 

Search and Rescue 0 2 2 

Initial Rapid Intervention (RIT) 0 2 2 

Ventilation 0 2 2 

Water Supply- pressurized 0 1 1 

Forcible Entry Team 0 1 2 

Laddering 0 0 2 

Exposure Protection 0 0 2 

Incident Safety Officer 0 0 1 

Accountability 0 0 1 

Rehabilitation 0 0 2 

Minimum firefighter deployment 4 14 24 

 

PFSG 04-08-12 prioritizes the planning and deployment of sufficient firefighters based on the 

risk present. Based on our analyses of the relevant PFSG and the NFPA 1710 / 1720 standards; 

and OHSA Section 21 Guidance Notes an appropriate minimum depth of response to the low, 

moderate and high risks occupancies within the Township of Puslinch to achieve the required 

critical fireground tasks includes four firefighters to low risk occupancies, 14 firefighters to 

moderate risk occupancies and 24 firefighters to high risk occupancies.  

7.5 Fire Suppression Response Performance Objectives 

The analyses within the preceding sections of this review consider two performance objective 

elements for fire suppression response including: 

• The number of firefighters required for both initial response and depth of response to 

effectively and safely mitigate a fire situation, and  

• The response time (turnout time + travel time) performance objective for deploying the 

initial emergency response deployment. 

Initial Response Staffing Performance Objective: 

Our analyses of the relevant PFSGs, NFPA Standards, and OHSA Section 21 Guidance Notes 

indicates that the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve an initial response 

deployment of four firefighters to all fire related emergency calls.  

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

86 

 

Depth of Response Staffing Performance Objective: 

Our analyses of the relevant PFSGs, NFPA Standards, and OHSA Section 21 Guidance Notes 

indicates that the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve a depth of response 

deployment to all fire related emergency calls of four firefighters to low risk occupancies, 14 

firefighters to moderate risk occupancies, and 24 firefighters to high risk occupancies. 

Response Time Performance Objective: 

Our analyses of the relevant PFSGs, NFPA Standards, and OHSA Section 21 Guidance Notes 

indicates that the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve the response time 

performance objective referenced within the NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone including a 

minimum of six firefighters responding within a 14 minute response time (turnout time + 

travel time) with a performance objective of 80%. 

It is recommended that the emergency response performance objectives identified within the 

proposed Master Fire Plan be considered and approved by Council and included within the 

new Establishing and Regulating By-law. 

7.6 OFMEM Reviews 

The Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management was supportive in the initial 

establishment of the PFRS in 1968 and has since conducted a number of reviews of the fire 

protection services provided by the Township.  

7.6.1 1982 Report on Municipal Fire Protection Information Survey 

At the request of Council the OFMEM conducted a Municipal Fire Protection Information 

Survey (MFPIS) in 1982. The scope of this survey included “a review of the organization, 

methods, practices, manpower, apparatus, equipment, communications, fire stations of the 

Township of Puslinch Fire Department, fire prevention and other appropriate by-laws, water 

supply for fire suppression purposes and other appropriate by-laws which may affect fire 

department operations.”  

The findings of this survey were more extensive than a previous survey conducted by the 

OFMEM in 1973. The consistency between these two surveys that remains relevant today was 

the recommendation to construct an additional two-bay fire station in the Puslinch Lake 

District, and the purchase of a triple combination pumper and 2200 litre tanker to be located in 

the proposed Puslinch Lake Station.  

The Township has consistently responded to this recommendation through the agreement 

with the City of Cambridge to provide fire protection services to this area of the Township. 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

87 

 

7.6.2 2004 Staffing of Emergency Responses to Reported Structure Fires 

In fulfilling their legislated role to monitor fire protection services across the province the 

OFMEM conducted a review in 2004 of the Township’s emergency response fire suppression 

capabilities. 

In correspondence received by the Township from the OFMEM on May 20th, 2004 it was stated 

that “The Office of the Fire Marshal recommends that the Township of Puslinch implement 

without delay, the service delivery improvements necessary to ensure that at least 10 

firefighters are assembled at the scene of a reported single family dwelling structure fire, within 

10 minutes of notification, 90% of the time, for urban areas of your municipality and to achieve 

the best possible response time for the rural areas of your municipality.” This recommendation 

was based upon PFSG 04-08-12 “Staffing – Single Family Dwellings” that was in place at the 

time of this report. This PFSG has since been rescinded by the OFMEM. 

The May 20th report also highlights that “More complex fire risks such as health care facilities, 

industrial, commercial and larger residential occupancies normally require additional resources 

than the ten firefighters expected for single-family dwelling fires in the Emergency Response 

Staffing Guideline.” The OFMEM also encouraged the Township to develop a Master Fire Plan 

to assist Council in determining the level of fire protection services required. 

In further correspondence from the OFMEM on August 9th, 2004 in respect to providing fire 

protection services to structure fires, the OFMEM staff stated that they “agreed that a rural 

designation more accurately depicts the layout of the Township.”  Although continuing to 

reference the 04-08-12 PFSG the recommendation of this more recent report concluded that 

“The Office of the Fire Marshal continues to recommend that the Township of Puslinch take the 

appropriate steps to ensure the best possible response to their rural area.” 

Based on our review of documentation from the OFMEM’s August 9th, 2004 correspondence, 

the clarifications of a rural designation and the recommendation for providing the best 

possible fire suppression response reflect the most recent directions from the OFMEM. There 

is no reference within any of the 2004 OFMEM correspondence to the 1982 recommendation 

for a second station. 

7.6.3 2008 Report on Municipal Fire Protection Information Survey 

The most recent survey conducted by the OFMEM occurred in 2008. The findings of this review 

were presented to the Township on September 29th, 2008 and included the following: 

“It has been determined that as at August 28, 2008 your municipality is in compliance with the 

public fire safety education and fire prevention requirements of subsection 2 (1) (a) of the Fire 

Protection and Prevention Act, 1997.”  

The 2008 MFPIS assessed the Township’s compliance with subsection 2 (1) (a) of the FPPA with 

respect to fire prevention and public education. It did not assess or comment on the 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

88 

 

Township’s compliance with subsection 2 (1) (b) regarding the provision of fire suppression 

services necessary in accordance with the Township’s needs and circumstances.  

In summary, the OFMEM has conducted a number of reviews of the fire protection services 

provided by the Township. With respect to the Township’s compliance with the FPPA the most 

recent review concluded that the Township was in compliance as of 2008 with subsection 2 (1) 

(a) of the FPPA. The analyses within this review support this finding and that the Township 

continues to comply with this subsection of the Act. 

With respect to compliance with subsection 2 (1) (b) there has been no further contact from 

the OFMEM since their 2004 review. The analyses within this review provide options for 

Council’s consideration in determining the appropriate fire suppression services within the 

Township of Puslinch to achieve the legislative requirements of the Township as identified 

within subsection 2 (1) (b) of the FPPA. 

7.7 Historical Emergency Response Capabilities 

This section presents analysis of the historical emergency response capabilities of the PFRS. 

The information within this section was provided by the PFRS and represents the actual data 

collected by the department for the period from January 1st, 2009 to December 31st, 2014. 

7.7.1 Emergency Call Volume 

A summary of the total number of emergency calls within the Township is presented in 

Figure 9. This includes both the emergency calls that the PFRS responded to as well as the 

emergency calls that occurred within the fire protection area serviced by the Cambridge Fire 

Department. 

Over this six year period the number of emergency calls both within the fire protection 

agreement area serviced by Cambridge, and the Township serviced by the PFRS have remained 

relatively stable. The total number of emergency calls within the Township has averaged 

approximately 375 emergency calls per year.  

 

  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

89 

 

FIGURE 9:  CALL VOLUME BY YEAR (2009 TO 2014) 

 
Note: For the remainder of the analyses within this section only the number of emergency calls 

responded to by the PFRS are presented. 

7.7.2 Emergency Response Types 

Throughout this section emergency calls are referred to and categorized by response type. 

These response types are defined by the OFMEM and are used by jurisdictions throughout 

Ontario for comparative reporting purposes. To assist in the comparative process Dillon has 

grouped the OFMEM response types within this report. Table 14 illustrates the relationship 

between the response types used in this report and the OFMEM defined response types. 

Appendix N provides definitions of the OFMEM response types.  

 

TABLE 14:  EMERGENCY RESPONSE TYPES 

Dillon Response Type OFMEM Response Type 

Fire Property Fires / Explosions 

Medical Medical / resuscitator call 

Other 

Overpressure rupture / explosion (no fire) 

Pre-fire conditions / no fire 

Burning (controlled) 

False fire calls 

CO false fire calls 

Public hazard 

Rescue 

Other Response 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

90 

 

7.7.3 Call Volume Response Types (Dillon) 

A more detailed analysis of emergency call response types for the period 2009 to 2014 is 

presented in Figure 10 below. As shown, the number of fire-related calls have been declining 

since 2012. The number of medical calls have stabilized since the highest peak that occurred in 

2009 while the number of “other” calls increased significantly in 2014.   

 

FIGURE 10:  CALL VOLUME RESPONSE TYPES (DILLON) 2009 TO 2014 

 
 

7.7.4 Call Volume Response Types (OFMEM) 

Responding to motor vehicle collisions (MVC) represents the largest volume of response types 

that the PFRS responds to including 678 calls over the six year period with an average of 

approximately 113 calls per year. Medical calls are the second highest at a total of 308 calls 

representing an average of approximately 51 calls per year. The high volume of responses 

within these types of calls is further confirmation of the strategic priorities identified within 

this MFP including: 

“Emphasis on the value of all services other than those legislated by the Fire Protection and 

Prevention Act, 1997 that are provided by the Puslinch Fire and Rescue such as responses to 

motor vehicle accidents and medical responses that enhance life safety within the community.” 

There were a total of 218 fire calls over the six year period resulting in an average of 

approximately 36 fire calls per year. Table 15 gives the detailed statistics of numbers of calls 

within the major OFMEM response type classifications.  

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

91 

 

TABLE 15:  CALL VOLUME RESPONSE TYPES (OFMEM) 

Call Volume By Type 

  2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Total 

Fire 39 39 31 50 39 25 218 

Medical 84 55 43 40 47 53 308 

Pre Fire 7 5 0 0 3 4 19 

False Fire 35 36 28 36 34 36 196 

False CO 5 9 10 9 4 9 43 

Public Hazard 12 5 9 10 30 6 71 

Rescue 2 1 2 1 0 0 6 

MVC 125 123 124 103 92 136 678 

Other 47 36 38 63 50 90 301 

TOTAL 356 309 285 312 299 359 - 

 

7.7.5 Percentage of Call Volume Response Types (OFMEM) 

The OFMEM response types are presented within Figure 11 as a percentage of the overall 

emergency call volume that the PFRS responded to during the period 2009 to 2014. Motor 

Vehicle Collision (MVC) related calls are the most frequent type of emergency response call 

and account for 35.3% of all emergency calls. Medical calls are the second most frequent type 

of emergency response call and comprise approximately 16.0 percent of the total emergency 

calls.  The fire calls represent approximately 11.4 percent of the total calls. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

92 

 

FIGURE 11:  PERCENTAGE OF CALL BY OFMEM RESPONSE TYPE (2009-2014) 

 
 

7.7.6 Response Time Assessment 

Response times within the fire service are commonly measured and analyzed according to 

percentile ranking (i.e. percentage of responses meeting a specified timeframe). The analyses 

of relevant PFSGs, NFPA Standards, and OHSA Section 21 Guidance Notes within this MFP 

recommend that the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve the response time 

performance objective of the NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone including a minimum of six 

firefighters responding within a 14 minute response time (turnout time + travel time) with an 

80% performance objective. 

The 80th percentile (i.e., where 80% or 80 out of 100 responses meet a specific response time 

target) is a common industry best practice for assessing and reporting capabilities of a fire 

department operated by volunteer firefighters. Fire services commonly utilize 80th percentile 

response time data for system planning and resource deployment purposes. Aggregate 80th 

percentiles across the historical years are displayed and discussed for comparison purposes.  

7.7.7 Dispatch Times 

Dispatch Time within the fire service is defined as: The time that it takes for the person 

responsible for “alarm answering”, and “alarm processing” to be able to receive the call, and 

dispatch the appropriate apparatus and staff to respond to the emergency.”  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

93 

 

The 80th percentile dispatch times for the Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services are displayed in 

Figure 12. In general dispatch times have been increasing over the past six years. Fire calls have 

experienced a slight decrease since the peak in2012, and medical calls have similarly decreased 

slightly since a peak in 2011. 

FIGURE 12:  HISTORICAL DISPATCH TIMES BY TYPE (2009-2014) 

 
 

The aggregate 80th percentile dispatch time ranged from 62 to 131 seconds for all call types 

between 2009 and 2014. In 2013, the 80th percentile dispatch time for fire calls was 131 

seconds. This is 71 seconds above the NFPA performance standard of 60 seconds. Dispatch for 

fire calls have dramatically increased from 2010 when it took 42 seconds to complete fire 

dispatch.   

In 2013, the 80th percentile dispatch time for medical calls was 62 seconds. This is 2 seconds 

above the 60 second performance measure target.  

Dispatching for “other” call types has also increased, from 49 seconds in 2009 to 104 seconds 

in 2014. The 80th percentile does remain 23 seconds over the performance measure target. 

The analysis indicates that dispatch times have regressed during the period that was reviewed. 

As a component of the overall total response time the current dispatch times are higher than 

the best practices identified within the NFPA 1221 standard.  

Attaining the performance objectives for dispatching as identified within the NFPA 1221 

Standard for the Installation, Maintenance, and Use of Emergency Services Communications 

Systems should be considered a priority in developing and operating within a new fire 

dispatch agreement. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

94 

 

Turnout Times 

Turnout Time within the fire service is defined as: “the time interval that begins from when the 

emergency response staff receives the required dispatch notification, and ends at the beginning 

point of travel time.” 

Turnout times can vary significantly based on the use of either full-time or volunteer 

firefighters. Full-time firefighters have the benefit of being located within the fire station and 

are able to receive the call and safely staff the apparatus ready for response in a very short 

time frame. Best practices reflect a 60 to 80 second turnout time for full-time firefighters 

depending on the nature of the call.  

In comparison, volunteer firefighters must first receive the call to respond (via pager) travel to 

the fire station and then safely staff the apparatus in preparation for response. Volunteer 

firefighter turnout times can vary significantly depending on the location and availability of the 

individual when the call is received. This variable can have a significant impact on a fire 

department’s response time and therefore should be monitored on an ongoing basis. Figure 13 

presents a summary of the PFRS historical turnout times from 2009 to 2014.  

FIGURE 13:  HISTORICAL TURNOUT TIMES BY TYPE (2009-2014) 

 
 

For fire calls the aggregate 80th percentile turnout time is approximately 652 seconds. For 

medical calls the aggregate 80th percentile turnout time is approximately 651 seconds, and for 

other calls the aggregate 80th percentile turnout time is approximately 682 seconds.   

Our analysis compared the turnout times for the PFRS volunteer firefighters to a sample group 

of six municipalities within Ontario utilizing volunteer fire departments where we have 

conducted similar analysis. Table 16 represents a comparison of the average 80th percentile 

turnout times of the six municipalities with those of the PFRS. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

95 

 

TABLE 16:  COMPARISON TURNOUT TIMES 

 
Comparison 

Municipalities 
Puslinch 

+ or – 
Percentage Difference 

Fire Calls 
 

394 seconds 
(6.6 minutes) 

652 seconds 
(10.8 minutes) 

65.5% higher 
 

Medical Calls 
 

320 seconds 
(5.3 minutes) 

651 seconds 
(10.8 minutes) 

103.4% higher 
 

Other Calls 
404 seconds 
(6.7 minutes) 

682 seconds 
(11.4 minutes) 

68.8% higher 
 

 

This analysis highlights the higher turnout times for the volunteer firefighters in Puslinch in 

comparison to a group of six other municipalities utilizing volunteer firefighters. In our view 

this is primarily as a result of one significant factor.  In comparison to the six municipalities 

assessed the Township of Puslinch does not have a central urbanized area where the volunteer 

firefighters live within close proximity to the fire station that would reduce the travel time of 

the volunteers to the fire station.  

The current PFRS volunteer firefighter recruitment process relies on recruiting volunteer 

firefighters from across the Township, placing no restrictions on the proximity of where a 

volunteer firefighter may live or work in relation to the fire station, or a performance objective 

for turnout time. In our view the current volunteer firefighter turnout times are one of the 

most significant challenges facing the Township in achieving the proposed performance 

objective of the NFPA 1720 (Rural Area Demand Zone including a minimum of six firefighters 

responding within a 14 minute response time (turnout time + travel time) with an 80% 

performance objective).  

The current recruitment process has served the Township well in developing a dedicated and 

experienced complement of volunteer firefighters. The current complement of volunteer 

firefighters is also an important component of sustaining and achieving the proposed depth of 

response performance objectives.  These performance measures include striving to achieve a 

depth of response deployment to all fire related emergency calls of four firefighters to low risk 

occupancies, 14 firefighters to moderate risk occupancies, and 24 firefighters to high risk 

occupancies. 

The Township should consider revising the current volunteer firefighter recruitment process in 

developing a strategy to reduce the turnout time of volunteer firefighters. This strategy should 

consider elements such as targeting potential volunteer firefighters that live or work within 

close proximity to the fire station and considering options to increase the number of volunteer 

firefighters focusing on availability to reduce turnout times. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

96 

 

7.7.8 Travel Times 

Travel Time within the fire service has been defined as: “The travel time interval begins when 

the assigned emergency response apparatus begins the en-route travel to the emergency, and 

ends when the apparatus arrives at the scene.” 

Travel times for emergency response vehicles can be impacted by many factors such as traffic 

congestion, traffic management systems (including traffic lights and stop signs), and extended 

travel times due to coverage of large geographic areas. Many areas of the Township of Puslinch 

have extended travel times given the large geographic coverage area of the PFRS.   

FIGURE 14:  HISTORICAL TRAVEL TIMES BY RESPONSE TYPE (DILLON) (2009-2014) 

 
 

The aggregate 80th percentile travel time, shown in Figure 14, ranged from 500 to 544 seconds 

for all call types between 2009 and 2014. The 80th percentile travel time for fire calls was 544 

seconds.  

In 2013, the 80th percentile travel time for medical calls was 500 seconds. Travel time for 

“other” call response types was 533 seconds. Our analysis indicates that travel times have 

remained relatively consistent over the past six years. 

7.7.9 Travel and Turnout Time (Response Time) 

The proposed performance objective for assessing the PFRS fire suppression capabilities is 

represented in the NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone including a minimum of six firefighters 

responding within a 14 minute time frame for 80% of the emergency calls responded to that is 

defined as turnout time + travel time = response time.  

Analyzing this “response time” provides the opportunity to assess the historical performance 

of the PFRS in comparison to a recognized industry best practice.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

97 

 

The six year 80th percentile “response time” including the turnout time and travel time for the 

PFRS initial apparatus responding to fire calls was approximately 1130 seconds (18.8 minutes). 

In comparison to the performance objective of the NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone the 

historical performance of the PFRS is approximately 290 seconds, or 5 minutes greater than the 

performance expectation of this standard.   

The 80th percentile for medical calls was approximately 1042 seconds (17.4 minutes) and 

approximately 1113 second (18.5 minutes) for other calls during the same time period.  

Figure 15 presents a summary of the historical PFRS “response time” including the turnout 

time and travel time for the initial apparatus response for the period 2009 to 2014.  As the 

data shows the PFRS is currently not achieving the performance objective of a “response time” 

of 14 minutes or less to 80% of the fire incidents. 

FIGURE 15:  HISTORICAL TRAVEL AND TURNOUT TIMES BY RESPONSE TYPE (2009-2014) 

 
 

Our analysis also compared the response times for the PFRS volunteer firefighters to the same 

sample group of six municipalities within Ontario utilizing volunteer fire departments where 

we have conducted similar analysis.  Table 17 represents a comparison of the average 80th 

percentile response times of the six municipalities with those of the PFRS. 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

98 

 

TABLE 17:  COMPARISON RESPONSE TIMES 

 
Comparison 

Municipalities 
Puslinch 

+ or – 
Percentage Difference 

Fire Calls 
 

756 seconds 
(12.6 minutes) 

1130 seconds 
(18.8 minutes) 

49.8% higher 
 

Medical Calls 
 

638 seconds 
(10.6 minutes) 

1042 seconds 
(17.4 minutes) 

63.3% higher 
 

Other Calls 
774 seconds 

(12.9 minutes) 
1113 seconds 
(18.5 minutes) 

43.8% higher 
 

 

In our view there are two major factors impacting the PFRS ability to achieve the performance 

objective of the NFPA 1720 standard presented.  These include: 

• Greater turnout times for the volunteer firefighters to respond to the fire station as a 

result of their proximity to the fire station, thus limiting the amount of time within the 

performance objective to travel to the incident; and 

• Longer travel times to incidents as a direct result of the large geographical area of the 

Township. 

7.7.10 Total Response Time 

In comparison to “response time” presented as the performance objective of the proposed 

NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone, “total response time” includes dispatch time + turnout 

time + travel time = Total Response Time.  

Within the fire service Total Response Time reflects the total amount of time that expires from 

the point of time when the initial call or notification of an emergency incident is received by 

the authority having jurisdiction for dispatching emergency services, until such time as the 

initial responding fire apparatus arrives on the scene of the emergency incident.  

The Township of Puslinch is currently in the process of contracting out the provision of 

dispatching for the PFRS. Including and monitoring a performance objective for providing 

dispatching services should be considered a priority of the agreement for providing dispatching 

services.  

The aggregate 80th percentile total response time ranged from 1095 to 1220 seconds for all call 

types between 2009 and 2014. The 80th percentile total response time for fire calls was 1220 

seconds. The 80th percentile total response time for medical calls was 1095 seconds and for 

other calls was 1176 seconds. 

Figure 16 presents a summary of the historical total response time for the initial response for 

the period 2009 to 2014. 

 

 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

99 

 

FIGURE 16:  HISTORICAL TOTAL RESPONSE TIMES BY TYPE (2009-2014) 

 

7.8 Satellite Station Trial 

The delivery of fire protection services within the western area of the Township, and 

specifically the Puslinch Lake area, has been a topic of much discussion and several reports in 

the past. This includes the 1982 OFMEM recommendation to construct an additional two-bay 

fire station in the Puslinch Lake District, and the purchase of a triple combination pumper and 

2200 litre tanker to be located in the proposed Puslinch Lake Station.  

As indicated previously within this report, further correspondence from the OFMEM on 

August 9th, 2004 with respect to providing fire protection services to structure fires, the 

OFMEM staff stated that they “agreed that a rural designation more accurately depicts the 

layout of the Township.”  Although continuing to reference the 04-08-12 PFSG the 

recommendation of this more recent report concluded that “The Office of the Fire Marshal 

continues to recommend that the Township of Puslinch take the appropriate steps to ensure the 

best possible response to their rural area.” 

In preparation for this master fire planning process Council endorsed a staff recommendation 

on April 17th, 2013 to conduct ‘West End Fire Protection Response Trial’. The purpose of this 

response trial was to conduct a six month response trial of providing initial response fire 

suppression services from a temporary fire station located in the western end of the Township.  

The satellite station, shown on Figure 17 was set up at McClintock Drive and Elm Street from 

May 1st, 2013 to October 15th, 2013. Fire suppression services were provided by relocating the 

mini-pump from the main Aberfoyle Station to the satellite station. Nine volunteer firefighters 

from the Aberfoyle Station who live in close proximity to the satellite station were also 

assigned to this response trial.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

100 

 

The response trial included having the mini-pump and volunteer firefighters assigned to the 

satellite station respond to all emergency calls within this area of the Township that the PFRS 

would normally respond to. The response trial did not include responding to emergency calls 

within the Puslinch Lake Area contracted to the Cambridge Fire Department.   

The response trial included 106 emergency responses during the test trial period.  The trail was 

valuable in confirming the following to inform this fire master planning process:  

• The turnout time for the volunteer firefighters assigned to the satellite station improved. 

In our view this was as a direct result of the volunteer firefighters assigned to the 

response trial living in closer proximity to the satellite station than those assigned to the 

Aberfoyle Station. This confirms the relevance of volunteer firefighters living or working 

in close proximity to the fire station and being available to respond; 

• Response time (turnout time + travel time) also improved. In our view the response time 

to the 106 emergency calls responded to decreased as a direct result of the satellite 

station being located in closer proximity to the 106 emergency calls. This confirms the 

relevance of fire station location in reducing travel time; and 

• There was also an improvement in morale within the PFRS. In our view this reflects the 

high degree of dedication and commitment of the volunteer firefighters in seeking to 

provide the most effective fire suppression services possible in making their community 

as safe as possible. 

 

  



!H

!H

NASSAGAWEYA PUSLINCH TOWNLINE

SID
ERO

AD 15

BROCK ROAD

WELLINGTON 34 ROAD

REGIONAL ROAD 97

ARKELL
 RO

AD

FIFE
 RO

AD GORDON STREET

CLYDE ROAD

CAMPBE
LLV

ILLE
 RO

AD

FRANKLIN BOULEVARD

W
ELLINGTON 35 ROAD

PAISLE
Y RO

AD

VICTORIA ROAD SOUTH

STO
NE R

OAD EA
ST

KOSSUTH ROAD

MALTBY RO
AD EA

ST

CONCESSION ROAD 4

W
ELLINGTON 32 ROAD

LAIRD ROAD WEST

AVENUE ROAD

WELL
INGTO

N 36 
RO

AD

EASTVIEW
 RO

AD

BEAVERDALE ROAD

HE
SPE

LER
 RO

AD

WELLINGTON 46 ROAD

VICTORIA ROAD NORTH

SID
ERO

AD
 20

WILLO
W RO

AD

COOPER ROAD

WOODLAW
N RO

AD WEST

DOW
NEY ROAD

SHELDON DRIVE

BISHOP STREET NORTH

EDINBURGH ROAD SOUTHWHITELAW ROAD

WOOLWICH STREET

TOW
NLINE ROAD

DUNBAR ROAD

SIDEROAD 20 NORTH

COUNTY 
RO

AD 12
4

EAGLE STREET NORTH

COOPER STREET

ELIZ
ABET

H ST
REET

FREELTON ROAD

WATSON ROAD SOUTH

RIV
ER 

RO
AD

CONCESSION ROAD 7

COLLE
GE AV

ENUE EA
ST

BA
RD

EN
 ST

RE
ET

GORE ROAD

HIGHWAY 401
HIGHWAY 6

HIGHWAY 7

HIGHWAY 6

1ST LINE

YO
RK RO

AD

HIGHWAY 
24

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

\\dillon.ca\DILLON_DFS\Toronto\Toronto CAD\GIS\141138 - Puslinch Fire and Rescue

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 8/18/2015

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
!H FIRE STATION
!H TRIAL FIRE STATION

HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD
WATERBODY

SATELILITE STATION TEST TRIAL LOCATION
FIGURE #17



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

102 

 

In addition to these findings our review of the test trial analysis identified a number of areas of 

concern including the following: 

• Our findings indicate the test trial fire station site was not selected based upon an 

assessment of the most optimal location but rather based upon availability of a building 

capable of housing the fire apparatus assigned to the trial. As a result the potential 

impact of a satellite station to the contracted area and broader western portion of the 

Township was not fully tested.  

• The taxpayer benefits suggested by the PFRS include cost savings as a result of 

eliminating the fire protection agreement costs associated with the area contracted to 

the City of Cambridge. The recommendations within this MFP suggest a portion of these 

costs would continue to be required to support the proposed automatic aid agreement 

with the City of Cambridge even if a satellite station was to be constructed.  

• The taxpayer benefits also suggest a source of revenue from emergency responses to 

the Highway 401 corridor currently included within the City of Cambridge fire protection 

agreement. This revenue is included to assist in the capital expenditures of the proposed 

satellite station. In our view fees associated with responding to the Highway 401 

corridor are intended to be a cost recovery and not a source of revenue. 

• At the request of the PFRS an analysis of the satellite station financial impacts was 

conducted by RLB Chartered Accountants and Business Advisors. The conclusion of this 

analysis indicates that “we cannot reasonably assess the reliability of the cost estimates 

and assumptions made by Puslinch Fire and Rescue.”  

The analysis within this report is intended to provide Council with recommendations and 

options in determining the level of fire protection services required within the Township of 

Puslinch. Consideration of the need for a satellite station (second station) is presented within 

Section 8.12 Options for Enhancing Fire Suppression Services of this MFP. 

7.9 Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation 

The Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation is a proprietary process managed by the Fire 

Underwriters SurveyTM (FUS), a national organization administered by SCM Risk Management 

Services Inc. formerly CGI Insurance Business Services, formerly the Insurers’ Advisory 

Organization and Canadian Underwriters Organization. 

As a method to provide water for firefighting in areas without municipal water supply the 

Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation includes a process that includes the following: 

• set up pumper apparatus at fire event and deliver water from temporary storage facility 

(ex. portable tank) through fire pump to fire; 

• draft water (from a location where water supplies are known to be reliable and 

accessible) into a mobile water supply apparatus; 

• move water from source location to fire event using mobile water supply apparatus; 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

103 

 

• dump water into temporary storage facility (ex. portable tank) at fire event location; 

and 

• repeat shuttle cycle. 

The levels of service assigned with the Tanker Shuttle Accreditation (e.g. Standard Tanker 

Shuttle Service or Superior tanker Shuttle Accreditation) are determined by the alternative 

water supply performance and capabilities provided by the fire services.  

As stated by the FUS: “To be recognized for Standard Tanker Shuttle Service, the fire 

department must have adequate equipment, training and continuous access to approved 

alternative water supplies to deliver standard tanker shuttle service in accordance with 

NFPA 1142, Standard on Water Supplies for Suburban and Rural Fire Fighting.”  

The PFRS was accredited by FUS on May 8th, 2013 having achieved the requirements of the 

Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation. Figure 18 reflects the fire insurance grades for areas of 

the Township impacted by the accreditation. The following fire insurance grades are of specific 

importance to this review as they relate to the location of approved alternative water supplies, 

and the current fire station including: 

Rating 3B(S): That indicates the area of the Township with the Superior Tanker Shuttle 

Accreditation within five kilometres by road of an approved dry hydrant location, and within 

eight kilometres by road of the current fire station; and 

Rating 3B: That indicates the area of the Township without the Superior Tanker Shuttle 

Accreditation beyond five kilometres by road of an approved dry hydrant location, but within 

eight kilometres by road of the current fire station. 

In our experience the Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation can relate to a reduction in home 

ownership insurance premiums of 5% to 10% depending on the applicable fire insurance 

grading and the insurance provider.  

The PFRS recognizes the importance of the Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation as a 

component of providing the most cost effective and efficient level of fire protection services 

providing the most value to the community. In our view the PFRS should continue to identify 

locations for alternative water supplies that may further improve the coverage and fire 

insurance gradings identified within the current accreditation.   

It is recommended that the PFRS continue to participate in the Superior Tanker Shuttle 

Accreditation process, and where possible, identify additional alternative water supply 

locations to provide further enhancements to the accreditation. 

7.10 Medical Responses 

As referenced previously within this review the PFRS participates in a Tiered Response 

Agreement with the Guelph Wellington Emergency Medical Service. To respond to the 

incidents identified within this agreement, and other medical emergencies, the PFRS has 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

104 

 

strategically located medical equipment (such as an oxygen unit, automatic defibrillator, 

general first aid supplies and a portable radio) at a number of locations within the Township. 

This is in addition to the medical equipment and emergency response apparatus located at the 

fire station.   

Volunteer firefighters identified within SOG #6-113 are authorized to respond directly to the 

medical equipment staging location, pick up the medical equipment and respond directly to 

the incident in their personal vehicle. This SOG is currently under review by the PFRS as it 

provides a broader definition of the types of responses than just medical responses (such as 

motor vehicle collisions). 

 

  



!H

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

FILE LOCATION: \\DILLON.CA\DILLON_DFS\LONDON\LONDON CAD\GIS\

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 7/30/2015

!H FIRE STATION
DRY HYDRANT
HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD
MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
CAMBRIDGE CONTRACTED AREA
WATERBODY

*NOTE: CLASSIFICATIONS WERE TAKEN FROM THE
FIRE UNDERWRITERS SURVEY LETTER ADDRESS TO
THE PUSLINCH FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICES DATED

JUNE 14, 2013.

FIRE UNDERWRITERS SURVEY CLASSIFICATION

3B(S)
3B
5

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

CURRENT SUPERIOR TANKER SHUTTLE

ACCREDITATION

FIGURE #18



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

106 

 

In our view this practice of responding to medical responses reflects the high degree of 

commitment and dedication that the PFRS has towards providing emergency services in 

addition to firefighting. However, in sustaining this practice there are a number of elements 

that in our view require further consideration, these include: 

o Update of Establishing and Regulating By-Law #12-10: This by-law should be updated 
to specifically identify and authorize the PFRS to provide this service. This should 
include the location and number of staging locations, type of equipment, and specifics 
of the types of medical responses that firefighters are authorized to respond to utilizing 
their personal vehicles and mandatory requirements for the use of flashing green lights 
when responding. 

o Specific Department Policy: A detailed Department Policy should be developed to 
reflect the purpose, scope and department procedures to be adhered to in providing 
this service. This DP should include reference to PFSG 04-89-03 Use of Flashing Green 
Lights in Personal Vehicles, including compliance requirements of the Highway Traffic 
Act (HTA). Specific reference should also be given to the Insurance Act, 1990 including 
considerations that should be addressed before installing and using a flashing green 
light.   

o Emergency Services Notification: Subject to the Council’s approval of this service within 
the proposed Establishing and Regulating By-Law and the approval of a new DP, the 
new DP should be distributed to the other emergency services that may be impacted by 
delivering this service. Special consideration should be given to meeting with and 
informing the Guelph Wellington Emergency Medical Services with respect to this 
service. 

o Statistical Analysis: Specific reporting and data collection with respect to this service 
should be completed to provide insight into the effectiveness of this service. Detailed 
reports should be developed to quantify performance measures including the number 
of incidents, turnout time, travel time, number of volunteer firefighters responding 
including their time of arrival and overall response time of the volunteer firefighters 
responding. Detailing actions taken on arrival, including when actual patient contact 
was made in advance of another emergency service and what actions were taken 
should be tracked.  This information should then be included within the proposed Fire 
Department Annual Report for Council’s review and consideration.   

It is recommended that the Fire Chief be directed to develop a department policy for 

responding to medical responses that details the types of medical responses, requirements for 

volunteer firefighters responding, and requirements for data collection to be presented to 

Council for consideration and approval and inclusion within the recommended updated 

Establishing and Regulating By-law. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

107 

 

7.11 Assessment of Existing Fire Suppression Coverage 

7.11.1 Historic Call Locations 

Figure 19 shows the location of all geocoded emergency calls responded to by PFRS from 

January 2009 to October 2014. The Township of Puslinch covers a large geographic area and is 

predominantly rural, as such calls are evenly distributed across the Township. There are small 

concentrations of calls along Brock Road where the two main urban areas of Aberfoyle and 

Morriston are located.  The existing station is centrally located to respond to the historic calls. 

Emergency calls within the Cambridge contracted area are not included. 

7.11.2 Existing Automatic Aid and Fire Protection Agreements 

The delivery of fire suppression services within the Township is currently supported by an 

automatic aid agreement with the Township of Guelph Eramosa and a fire protection 

agreement with the City of Cambridge. 

Township of Guelph Eramosa Automatic Aid Agreement 

The automatic aid agreement with the Township of Guelph Eramosa states that: 

“Each Party shall provide the simultaneous response of a fire apparatus to a fire in the other 

Party’s Aid Area if: 

a) A 911 caller reports a fire within a structure; 

b) The fire requires an immediate emergency response by a fire department; or 

c) The structure is located in the other “Party’s Aid Area.” 

This is a reciprocal agreement whereby the two Townships have agreed that there is an equal 

benefit to both Townships and therefore there are no fees or charges associated with the 

implementation of this agreement.  

Figure 20 presents the area of the Township of Puslinch that is covered by the Automatic Aid 

Agreement with the Township of Guelph Eramosa with fire suppression services provided by 

the volunteer firefighters responding from the Rockwood Fire Station.   

 

  



!H

NASSAGAWEYA PUSLINCH TOWNLINE

SID
ERO

AD 15

BROCK ROAD

WELLINGTON 34 ROAD

REGIONAL ROAD 97

ARKELL
 RO

AD

FIFE
 RO

AD GORDON STREET

CLYDE ROAD

CAMPBE
LLV

ILLE
 RO

AD

FRANKLIN BOULEVARD

W
ELLINGTON 35 ROAD

PAISLE
Y RO

AD

VICTORIA ROAD SOUTH

STO
NE R

OAD EA
ST

KOSSUTH ROAD

MALTBY RO
AD EA

ST

CONCESSION ROAD 4

W
ELLINGTON 32 ROAD

LAIRD ROAD WEST

AVENUE ROAD

WELL
INGTO

N 36 
RO

AD

EASTVIEW
 RO

AD

BEAVERDALE ROAD

HE
SPE

LER
 RO

AD

WELLINGTON 46 ROAD

VICTORIA ROAD NORTH

SID
ERO

AD
 20

WILLO
W RO

AD

COOPER ROAD

WOODLAW
N RO

AD WEST

DOW
NEY ROAD

SHELDON DRIVE

BISHOP STREET NORTH

EDINBURGH ROAD SOUTHWHITELAW ROAD

WOOLWICH STREET

TOW
NLINE ROAD

DUNBAR ROAD

SIDEROAD 20 NORTH

COUNTY 
RO

AD 12
4

EAGLE STREET NORTH

COOPER STREET

ELIZ
ABET

H ST
REET

FREELTON ROAD

WATSON ROAD SOUTH

RIV
ER 

RO
AD

CONCESSION ROAD 7

COLLE
GE AV

ENUE EA
ST

BA
RD

EN
 ST

RE
ET

GORE ROAD

HIGHWAY 401
HIGHWAY 6

HIGHWAY 7

HIGHWAY 6

1ST LINE

YO
RK RO

AD

HIGHWAY 
24

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

\\dillon.ca\DILLON_DFS\Toronto\Toronto CAD\GIS\141138 - Puslinch Fire and Rescue

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 7/16/2015

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
!H FIRE STATION

HISTORIC CALL 
HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD
WATERBODY

*NOTE: DUE TO MISSING ADDRESS RANGES AND ROADS
 ON THE DATA ONLY 33% OF THE  HISTORIC CALLS

 (JANUARY 1, 2009 - OCTOBER 5, 2014) WERE MATCHED. 
SINCE THIS IS NOT AN ACCURATE REPRESENTATION OF 

THE PFRS EMERGENCY RESPONSE THE FOLLOWING 
TYPES OF CALL WERE INDIVIDUALLY GEOCODED:

 MEDICAL, ALARM ACTIVATION, CO READINGS, 
SMOKE INVESTIGATION, FIRE, HYDRO, HAZMAT TOXIC, 

WATER RESCUE, HIGH ANGLE, AND PLANE CRASH.

HISTORICAL CALLS (JANUARY 2009 -

OCTOBER 2014)

FIGURE #19



!H

NASSAGAWEYA PUSLINCH TOWNLINE

SID
ERO

AD 15

BROCK ROAD

WELLINGTON 34 ROAD

REGIONAL ROAD 97

ARKELL
 RO

AD

FIFE
 RO

AD GORDON STREET

CLYDE ROAD

CAMPBE
LLV

ILLE
 RO

AD

FRANKLIN BOULEVARD

W
ELLINGTON 35 ROAD

PAISLE
Y RO

AD

VICTORIA ROAD SOUTH

STO
NE R

OAD EA
ST

KOSSUTH ROAD

MALTBY RO
AD EA

ST

CONCESSION ROAD 4

W
ELLINGTON 32 ROAD

LAIRD ROAD WEST

AVENUE ROAD

WELL
INGTO

N 36 
RO

AD

EASTVIEW
 RO

AD

BEAVERDALE ROAD

HE
SPE

LER
 RO

AD

WELLINGTON 46 ROAD

VICTORIA ROAD NORTH

SID
ERO

AD
 20

WILLO
W RO

AD

COOPER ROAD

WOODLAW
N RO

AD WEST

DOW
NEY ROAD

SHELDON DRIVE

BISHOP STREET NORTH

EDINBURGH ROAD SOUTHWHITELAW ROAD

WOOLWICH STREET

TOW
NLINE ROAD

DUNBAR ROAD

SIDEROAD 20 NORTH

COUNTY 
RO

AD 12
4

EAGLE STREET NORTH

COOPER STREET

ELIZ
ABET

H ST
REET

FREELTON ROAD

WATSON ROAD SOUTH

RIV
ER 

RO
AD

CONCESSION ROAD 7

COLLE
GE AV

ENUE EA
ST

BA
RD

EN
 ST

RE
ET

GORE ROAD

HIGHWAY 401
HIGHWAY 6

HIGHWAY 7

HIGHWAY 6

1ST LINE

YO
RK RO

AD

HIGHWAY 
24

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

\\dillon.ca\DILLON_DFS\Toronto\Toronto CAD\GIS\141138 - Puslinch Fire and Rescue

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 7/16/2015

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
ROCKWOOD AUTOMATIC AID AREA

!H FIRE STATION
HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD
WATERBODY

*NOTE: THE ROCKWOOOD AUTOMATIC AID AREA
INCLUDES BOTH SIDES OF THE STREET

ROOCKWOOD AUTOMATIC AID COVERAGE
AREA
FIGURE #20



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

110 

 

City of Cambridge Fire Protection Agreement 

The Township of Puslinch currently purchases fire and emergency services from the City of 

Cambridge for responses within a defined area of the south-western portion of the Township, 

specifically the Puslinch Lake District. The service area defined by this agreement is shown in 

Figure 21. 

The current agreement dated February 1st, 2012 was approved by Council resolution on 

February 15th, 2012 for a duration starting February 1st, 2012 to December 31st, 2015. The 

agreement requires the City of Cambridge to receive all alarms for fires and other emergencies 

within the contracted area and dispatch the required emergency vehicles and staff in keeping 

with the established practices of the Cambridge Fire Department. 

Within the agreement the Cambridge Fire Department response is defined as a maximum of six 

vehicles and sixteen full-time firefighters responding on the first alarm. The Township is 

required to relieve the Cambridge Fire Department vehicles and staffing from the incident as 

soon as reasonably practical should the estimated duration of the incident exceed one hour in 

duration. 

The costs associated with this agreement are currently recovered from residents within the 

contracted service area by the Township. The special area levy for this agreement was 

$108,000 in 2014 and will be $115,100 in 2015.   

Table 18 summarizes the number of emergency calls responded to by the Cambridge Fire 

Department for the 5-year period 2010 to 2014.   

TABLE 18: CAMBRIDGE FIRE DEPARTMENT RESPONSES 

Year 
Number of Emergency 

Responses 

2010 73 

2011 60 

2012 59 

2013 59 

2014 71 

 

 

  



!H

!H

!H
!H

!H

!H

!H

!H

!H

!H
!H

!H

NASSAGAWEYA PUSLINCH TOWNLINE

SID
ERO

AD
 15

SAFARI ROAD

BROCK ROAD

ROSEVILLE ROAD

WELLINGTON 34 ROAD

REGIONAL ROAD 97

CEDAR CREEK ROAD

BLAIR ROAD

ARKELL
 RO

AD

FIFE
 RO

AD GORDON STREET

CLYDE ROAD

CAMPBE
LLV

ILLE
 RO

AD

FRANKLIN BOULEVARD

DUMFRIES ROAD

W
ELLINGTON 35 ROAD

PAISLE
Y RO

AD

SHANTZ STATION ROAD

VICTORIA ROAD SOUTH

STO
NE R

OAD EA
ST

KOSSUTH ROAD

MALTBY RO
AD EA

ST

CONCESSION ROAD 4

W
ELLINGTON 32 ROADSPEEDSVILLE ROAD

LAIRD ROAD WEST

AVENUE ROAD

FOUNTAIN STREET NORTH

WELL
INGTO

N 36 
RO

AD

EASTVIEW
 RO

AD

MYERS ROAD

MAIN STREET
OLD BEVERLY ROAD

ST CHARLES STREET WEST

BEAVERDALE ROAD

HE
SPE

LER
 RO

AD

KING STREET EAST

WELLINGTON 46 ROAD

VICTORIA ROAD NORTH

SID
ERO

AD
 20

DUNDAS STREET SOUTH

WILLO
W RO

AD

COOPER ROAD

WOODLAW
N RO

AD WEST

DOW
NEY ROAD

SHELDON DRIVE

BISHOP STREET NORTH

EDINBURGH ROAD SOUTHWHITELAW ROAD

LACKNER BOULEVARD

WOOLWICH STREET

TOW
NLINE ROAD

CEDAR STREET

DUNBAR ROAD

SIDEROAD 20 NORTH

COUNTY 
RO

AD 12
4

EAGLE STREET NORTH

COOPER STREET

DICKIE SETTLEMENT ROAD

ELIZ
ABET

H ST
REET

FREELTON ROAD

VICTORIA STREET NORTH

WATSON ROAD SOUTH

W
ATER STREET SOUTH

COUNTY RO
AD 30

RIV
ER 

RO
AD

CONCESSION ROAD 7

COLLE
GE AVENUE EA

ST

MO
RR

ISO
N 

RO
AD

COUNTY ROAD 86

SAMUELSON STREET

W
ES

T R
IVE

R R
OA

D

BA
RD

EN
 ST

RE
ET

MENNO STREET

GORE ROAD

HIGHWAY 401

HIG
HW

AY
 7

HIGHWAY 6

HIGHWAY 7

HIGHWAY 6

BLENHEIM ROAD

1ST LINE

YO
RK RO

AD

HIGHWAY 
24

KING STREET EAST

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

\\dillon.ca\DILLON_DFS\Toronto\Toronto CAD\GIS\141138 - Puslinch Fire and Rescue

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 7/16/2015

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
CAMBRIDGE CONTRACTED AREA

!H FIRE STATION
!H CAMBRIDGE FIRE STATION
!H GUELPH FIRE STATION

HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD
WATERBODY

CAMBRIDGE FIRE PROTECTION AGREEMENT

FIGURE #21



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

112 

 

Based on the cost of this agreement in 2014 of $108,000 and the 71 responses in that year the 

average cost of each response was calculated as $1,521.13 per response. It should be 

recognized that these costs reflect the established level of fire suppression services that the 

Cambridge Fire Department delivers within its own municipality. This includes the use of full-

time firefighters and an initial response of six vehicles to a reported structure fire. This level of 

service is consistent with a large urban municipality such as Cambridge, but it is not consistent 

with the level of fire protection services that would be found in a typical rural community such 

as the Township of Puslinch.  

Fire Suppression Modelling Methodology 

This section provides a brief outline of the scope and methodology used in order to provide 

insight into the modeling procedures adopted to assess the existing emergency response 

coverage. 

A Geographic Information System (GIS) program was used to assess the fire service’s response 

coverage. Digital copies of GIS layers were provided by the Ministry of Natural Resources 

(2015) and Wellington County. Relevant base road information, such as road length, address 

ranges, and speed, was extracted from the GIS data to create the existing conditions model.   

Historic call locations (calls from January 2009 – October 5, 2014) were geocoded and added to 

the network to calibrate the model. An iterative process was used to adjust the speeds 

throughout the road network and calibrate the model to accurately reflect historic travel times 

of first responding units for all emergency calls. A large number of the historic calls are motor 

vehicle collisions (MVCs) which do not have an exact address assigned.  These calls cannot be 

coded into the model without address information.  As MVCs comprise a large percentage of 

PFRS’s historic call volumes, the number of geocoded calls (with address information) was a 

smaller sample size. To supplement the calibration, a review of past calibrations in similar 

municipalities was conducted and travel times to key areas within the municipality were cross-

referenced using travel times generated by Google Maps route planning online tool.  

TABLE 19:  CALIBRATED SPEED 

Road Class Modelled Speeds (km/h) 

Highway 90 

Arterial 55 

Collector 45 

Local 25 

 

The model scenarios were prepared to represent the 2014 existing conditions of the fire 

service. The service area within the model consisted of the entire extent of the Township. The 

calibrated road network, combined with the station location, was used to build graphical 

“response polygons” around the station.  These polygons represent the initial response 

coverage the station can provide in the specified amount of time. The polygon coverage can 

also represent the number of firefighters able to respond in a set amount of time.   



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

113 

 

Analysis was carried out to determine the PFRS’s ability to meet the NFPA 1720 Rural Area 

Demand Zone performance targets.  Table 20 summarizes the performance standards applied 

throughout the assessment.  

TABLE 20:  NFPA 1720 RURAL AREA DEMAND ZONE ASSESSMENT 

Demand Zone Demographics 
Minimum # of 

Firefighters 
Responding 

Response Time 
(Turnout + 
Travel) in 
Minutes 

Performance 
Objective 

(%) 

Rural Area <500 people per square mile 6 14 80 

7.11.3 Existing Conditions – NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone 

The existing fire suppression capabilities of the PFRS were assessed in comparison to the NFPA 

1720 Rural Area Demand Zone performance target shown in Figure 22. Within a fourteen 

minute turnout and travel time (response time), a minimum of six firefighters is able to 

respond to 3% of the Township’s geography and 18% of the geocoded historic emergency call 

locations.  

The two most significant challenges, or gaps, in achieving the 80% performance objective 

include: 

• The existing turnout time of the volunteer firefighters in responding to the station; and 

• The extended travel times that are present within the Township due to the large 

geographical coverage area.  

Options to assist the PFRS in achieving a higher percentage of performance in comparison to 

the NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone are included within the proposed options for delivery 

of fire suppression services. 

 

  



!H

BROCK ROAD

REGIONAL ROAD 97

EASTVIEW
 RO

ADVICTORIA ROAD NORTH

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

\\dillon.ca\DILLON_DFS\Toronto\Toronto CAD\GIS\141138 - Puslinch Fire and Rescue

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 7/16/2015

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
!H FIRE STATION

HISTORIC CALL 
HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD
RAILWAYS
WATERBODY

TOTAL NUMBER OF FIREFIGHTERS REACHING AREA
WITHIN 14 MINUTES (TURNOUT AND TRAVEL TIME)

*NOTE: THE 80th PERCENTILE TURNOUT TIME
FOR FIRE CALLS WAS USE (10.9 MINUTES)

6 FIREFIGHTERS
0 FIREFIGHTERS

     # of       % Area  | % Calls 
 Firefighters | Covered | Covered --------------+---------+---------
       0      |  97.4%  |   82.3% 
       6      |   2.6%  |   17.7%    

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

EXISTING CONDITIONS - NFPA 1720
RURAL AREA DEMAND ZONE COVERAGE
FIGURE #22



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

115 

 

7.12 Options for Enhancing Fire Suppression Services  

The analyses within this report indicate that the PFRS has, since its inception in 1968, utilized a 

wide range of strategies in attempting to provide the most cost effective and efficient level of 

fire suppression services within the Township. These strategies include the use of automatic 

aid agreements, mutual aid agreements and fire protection agreements in support of the core 

services provided by the dedicated group of volunteer firefighters comprising the PFRS. 

In comparison to the NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone performance measures, a 

recognized standard for delivering fire suppression services, the PFRS is unable to achieve the 

performance objectives of having six volunteer firefighters arrive on scene within a fourteen 

minute response time to 80% of the calls received.  

As indicated within this report the most significant challenges in achieving this performance 

objective are the current turnout time of the volunteer firefighters in responding to the fire 

station and the large geographical area of the Township that results in extended travel times. 

The recommendations and options for the delivery of fire suppression services presented 

within this report places significant emphasis on minimizing the impacts of these two 

challenges through the optimization of the strategic priorities previously presented.  These 

include:  

o The utilization of a Community Risk Profile to determine the fire safety risks within the 
Township as the basis for developing clear goals and objectives for all fire protection 
services to be provided by the Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services; 

o The optimization of the first two lines of defence, including public education and fire 
prevention, and the utilization of fire safety standards and fire code enforcement to 
provide a comprehensive fire protection program within the Township, based on the 
results of the Community Risk Profile;  

o Emphasis on the value of all services that are provided by the Puslinch Fire and Rescue 
such as responses to motor vehicle accidents and medical responses that enhance life 
safety within the community; and  

o Emphasis on strategies that support the sustainability of fire protection services that 
provide the most cost effective and efficient level of fire protection services resulting in 
the best value for the community. 

In our view the recommendations and options for the delivery of fire suppression services 

presented within this report provide Council with the ability to determine the local needs and 

circumstances of the Township as per the FPPA, and respond to the OFMEM’s 

recommendation that stated “The Office of the Fire Marshal continues to recommend that the 

Township of Puslinch take the appropriate steps to ensure the best possible response to their 

rural area.” 

 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

116 

 

7.12.1 Optimizing the Utilization of Automatic Aid Agreements  

Our analysis indicates that the most effective short-term strategy to enhance the level of fire 

suppression services within the Township of Puslinch is through optimizing the use of 

automatic aid agreements.  

In our view the Township should prioritize the development of a revised automatic aid 

agreement with the City of Cambridge, and a new automatic aid agreement with the City of 

Guelph. At a minimum the Township should approach these cities to pursue automatic aid 

agreements with a term of not less than three years and if possible for a term of five years.   

The proposed automatic aid agreements provide the most immediate improvement to the 

provision of fire suppression services within the Township by optimizing the “closest station 

response model” and utilizing existing fire suppression resources within the these two cities.  

Proposed City of Cambridge Automatic Aid Agreement    

The current fire protection agreement with the City of Cambridge extends the level of fire 

suppression services provided within that City to the contracted area within the Township of 

Puslinch. The costs for these services are directly recovered via a special area levy, collected in 

addition to the regular residential tax levy that includes the fire protection services provided by 

the PFRS. Our analysis indicates that these residents are not receiving any fire insurance 

benefit as this area does not qualify for the Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation. 

Our analysis indicates that there is a large portion of the western area of the Township, 

including the contracted area where the initial response apparatus from the Cambridge fire 

stations can arrive sooner than those of the PFRS representing the closest fire station response. 

Figure 23 presents the modelled area where an initial response apparatus (pumper with crew 

of four firefighters) from a Cambridge fire station can arrive prior to a PFRS fire apparatus 

based on current PFRS response time data. Revising the current contract with the City of 

Cambridge to reflect an automatic aid agreement which provides an initial response of one 

pumper apparatus and crew of four firefighters would sustain the initial response performance 

(to reported structure fires) which is included within the current contracted area agreement. In 

addition, the proposed automatic aid agreement would expand the area where Cambridge 

would provide the initial response from the closest fire station to reported structure fires in 

support of the PFRS.   

Within the proposed automatic aid agreement the City of Cambridge would provide the initial 

response of four firefighters and a pumper apparatus to reported structure fires, with the 

depth of response required based on the type of incident provided by the PFRS. All other 

response types would be responded to by the PFRS, similarly to all other areas of the Township. 

This reduces the requirements of the current contract whereby Cambridge provides the full 

response to all incidents. Similarly to the current contract Cambridge vehicles and staffing 

would be released from the incident as soon as reasonably practical should the estimated 

duration of the incident exceed one hour in duration. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

117 

 

The resulting financial impacts would be the removal of the special area levy of $115,100 in 

2015, and an increase in the operating costs of the PFRS as a result of the proposed automatic 

aid agreement. Our projected costs for the proposed automatic aid agreement were calculated 

based on current Ministry of Transport fire apparatus rates of $410.00 per vehicle for the first 

hour. Based on the 2014 contracted area responses of 71 calls of which approximately 12% 

were fires or fire related (OFMEM definition of fire, pre-fire and false alarms) equaling 8.5 or 9 

calls, and including the larger geographical coverage area of the proposed automatic aid 

agreement we project that there will be approximately 15 incidents per year that would 

activate the proposed automatic aid agreement resulting in a total annual operating cost of 

approximately $6,150.00 for the proposed automatic aid coverage.  

It is recommended that Council authorize the Chief Administrative Officer and Fire Chief to 

approach the City of Cambridge to negotiate a revised Automatic Aid Agreement for the 

provision of fire suppression services as reflected in the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

 

  



NASSAGAWEYA PUSLINCH TOWNLINE

SID
ERO

AD
 15

SAFARI ROAD

BROCK ROAD

ROSEVILLE ROAD

WELLINGTON 34 ROAD

REGIONAL ROAD 97

CEDAR CREEK ROAD

BLAIR ROAD

ARKELL
 RO

AD

FIFE
 RO

AD GORDON STREET

CLYDE ROAD

CAMPBE
LLV

ILLE
 RO

AD

FRANKLIN BOULEVARD

DUMFRIES ROAD

W
ELLINGTON 35 ROAD

PAISLE
Y RO

AD

SHANTZ STATION ROAD

VICTORIA ROAD SOUTH

STO
NE R

OAD EA
ST

KOSSUTH ROAD

MALTBY RO
AD EA

ST

CONCESSION ROAD 4

W
ELLINGTON 32 ROADSPEEDSVILLE ROAD

LAIRD ROAD WEST

AVENUE ROAD

FOUNTAIN STREET NORTH

WELL
INGTO

N 36 
RO

AD

EASTVIEW
 RO

AD

MYERS ROAD

MAIN STREET
OLD BEVERLY ROAD

ST CHARLES STREET WEST

BEAVERDALE ROAD

HE
SPE

LER
 RO

AD

KING STREET EAST

WELLINGTON 46 ROAD

VICTORIA ROAD NORTH

SID
ERO

AD
 20

DUNDAS STREET SOUTH

WILLO
W RO

AD

COOPER ROAD

WOODLAW
N RO

AD WEST

DOW
NEY ROAD

SHELDON DRIVE

BISHOP STREET NORTH

EDINBURGH ROAD SOUTHWHITELAW ROAD

LACKNER BOULEVARD

WOOLWICH STREET

TOW
NLINE ROAD

CEDAR STREET

DUNBAR ROAD

SIDEROAD 20 NORTH

COUNTY 
RO

AD 12
4

EAGLE STREET NORTH

COOPER STREET

DICKIE SETTLEMENT ROAD

ELIZ
ABET

H ST
REET

FREELTON ROAD

VICTORIA STREET NORTH

WATSON ROAD SOUTH

W
ATER STREET SOUTH

COUNTY RO
AD 30

RIV
ER 

RO
AD

CONCESSION ROAD 7

COLLE
GE AVENUE EA

ST

MO
RR

ISO
N 

RO
AD

COUNTY ROAD 86

SAMUELSON STREET

W
ES

T R
IVE

R R
OA

D

BA
RD

EN
 ST

RE
ET

MENNO STREET

GORE ROAD

HIGHWAY 401

HIG
HW

AY
 7

HIGHWAY 6

HIGHWAY 7

HIGHWAY 6

BLENHEIM ROAD

1ST LINE

YO
RK RO

AD

HIGHWAY 
24

KING STREET EAST

 

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

\\dillon.ca\DILLON_DFS\Toronto\Toronto CAD\GIS\141138 - Puslinch Fire and Rescue

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 8/19/2015

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
CAMBRIDGE CONTRACTED AREA
CAMBRIDGE COVERAGE

!H FIRE STATION
!H CAMBRIDGE FIRE STATION
!H GUELPH FIRE STATION

HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD
WATERBODY

*NOTE: THE MAP SHOWS A BORDER WHERE
CAMBRIDGE WOULD MEET PUSLINCH IF BOTH FIRE

SERVICES RECIEVE A CALL AT THE SAME TIME
(TURNOUT TIME AND TRAVEL TIME).

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

PROPOSED CITY OF CAMBRIDGE AUTOMATIC
AID COVERAGE
FIGURE #23



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

119 

 

Proposed City of Guelph Automatic Aid Agreement 

The Township of Puslinch does not currently have any form of agreement for fire suppression 

services with the City of Guelph. The Guelph Fire Department represents a very modern urban 

fire service operated by full-time firefighters providing similarly high-quality fire suppression 

services as those provided by the Cambridge Fire Department.  

Our fire suppression modelling reflects a unique finding with respect to the close proximity of 

Guelph Fire Station #6 located on Clair Road and the Puslinch Fire Station. Fire Station #6 is 

staffed with one crew of four firefighters operating 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Our 

modelling applied a projected turnout time of 90 seconds (the same as applied for Cambridge 

Fire Department response modelling) for a crew from Station #6 to respond into the Township. 

Our analysis indicates that there is a large portion of the Township where a fire apparatus from 

a Guelph fire station can arrive sooner than PFRS apparatus, based on current turnout time 

and response time.  

Figure 24 presents the modelled area where an initial response apparatus (pumper with crew 

of four firefighters) from a Guelph fire station can arrive prior to a PFRS fire apparatus based 

on current response time data.  

Within the proposed automatic aid agreement the City of Guelph would provide the initial 

response of four firefighters and a pumper apparatus to reported structure fires, with the 

depth of response required (based on the type of incident) being provided by the PFRS. All 

other response types would be responded to by the PFRS similarly to all other areas of the 

Township. Responding Guelph vehicles and staffing would be released from the incident as 

soon as reasonably practical should the estimated duration of the incident exceed one hour in 

duration. 

Our projected cost estimates for the proposed automatic aid agreement were also calculated 

based on current Ministry of Transport fire apparatus rates of $410.00 per vehicle for the first 

hour. Based on the OFMEM criteria of fire, pre-fire and false alarm calls the PFRS responded to 

51 incidents in 2014. Deducting the average of approximately nine fire-related incidents that 

the City of Cambridge would respond to under the proposed automatic aid agreement, the City 

of Guelph would respond to approximately 42 calls annually. This would represent an annual 

operating budget cost increase of approximately $17,220 to the Township. 

It is recommended that Council authorize the Chief Administrative Officer and Fire Chief to 

approach the City of Guelph to negotiate an Automatic Aid Agreement for the provision of fire 

suppression services as reflected in the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

 

  



!H

!H

!H
!H

!H

!H

!H

!H

!H

!H
!H

!H

NASSAGAWEYA PUSLINCH TOWNLINE

SID
ERO

AD
 15

SAFARI ROAD

BROCK ROAD

ROSEVILLE ROAD

WELLINGTON 34 ROAD

REGIONAL ROAD 97

CEDAR CREEK ROAD

BLAIR ROAD

ARKELL
 RO

AD

FIFE
 RO

AD GORDON STREET

CLYDE ROAD

CAMPBE
LLV

ILLE
 RO

AD

FRANKLIN BOULEVARD

DUMFRIES ROAD

W
ELLINGTON 35 ROAD

PAISLE
Y RO

AD

SHANTZ STATION ROAD

VICTORIA ROAD SOUTH

STO
NE R

OAD EA
ST

KOSSUTH ROAD

MALTBY RO
AD EA

ST

CONCESSION ROAD 4

W
ELLINGTON 32 ROADSPEEDSVILLE ROAD

LAIRD ROAD WEST

AVENUE ROAD

FOUNTAIN STREET NORTH

WELL
INGTO

N 36 
RO

AD

EASTVIEW
 RO

AD

MYERS ROAD

MAIN STREET
OLD BEVERLY ROAD

ST CHARLES STREET WEST

BEAVERDALE ROAD

HE
SPE

LER
 RO

AD

KING STREET EAST

WELLINGTON 46 ROAD

VICTORIA ROAD NORTH

SID
ERO

AD
 20

DUNDAS STREET SOUTH

WILLO
W RO

AD

COOPER ROAD

WOODLAW
N RO

AD WEST

DOW
NEY ROAD

SHELDON DRIVE

BISHOP STREET NORTH

EDINBURGH ROAD SOUTHWHITELAW ROAD

LACKNER BOULEVARD

WOOLWICH STREET

TOW
NLINE ROAD

CEDAR STREET

DUNBAR ROAD

SIDEROAD 20 NORTH

COUNTY 
RO

AD 12
4

EAGLE STREET NORTH

COOPER STREET

DICKIE SETTLEMENT ROAD

ELIZ
ABET

H ST
REET

FREELTON ROAD

VICTORIA STREET NORTH

WATSON ROAD SOUTH

W
ATER STREET SOUTH

COUNTY RO
AD 30

RIV
ER 

RO
AD

CONCESSION ROAD 7

COLLE
GE AVENUE EA

ST

MO
RR

ISO
N 

RO
AD

COUNTY ROAD 86

SAMUELSON STREET

W
ES

T R
IVE

R R
OA

D

BA
RD

EN
 ST

RE
ET

MENNO STREET

GORE ROAD

HIGHWAY 401

HIG
HW

AY
 7

HIGHWAY 6

HIGHWAY 7

HIGHWAY 6

BLENHEIM ROAD

1ST LINE

YO
RK RO

AD

HIGHWAY 
24

KING STREET EAST

 

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

\\dillon.ca\DILLON_DFS\Toronto\Toronto CAD\GIS\141138 - Puslinch Fire and Rescue

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 8/20/2015

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
CAMBRIDGE CONTRACTED AREA

!H FIRE STATION
!H CAMBRIDGE FIRE STATION
!H GUELPH FIRE STATION

Guelph Coverage
CAMBRIDGE COVERAGE
HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD
WATERBODY

*NOTE: THE MAP SHOWS A BORDER WHERE GUELPH
WOULD MEET CAMBRIDGE IF BOTH FIRE SERVICES

RECIEVE A CALL AT THE SAME TIME (TURNOUT TIME
AND TRAVEL TIME).

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

PROPOSED CITY OF GUELPH AUTOMATIC
AID COVERAGE
FIGURE #24



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

121 

 

7.12.2 Optimizing the Volunteer Firefighter Recruitment Process 

The analysis within this report identifies the turnout time of the current volunteer firefighters 

as one of the most significant challenges in achieving the performance measures identified 

within the NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone.   

The 2013 PFRS Recruitment Manual includes an overview of the extensive recruitment process 

that the department engages in to recruit potential volunteer firefighters. The minimum 

qualifications are listed as: 

o Physically fit and able to work under arduous conditions and in extreme temperatures; 

o A motivated person who challenges themselves with life-long learning; 

o Someone who enjoys helping others in their time of need; 

o Able to respond to emergencies with no prior notice; 

o Able to work in a team environment; and 

o 18 years of age or older. 

The Township currently recruits volunteer firefighters from across the entire geographical area 

of the Township with no preference or priority given to proximity to the fire station. This 

process has served the Township well in developing a core of dedicated volunteer firefighters.  

In our view the Township needs to consider further strategies within the recruitment process 

in order to reduce the turnout time of the volunteer firefighters. In working with other similar 

communities utilizing volunteer firefighters we have found it quite common to have 

recruitment requirements for volunteer firefighters to live and or work within a specified 

distance from the fire station. This strategy has been proven to be effective in managing 

turnout times. 

Building on the success of the current volunteer firefighter recruitment process we 

recommend implementation of the following strategies: 

• That the Township increase the complement of volunteer firefighters from the current 

28 to 34, an increase of six volunteer firefighters;  

• That the Township target an area not greater than five kilometres from the fire station 

to recruit these additional volunteer firefighters. This may include their residence or 

place of work in an attempting to reduce the turnout times of the PFRS from the current 

80th percentile for fire calls of 10.8 minutes to the comparator municipalities identified 

of 6.6 minutes.  

Subject to the success of this strategy in reducing the turnout times of the volunteer 

firefighters these strategies should be reassessed with respect to the required complement of 

volunteer firefighters.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

122 

 

It is recommended that Council implement the strategies to optimize the volunteer firefighter 

recruitment process identified within the proposed Master Fire Plan, including increasing the 

approved complement of the PFRS by six volunteer firefighters. 

7.12.3 Proposed Organizational Structure 

To achieve the proposed strategic priorities and implement the recommendations identified 

within this MFP it is our view that a revised organizational structure, including revised hours of 

work for the part-time resources, is required. 

Based on the analyses within this MFP this includes the following: 

Part-time Fire Chief  

It is recommended that the hours of the part-time Fire Chief be reduced from the current 30 

hours per week to 24 hours per week. Through our consultation with the part-time Fire Chief 

and our analysis of the current strategy of operating with two temporary Deputy Fire Chiefs, it 

is our view that there is significant benefit in having two Deputy Fire Chiefs.  

This strategy has been very beneficial in providing more senior qualified staff to respond to the 

operational and administrative needs of the department. In our view it has also been beneficial 

to supporting the work life balance of the part-time Fire Chief who also sustains a full-time job.   

Having three senior staff available to participate in the rotating on call process requiring a 

senior officer to be available to respond to emergencies on a 24 hour per day, seven days per 

week (365 days a year), schedule is also more practical within a three person senior staff 

operating model. 

In addition to having overall responsibility for all activities of the department it is 

recommended that the part-time Fire Chief maintain direct responsibility for the 

Administrative Services Division. Further responsibility for participating in optimizing the use of 

part-time resources to support the department’s fire suppression capabilities is discussed 

within a following section of this MFP. 

It is recommended that consideration be given to reducing the hours of work for the part-time 

Fire Chief from the current 30 hours per week to 24 hours per week. 

Part-time Deputy Fire Chief/Administration 

In addition to the divisional roles and responsibilities identified it is expected that this position 

would also sustain an active operational emergency response role including participation in the 

senior officer on call process. Further responsibility for participating in optimizing the use of 

part-time resources to support the department’s fire suppression capabilities is discussed 

within a following section of this MFP. 

It is recommended that consideration be given to making the position of part-time Deputy Fire 

Chief of Administration permanent with direct responsibility for the Fire Prevention, Public 

Education and Training Divisions with a set schedule of 24 hours per week.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

123 

 

Part-time Deputy Fire Chief/Operations 

In addition to the divisional roles and responsibilities identified it is expected that this position 

would also sustain an active operational emergency response role including participation in the 

senior officer on call process. Further responsibility for participating in optimizing the use of 

part-time resources to support the department’s fire suppression capabilities is discussed 

within a following section of this MFP. 

It is recommended that consideration be given to making the position of part-time Deputy Fire 

Chief of Operations permanent with direct responsibility for the Fire Suppression Division with 

a set schedule of 24 hours per week.   

7.12.4 Proposed Organizational Structure 

Figure 25 presents the proposed organizational structure of the PFRS including making the two 

part-time Deputy Fire Chief positions permanent, implementing the part-time position of Fire 

and Life Safety Educator, and increasing the approved complement of volunteer firefighters by 

six. 

 

  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

124 

 

FIGURE 25:  PROPOSED ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 

 

 

7.12.5 Optimizing the Use of Part-time Resources  

The analysis within this report proposes a number of revisions to the part-time hours currently 

assigned to positions within the PFRS to support the strategic priorities of this MFP. In addition 

to these current part-time positions this MFP also proposes the new part-time position of Fire 

and Life Safety Educator. 

Extending the current roles and responsibilities of the current and proposed part-time 

positions to include scheduling their hours to be available to participate in fire suppression 

activities would significantly enhance the Township’s capabilities during normal business hours, 

Monday through Friday.  

Developing a schedule whereby a minimum of four part-time positions would be working at 

the fire station, or be readily available to respond to an emergency, at all times during normal 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

125 

 

business hours Monday through Friday would provide the recognized initial response staffing 

level of the NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone.  

This strategy would require that all part-time positions, including the Administrative Assistant 

be trained to the competencies of a volunteer firefighter.  

Table 21 presents the estimated operating budget cost increase of this strategy. 

TABLE 21:  ESTIMATED OPERATING BUDGET INCREASE 

Position 

Existing 
(Maximum) 

Part-time Hours 
Per week 

 
Existing Hourly 

Wage 
(Job Rate) 

Proposed 
Part-time Hours 

Per Week 

Estimated 
Annual 

Operating 
Budget Cost 

Increase 

Fire Chief 30 $38.34 24 ($7,667) 

Deputy Chief of 
Administration 

10 $34.91 24 $22,976 

Deputy Chief of Operations 10 $34.91 24 $22,796 

Administrative Assistant 10 $19.30 24 $14,334 

Chief Fire Prevention Officer 16 $29.01 24 $12,863 

Fire and Life Safety Educator 
(new) 

--- $24.94 20 $25,667 

Training Captain 10 $26.26 10 --- 

Training Officer 10 $24.94 10 --- 

Total 96  160 $91,149 

 

It is recommended that Council implement the strategy to optimize the use of part-time 

resources included within the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

7.12.6 Optimizing the Current Scheduling and Call-out Process 

The PFRS currently utilizes a scheduling process of assigning volunteer firefighters to one of 

four crews that are each lead by a Volunteer Captain. The current process schedules crews on 

a monthly rotation for weekend availability from 23:00 hours Friday night until 06:00 hours 

Monday morning.  

While on-call crews are responsible for conducting the weekly vehicle checks and inspections 

as per SOP #1-101. Crews are also required to be readily available to respond to reported 

emergencies during these times. A similar schedule is in place for weekday coverage from 

23:00 hours in the evening until 06:00 hours in the morning. 

In the past the PFRS has applied a number of different scheduling models in attempting to find 

the most optimal level of emergency response coverage as well as balancing the work-life 

priorities of the volunteer firefighters. 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

126 

 

In our view consideration should be given to revising the current scheduling process to align 

with the proposed option to optimize the use of part-time resources. Aligning these strategies 

to provide an on-call schedule that ensures a minimum response of 6 volunteer firefighters at 

all times would further enhance the operational capabilities of the PFRS. 

In our view this strategy should include a requirement for one of the proposed senior officers 

(part-time Fire Chief, part-time Deputy Fire Chief of Administration or part-time Deputy Fire 

Chief of Operations) to be on-call at all times. This would ensure a senior officer with more 

incident command experience, and a broader understanding of the Townships policy’s and 

liabilities would be available at all times.  

In our view consideration should also be given to implementing a revised call out process to 

alert the on-call crew and senior officer as the initial response to all incidents. This revised call 

out process should consider the ability to alert (page) the on-call resources, and then subject to 

the severity of the emergency incident provide the capability to provide a second alert (page) 

should all of the fire suppression resources of the department be required. 

It is recommended that a revised on-call process be implemented to ensure a minimum 

response to include a minimum of six volunteer firefighters and a senior officer at all times.  

It is recommended that a revised call-out process be considered to provide an option for 

alerting either the on-call crew, our alternatively all of the fire suppression resources of the 

PFRS. 

  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

127 

 

7.13 Satellite Station Option 

The Township, under the leadership of Council and staff, have considered the option of a 

satellite fire station for many years, including the most recent 2013 response trial. In our view 

the recommendations included within this proposed MFP if successfully implemented will 

respond to the OFMEM’s 2004 statement that they “agreed that a rural designation more 

accurately depicts the layout of the Township” and the recommendation of that report that 

concluded that “The Office of the Fire Marshal continues to recommend that the Township of 

Puslinch take the appropriate steps to ensure the best possible response to their rural area.”  

We believe the option of a satellite station provides Council with the opportunity to enhance 

the level of fire suppression services in excess of the minimum requirements of the FPPA, and 

in response to the previous recommendation of the OFMEM in providing the best possible 

response.  

As indicated previously within this report our analysis of the satellite station test trial results 

identified a number of informative findings, as well as a number of areas of concern.  Each of 

these findings and areas has been considered in developing this option for Council’s 

consideration. 

7.13.1 Staffing Requirements 

The requirements identified to staff the proposed satellite station are in addition to the 

recommendation of this MFP to increase the complement of volunteer firefighters at the 

current station by 6 to improve the current turn out time of the PFRS.  

The PFRS satellite station test trial suggests that 11 of the current volunteer firefighters could 

transfer from the current station to the proposed satellite station. This would reduce the 

number of volunteer firefighters (Captains, Acting Captains and firefighters) at the current 

station from 34 to 23.  

The test trail further suggests that an additional four volunteer firefighters would be required 

to achieve the proposed FUS total complement required of 15 volunteer firefighters at the 

satellite station (including transferring the current 11 plus 4 additional).  

In our experience it requires a minimum of 24 volunteer firefighters to consistently staff the 

triple combination pumper with four volunteer firefighters, and the 2,200 litre tanker with two 

volunteer firefighters as proposed to be located at this station. This would require the 

recruitment of nine additional volunteer firefighters to achieve the proposed complement of 

24 volunteer firefighters, in comparison the PFRS test trail proposal of four additional 

volunteer firefighters to achieve the FUS proposal of 15.  

The estimated operating cost increase of nine volunteer firefighters was calculated using the 

PFRS actual 2014 total operating cost of $6,270 per firefighter.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

128 

 

Applying this cost to the proposed requirement of nine volunteer firefighters reflects a total 

operating budget increase of $6,270 x 9 = $56,430. We have increased this amount as a result 

of inflation to an estimated $60,000.  

7.13.2 Station Design and Construction 

Our analysis of the satellite station test trail analyses conducted by the PFRS, including the 

minimum FUS apparatus requirements, PFRS station requirements and the previous 1982 

OFMEM station recommendation, find consensus with building a satellite station capable of 

housing a triple combination pumper and 2200 litre tanker. At a minimum this would require 

an apparatus room floor space of approximately 150 square metres. The station should be 

planned to include washrooms with showers, space for storing firefighters’ protective clothing, 

a small office and meeting area, and an area for general storage/utilities. At a minimum this 

would require an additional 90 square metres. These areas reflect a minimum fire station size 

of approximately 240 square metres or approximately 2,600 square feet.  

In our experience working with other smaller municipalities it is common to find fire stations 

that have been developed through the design/build process, including the use of prefabricated 

steel structures. There are many examples of these fire stations across Ontario. More recent 

examples of these fire stations have reflected total capital costs for design, servicing, 

construction, landscaping, and construction management of approximately $250.00 per square 

foot. This would relate to an estimated design and construction cost of approximately 

$650,000. These costs do not include land or the option of a water storage tank to support the 

Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation. 

Additional capital funding would be required for furnishings, including extending the radio 

system, computers, furniture and racking for the firefighters protective clothing. The PFRS 

satellite station test trail estimated these capital costs at $26,500. We have increased this 

amount to an estimated $30,000 as a result of inflation and our review of station needs.  

Capital funding was also identified within the test trial analysis for volunteer firefighters’ 

pagers, protective clothing and uniforms. These costs were updated in 2014 representing a 

cost of approximately $5,500 per volunteer firefighter. Applying this capital cost to the nine 

volunteer firefighters proposed this represents a total of $49,500 funding required. We have 

also increased this amount as a result of inflation to an estimated requirement of $50,000.  

7.13.3 Land and Water Storage Tank 

To provide sufficient space for the proposed fire station of approximately 2,600 square feet, 

parking for the volunteer firefighters and required landscaping and setbacks, a site of 

approximately 1.5 to 2 acres would be required. As a proposed satellite station this site size 

does not provide space for any exterior training and assumes that these types of activities 

would be coordinated at the current fire station. We have applied the same proposed land 

costs as included within the satellite station test trial of approximately $300,000.00. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

129 

 

 

The success of the current Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation can in part be associated with 

the department’s ability to identify alternative water supplies, typically associated with the 

municipal water supply system, or through an alternative water source, including a dry hydrant 

system. The FUS has indicated in previous correspondence that consideration should be given 

to including the design and construction of a water storage tank capable of holding a minimum 

of 25,000 gallons within the proposed satellite station.  

This could be included as an external water cistern or designed as an integral component of the 

foundation of the station. The PFRS satellite station test trail estimated the costs of the 

proposed water tank as $25,000. In our view, subject to the design and construction for 

locating this size of water tank on the proposed satellite station site to allow for filling trucks 

under fire conditions a more appropriate budget is estimated at $40,000.  

The alternative to including a water storage tank as part of the design and construction of the 

proposed satellite station would be for PFRS to investigate other sites where a dry hydrant 

system could be located. In our view this strategy has worked well for the Township in the past 

and should be included in considering the option of developing the proposed satellite station.  

7.13.4 Optimal Satellite Station Location Analysis 

Option “A” 

Utilizing GIS modelling of the five kilometre and eight kilometre Superior Tanker Shuttle 

Accreditation road travel distances, three optional sites were selected in determining the most 

optimal coverage area. Figure 26 presents Site Option “A” located along Sideroad 10S, midway 

between Concession 1 and Concession 2. Sideroad 10S is gravel road. Sideroad 10S does not 

travel over Highway 401. This site extends the 3B(S) fire insurance grading to a large portion of 

the Puslinch Lake District and the south western portion of the Township. This includes the 

majority of the moderate risk (single family dwellings) located within the Puslinch Lake District, 

however there is an area of moderate risk adjacent to the western portion of the Township 

that is not included.  As this model shows there is also some extension of the 3B(S) fire 

insurance grading capability outside of the Township on the southern limits.  

Option “B”:   

Figure 27 presents Site Option “B” located near the intersection of Ellis Road and Wellington 

County Road 32. Both Ellis Road and Wellington County Road 32 are paved and Wellington 

County Road travels over Highway 401. This site also extends the 3B(S) fire insurance grading 

to a large portion of the western portion of the Township including the majority of the 

moderate risk (single family dwellings) located within the Puslinch Lake District. This option 

does provide coverage to the moderate risk area identified adjacent to the western portion of 

the Township.  This option creates a large area of overlap into the east side of the City of 

Cambridge.   



!H

!H
Option A

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

OPTION "A" SATELLITE STATION LOCATION
FIGURE #26

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

FILE LOCATION: \\DILLON.CA\DILLON_DFS\LONDON\LONDON CAD\GIS\

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 9/18/2015

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
CAMBRIDGE CONTRACTED AREA

!H FIRE STATION
!H SECOND STATION OPTIONS

DRY HYDRANT
HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD
WATERBODY

*NOTE: CLASSIFICATIONS WERE TAKEN FROM THE
FIRE UNDERWRITERS SURVEY LETTER ADDRESS TO
THE PUSLINCH FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICES DATED

JUNE 14, 2013.

3B(S)
3B
5
COVERAGE FROM OPTION A

FIRE UNDERWRITERS SURVEY CLASSIFICATION



!H

!H
Option B

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

OPTION "B" SATELLITE STATION LOCATION
FIGURE #27

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

FILE LOCATION: \\DILLON.CA\DILLON_DFS\LONDON\LONDON CAD\GIS\

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 9/21/2015

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
CAMBRIDGE CONTRACTED AREA

!H FIRE STATION
!H SECOND STATION OPTIONS

DRY HYDRANT
HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD
WATERBODY

*NOTE: CLASSIFICATIONS WERE TAKEN FROM THE
FIRE UNDERWRITERS SURVEY LETTER ADDRESS TO
THE PUSLINCH FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICES DATED

JUNE 14, 2013.

3B(S)
3B
5
COVERAGE FROM OPTION B

FIRE UNDERWRITERS SURVEY CLASSIFICATION



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

132 

 

Option “C” 

Figure 28 presents Site Option “C” located in the area of Concession 2 and Sideroad 10S. 

Concession 2 is a paved road and Sideroad 10S is a gravel road.  This site also extends the 3B(S) 

fire insurance grading to a large portion of the western portion of the Township including the 

majority of the moderate risk (single family dwellings) located within the Puslinch Lake District 

and the moderate risk area identified at the western portion of the Township.  

This option limits the overlap of response coverage areas extending into the surrounding 

communities and optimizes the coverage with the Township itself. 

Our analysis of locating a satellite station within the western area of the Township did not 

identify specific available sites. This analysis is intended to provide the Township with insight 

into the varying degrees of coverage that can be associated with alternative locations. In our 

view this analysis indicates that a satellite station located near the intersection of Concession 2 

and Sideroad 10S, as presented in Option “C,” would provide the Township with the optimal 

response coverage improvement.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



!H

!H
Option C

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

OPTION "C" SATELLITE STATION LOCATION
FIGURE #28

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

FILE LOCATION: \\DILLON.CA\DILLON_DFS\LONDON\LONDON CAD\GIS\

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 9/18/2015

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
CAMBRIDGE CONTRACTED AREA

!H FIRE STATION
!H SECOND STATION OPTIONS

DRY HYDRANT
HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD
WATERBODY

*NOTE: CLASSIFICATIONS WERE TAKEN FROM THE
FIRE UNDERWRITERS SURVEY LETTER ADDRESS TO
THE PUSLINCH FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICES DATED

JUNE 14, 2013.

3B(S)
3B
5
COVERAGE FROM OPTION C

FIRE UNDERWRITERS SURVEY CLASSIFICATION



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

134 

 

7.13.5 Satellite Station Operating and Capital Cost Summary 

As indicated previously the option of a satellite station provides Council with the opportunity 

to enhance the level of fire suppression services in excess of the minimum requirements of 

the FPPA, and in response to the previous recommendation of the OFMEM in providing the 

best possible response.  

The PFRS satellite station test trail estimated the annual operating cost increase excluding 

staffing (payroll) as $51,300.00. We have increased this amount as a result of inflation and our 

analysis to an estimated $60,000. 

The 2013 satellite station test trail included an in-depth analysis of the capital and operating 

cost associated with considering a satellite station. The analysis within this report has assessed 

the findings of the 2013 test trial, identified areas for consideration, and provided an updated 

analysis of the potential capital and operating financing required.  

Table 22 presents the estimated updated capital and operating budget financing requirements 

for the proposed satellite station option. 

TABLE 22: ESTIMATED UPDATED CAPITAL AND OPERATING FINANCING REQUIREMENTS 

 2013 Test Trial Updated Costs 

Description Capital Operating Capital Operating 

Design/Construction $578,000 ---- $650,000 ---- 

Furnishings $34,500 ---- $30,000 ---- 

Land Purchase $300,000 ---- $300,000 ---- 

Water Tank $25,000 ---- $40,000 ---- 

Operating Costs (excluding staff) ---- $51,300 ---- $60,000 

Operating Costs (additional staff) ---- $18,500
1 

---- $60,000 

Clothing/Pagers  (additional staff $14,600 ---- $50,000 ---- 

Total Costs $952,100 $69,800 $1,070,000 $120,000 

Note: 1 excludes cost of current staff payroll of $8,600 

It is recommended that, subject to Council’s desire to enhance the level of fire suppression and 

emergency services, that site Option “C,” as presented within the proposed Master Fire Plan, 

including the addition of nine volunteer firefighters be considered for a satellite station 

(second station).  

7.14 Fire Suppression Division Summary and Recommendations  

In considering the appropriate level of fire suppression services to be provided it is first 

important to understand the characteristics of a fire, and specifically the growth rate of a fire 

in terms of time.  Research indicates that a fire can spread from the room of origin in ten 

minutes or less. Under certain conditions this time can be less than three minutes. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

135 

 

Our review indicates that in the past the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency 

Management has agreed that a rural designation accurately depicts the Township of Puslinch.  

This is consistent with our findings that identified the population density of the Township as 

32.9 people per square mile. In comparison to recognized industry standards provided by the 

National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) this represents application of the NFPA 1720 Rural 

Area Demand Zone for comparative analyses.  

Our analysis indicates that there are two major factors impacting the PFRS’s ability to achieve 

the performance objectives of the NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand Zone. These include: 

• Greater turnout times for the volunteer firefighters to respond to the fire station as a 

result of their proximity to the fire station, thus limiting the amount of available time 

within the performance objective to travel to the incident; and 

• Longer travel times to incidents as a direct result of the large geographical area of the 

Township. 

These factors further emphasize the importance of optimizing the first two lines of defence 

including pro-active public education and fire prevention programs, and the use of standards 

and fire code enforcement in reducing the probability and consequences of a fire. As the third 

line of defence, fire suppression is the failsafe in providing fire protection services. 

The analyses and recommendations contained within this MFP are presented to provide 

Council with the appropriate information in determining the local needs and circumstances as 

identified by the FPPA. This is consistent with the conclusions of the OFMEM that stated “The 

Office of the Fire Marshal continues to recommend that the Township of Puslinch take the 

appropriate steps to ensure the best possible response to their rural area.” 

In addition to providing recommendations in response to the minimum requirements of the 

FPPA this MFP provides an option for Council’s consideration in developing a satellite fire 

station to further enhance the delivery of fire suppression and emergency response services to 

medical incidents and motor vehicle accidents.  

Recommendations for the Suppression Division include the following:  

28. That the emergency response performance objectives identified within the proposed 

Master Fire Plan be considered and approved by Council and included within the new 

Establishing and Regulating By-law including: 

Initial Response Staffing Performance Objective: 

That the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve an initial response 

deployment of four firefighters to all fire related emergency calls.  

Depth of Response Staffing Performance Objective: 

That the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve a depth of response 

deployment to all fire related emergency calls of four firefighters to low risk 

occupancies, 14 firefighters to moderate risk occupancies, and 24 firefighters to 

high risk occupancies. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

136 

 

Response Time Performance Objective: 

That the Township of Puslinch should be striving to achieve the response time 

performance objective referenced within the NFPA 1720 Rural Area Demand 

Zone including a minimum of six firefighters responding within a 14 minute 

response time (turnout time + travel time) with a performance objective of 80%. 

29. That the PFRS continue to participate in the Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation 

process, and where possible identify additional alternative water supply locations to 

provide further enhancements to the accreditation. 

30. That the Fire Chief be directed to develop a department policy for responding to 

medical responses that details the types of medical responses, requirements for 

volunteer firefighters responding, and requirements for data collection to be presented 

to Council for consideration and approval and inclusion within the recommended 

updated Establishing and Regulating By-law. 

31. That Council authorize the Chief Administrative Officer and Fire Chief to approach the 

City of Cambridge to negotiate a revised Automatic Aid Agreement for the provision of 

fire suppression services as reflected in the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

32. That Council authorize the Chief Administrative Officer and Fire Chief to approach the 

City of Guelph to negotiate an Automatic Aid Agreement for the provision of fire 

suppression services as reflected in the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

33. That Council implement the strategies to optimize the Volunteer Firefighter 

Recruitment Process identified within the proposed Master Fire Plan including 

increasing the approved complement of the PFRS by 6 volunteer firefighters. 

34. That consideration be given to reducing the hours of work for the part-time Fire Chief 

from the current 30 hours per week to 24 hours per week. 

35. That consideration be given to making the position of part-time Deputy Fire Chief of 
Administration permanent with direct responsibility for the Fire Prevention, Public 
Education and Training Divisions with a set schedule of 24 hours per week.  

36. That consideration be given to making the position of part-time Deputy Fire Chief of 
Operations permanent with direct responsibility for the Fire Suppression Division with a 
set schedule of 24 hours per week.  

37. That Council implement the strategy to optimize the use of part-time resources 

included within the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

38. That a revised on-call process be implemented to ensure a minimum response to 
include a minimum of six volunteer firefighters and a senior officer at all times.  

39. That a revised call-out process be considered to provide an option for alerting either the 
on-call crew, our alternatively all of the fire suppression resources of the PFRS. 

40. That subject to Council’s desire to enhance the level of fire suppression and emergency 
services that site Option “C,” as presented within the proposed Master Fire Plan, 
including the addition of nine volunteer firefighters be considered for a satellite station 
(second station).  
  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

137 

 

8.0 Station, Apparatus & Equipment 

8.1 Fire Station 

The PFRS currently operates from 

one fire station located at 7404 

Wellington County Road adjacent to 

the Township offices. The fire station 

includes office space, a radio/control 

room, kitchen, training/meeting 

room, storage room, male and 

female washroom and capacity for six fire apparatus.
  

Based on our review the station appears to have been well maintained and is in good condition. 

As indicated previously within this review the current administrative workspace has reached its 

capacity. Where possible the department is sharing space between multiple functions 

(positions) in order to complete the administrative functions. 

This MFP recommends that the administrative workspace for the PFRS be reviewed in 

consideration of the recommendations of this MFP and the current facilities review of the 

Township administrative offices. 

8.2 Staffing and Responsibilities 

The part-time Deputy Fire Chief of Operations is responsible for coordinating all maintenance 

and repair of apparatus and equipment. All maintenance, routine and unscheduled, is 

contracted to ‘C-MAX Fire Solutions’ that specializes in fire industry apparatus and equipment. 

C-MAX is available 24 hours a day seven days a week for any emergency repairs on PFRS 

vehicles. The following Standard Operating Guidelines are in place regarding apparatus and 

equipment: 

• #1-100 – Daily Vehicle Inspections 

• #1-101 – Weekly Vehicle Check-off and Inspection 

• #1-106 - Putting Apparatus Back in Service 

• #1-107 – Breathing Air Compressor Maintenance 

• #1-108 – SCBA Maintenance 

• #1-109 – SCBA Air Bottle Filling 

• #1-111 – Ladder Maintenance and Testing 

• #1-113 – Fire Hose Testing Procedures 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

138 

 

8.3 Types of Major Fire Apparatus 

PFSG 04-07-12 Types of Fire Apparatus and Equipment was developed to provide smaller 

communities, such as the Township of Puslinch, with options to follow in determining the level 

of fire suppression and types of fire apparatus and equipment that should be available within 

the community. PFSG 04-07-12 provides the following information for consideration: 

• Demands on municipal resources force all communities to re-evaluate the level and 

nature of services they provide; 

• Traditional approaches to the delivery of fire suppression with full-size triple 

combination pumpers may not necessarily be the most appropriate way to deliver this 

component of community fire safety, particularly in small communities with limited 

availability of firefighting personnel; 

• The primary mission of all fire departments should be to ensure that the community is 

provided with an optimal level of fire protection in a cost effective and efficient manner. 

This optimal level may require a much greater emphasis on fire prevention and public 

education activities - with residents being responsible for protection within their own 

residences; 

• New technology provide options; 

• Must be appropriate to the fire suppression needs of the community; 

• Dependent upon availability of human resources  

needs to work closely with neighbouring communities; and 

• Focus must still be on community fire safety initiatives. 

PFSG 04-07-12 refers to the NFPA 1901 Standard for Automotive Fire Apparatus (2009 Edition) 

as a reference for the standards that should be considered in determining the appropriate 

apparatus for a community. NFPA 1901 provides the following definitions of major fire 

apparatus: 

Pumper: Fire apparatus with a permanently mounted fire pump of at least 750 gpm 

(3000L/min) capacity, water tank and hose body whose primary purpose is to combat 

structural and associated fires. Pumper #31 would meet the qualifications of a ‘Pumper’ as 

defined by the NFPA 1901 standard. 

Initial Attack Apparatus: Fire apparatus with a fire pump of at least 250 gpm (1000L/min) 

capacity, water tank, and hose body whose primary purpose is to initiate a fire suppression 

attack on structural, vehicular, or vegetation fires and to support associated fire department 

operations. Pumper #32 would meet the qualifications of an ‘Initial Attack Apparatus’ as 

defined by the NFPA 1901 standard. 

Mobile Water Supply Apparatus (Tanker): A vehicle designed primarily for transporting (pick-

up, transporting, and delivering) water to fire emergency scenes to be applied by other 

vehicles or pumping equipment. Tankers #38 and #39 would meet the qualifications of 

‘Tankers’ as defined by the NFPA 1901 standard. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

139 

 

Quint: Fire apparatus with a permanently mounted fire pump, a water tank, a hose storage 

area, an aerial ladder or elevating platform with a permanently mounted waterway, and a 

complement of ground ladders. Aerial #33 would meet the qualifications of a ‘Quint’ as defined 

by the NFPA 1901 standard. 

Special Services Fire Apparatus: A multipurpose vehicle that primarily provides support 

services at emergency scenes. Rescue #35 would meet the qualifications of a ‘Special Services 

Fire Apparatus’ as defined by the NFPA 1901 standard. 

8.4 PFRS Major Apparatus 

Overall, the major apparatus and equipment within the department are in good condition with 

the exception of Aerial #33. Table 23 reflects the current major apparatus used by the 

department. In our view the current complement and profile of the major apparatus within the 

department reflects the operational capabilities required based upon the results of the 

Community Risk Profile within the Township. 

 

TABLE 23:  APPARATUS AND MODEL YEAR 

Apparatus NFPA 1901 Year Picture 

Pumper #31 

 

Pumper  

 

 

 

2005 

 

Pumper #32 

 

 

Initial Attack 
Apparatus 

 

 

 

2012 

 

Aerial #33 

 

 

 

Quint 

 

 

1991 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

140 

 

Apparatus NFPA 1901 Year Picture 

Rescue #35 

 

 

Special 
Services Fire 
Apparatus 

 

 

2000 

 

Tanker  #38 

 

Mobile Water 
Supply 

Apparatus 

 

 

2007 

 

Tanker #39 

 

Mobile Water 
Supply 

Apparatus 

 

 

2010 

 

 

8.5 Apparatus Replacement Plan 

Our review of the major apparatus replacement and equipment replacement plans for 

municipalities with similar types of use and wear reflect a best practice strategy of 15 years of 

service as front-line apparatus and a further five years of service in a reserve capacity reflecting 

a 20 year overall life cycle for major apparatus such as pumpers and tankers.   Table 24 

summarizes the current replacement schedule of the Township for the existing PFRS major 

apparatus replacement. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

141 

 

TABLE 24: PFRS MAJOR APPARATUS REPLACEMENT PLAN 

Apparatus Year 
Replacement 

Year 

Pumper #31 2005 2025 

Pumper #32 2012 2032 

Aerial #33 1991 2016 

Rescue #35 2000 2020 

Tanker #38 2007 2027 

Tanker #39 2010 2030 

 

Our review indicates that the Township has recognized the importance of life cycle planning 

and has been moving towards a major apparatus replacement plan that reflects the industry 

best practices of a 20 year life cycle for major fire apparatus with the exception of Aerial #33.  

8.5.1 Aerial #33 Replacement Strategy 

In our view Aerial #33 has exceeded it life expectancy. Our review indicates that there have 

been previous reports from the department recommending its replacement, and that these 

have been directed to the analysis within this MFP for Council’s consideration. 

This major apparatus was purchased in 1990 at the request of the Fire Chief. At that time the 

Fire Chief expressed to Council that “The Aerial truck will be very advantageous when fighting a 

fire in a building with a large roof expanse (e.g., the industrial park north of Highway 401 and 

some commercial buildings in Morriston).” The Community Risk Profile contained within this 

MFP indicates that this fire risk remains today, and that future community growth indicates 

that this type of fire risk will continue to increase in the future. 

Traditionally an aerial device such as Aerial #33 was purchased to provide the operational 

capabilities of performing a rescue from higher elevations not accessible by typical ground 

ladders, and for providing an elevated master stream for firefighting purposes.  A master 

stream is a large fire hose line and nozzle combination capable of applying a large volume of 

water, typically in excess of 1,000 gpm, on a major fire. With the advantage of height provided 

by the aerial ladder the master steam is able to reach higher points on a building or 

alternatively farther distances over a large building floor plan. 

Similarly to the Superior Tanker Shuttle Accreditation referenced within this MFP the presence 

of an aerial device such as Aerial #33 does have a bearing on the insurance grading of a 

community and specifically the commercial insurance grading. It is important to note that the 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

142 

 

current insurance gradings within the Township have been based on the presence of Aerial #33 

that includes a 50 foot telescoping ladder device. 

Our review indicates that Aerial #33 currently provides the following operational functions for 

the PFRS: 

• As the only aerial device within the Township it is relied upon to provide the operational 

capabilities of performing a rescue from an elevated area or to gain access to an 

elevated area, and to provide an elevated master fire stream in the event of a large fire; 

and 

• This apparatus is also relied upon as a reserve pumper in the event Pumper #31 is out of 

service for maintenance or as a result of a breakdown.  

In response to the findings of the Community Risk Profile and to sustain the operational 

capabilities of the PFRS, as presented within the most recent FUS insurance grading, it is 

recommended that Aerial #33 be replaced as soon as possible with a Quint having a larger 

aerial ladder capability (75 foot) and a larger water tank (500 gallons) than Aerial #33.  

In our view there are two options for purchasing this type of apparatus, tendering and 

purchasing a new apparatus, or alternatively purchasing a used apparatus. In consultation with 

apparatus manufacturers a new 75 foot Quint is estimated to cost between $750,000 and 

$900,000 (Canadian) subject to the specifications, and exchange rate of the Canadian dollar 

that has a major bearing on the U.S. manufacturers.  

Depending on the age of a used 75 foot Quint the price can range significantly. If the Township 

chooses to purchase a used 75 foot Quint we suggest that it have a minimum of 10 years life 

expectancy remaining of its 20 year life cycle. This would suggest an apparatus built no later 

than 2005. Used apparatus of this age are currently selling in the range of $400,000 to 

$550,000 (Canadian).  

There is typically no warranty stated or provided when purchasing a used fire apparatus. Due 

diligence should be applied in seeking the assistance of a qualified Emergency Vehicle 

Technician (EMT) or alternatively a mechanic familiar with major fire apparatus. Consideration 

should also be given to purchasing an apparatus originally designed and built by a major fire 

apparatus manufacturer in compliance with the applicable Canadian and NFPA standards for 

fire apparatus.  

It is recommended that the Township of Puslinch prioritize the purchase of a replacement 75 

foot Quint for Aerial #33.  

It is recommended that subject to the purchase of a new or used 75 foot Quint that the 

Township revise the major apparatus replacement plan to accommodate a 20-year life cycle 

from the time of construction for the purchased apparatus. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

143 

 

8.5.2 Additional Multi-use Vehicle 

Our review indicates that the department currently utilizes Pumper #32 (Initial Attack 

Apparatus) to facilitate a number of non-fire suppression activities such as fire inspections and 

public education programs. There are also a number of fire suppression related tasks where 

the department relies on personal vehicles (Volunteer Firefighters) to move equipment and 

additional resources to and from emergency scenes.   

In our view there is a current need within the department to have access to a multiuse vehicle 

such as a 4-wheel drive pick-up truck capable of caring 5 to 6 volunteer firefighters, their 

personal protective clothing and other fire suppression equipment to and from an emergency 

call. Providing this type of vehicle would eliminate the need for using Pumper #32 in non-fire 

suppression activities, and the use of personal vehicles. 

It is recommended that the Township of Puslinch purchase a 4-wheel drive pick-up truck 

capable of carrying 5 to 6 volunteer firefighters and associated department equipment.     

8.6 Satellite Station Major Apparatus Strategy 

The analysis within this MFP provides Council with an option to develop a satellite fire station. 

This decision will require consideration of the major apparatus to be deployed to this proposed 

station. Previous input from the OFMEM and FUS have indicated that this should include a 

triple combination pumper and 2,200 litre tanker.  

Subject to the purchase of the proposed 75 foot Quint, deployment of the current Pumper #31 

and Tanker #39 to the satellite station would achieve the OFMEM and FUS major apparatus 

requirements. This would leave the proposed 75 foot Quint and Tanker #38 at the current 

station.  

In our view the most significant challenge in implementing this strategy is the reduction of 

reserve apparatus at the current station as a result of purchasing the proposed 75 foot Quint.  

In our view the proposed satellite station will enhance the fire suppression capabilities of the 

PFRS. A previous financial analysis conducted by the PFRS has identified that, in part, the 

proposed satellite station and major apparatus are eligible for development charge funding.  

In our view consideration should be given to purchasing a new or used triple combination 

pumper, similar to Pumper #31, for the proposed satellite station. This would provide the 

opportunity to leave Pumper #31 at the current station and sustain the proposed 75 foot Quint 

as the Township’s only reserve major apparatus and aerial device.  

As indicated within the Aerial #33 Replacement Strategy there are two options for purchasing 

this type of apparatus, tendering and purchasing a new apparatus, or alternatively purchasing 

a used apparatus. In consultation with apparatus manufacturers a new triple combination 

pumper is estimated to cost between $500,000 and $750,000 (Canadian) subject to the 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

144 

 

specifications, and exchange rate of the Canadian dollar that has a major bearing on the U.S. 

manufacturers.  

Depending on the age of a used triple combination pumper the price can range significantly. If 

the Township chooses to purchase a used triple combination pumper we suggest that it also 

have a minimum of 10 years life expectancy remaining of its 20 year life cycle. This would 

suggest an apparatus built no later than 2005. Used apparatus of this age are currently selling 

in the range of $150,000 to $300,000 (Canadian).  

Subject to Council’s consideration of the proposed Satellite Station it is recommended that the 

Township purchase a new or used triple combination pumper for operation from the proposed 

station. 

8.7 Diesel Emissions 

The Ontario Fire Service has identified health and safety 

concerns related to diesel exhaust emissions from major 

apparatus stored within a fire station. In response, the 

Ministry of Labour, Section 21 Guidance Note #3-1 was 

developed to assist municipalities in responding to these 

concerns raised.  

This guidance note includes a number of actions that 

should be taken to limit the exposure of the diesel 

emissions. The following is an excerpt from Guidance 

Note #3-1 that states: 

“The Section 21 Committee strongly recommends the installation of direct capture type exhaust 

system extractors when stations are being renovated or newly constructed. Consideration 

should be given to having direct capture type exhaust extractors installed in all existing fire 

stations”. 

The fire service industry has responded to the need to limit 

diesel emission exposure by identifying monitoring equipment 

and technologies other than direct capture to address this 

concern.  The Township of Puslinch has installed diesel 

emission monitoring equipment that automatically activates 

fans to exhaust any emissions.  Regular maintenance of the 

sensors and equipment is required to ensure this equipment if 

functioning as designed at all times to sustain compliance with 

the Ministry of Labour, Section 21 Guidance Note #3-1. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

145 

 

8.8 Equipment 

Where life cycles and conditions warrant, small equipment 

replacement (e.g., portable pumps, generators, etc.), should 

coincide with the apparatus capital replacement plan. The 

department should also budget for equipment replacement 

within the annual operating budget for smaller equipment 

replacement. 

Industry best practices and manufacturers’ directions suggest 

personal protective equipment, such as firefighters bunker 

gear, should be replaced based on a ten-year life cycle. 

Targeting an annual replacement strategy of six to ten sets per year is one way to manage the 

capital costs of this strategy, as well as maintain an appropriate life cycle replacement plan.  

Life cycle planning is currently utilized where possible for other equipment replacement 

subject to some equipment that may have significant wear and tear as a result of higher than 

anticipated use through training or emergency response. In these situations the PFRS attempts 

to complete replacement as soon as possible, but may be required to identify specific 

operating budget funding for replacement. 

It is recommended that the PFRS develop a life cycle replacement plan for all equipment 

including firefighters bunker gear and self-contained breathing apparatus based on industry 

best practices and manufacturers’ directions. 

8.9 Fire Station, Major Apparatus, & Equipment Summary and 
Recommendations 

Our review of the major apparatus and equipment used by the PFRS reflects that of a well-

equipped and maintained fire department. The PFRS faces similar challenges to many smaller 

fire departments in completing repairs in a timely fashion without impacting the level of 

services provided. Standardizing equipment through enhanced life cycle planning and 

developing a reserve major apparatus policy consistent with the life cycle planning identified 

within this review will assist the department.  

Recommendations for the Fire Station, Major Apparatus and Equipment include the 

following:  

41. That the Township of Puslinch prioritize the purchase of a replacement 75 foot Quint 
for Aerial #33.  

42. That subject to the purchase of a new or used 75 foot Quint that the Township revise 
the major apparatus replacement plan to accommodate a 20 year life cycle from the 
time of construction for the purchased apparatus. 

43. That the Township of Puslinch purchase a 4-wheel drive pick-up truck capable of 
carrying 5 to 6 volunteer firefighters and associated department equipment.     



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

146 

 

44. Subject to Council’s consideration of the proposed Satellite Station it is recommended 
that the Township purchase a new or used triple combination pumper for operation 
from the proposed station. 

45. That the PFRS develop a life cycle replacement plan for all equipment including 
firefighters bunker gear and self-contained breathing apparatus based on industry best 
practices and manufacturer’s directions. 

 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

147 

 

9.0 Communications & Technology 

Communications within the Township’s Fire and Rescue Services consists of dispatch 

procedures and equipment for rescue operations as well as internal communication between 

the members of the fire and rescue services. 

9.1 Fire Dispatch 

9.1.1 Existing Dispatch 

The initial dispatch component is outsourced to the 

Guelph Department. Guelph pages the PFRS 

volunteer firefighters and the firefighters respond 

to the page. The ‘IamResponding’ screen shows 

who is coming to the emergency call. The first 

firefighter in the fire station takes over dispatch 

from Guelph and remains as dispatcher until the 

call is done. All firefighters are trained in this 

dispatch function.   

9.1.2 New Dispatch 

The Puslinch Fire and Rescue Service will be transferring their entire dispatch service to the 

Guelph Fire Department in 2015. This transfer of service will give Puslinch the ability to provide 

an increase in both initial response and depth of response because it puts their first responding 

firefighter arriving at the fire station on the first truck leaving the station instead of sitting in 

station functioning as a dispatcher.  

9.2 Radio Communications 

PRFS uses Motorola portable radios for hand-held and in-vehicle communications.  The 

department has an SOG and provides targeted training for radio operations. 

The PFRS uses a voice recorder system to record radio traffic and Town-owned phone lines 

(with the exception of the Simplex Channel).  

9.3 Internal Department Communications 

All firefighters carry pagers and personal cell phones to activate a 

screen in the fire station which identifies that they are responding to 

the call (“IamResponding” cell phone application and in-station 

interface).  This system is working very well for the department.  The 

PRFS hopes to improve the use of this technology by adding 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

148 

 

onboard tablets within the front-line responding apparatus to connect this information to 

trucks and crews beyond the station.  

9.4 Communications and Technology Summary and Recommendations 

Revising the dispatch services agreement with Guelph Fire Department is expected to serve the 

Township well and meet the needs of the Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services.  

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

149 

 

10.0 Economic Circumstances 

The detailed analysis of the current economic circumstances of the Township of Puslinch is 

contained within Appendix H.  This appendix relates to PFSG 02-03-01 “Economic 

Circumstances” located in Appendix E. 

10.1 Summary of Economic Circumstances  

The Township of Puslinch has taken proactive and creative steps to introduce financial 

strategies targeted at sustainably managing property tax increases, while sustaining 

appropriate service levels in all areas to meet the community’s needs.   

Information provided by the County of Wellington indicates that the Township of Puslinch will 

continue to experience population growth, totaling approximately 31.8% between 2011 and 

2041.   

The Township’s overall municipal operating costs (excluding amortization) grew from 

$3,477,522 in 2009 to $4,406,331 in 2014, representing a 26.7% increase; in comparison, 

operating costs relating to fire services increase by 1.77% over the same period, from $725,243 

in 2009 to $738,045 in 2014. 

Over a similar period, the cost to deliver fire services per capita reduced by 4.46%, from 

$105.21 in 2009 to $100.52 in 2014. Costs per $1,000 of assessed property value lessened by 

30.45% between 2009 and 2014, while costs per household decreased by 1.81% between 2009 

and 2014. 

Relative to a sample of nine comparable municipalities across Ontario using 2014 data, the cost 

of fire protection services per capita in the Township of Puslinch were 43% above the sample 

average, costs per $1,000 of assessed property value were 19.61% lower than the sample 

average. Costs per household were 22.95% higher than the average of sampled municipalities. 

This analysis demonstrates that the cost of fire protection services rendered by the Township 

of Puslinch in relation to the overall Township operating budget have increased slightly in the 

past several years, and range in comparison to similar communities.  

Considering the financial realities and sustainability of delivering fire protection services is an 

integral element of the master fire planning process.  This MFP incudes recommendations that, 

subject to Council’s consideration and approval, will result in further increase to the cost of fire 

protection services within the Township. 

 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

150 

 

11.0 Public Consultation Process 

The process of developing a Master Fire Plan for the Township of Puslinch involved various 

consultation activities.  Effective  communication and consultation with  stakeholders  and  the  

community  is  essential  to  ensure  that  those  responsible  for implementing  this  Master 

Fire Plan,  and  those  with  a  vested  interest,  understand  the  basis  on  which certain 

decisions are made and why particular actions are required.   

11.1 Steering Committee 

The Steering Committee was comprised of the following members, including Township staff 

and Council members: 

• Fire Chief’ 

• Deputy Fire Chief of Administration ‘ 

• Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) / Clerk’ 

• Director of Finance / Treasurer. 

11.2 Project Meetings 

Throughout this study, the Dillon team met with the Steering Committee to keep them abreast 

of study progress.  The following meetings took place: 

• Project Meeting #1 Project Initiation – December 3, 2014; 

• Project Meeting #2 Preliminary Findings & Recommendations – April 1, 2015; 

• Project Meeting #3 Second Preliminary Findings & recommendations – June 11, 2015; 

• Project Meeting #4 Present Draft Report – October 8, 2015; 

• Project Meeting #5 Present Final Report to Council – TBD. 

11.3 Stakeholder Consultation 

Stakeholders can provide valuable input at each step of the process, providing information 

about context and background from different perspectives.  This helps to identify issues and 

needs associated with the fire rescue service.  As well it provides information that is used for 

study analysis and recommendation phases.  Engaging stakeholders helps ensure that multiple 

perspectives can be brought to the master fire planning process. 

11.3.1 Interviews with Key Staff and Stakeholders 

Information and feedback was collected from key staff and stakeholders via informal 

interviews held following the Project Initiation Meeting.  This was an opportunity to gather 

background information for the environmental scan and input on strengths, opportunities, 

challenges and threats from the point of view of these key staff and stakeholders.  This was an 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

151 

 

essential stage in developing strategic goals and objectives for the master fire planning process. 

The following key staff and stakeholders were interviewed: 

• Fire Chief; 

• Deputy Fire Chief of Administration; 

• Fire Prevention Officer; 

• Chief Administrative Officer (CAO)/Clerk; and 

• Director of Finance/Treasurer. 

11.3.2 Volunteer Firefighter Stakeholder Session 

A stakeholder session was held at the Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services fire stations. The 

session was held on Wednesday December 3, 2014.   

A presentation was delivered to stakeholder group to introduce the master fire planning 

process.  This was followed by open discussion to gather feedback from these key stakeholders 

regarding the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and challenges of the fire department for 

consideration in the Master Fire Plan.   

11.3.3 Targeted Stakeholder Telephone Consultation 

The purpose of the targeted stakeholder telephone consultation was to solicit feedback from 

key stakeholders regarding their experiences and understanding of the current services PFRS 

provides. The key stakeholders contacted included a mix of institutions, businesses, and 

community organizations.  

Seven key community stakeholders were identified by PFRS staff.  These stakeholders were 

contacted via telephone and asked to participate in a survey.  These telephone surveys were 

carried out to develop an understanding of the services provided by Puslinch Fire and Rescue 

Services to provide input to the Master Fire Plan. The stakeholder engagement is on-going and 

the results will help enhance the assessment of the department’s strengths and weaknesses 

and will feed into the development of recommendations throughout the Master Fire Plan.  

The survey was structured in three main sections: (1) general information, (3) core services, 

and (3) general comments. General information gathered included the name of the business or 

community group and the core services provided or accessed by the group or business. The 

service level section was composed of one to three questions for each of the seven core 

services: fire suppression, rescue, training, fire medical response, public education, fire 

investigation, and fire inspection. The last section provided opportunity for general comments 

related to the services provided by PFRS.  

Results for General Information 

Table 25 illustrates whether the external stakeholders have used any services as provided by 

PFRS within the past five years. Nearly all respondents made use of some form of services 

provided by PFRS.  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

152 

 

TABLE 25:  BUSINESS/COMMUNITY GROUP/INSTITUTION USE OF PFRS’S FIRE SERVICES IN PAST 5 
YEARS 

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 5 

No 2 

Table 26 summarizes the level of awareness that PFRS is operated by part-time and volunteer 

department. All respondents were aware. 

TABLE 26:  AWARENESS OF PFRS OPERATION AS A PART-TIME AND VOLUNTEER DEPARTMENT  

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 7 

No 0 

Table 27 summarizes the level of awareness of the PFRS test trail to ascertain the need for a 

satellite fire station to be located in the western portion of the Township. 

TABLE 27:  AWARENESS OF PFRS’S TEST TRIAL STATION   

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 4 

No 3 

 

Table 28 indicates that each core service has been accessed at least once by an external 

stakeholder. (Stakeholders were permitted to indicate use of multiple services if appropriate). 

The most frequently accessed service included Public Education, followed by Fire Suppression.  

TABLE 28:  PFRS’S CORE SERVICE ACCESSED IN PAST 5 YEARS 

Services Frequency 

Fire Suppression 1 

Emergency Medical Services 1 

Rescue 0 

Training 0 

Public Education 2 

Fire Investigation 1 

Fire Inspection 2 

Results for Core Services 

The results presented in this section address the questions pertaining to each of the seven core 

services provided. 

Fire Suppression 

Table 29 indicates that stakeholders rate fire suppression services very highly - six respondents 

indicated that fire suppression services are very reliable. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

153 

 

TABLE 29:  RELIABILITY OF RESPONSES TO FIRE INCIDENTS 

Available Responses Frequency 

Very Reliable 6 

Somewhat Reliable 0 

Unreliable 0 

No Opinion 1 

Table 30 summarizes the impact of the existing fire station location and its proximity to the 

respondents. 

TABLE 30:  IMPACT OF THE EXISTING FIRE STATION LOCATION  

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 1 

No 5 

Other 1 

Table 31 indicates whether respondents found that PFRS policies or procedures negatively 

impacted the stakeholder’s ability to successfully carry out their organization’s mandate. All 

respondents indicated that they had positive, good working relationship with PFRS.  

TABLE 31:  IMPACT OF PFRS’S POLICIES/PROCEDURES ON STAKEHOLDER’S MANDATE 

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 0 

No 7 

Rescue 

Rescue related core services include water rescue, confined space, high or low slope rescue, 

motor vehicles and hazardous material. Table 32 summaries the stakeholders’ perception of 

the value of these services as part of the PFRS core services delivered. All seven respondents 

indicated that Rescue services are a valuable component of the PFRS core services. 

TABLE 32:  PERCEPTION OF VALUE OF RESCUE-RELATED SERVICES AS PART OF PFRS’S CORE SERVICES 

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 7 

No 0 

Training 

Respondents were asked whether or not they or their Business/Community Group/Institution 

participates in familiarization training with PFRS. Table 33 summarizes the results with three of 

the seven stakeholders responding “yes”. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

154 

 

TABLE 33:  BUSINESS/COMMUNITY GROUP/INSTITUTION USE OF PFRS’S TRAINING 

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 3 

No 4 

 

Table 34 indicates how effective the stakeholders thought the training was, all of the 

respondents that have participated in training thought it was very effective. 

TABLE 34 RELIABILITY OF RESPONSES TO FIRE INCIDENTS 

Available Responses Frequency 

Very Effective 3 

Somewhat Effective 0 

Ineffective 0 

N/A 4 

Respondents that answered no to participating in familiarization training with the PRFS were 

asked whether or not they or their Business/Community Group/Institution would benefit from 

familiarization training with PFRS. Table 35 summarizes the results with three of the seven 

stakeholders responding “yes”. 

TABLE 35:  BUSINESS/COMMUNITY GROUP/INSTITUTION USE OF PFRS’S TRAINING 

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 4 

No 0 

N/A 3 

Public Education 

Respondents were asked if they or their business/community group/institution has ever 

received public education services. Table 36 illustrates that of the seven respondents six have 

received public education services from PFRS.  

TABLE 36:  RECEIVED FIRE EDUCATION SERVICES FROM PFRS’S 

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 5 

No 2 

Respondents were asked to indicate if they have ever requested public education services from 

PFRS. Table 37 illustrates that one respondent has requested fire education service needs from 

PFRS.  

TABLE 37:  SATISFACTION WITH PFRS’S FIRE EDUCATION SERVICES 

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 1 

No 6 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

155 

 

Respondents were asked to indicate if PFRS was meeting their needs for fire education services. 

Table 38 illustrates that six respondents felt that PFRS was meeting their fire education service 

needs. Where gaps were identified included educating the businesses on fire safety.  

TABLE 38:  SATISFACTION WITH PFRS’S FIRE EDUCATION SERVICES 

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 6 

No 1 

Respondents were asked to rate the Fire Prevention strategies of Puslinch Fire and Rescue 

Services. Table 39 illustrates that six respondents felt that PFRS had in place effective Fire 

Prevention strategies.  

TABLE 39:  SATISFACTION WITH PFRS’S FIRE PREVENTION STRATEGIES 

Available Responses Frequency 

Very effective 2 

Somewhat effective 1 

Ineffective 1 

Undecided 3 

Fire Investigation  

Respondents were asked to indicate whether they were aware of PFRS’s capabilities to 

investigate the cause and determination of fires within the Township of Puslinch. Table 40 

summarizes the state of awareness of various stakeholders to PFRS’s investigation capabilities. 

Six respondents were aware of this PFRS service. 

TABLE 40:  AWARENESS OF PFRS’S INVESTIGATION CAPABILITIES 

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 6 

No 1 

Fire Inspection 

Table 41 indicates when stakeholders had been last inspected by PFRS. The table illustrates 

that three respondents were inspected within the past year, two within the last two years, two 

within the past five years, and one were never inspected. 

TABLE 41:  STAKEHOLDERS INSPECTED WITHIN THE PAST FIVE YEARS 

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes, within the past 5 years 2 

Yes, within the past 2 years 1 

Yes, within the past year 3 

Unsure 0 

No 1 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

156 

 

Respondents were asked if they have ever requested an inspection. Table 42 illustrates that 

two stakeholders have requested an inspection. 

TABLE 42:  REQUESTED AN INSPECTION 

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 2 

No 5 

Respondents who were not inspected were asked for comments. The most common reason 

was that inspections were not warranted. 

11.4 Results for General Comments 

The results presented in this section address the questions pertaining to the general operation 

of Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services.  

Respondents were asked to comment on concerns or issues related to any of the services 

provided by PFRS. Five stakeholders did not express any issues or concerns. Of the comments, 

concerns raised were regarding the department being overworked, if two fires happen 

simultaneously there will not be enough resources, and a concern there is no need for a 

second fire station.   

Respondents were asked to comment on what PFRS does well. All seven stakeholders 

responded. Common themes indicated related to professionalism, reliability, and community 

presence.  

Respondents were asked whether the core services described in this survey align with the 

needs of the community. Table 43 illustrates that all stakeholders agree with the community’s 

need for the core services described.  

TABLE 43:  AWARENESS OF PFRS’S INVESTIGATION CAPABILITIES 

Available Responses Frequency 

Yes 7 

No 0 

11.5 Summary 

The overall results of engagement with seven stakeholders were overwhelmingly positive. 

Stakeholders were aware of the roles and structure of PFRS, with much appreciation for the 

value that PFRS adds to the community through its core services. Many of the stakeholders 

maintain strong, working relationships with PFRS. The primary gaps addressed included 

suggestions to place greater emphasis on public education. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

157 

 

12.0 Implementation Plan 

Included within the identified outcomes of this master fire planning process were the 

objectives to identify strategic priorities, including detailed action plans for the 1-5 year, 

5-10 year, and 10-20 year planning horizons. In our view this is a common objective of 

municipalities that have been conducting this planning process on an ongoing process 

including regular updates at five year intervals.  

It is our understanding that this is the first time the Township of Puslinch has undertaken the 

development of a Master Fire Plan. In our experience working with other municipalities 

considering their first master fire plan, it is typical to see a greater number of 

recommendations impacting the short-term (1-3 year) planning horizon than those that would 

relate to the longer planning horizons. As such the strategies and recommendations contained 

within this MFP focus on establishing strategic priorities, service delivery performance 

measures, and operational strategies to respond to previous reviews such as those completed 

by the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management.  

Where possible this proposed MFP has considered the five, 10 and 20 year planning horizons 

related to future community growth and community planning. However, the strategies and 

recommendations presented focus on the short-term (2015, 2016 and 2017).   

This proposed MFP is intended to provide Council with a strategic framework for the delivery 

of fire protection and emergency services in seeking the most cost effective and efficient level 

of fire protection and emergency services resulting in the best value for the community.  

To assist Council and staff in the process of considering both the short-term operational and 

financial impacts of the proposed MFP we have found the following implementation strategy 

to be very effective. This strategy has been successful in achieving the objective of Council 

approving the proposed Master Fire Plan while recognizing Council’s commitment to fiscal 

management in the delivery of all municipal services.  

The following two strategies are presented for consideration to guide the next steps of 

implementing the proposed Master Fire Plan:  

1. That the proposed Master Fire Plan be approved by Council as the strategic 
framework for the delivery of fire protection and emergency services within the 
Township of Puslinch; and 
 

2. That the Fire Chief and Director of Finance/Treasurer be directed to develop a 
detailed implementation plan for the Master Fire Plan including the operational and 
financial impacts for Council’s consideration.  

To assist in determining the operational and financial priorities/impacts related to 

implementing the proposed Master Fire Plan the following implementation plan is provided 

below in Table 44. Estimated operating and capital expenses have been provided (where 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

158 

 

possible) to provide information based on the level of analysis completed, and based on our 

experience in working with other similar communities.  

TABLE 44: PROPOSED IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

Operational 
Priority 

Recommendation 

Estimated Funding Required 

Operating 
Budget 

Capital 
Budget 

2016 

That consideration be given to increasing the hours of 
work for the part-time Administrative Assistant from 
the current 10 hours per week to 24 hours per week 
to support the administrative needs of the PFRS. 

$14,334 ---- 

2016 

That the administrative workspace for the PFRS be 
reviewed in consideration of the recommendations of 
the Master Fire Plan and the current facilities review 
of the Township administrative offices. 

To be determined  To be determined 

2015 
That the Fire Chief be directed to prepare a fire 
department Annual Report including an updated 
Community Risk Profile for consideration by Council. 

---- ---- 

2015 

That the Establishing and Regulating By-Law #12/10 
be reviewed and revised subject to the consideration 
and approval of the proposed Master Fire Plan by 
Council. 

---- ---- 

2016 

That the part-time Deputy Fire Chief Appointment By-
law #019/14 be reviewed and revised subject to the 
consideration and approval of the proposed Master 
Fire Plan by Council. 

---- ---- 

 
2015 

That following Council’s consideration of the 
proposed Master Fire Plan that the Fire Chief be 
directed to review the current Mutual Aid Agreements 
in consideration of the fire suppression deployment 
options and utilization of automatic aid presented 
within the proposed Master Fire Plan.  

---- ---- 

 
 

2015 

That the Township prioritize the full implementation 
of the updated fire dispatch services agreement with 
the City of Guelph including the provisions of 
performance measures similar to those identified 
within the NFPA 1221 standard, or alternatively begin 
investigating alternative solutions for the provisions 
of full fire dispatch services. 

Current Rate Current rate 

2015 
That the PFRS develop distinct formats for both 
Standard Operating Guidelines and Department 
Policies. 

---- ---- 

 
 

2015 

That the format for all PFRS Department Policies and 
Standard Operating Guidelines be revised to include a 
date of approval and signed approval by the Fire 
Chief or designate, and that all Department Policies 
and Standard Operating Guidelines be reviewed on 
annual basis as required by SOG #0-103.  

---- ---- 

 
2016 

That additional licensing be provided for the 
FIREHOUSE records management software program 
to further enhance the records management practices 
of the PFRS.  

One-time fee of 
$675 and $120 on-

going cost per 
license 

--- 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

159 

 

Operational 
Priority 

Recommendation Estimated Funding Required 

 
2015 

That Council approve the strategic priorities identified 
within the proposed Master Fire Plan to guide the 
development and delivery of fire protection and 
emergency services within the Township of Puslinch. 

---- ---- 

2015 

That subject to Council’s consideration and approval 
of the proposed Master Fire Plan that a Fire 
Prevention Policy be created utilizing the framework 
of PFSG 04-45-12 “Fire Prevention Policy” for 
consideration and approval by Council, and attached 
as an appendix to the fire department Establishing 
and Regulating By-law. 

---- ---- 

2015 

That subject to the consideration and approval of the 
proposed public fire safety education activities and 
program cycle objectives by Council that they be 
included within the proposed Fire Prevention Policy 
and proposed Establishing and Regulating By-Law.  

---- ---- 

2016 

That Council consider the provision of 20 hours per 
week to support a dedicated position of part-time 
Public Fire and Life Safety Educator reporting to the 
part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer with the 
responsibility to coordinate and optimize the public 
fire safety education objectives of the PFRS. 

$25,667 To be Determined  

2015 

That the PFRS Smoke Alarm Program be updated as a 
department Standard Operating Guideline and 
included within the proposed Fire Prevention Policy 
for consideration and approval by Council. 

---- ---- 

2015 
That PFSG OFM-TG-01-2012 be considered in 
developing the proposed Fire Prevention Policy for 
consideration and approval by Council. 

---- ---- 

2015 

That subject to the consideration and approval of the 
proposed fire inspection goals and objectives by 
Council that they be included within the proposed Fire 
Prevention Policy and proposed Establishing and 
Regulating By-Law.  

---- ---- 

2016 

That consideration be given to increasing the hours of 
work for the part-time Chief Fire Prevention Officer 
from the current 16 to 24 hours per week to achieve 
the proposed fire inspection frequencies identified 
within the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

$12,863 ---- 

2016 

That the PFRS develop a comprehensive annual 
training program based on the NFPA Professional 
Qualifications Standards and the core functions of a 
comprehensive annual training program identified 
within the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

---- ---- 

2016 

That the Fire Chief be directed to review the 
participation of the PFRS in joint training initiatives 
with the other Fire Department within Wellington 
County in seeking efficiencies in the provision of 
training programs for the PFRS. 

---- ---- 

2016 
That the PFRS include live fire training as a required 
element within the proposed comprehensive annual 

---- ---- 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

160 

 

Operational 
Priority 

Recommendation Estimated Funding Required 

training program.  

2016 

That the PFRS reduce the current level of emergency 
response services to Confined Space Rescue and 
Slope/High Angle Rope Rescue incidents from an 
operational capability to an awareness level of 
response, and that these service levels be reflected in 
the proposed Establishing and Regulating By-law. 

---- ---- 

2016 

That the Fire Chief be directed to investigate the 
options available for the delivery of operational level 
emergency response for incidents including Confined 
Space Rescue, Slope/High Angle Rope Rescue, 
HAZMAT response, and Trench Rescue. 

To be determined ---- 

2016 

That the PFRS consider adoption of the Blue Card Fire 
Command Training Program as a component of the 
proposed Comprehensive Annual Training Program. 

One-time fee of 
$19,865 and 

$2,437 on-going 
cost 

---- 

2017 
That the PFRS develop a succession plan for the PFRS 
including opportunities to enhance the leadership and 
management training available for all Officers. 

---- ---- 

2015 

That the emergency response performance objectives 
identified within the proposed Master Fire Plan be 
considered and approved by Council and included 
within the new Establishing and Regulating By-law. 

---- ---- 

2016/2017 

That the PFRS continue to participate in the Superior 
Tanker Shuttle Accreditation process, and where 
possible identify additional alternative water supply 
locations to provide further enhancements to the 
accreditation. 

---- ---- 

2016 

That the Fire Chief be directed to review the elements 
presented within the proposed Master Fire Plan for 
sustaining medical responses, including reporting to 
Council on the actions to be taken for each element 
presented.  

---- ---- 

2016 
That consideration be given to reducing the hours of 
work for the part-time Fire Chief from the current 30 
hours per week to 24 hours per week. 

($7,667) ---- 

2016 

That consideration be given to making the position of 
part-time Deputy Fire Chief of Administration 
permanent with direct responsibility for the Fire 
Prevention, Public Education and Training Divisions 
with a set schedule of 24 hours per week.  

$24,432 ---- 

2016 

That consideration be given to making the position of 
part-time Deputy Fire Chief of Operations permanent 
with direct responsibility for the Fire Suppression 
Division with a set schedule of 24 hours per week.  

$24,432  

2016 

That Council implement the strategies to optimize the 
Volunteer Firefighter Recruitment Process identified 
within the proposed Master Fire Plan including 
increasing the approved complement of the PFRS by 6 
volunteer firefighters. 

$37,620 $24,000 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan Final Report  
November 2015 – 14-1138 

161 

 

Operational 
Priority 

Recommendation Estimated Funding Required 

2016 
That Council implement the strategy to optimize the 
use of part-time resources included within the 
proposed Master Fire Plan. 

---- ---- 

2016 

That a revised on-call process be implemented to 
ensure a minimum response to include a minimum of 
six volunteer firefighters and a senior officer at all 
times. 

---- ---- 

2016 

That a revised call-out process be considered to 
provide an option for alerting either the on-call crew, 
our alternatively all of the fire suppression resources 
of the PFRS. 

---- ---- 

2015 

That Council authorize the Chief Administrative 
Officer and Fire Chief to approach the City of 
Cambridge to negotiate a revised Automatic Aid 
Agreement for the provision of fire suppression 
services as reflected in the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

$6,150 ---- 

2015 

That Council authorize the Chief Administrative 
Officer and Fire Chief to approach the City of Guelph 
to negotiate an Automatic Aid Agreement for the 
provision of fire suppression services as reflected in 
the proposed Master Fire Plan. 

$17,220 ---- 

2016/2017 

That subject to Council’s desire to enhance the level 
of fire suppression and emergency services that site 
Option “C” as presented within the proposed Master 
Fire Plan including the addition of nine volunteer 
firefighters be considered.  

$120,000 $1,070,000 

2016 

That the Township of Puslinch prioritize the purchase 
of a replacement 75 foot Quint for Aerial #33.  

---- 

Used $400,000 to 
$550,000 

New $750,000 to 
$900,000 

2016 

That the Township of Puslinch purchase a 4-wheel 
drive pick-up truck capable of carrying 5 to 6 
volunteer firefighters and associated department 
equipment.     

$5,000 $30,000 

2016 

That subject to the purchase of a new or used 75 foot 
Quint that the Township revise the major apparatus 
replacement plan to accommodate a 20 year life cycle 
from the time of construction for the purchased 
apparatus. 

---- To be determined 

2017 

Subject to Council’s consideration of the proposed 
Satellite Station it is recommended that the Township 
purchase a new or used triple combination pumper 
for operation from the proposed station. 

---- 

Used $150,000 to 
$300,000 

New $500,000 to 
$750,000 

2016/2017 

That the PFRS develop a life cycle replacement plan 
for all equipment including firefighters bunker gear 
and self-contained breathing apparatus based on 
industry best practices and manufacturer’s directions. 

To be determined To be determined 

 

 



 

Appendix A 
A Comprehensive Fire Safety 

Effectiveness Model (PFSG 01-02-01) 
  

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138





















 

Appendix B 
B Framework for Setting Guidelines 

within a Provincial-Municipal 
Relationship (PFSG 00-00-01)  

  

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138













 

Appendix C 
C Master Planning Process for Fire 

Protection Services (PFSG 03-02-13)  

D  
  

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138





8/19/2015 Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire Safety Guidelines

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/FireServiceResources/PublicFireSafetyGuidelines/030213.html 1/2

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services ::
Public Fire Safety Guidelines
Master Planning Process for Fire Protection Services

Public Fire Safety Guidelines Subject Coding

PFSG 030213

Section

General

Date

March, 2000

Subject

Master Planning Process for Fire Protection Services

Page

Under Review
Purpose:

To outline a process and identify the components that may be used in the development and
preparation of an effective master fire plan for approval by council and implementation by
appropriate persons.

Introduction:

This guideline is a framework for municipal decision making which should link council policy
setting responsibility and the fire service operational expertise to accommodate short, medium or
long term planning.

Principles:

Goal:

The master fire plan is a strategic blueprint for fire protection that addresses all local needs and
circumstances based upon costs the community can afford

Guiding Principles:

The residents of any community are entitled to the most effective, efficient and safe fire
services possible
The content of existing collective agreements will be respected and the collective bargaining
process will be recognized as the appropriate channel for resolving labour relations issues under
collective agreements and the Fire Protection and Prevention Act
Collective bargaining issues affecting public safety will be identified
Those responsible must work within these parameters in making recommendations for improving
municipal fire services

Process:

The master fire plan is a component of the optimizing public fire safety model and the master fire
plan process should generate the following: 

a stated council commitment sanctioning development and preparation of the plan
identification of council approved fire protection options and the operational impacts of the policy
decisions on providing services
identification of persons responsible for preparation of the draft plan for council approval with



8/19/2015 Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire Safety Guidelines

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/FireServiceResources/PublicFireSafetyGuidelines/030213.html 2/2

appropriate time lines

Components:

The master fire plan components should include:

the mission statement, values and roles of the department
the necessary programs or projects approved by council
projected expenditures that the public can afford
schedules for developing, implementing and maintaining appropriate services

Are the RESULTS what we wanted?
NOTE: See PFSG #010101 for the complete Optimizing Model

Codes, Standards, Best Practices:

Codes, Standards, and Best Practices resources available to assist in establishing local policy on
this assessment are listed below. All are available at www.ontario.ca/firemarshal. Please feel free
to copy and distribute this document. We ask that the document not be altered in any way, that
the Office of the Fire Marshal be credited and that the documents be used for noncommercial
purposes only.

See also PFSG
010101 Fire Protection Review Process
020401 & 23 Capabilities of Existing Fire Protection Services
020301 Economic Circumstances
020212 & 03 Risk Assessment
030113 Report on Existing Fire Protection Services
043912 Fire Prevention Effectiveness Model

 

 

 

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-04-23.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/01-01-01.html
http://www.ontario.ca/firemarshal
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-02-03.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/01-01-01.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-39-12.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-04-01.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-02-12.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-03-01.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/03-01-13.html


 

Appendix D 
Fire Protection Review Process  
(PFSG 01-01-01)   

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138

































 

Appendix E 
E Economic Circumstances (PFSG 02-03-

01) 

 

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138









 

Appendix F 

F Comprehensive Community Fire Risk 
Assessment (PFSG 02-02-03) 

G  

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138











 

Appendix G 

H Capabilities of Existing Fire Protection 
Services (PFSG 02-04-01)  

I  

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138









 

Appendix H 

H - 1 

 

A Economic Circumstances 
 

 

  

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138





Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan – Appendix H 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

H - 2 

 

1.0 Appendix H Economic Circumstances 

1.1 Introduction 

Assessing the economic conditions related to the provision of municipal services, and 

specifically fire protection services is a core element in determining the “local needs and 

circumstances” as defined by the FPPA. 

 

This analysis reviews the costs and revenues of the Township and its fire rescue services and 

compares a number of key indicators with a peer group of municipalities to illustrate the 

current economic circumstances of the Township of Puslinch. The methodology contained 

within PFSG 02-03-01 “Economic Circumstances” has been applied as the template for 

assessing the current economic circumstances of the Township of Puslinch.   

1.2 Growth and Assessment 

In 1998 the Province of Ontario adopted Current Value Assessment (CVA). Value-based 

assessment systems, such as CVA, are the assessment standard used by most assessment 

jurisdictions in North America.  The CVA process utilizes three to five years of open market 

arm’s length sales in market areas to determine the current assessed value of a particular 

property within a community.  

 

The Township of Puslinch assessment comparison for the period 2009 to 2014 is provided in 

Table H1 below.  Overall the Township has a relatively small assessment base so a change in 

assessment, as a result revaluation on a commercial or industrial property or new assessment 

growth, can have a major impact in any given year. The lower than average 3.19% assessment 

growth in 2013 is an example is an example of these impacts. 

 

TABLE H1:  TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 2009 – 2014 CURRENT VALUE ASSESSMENT COMPARISON 

Year Assessed Value ($) 
Change over 

previous year ($) 

Change over 

previous year (%) 

2009 1,212,653,429 - - 

2010 1,332,264,863 119,611,434 9.87% 

2011 1,459,271,407 127,066,544 9.53% 

2012 1,586,185,578 126,914,171 8.70% 

2013 1,636,717,122 50,531,544 3.19% 

2014 1,774,379,583 137,662,461 8.41% 

(Information provided by Township of Puslinch Finance Department) 

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan – Appendix H 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

H - 3 

 

The Township of Puslinch projects that it will continue to experience population growth in the 

next several decades, totaling approximately 36.0% growth between 2011 and 2041. These 

growth projections are summarized below in Table H2. 

 

TABLE H2:  POPULATION PROJECTIONS, 2011-2041 

Year Population Projection 
% Growth 

(from previous year listed) 

2011 7,030 - 

2016
 7,550 7.40% 

2021 8,150 7.95% 

2026 8,890 9.08% 

2031 9,130 2.70% 

2036 9,160 0.33% 

2041 9,560 4.37% 

(Source: Wellington County Forecast Update) 

1.3 Municipal Revenues 

Revenues to support the capital and operating requirements of the Township of Puslinch are 

derived from a number of sources including property taxes, user fees, operating grants, 

licensing, payments in lieu (PIL) and other sources.  In addition to following municipal financial 

best practices the Township utilizes municipal performance measures as part of their 

commitment to financial management.  

 

Table H3 below provides a summary of the Township of Puslinch’s revenues for the period 

2009 to 2014. 

 

TABLE H3:  TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 2009 – 2014 REVENUE SUMMARY 

Year 
Property 

Tax 

Payments-

in-Lieu 
Grants 

User Fees, 

Licenses 

and Fines 

Revenue from 

other 

Municipalities 

Other Total 

2009 2,461,514 62,132   653,000  1,249,175 345,574 222,233 $4,993,628 

2010 3,086,575 76,191  1,721,976 1,171,503 0 512,160 $6,568,405 

2011 3,069,989 88,131 608,802 958,364 0 41,497 $4,766,783 

2012 3,172,207 93,679 660,580 1,259,487 75,818 323,503 $5,585,274 

2013 3,214,325 71,594 1,039,225 1,095,370 20,000 257,913 $5,698,427 

2014 3,362,229 87,941 1,048,339 1,220,727 35,000 372,600 $6,126,836 

(Information provided by 2009-2014 Financial Information Returns) 

  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan – Appendix H 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

H - 4 

 

Fire user fees include recoveries from the Ministry of Transport for emergency responses on 

provincial highways and specifically the Highway 401 corridor. Prior to 2013, these cost 

recoveries were allocated directly to the fire department’s development charges reserve fund. 

In 2014 the PFRS submitted a number of outstanding invoices to the Ministry of Transport for 

prior year’s emergency responses. The result was a one-time higher recovery of user fees in 

2014. 

 

The CPI or inflation rate for the Province of Ontario for the period 2009 to 2014 is presented in 

Table H4 below. 

 

TABLE H4:  PROVINCE OF ONTARIO CPI 2009 - 2014 

Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 
6-Year 

Average 

Consumer Price Index 113.7 116.5 120.1 121.8 123 125.9  

CPI Inflation Rate  2.5% 3.1% 1.4% 1.0% 2.4% 1.8% 

(Information provided by Statistics Canada) 

 

As noted in the above table, consumer price inflation rates in Ontario began to decline after 

peaking in 2011. 

1.4 Fire Protection Costs as a Percentage of the Overall Municipal Operating 
Costs 

Table H5 provides a comparison between the Township of Puslinch’s overall annual municipal 

operating costs relative to the annual operating costs specific to the provision of fire services. 

  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan – Appendix H 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

H - 5 

 

TABLE H5:  TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH ANNUAL OPERATING BUDGET IN COMPARISON TO 
FIRE PROTECTION COSTS, 2009 – 2014 

Year 
Annual Municipal 

Operating Costs 

Annual Fire and 

Rescue Operating 

Costs 

Fire Costs as % of 

Municipal Costs 

2009 3,477,522 725,243 20.9% 

2010 3,286,492 596,953 18.2% 

2011 3,258,880 584,502 17.9% 

2012 3,634,183 670,530 18.5% 

2013 3,718,552 644,985 17.3% 

2014 4,406,331 738,045 16.7% 

(Information provided by 2009-2014 Financial Information Returns) 

 

Over the period 2009 through 2014 the annual municipal operating costs have increased from 

$3,477,522 to $4,406,331 representing an increase of 26.7%. During the same period the 

operating costs for fire protections services have increased from $725,243 to $738,045 or 

1.77%. 

1.5 Fire Protection Costs Per Capita Basis 

Assessing the costs associated with providing fire protection services on a per capita basis (per 

person) provides one performance measurement tool for comparing fire protection costs of 

one municipality to those of comparable municipalities.  Utilizing comparisons such as this are 

consistent with PFSG 02-03-01 “Economic Circumstances.” Under the section “Factors to be 

Considered in Assessing the Local Economic Circumstances” the document identifies a wide 

range of factors including “per capita basis, assessment basis and per household” and a further 

factor that states these are to be considered with regard to the “relationship of all of the above 

with similar municipalities.” 

 

The per capita cost for fire protection services for the period 2009 to 2014 are included within 

Table H6 below. 

 

  



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan – Appendix H 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

H - 6 

 

TABLE H6:  TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH PER CAPITA COSTS FOR FIRE PROTECTION SERVICE 
FOR THE PERIOD 2009 -2014 

Year Population 

Annual Fire and 

Rescue Operating 

Costs 

Per Capita Cost 

2009 6,894 725,243 $105.21 

2010 6,982 596,953 $85.75 

2011 7,030 584,502 $83.14 

2012 7,134 670,530 $93.99 

2013 7,238 644,985 $89.11 

2014 7,342 738,045 $100.52 

Six-Year Average $92.95 

(Information provided by Township of Puslinch Finance Department)

 

 

Over the period 2009 through 2014 the population of the Township of Puslinch increased from 

6,894 to 7,342 representing an increase of 6.5%. During the same period the cost per capita 

fluctuated although in 2014 it was slightly higher than the 6-year average of $92.95. 

1.6 Fire Protection Costs Assessment Basis 

Evaluating the costs for fire protection, based on an assessment basis, provides another 

consistent performance measurement tool for comparing the costs of fire protection services 

in relation to similar municipalities. 

 

Table H7 provides an evaluation of the assessment cost for fire protection services from 2009 

to 2014. 

 

TABLE H7:  TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH ASSESSMENT COSTS FOR 
FIRE PROTECTION SERVICE FOR 2009 – 2014 

Year 
Total Assessed 

Value 

Fire and Rescue 

Operating Costs 

Operating Cost per 

$1,000 Assessed Value 

2009 1,212,653,429 725,243 $0.60 

2010 1,332,364,863 596,953 $0.45 

2011 1,459,271,407 584,502 $0.40 

2012 1,586,185,578 670,530 $0.42 

2013 1,636,717,122 644,985 $0.39 

2014 1,774,379,583 738,045 $0.42 

(Information provided

 
by 2009-2014 Financial Information Returns)

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan – Appendix H 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

H - 7 

 

Over the period 2009 through 2014 the cost per $1,000 of assessed value for providing fire 

protection services decreased from $0.60 to $0.42 representing a decrease of 30.45%.  

 

A similar measure is given by account for the cost to provide fire services per household. These 

values for the period 2009 to 2014 are shown in Table H8. 

 

TABLE H8:  TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH COSTS PER HOUSEHOLD FIRE PROTECTION SERVICE 
FOR THE PERIOD 2009 -2014 

Year 

Total 

Residential 

Assessment 

Total 

Assessment 

Residential 

Share of 

Assessment 

Fire 

Department 

Operating 

Budget 

Residential 

Share of 

Costs 

Households 
Cost per 

Household 

2009 972,537,963 1,212,653,429 80.2% 725,243 581,638.85  2,798  $207.88 

2010 1,184,496,855 1,332,364,863 88.9% 596,953 530,702.19  2,849  $186.28 

2011 1,146,133,151 1,459,271,407 78.5% 584,502 459,076.44  2,849  $161.14 

2012 1,237,860,329 1,586,185,578 78.0% 670,530 523,282.08  2,925  $178.90 

2013 1,484,976,545 1,636,717,122 90.7% 644,985 585,188.23  2,943  $198.84 

2014 1,510,181,804 1,774,379,583 85.1% 738,045 628,153.15  2,968  $211.64 

(Information provided by Township of Puslinch Finance Department)

 

 

Over the period 2009 through 2014 the cost per household for providing fire protection 

services increased from $207.88 to $211.64 representing an increase of 1.81%. 

1.7 Comparable Communities 

To conduct the analysis of comparable communities, consideration was first given to 

developing a list of indicators that would reflect an accurate representation for comparison 

analysis. The indicators identified included the following: 

 Population 

 Number of Residential Dwellings 

 Geographic Area of the Municipality 

 Density Per Square Kilometre  

 Simplified Risk Assessment 

The Statistics Canada “Municipal Census Profiles” and the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and 
Housing “2014 FIR Data” were the data sources used to research these indicators in order to 
identify the list of comparable communities utilized within this report.  

 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan – Appendix H 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

H - 8 

 

In developing the list of comparable communities, priority was given to building a sample of 

municipalities in geographic proximity to the Township of Puslinch and those of comparable 

population size. Variation within the sample set allows for consideration of a variety of possible 

long-term outcomes. 

 

Table H9 provides a summary of the comparable indicators, and the representative 

comparable communities that were identified. 

 
TABLE H9:  SUMMARY OF SIMILAR COMMUNITIES ANALYSES 

Community 
Population 

(2014) 
Households 

(2014) 
Land Area 

(km2) 
Population 

Density (km2) 

Township of Guelph/Eramosa 13,030 4,280 291.71 44.67 

Town of Erin 12,220 4,046 297.75 41.04 

Township of Wellington North 12,170 4,540 526.28 23.12 

Township of Wellesley 10,713 1,825 277.79 38.57 

Town of Mono 8,895 2,965 277.78 32.02 

Town of Minto 8,880 3,221 300.57 29.54 

Township of Champlain 7,711 4,021 207.24 37.21 

Town of Plympton-Wyoming 7,452 3,458 318.76 23.38 

Township of Puslinch 6,369 2,968 214.61 29.68 

Township of East Zorra-Tavistock 6,200 2,645 242.30 25.59 

(Source: Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 2014 FIR Data, and Statistics Canada) 

1.8 Comparable Communities Fire Protection Model 

The next step of analysis included an evaluation of the fire protection model (staffing) and 

operating costs based on three primary factors: cost per capita; cost per $1,000 of assessed 

value; and cost per household. To ensure consistency this analysis was conducted using 

OFMEM’s “Municipal Emergency calls, personnel, response time by Month Weekday Hour” and 

the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing’s “2014 FIR Data”. The results of this analysis are 

summarized in Table H10. 

 

The average cost per capita for fire protections services of the nine communities compared 

was $76.87 in comparison to the cost per capita within the Township of Puslinch of $115.88 or 

51% higher. 

 

The average cost per $1,000 assessed value for fire protections services of the nine 

communities compared was $0.51 in comparison to the cost per $1,000 assessed value within 

the Township of Puslinch of $0.41 or 7% lower. 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan – Appendix H 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

H - 9 

 

 

The average cost per dwelling unit for fire protections services of the nine communities 

compared was $175.54 in comparison to the cost per dwelling unit within the Township of 

Puslinch of $211.64 or 21% higher. 

TABLE H10:  SUMMARY OF COMPARABLE COMMUNITIES ANALYSIS 

Community 
Full-
time 
Staff 

Volunteer 
Staff 

Part-
time 
Staff 

Operating 
cost 

Cost Per 
Capita 

Cost Per 
$1,000 

Assessment 

Cost Per 
Household 

Township of 
Guelph/Eramosa 

0 43 2 $725,343.00 $55.67 $0.33 $146.32 

Town of Erin 0 57 4 $931,336.00 $76.21 $0.47 $204.97 

Township of 
Wellington North 

1 42 1 $667,938.00 $54.88 $0.48 $107.50 

Township of 
Wellesley 

1 60 0 $671,265.00 $62.66 $0.44 $282.55 

Town of Mono 0 90 0 $800,686.00 $90.02 $0.50 $240.78 

Town of Minto 2 80 1 $753,994.00 $84.81 $0.89 $175.54 

Township of 
Champlain 

0 28 0 $386,786.00 $50.16 $0.47 $80.88 

Town of Plympton-
Wyoming 

0 60 0 $530,483.00 $71.19 $0.44 $128.93 

Township of Puslinch 0 34 7 $738,045.00 $115.88 $0.41 $211.64 

Township of East 
Zorra-Tavistock 

1 58 0 $663,867.00 $107.08 $0.59 $176.28 

Average $686,974.30 $76.87 $0.51 $175.54 

(Source: Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 2014 FIR Data, OFMEM Standard Incident Reporting, and the 

Township of Puslinch Finance Department) 

1.9 Summary of Economic Circumstances – Township of Puslinch 

The Township of Puslinch Council has taken proactive steps to introduce financial strategies 

targeted at managing property tax increases, while sustaining appropriate service levels, in all 

areas to meet the community’s needs.  The ongoing operating costs for fire protection, as 

presented within this analysis, continues to represent a significant portion of the overall cost of 

providing services within the Township. 

  

In our view this analysis confirms that the current economic circumstances of the Township of 

Puslinch, with regard to the costs for fire protection, reflect higher costs than those of a 

representative group of comparable municipalities in both the cost per capita (51% higher) and 



Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan – Appendix H 
November 2015 – 14-1138 

H - 10 

 

the cost per dwelling unit (21% higher).  In comparison to the cost per $1,000 assessed value 

the Township is providing fire protection services at a lower cost (7%). 

 

Considering the financial realities and sustainability of delivering fire protection services is an 

integral element of the master fire planning process. This MFP incudes recommendations that, 

subject to Council’s consideration and approval, will result in further increase to the cost of fire 

protection services within the Township.



 

Appendix I 
K Selection of Appropriate Fire 

Prevention Programs (PFSG 04-40-03)  
 

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138













 

Appendix J 
L Sample Establishing and Regulating By-

law (PFSG 01-03-12) 

M  
  

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138





Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services ::
Public Fire Safety Guidelines
Sample Establishing and Regulating By-law

Public Fire Safety Guidelines Subject Coding

PFSG 01-03-12

Section

General

Date

March 2000

Subject

Sample Establishing and Regulating By-law

Page

Purpose: To assist in the preparation of a by-law, which will provide clear
and accurate policy direction reflecting how council wants their
fire department services to function and operate.

Introduction: A municipality has responsibility to determine the types and
extent of fire protection services necessary to meet their
specific needs and circumstances. It is not practical to produce
a sample that identifies the needs of every municipality..

Development: An analysis must be made to determine if each clause is
appropriate for the particular municipality. Unless otherwise
noted in the margin, the OFM regards each clause as a
necessary component for a complete by-law.
In preparing by-laws, consideration must be given to the
provisions of any collective agreement formulated under the
Fire Protection and Prevention Act that supersedes establishing
and regulating by-laws.

The municipal solicitor, prior to enactment, should review any
draft by-laws prepared by council.
 

Related
Functions:

The primary issues addressed in an establishing and regulating
by-law may include policy direction in these areas:

• general functions and services to be provided

• the goals and objectives of the department

• general responsibilities of members

• method of appointment to the department

• method of regulating the conduct of members

• procedures for termination from the department

• authority to proceed beyond established response areas

• authority to effect necessary department operations
 

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire S... http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources...

1 of 7 6/26/2014 3:50 PM



Codes,
Standards and
Best Practices:

Codes, Standards, and Best Practices resources available to
assist in establishing local policy on this assessment are listed
below. All are available at www.ontario.ca/firemarshal
<http://www.ontario.ca/firemarshal> Please feel free to
copy and distribute this document. We ask that the document
not be altered in any way, that the Office of the Fire Marshal be
credited and that the documents be used for non-commercial
purposes only.

See also PFSG
02-02-12 <../../../../english/firemarshal
/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines
/02-02-12.html> Fire Risk Assessment
02-03-01 <../../../../english/firemarshal
/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines
/02-03-01.html> Economic Circumstances
04-01-12 <../../../../english/firemarshal
/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines
/04-01-12.html> Selecting a Fire Suppression Capability
04-02-01 <../../../../english/firemarshal
/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines
/04-02-01.html> Service Delivery Considerations

 

fire department
SAMPLE ESTABLISHING AND REGULATING BY-LAW
corporation of the Town of Anywhere
By-Law No.

Whereas the Municipal Act, R.S.O. 1990 c., as amended, and the Fire Protection and Prevention
Act, 1997, S.O. 1997, c.4 as amended, permits the council to enact a by-law to establish and
regulate a fire department;

BE IT THEREFORE ENACTED by the Municipal council of the corporation of the Town of Anywhere,
as follows:

In this by-law, unless the context otherwise requires,1.

approved
means approved by the council

a.

chief administrative officer
means the person appointed by council to act as chief
administrative officer for the corporation

b.

corporation
means the Corporation of the Town of Anywhere

c.

council
means the council of the Town of Anywhere

d.

deputy chief
means the person appointed by council to act on
behalf of the fire chief of the fire department in the
case of an absence or a vacancy in the office of fire
chief

e.

Definitions: define any
terms or positions
which may be of
concern to users of the
by law

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire S... http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources...

2 of 7 6/26/2014 3:50 PM



fire chief
means the person appointed by council to act as fire
chief for the corporation and is ultimately responsible
to council as defined in the Fire Protection and
Prevention Act

f.

fire department
means the Town of Anywhere fire department

g.

fire protection services
includes fire suppression, fire prevention, fire safety
education, communication, training of persons
involved in the provision of fire protection services,
rescue and emergency services and the delivery of all
those services

h.

member
means any persons employed in, or appointed to, a
fire department and assigned to undertake fire
protection services, and includes officers, full time,
part time and volunteer firefighters

i.

volunteer firefighter
means a firefighter who provides fire protection
services either voluntarily or for a nominal
consideration, honorarium, training or activity
allowance

j.

A fire department for the Town of Anywhere to be
known as the Town of Anywhere Fire Department is
hereby established and the head of the fire
department shall be known as the fire chief.

2.

The fire department shall be structured in
conformance with the approved Organizational Chart,
Appendix A, forming part of this by law.

3. Approved
Organizational Chart

In addition to the fire chief, the council shall appoint a
deputy chief and such number of other officers and
members as may be deemed necessary by the council

4. Identifies appointment
of other officers and
members without
listing all specifically

The fire chief may recommend to the council the
appointment of any qualified person as a member of
the fire department, subject to the approved hiring
policies of the Town of Anywhere

5. Appointment via
approved Hiring Policy

Persons appointed as members of the fire department
to provide fire protection services shall be on
probation for a period of 12 months, during which
period they shall take such special training and
examination as may be required by the fire chief.

6. Probationary Members

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire S... http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources...

3 of 7 6/26/2014 3:50 PM



If a probationary member appointed to provide fire
protection services fails any such examinations, the
fire chief may recommend to the council that he/she
be dismissed.

7.  

The remuneration of the volunteer members shall be
as determined by the council.

8. Remuneration and
working conditions

Working conditions and remuneration for all
firefighters defined in Part IX of the Fire Protection
and Prevention Act shall be determined by council in
accordance with the provisions of Part IX of the Fire
Protection and Prevention Act.

9.  

If a medical examiner finds a member is physically
unfit to perform assigned duties and such condition is
attributed to, and a result of employment in the fire
department, council may assign the member to
another position in the fire department or may retire
him/her. council may provide retirement allowances
to members, subject to the Municipal Act.

10. Other employment,
retirement options
and/or allowances

The fire chief is ultimately responsible to council,
through the (insert appropriate position for the
municipality) for proper administration and operation
of the fire department including the delivery of fire
protection services.

11. Chief ultimately
responsible to council
through FPPA (via
chief administrative
officer, clerk, fire
committee or specify
appropriate position)

The fire chief shall implement all approved policies
and shall develop such standard operating procedures
and guidelines, general orders and departmental rules
as necessary to implement the approved policies and
to ensure the appropriate care and protection of all
fire department personnel and fire department
equipment.

12. Developing SOP's,
guidelines, rules and
regulations

The fire chief shall review periodically all policies,
orders, rules and operating procedures of the fire
department and may establish an advisory committee
consisting of such members of the fire department as
the fire chief may determine from time to time to
assist in these duties.

13.  Advisory Committee

The fire chief shall submit to the (insert appropriate
position) and council for approval, the annual budget
estimates for the fire department; an annual report
and any other specific reports requested by the

14.  Budgets and reports

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire S... http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources...

4 of 7 6/26/2014 3:50 PM



(insert appropriate position) or council.

Each division of the fire department is the
responsibility of the fire chief and is under the
direction of the fire chief or a member designated by
the fire chief. Designated members shall report to the
fire chief on divisions and activities under their
supervision and shall carry out all orders of the fire
chief.

15.  Divisional
responsibilities
designated by chief

Where the fire chief designates a member to act in
the place of an officer in the fire department, such
member, when so acting, has all of the powers and
shall perform all duties of the officer replaced.

16.  

The fire chief may reprimand, suspend or recommend
dismissal of any member for infraction of any
provisions of this by law, policies, general orders and
departmental rules that, in the opinion of the fire
chief, would be detrimental to discipline or the
efficiency of the fire department.

17.  Discipline

Following the suspension of a member, the fire chief
shall immediately report, in writing, the suspension
and recommendation to the (insert as appropriate)
and council.

18. Suspension of
members

The procedures for termination of employment
prescribed in Part IX of the Fire Protection and
Prevention Act shall apply to all firefighters defined in
Part IX of the Fire Protection and Prevention Act.

19. Termination
procedures

A volunteer firefighter shall not be dismissed without
the opportunity for a review of termination, if he/she
makes a written request for such a review within
seven working days after receiving notification of the
proposed dismissal. A person appointed by the
municipality, who is not employed in the fire
department, shall conduct the review.

20.  Provides volunteers
with the same
opportunity for review
as full-time members

The fire chief shall take all proper measures for the
prevention, control and extinguishment of fires and
the protection of life and property and shall exercise
all powers mandated by the Fire Protection and
Prevention Act, and the fire chief shall be empowered
to authorize:

21.  Prevention, control
and extinguishing fires

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire S... http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources...

5 of 7 6/26/2014 3:50 PM



pulling down or demolishing any building or structure
to prevent the spread of fire

a.  Pulling down
structures

all necessary actions which may include boarding up
or barricading of buildings or property to guard
against fire or other danger, risk or accident, when
unable to contact the property owner

b. Boarding up or
barricading

recovery of expenses incurred by such necessary
actions for the corporation in the manner provided
through the Municipal Act and the Fire Protection and
Prevention Act

c. Recovery of expenses

The fire department shall not respond to a call with
respect to a fire or emergency outside the limits of
the municipality except with respect to a fire or
emergency:

22.  

that, in the opinion of the fire chief or designate of the
fire department, threatens property in the
municipality or property situated outside the
municipality that is owned or occupied by the
municipality

a. Authority to leave
municipal limits

in a municipality with which an approved agreement
has been entered into to provide fire protection
services which may include automatic aid

b.  

on property with which an approved agreement has
been entered into with any person or corporation to
provide fire protection services

c.  

at the discretion of the fire chief, to a municipality
authorized to participate in any county, district or
regional mutual aid plan established by a fire
co-ordinator appointed by the fire marshal or any
other similar reciprocal plan or program

d.  

on property beyond the municipal boundary where the
fire chief or designate determines immediate action is
necessary to preserve life or property and the
appropriate department is notified to respond and
assume command or establish alternative measures,
acceptable to the fire chief or designate

e.  

AN APPROVED ORGANIZATIONAL CHART FORMS PART of THIS BY LAW AS Appendix A

Goals and objectives of the fire department may also be added as an appendix to the

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire S... http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources...

6 of 7 6/26/2014 3:50 PM



By-law

This by-law comes into effect the day it is passed by council, in the manner appropriate to the
municipality.

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire S... http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources...

7 of 7 6/26/2014 3:50 PM



 

Appendix K 
N Co-ordination, Development, Approval 

and Distribution of Standard Operating 
Guidelines for Various Disciplines (PFSG 
04-69-13)  

  

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138





9/15/2014 Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire Safety Guidelines

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-69-13.html 1/5

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services ::
Public Fire Safety Guidelines
Co-ordination, Development, Approval and Distribution of
Standard Operating Guidelines for Various Disciplines

Public Fire Safety Guidelines Subject Coding

PFSG 04-69-13

Section

Fire Administration

Date

March 2000

Subject
Co-ordination, Development, Approval and 
Distribution of Standard Operating Guidelines for 
Various Disciplines

Page

 

Purpose:

The purpose of this guideline is to assist fire departments to develop written operational
guidelines.

Guideline:

A statement written to guide the performance or behaviour of departmental staff, whether
functioning alone or in groups. 

These guidelines;

enhance safety
increase individual and team effectiveness
allow for easier training and better entry level orientation
improve risk management practices
help to avoid litigation
form the basis of objective post incident evaluations
permit flexibility in decision making

Co-ordination:

Fire department managers may consider creating and empowering a committee to research,
develop, and draft operational guidelines.
Committees should involve the members directly affected by various guidelines; examples
include;

training personnel for live fire training guidelines,
fire Prevention personnel for inspection procedures, active firefighters for laying hose or taking
hydrants.
two or three firefighters, two or three company officers and possibly a senior officer.

The committee should select its own chair and establish a regular meeting schedule.
The committee could become permanent, with membership assigned, as required, to assist the
fire chief with the continuous improvement process demanded of modern fire departments.



9/15/2014 Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire Safety Guidelines

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-69-13.html 2/5

The permanent committee could also be comprised of all company or senior officers with the
SOG's as part of the monthly officers meeting agendas.

Development:

The order of developing procedures will be driven by local needs.
Activities that impact on firefighter safety, the department's most common emergency
operations, or high risk operation should be top priority.
Each operational guideline should deal with a single objective and must describe what is to be
accomplished, but not necessarily how to do the task.
When the subject matter has been decided upon, the committee will begin to gather the
resources needed to prepare the guideline.
Each guideline can be broken into five basic components: purpose, scope, responsibility,
performance and references.

Approval:

Specific items should be assigned to each committee member by the chairperson for review.
Each committee member will present a synopsis of the item at a future meeting for review,
revision and refinement of the guideline.
A written draft of the operational guideline should be prepared next.
The draft should be posted for input from other department members. .

Distribution:

A copy should be provided to each member of the department.
Each of the guidelines should be printed on a standard form. An introductory statement should
be developed for the operational guideline manual. Key information offered:

why the guidelines have been developed
why they are called guidelines
definition of the term "guidelines"

Responsibility:

Guidelines, that have been finalized and approved by the fire chief, should be implemented by
the staff members who are responsible for training.

 

DRAFT SOG #101: STATEMENT of INTENT

ISSUE DATE:

REVISION DATE:

PURPOSE:

Standard operating guidelines (SOG) have been developed to provide information to all members
of the fire department in a prompt and consistent manner.

SCOPE:

These guidelines are to be followed by all members of the department. 

Every member has a responsibility to learn and understand what is required in performance of
their duties and to stay current with information provided in standard operating guidelines.



9/15/2014 Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire Safety Guidelines

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-69-13.html 3/5

Direction will be provided from officers and senior staff, as required.

 

POLICY:

Standard operating guidelines allow administrators to accurately predict how their resources will
be mobilized when called upon under emergency circumstances. 
Standard operating guidelines also act as a guide for officers to follow when assigning routine
activities as well as emergency responses. 

Standard operating guidelines will be reviewed annually by the fire chief and all officers, updated
or amended as required to improve fire protection and will be circulated for all members to
reference. 

Please reference SOG #102: DISTRIBUTION and SOG #103: DEVELOPING STANDARD OPERATING
GUIDELINES.

NOTE:

These guidelines have been developed to be consistent with those recommended by various
evaluating agencies of fire protection in the province and for the safety of firefighters and
residents while endeavouring to protect life and property from fire.

DRAFT SOG #102: DISTRIBUTION O STANDARD OPERATING GUIDELINES

ISSUE DATE:

REVISION DATE:

 

PURPOSE:

To implement a standard procedure for consistent transfer of information to all members of the
fire department.

 

SCOPE:

These guidelines are to be followed by all members of the department. 

Every member has a responsibility to learn and understand what is required in performance of
their duties and to stay current with information provided in standard operating guidelines with
direction from officers and senior staff, as required.

 

POLICY:

New and revised standard operating guidelines will be circulated to all members through the shift
and station officers in charge. 

At the beginning of their tour of duty, shift officers will read or summarize the content of a new
or revised SOG, which has been issued for all on-duty personnel. Where necessary, the SOG will
be discussed with on-duty persons to ensure understanding and methods of implementation. 

At the beginning of the first scheduled training or meeting night, volunteer station officers will
read or summarize the content of a new or revised SOG which has been issued for all on-duty



9/15/2014 Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire Safety Guidelines

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-69-13.html 4/5

personnel. Where necessary, the SOG will be discussed with on-duty persons to ensure
understanding and methods of implementation. 

The SOG will then be circulated and each member will read and sign the acknowledgement log
book maintained by the shift or station officer. 

Shift and station officers will review the acknowledgement log book monthly and every three
months will provide the training officer with a list of persons and the SOG numbers they have not
acknowledged. 

Shift and station officers will also post a notice of receipt for a new or revised SOG on the station
bulletin board for persons not present when the SOG is initially circulated.

DRAFT SOG #103: DEVELOPING & REVISING STANDARD OPERATING GUIDELINES

ISSUE DATE:

REVISION DATE:

 

PURPOSE:

To implement a consistent method of developing new standard operating guidelines and revising
existing guidelines to improve fire protection services. 

 

SCOPE:

These guidelines are to be followed by all members of the department.

 

POLICY:

All standard operating guidelines will be reviewed annually by the fire chief and all officers for
necessary updates or amendments. 
Where any officer or member of the department identifies a procedure or operation which may
require new or revised standard instructions for end users, the person will notify the shift or
station officer in charge as soon as possible following this recognition. 

The shift or station officer will first review existing SOGs for content that may apply to the
reported need and discuss their findings with other on-duty officers and members. 

The officer in charge will notify the chief or deputy by written memo on the same or next business
day of any immediate action taken and if a new or revised procedure is recommended. 

Where safety of firefighters or potential damage to department equipment is imminent, the fire
chief or deputy will issue interim written guidelines until the normal process for developing or
revising SOGs is initiated. 

Where interim written guidelines are temporary or not necessary for safety or damage to fire
department equipment, the following process will be followed:

1. The fire chief or deputy will circulate draft SOGs to each shift and station officer to discuss with
all available members for their suggestions as end users, 
 

2. shift or station officers will add appropriate comments and return the draft to the training officer



9/15/2014 Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services :: Public Fire Safety Guidelines

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-69-13.html 5/5

within the specified time, 
 

3. all draft SOGs will be discussed at the next scheduled officers meeting for final approval of the
fire chief and/or deputy, and, 
 

4. approved standard operating guidelines, replacing interim guidelines, will be circulated as
described in SOG #102: DISTRIBUTION.

Codes, Standards and Best Practices:

Codes, Standards and Best Practices resources available to assist in establishing local policy on
this assessment are listed below. All are available at http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/ .
<http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/> Please feel free to copy and distribute this document.
We ask that the document not be altered in any way, that the Office of the Fire Marshal be
credited and that the documents be used for non-commercial purposes only.

See also; 

Health and Safety Guidelines for Ontario's Fire Services 

Additional Reference: 

Standard Operating Procedures and Guidelines, Cook, John Lee Jr., Saddle Brook NJ: PenWell Pub.
Co. 1998

 

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/


 

Appendix L 
Community Risk Profile (Township of 
Puslinch) & Operational Planning: An 
Official Guide to Matching Resource 
Deployment and Risk (PFSG 04-08-10)  

  

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138





Table of Contents 
1.0 Detailed Community Risk Assessment 1 

1.1 Introduction ................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-Model ......................................................................................... 1 

1.3 Assessing Fire Risk Scenarios ......................................................................................... 2 

1.4 Property Stock ............................................................................................................... 2 

1.4.1 Community Risk Profile – Major Occupancy Classifications.......................................... 3 

1.4.2 Assembly Occupancies (Group A) .................................................................................. 4 

1.4.3 Care and Detention Occupancies (Group B) ................................................................. 4 

1.4.4 Residential Occupancies (Group C) ............................................................................... 5 

1.4.5 Business and Personal Services Occupancies (Group D) ............................................... 5 

1.4.6 Mercantile Occupancies (Group E) ................................................................................ 6 

1.4.7 High/Medium/Low Hazard Industrial Occupancies (Group F) ...................................... 6 

1.4.8 Other Occupancies/Uses Not Listed Within the OBC (Not Classified) .......................... 7 

1.4.9 Property Stock Analysis ................................................................................................. 7 

1.4.10 Property Stock Profile Observations ............................................................................. 8 

1.5 Building Height and Area ............................................................................................... 9 

1.5.1 Building Height .............................................................................................................. 9 

1.5.2 Building Area ............................................................................................................... 10 

1.5.3 Building Height and Area Observations ...................................................................... 10 

1.6 Building Age and Construction .................................................................................... 11 

1.6.1 Building/Fire Code Application .................................................................................... 11 

1.6.2 Residential Buildings.................................................................................................... 11 

1.6.3 Non-Residential Buildings............................................................................................ 14 

1.6.4 Building Age and Construction Observations .............................................................. 14 

1.7 Building Exposures ...................................................................................................... 14 

1.7.1 Building Exposures Observations ................................................................................ 15 

1.8 Demographic Profile .................................................................................................... 15 

1.8.1 Population Distribution by Age Group ........................................................................ 15 

1.8.2 Population Shifts ......................................................................................................... 18 

1.8.3 Vulnerable Individuals or Occupancies ....................................................................... 19 

1.8.4 Language Barriers to Public Education ........................................................................ 19 

1.8.5 Income Levels .............................................................................................................. 20 

1.8.6 Demographic Profile Observations ............................................................................. 21 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



1.9 Geography / Topography / Road Infrastructure ......................................................... 21 

1.9.1 Geography/Topography/Road Infrastructure Profile Observations ........................... 22 

1.10 Past Fire Loss Statistics ................................................................................................ 24 

1.10.1 Fire Loss by Occupancy Classification.......................................................................... 24 

1.10.2 Reported Fire Cause .................................................................................................... 25 

1.10.3 Reported Ignition Source ............................................................................................. 26 

1.10.4 Reported Civilian Injuries and Fatalities ...................................................................... 27 

1.10.5 Past Fire Loss Profile Observations ............................................................................. 28 

1.11 Fuel Load Profile .......................................................................................................... 29 

1.11.1 Fuel Load Profile Observations .................................................................................... 30 

1.12 Community Growth & Development .......................................................................... 30 

1.12.1 Historic Growth ........................................................................................................... 30 

1.12.2 Growth Projections ...................................................................................................... 31 

1.12.3 Growth Projections Profile Observations .................................................................... 31 

1.13 Risk Profile Model ........................................................................................................ 31 

1.13.1 Probability Levels ......................................................................................................... 33 

1.13.2 Consequence Levels .................................................................................................... 33 

1.13.3 Risk Levels .................................................................................................................... 35 

1.13.4 Ontario Fire Code Compliance .................................................................................... 36 

1.14 Township of Puslinch Risk Evaluation ......................................................................... 37 

1.14.1 TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH RISK MODEL ....................................................................... 39 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 1 

 

1.0 Detailed Community Risk Assessment 

1.1 Introduction 

The Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management, Ontario (OFMEM) provides a 

number of tools to assist municipalities, and ultimately municipal councils, in determining local 

needs and circumstances as required by the FPPA. These tools include the Comprehensive Fire 

Safety Effectiveness Model; the Fire Risk Sub-Model and Public Fire Safety Guideline 01-01-01 

“Fire Protection Review Process.”  

 

PFSG 01-01-01 “Fire Protection Review Process” further identifies the three primary 

components of assessing community needs and circumstances including: 

 Assessing Economic Circumstances from a Fire Protection Perspective (PFSG 02-03-01) 
(Appendix E) 

 Assessing Fire Risk (PFSG 02-02-03) (Appendix F) 

 Assessing Capabilities of the Existing Fire Protection Services (PFSG 02-04-01) 
(Appendix G) 

 

This section provides a detailed assessment of the current and future (planned growth) fire risk 

within the Township of Puslinch. 

1.2 OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-Model 

The community fire risk analysis within this report follows the OFMEM framework and 

specifically the OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-Model. The model identifies the importance of 

community risk in the following introductory paragraphs: 

 

“Assessing the fire risk within a community is one of the seven components that 
comprise the Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model.  It is the process of 
examining and analyzing the relevant factors that characterize the community and 
applying this information to identify potential fire risk scenarios that may be 
encountered.  The assessment includes an analysis of the likelihood of these scenarios 
occurring and their subsequent consequences.” 

“The types of fire risks that a community may be expected to encounter are influenced 
by its defining characteristics.  For example, a “bedroom community” presents a 
different set of circumstances over one that is characterized as an “industrial 
town.”  Communities that are distinguished by older buildings will pose a different set 
of concerns over those that are comprised of newer buildings constructed to modern 
building codes.  Communities populated by a high percentage of senior citizens present 
a different challenge over ones with a younger population base.  

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 2 

 

Assessing fire risk should begin with a review of all available and relevant information 
that defines and characterizes your community.  Eight key factors have been identified 
that contribute to the community’s inherent characteristics and circumstances.  These 
factors influence events that shape potential fire scenarios along with the severity of 
their outcomes: 

 Property Stock  

 Building Height and Area  

 Building Age and Construction  

 Building Exposures  

 Demographic Profile  

 Geography/Topography/Road Infrastructure  

 Past Fire Loss Statistics  

 Fuel Load” 
Using the framework provided within the OFMEM’s Fire Risk Sub-model the potential fire risk 

scenarios present within the community can be assessed by creating a Community Fire Risk 

Profile. The profile can then be applied to assess the current level of fire protection services 

provided, and identify where, if any, potential gaps exist, or identify areas that a municipal 

Council may want to consider in determining its own ‘needs and circumstances’, as defined by 

the Fire Protection and Prevention Act (FPPA).   

1.3 Assessing Fire Risk Scenarios 

The Fire Risk Sub-Model provides communities with the flexibility to determine how their 

municipality should be defined in terms of fire risk scenarios. Specifically, the model states 

that: 

“For analyses purposes, the community being assessed can be defined as the municipality 
in its entirety or as a particular segment of it that distinguishes it from other parts. For 
smaller municipalities, it may be sufficient to simply define the community based on town 
boundaries. For larger municipalities, it may be appropriate to subdivide it into separate 
and distinct components to permit more detailed analysis. For example, it may be 
convenient to subdivide a municipality based on residential subdivision, downtown 
sections, industrial park, and a rural area. Hence, the first step in conducting a fire risk 
analyses is to identify and define the community (s) being analyzed.” 

 

The analyses within this Master Fire Plan utilize the major occupancy classifications of the 

Ontario Building Code (OBC) to define the fire risk scenarios within the Township of Puslinch.  

1.4 Property Stock 

The OBC categorizes buildings by their major occupancy classifications. Each classification has 

inherent definitions that distinguish it from other occupancy classifications.  Utilizing the OBC 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 3 

 

as the source for defining the occupancy classifications provides a recognized definition and 

baseline for developing the Community Risk Profile. 

The OBC major occupancy classifications are divided into six major building occupancy 

classifications (groups). Within each group the occupancies are furthered defined by division. 

The OBC major classification groups and divisions are presented in Table L-1. 

 

TABLE L-1: OBC MAJOR OCCUPANCY CLASSIFICATION 

Group Division Description of Major Occupancies 

Group A 

Assembly 

 

1 
Assembly occupancies intended for the production and viewing of the 

performing arts  

Group A 2 Assembly occupancies not elsewhere classified in Group A 

Group A 3 Assembly occupancies of the arena type 

Group A 4 Assembly occupancies in which occupants are gathered in the open air 

Group B 

Assembly 
1 Detention occupancies 

Group B 

 
2 Care and treatment occupancies 

Group B 3 Care occupancies 

Group C --- Residential occupancies 

Group D --- Business and personal services occupancies 

Group E 

Assembly 
--- Mercantile occupancies 

Group F 1 High hazard industrial occupancies 

Group F 2 Medium hazard industrial occupancies 

Group F 3 Low hazard industrial occupancies 

1.4.1 Community Risk Profile – Major Occupancy Classifications 

The Fire Risk Sub-model developed by the Office of the Fire Marshal utilizes the major group 

classifications only (Group A, B, C, D, E, F). The Fire Risk Sub-model does not use the detailed 

“Division” classifications provided for the respective occupancy groups. 

 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 4 

 

This strategy provides the ability to assess property stock within a community comparatively by 

major occupancy groups thus providing a consistent and recognized definition for each major 

occupancy type. Where necessary this strategy provides the opportunity for further analysis of 

a specific occupancy group. For example a ‘Group F Industrial’ that is a ‘Division 1’ is a ‘High 

hazard industrial occupancy.’ Subject to any site specific hazards or concerns individual 

occupancies within this group can be assessed individually and then included where required 

within the scope of the broader community risk profile. 

 

The following describes the major occupancy classifications used within the Fire Risk Sub-

model. 

1.4.2 Assembly Occupancies (Group A)  

Assembly occupancies are defined by the OBC as the “occupancy or the use of a building or 

part of a building by a gathering of persons for civic, political, travel, religious, social, 

educational, recreational or similar purposes or for the consumption of food or drink.” 

Risks within these occupancies can include: 

• overcrowding by patrons;  

• lack of patron familiarity with emergency exit locations and procedures; 

• staff training in emergency procedures; and 

• large quantities of combustible furnishings and decorations. 

Proactive measures for reducing risks can include: 

 regular fire prevention inspection cycles; 
 automatic fire detection and monitoring systems; 
 approved Fire Safety Plan and staff training; and 
 pre-planning by fire suppression staff. 

1.4.3  Care and Detention Occupancies (Group B) 

“A care or detention occupancy means the occupancy or use of a building or part thereof by 

persons who; 
 are dependent on others to release security devices to permit exit; 

 receive special care and treatment; or 

 receive supervisory care.” 

 

Risks within these occupancies can include: 

• inability to evacuate or relocate patients; 

• presence of flammable/combustible gases; 

• vulnerable occupants; and 

• combustible furnishings. 

Proactive measures for reducing risks can include: 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 5 

 

 regular fire prevention inspection cycles; 
 automatic fire detection and monitoring systems; 
 approved Fire Safety Plan and staff training; and 
 pre-planning by fire suppression staff. 

1.4.4 Residential Occupancies (Group C) 

The Fire Risk Sub-Model defines s residential occupancy “as one that is used by persons for 

whom sleeping accommodation is provided but who are not harboured or detained there to 

receive medical care or treatment or who are not involuntarily detained there.” 

Within this occupancy classification both the Ontario Fire Code (OFC) and the Ontario Building 

Code classify residential low-rise buildings as up to and including six stories in building height. 

Buildings in excess of six stories are considered as high-rise buildings. Comparatively Statistics 

Canada defines low-rise buildings as being less than five stories in building height and high-rise 

as five stories and greater. 

 

Another example of a use within this occupancy group would be mobile homes or travel 

trailers. The common factor is overnight accommodation (sleeping) when an occupant can be 

at the greatest risk. 

 

As the primary source for data regarding community risk factors is provided by Statistics 

Canada this analysis utilizes the Statistics Canada definitions for residential occupancies.  

Risks within these occupancies can include: 

 

• overnight accommodation (sleeping);  

• combustible furnishings; 

• secondary units (basement apartments);  

• high density development; and 

• human behavior (cooking, use of candles, etc.). 

 

Proactive measures for reducing risks can include: 
 Smoke Alarm Program; 

 Public Education Programming (including Home Escape Planning); 

 Retro-fit and compliance inspection cycles for OBC and OFC compliance; and 

 Pre-planning by fire suppression staff. 

1.4.5 Business and Personal Services Occupancies (Group D) 

“Business and personal services occupancies are defined as those that are used for the 

transaction of business or the provision of professional or personal services.” 

 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 6 

 

These occupancies can be located within remodelled single family dwellings, low-rise and high-

rise buildings. Each of these building types can present different risks, including egress for 

firefighting operations and evacuation by occupants. 

Risks within these occupancies can include: 

 

• high volume of occupants; 

• high combustible loading; 

• specialized equipment utilizing high risk substances such as radiation; and 

• consumers unfamiliar with emergency exits and procedures. 

  Proactive measures for reducing risks can include: 

 regular fire prevention inspection cycles to sustain OFC compliance; 
 targeted fire prevention inspections for OFC retro-fit compliance; 
 staff training in fire prevention and evacuation procedures; 
 public education; and 
 pre-planning by fire suppression staff. 

1.4.6 Mercantile Occupancies (Group E)  

This occupancy is “defined as one that is used for the displaying or selling of retail goods, wares, 

and merchandise.”  

 

These occupancies range in size and potential risk from smaller neighbourhood corner stores 

to the large “big box” industrial style buildings that survive on the sale of large volume. Large 

volumes of combustibles are typically present in all applications.  

 

Risks within these occupancies can include: 

• high volume of occupants/staff; 

• high volume of combustible loading/high rack storage; 

• lack of occupant familiarity with emergency exit locations and procedures; and 

• size of building. 

Proactive measures for reducing risks can include: 

 regular fire prevention inspection cycles; 
 automatic fire detection and monitoring systems; 
 approved Fire Safety Plan and staff training; and 
 pre-planning by fire suppression staff. 

1.4.7 High/Medium/Low Hazard Industrial Occupancies (Group F) 

Industrial occupancies are “defined as those used for the assembly, fabrication, manufacturing, 

processing, repairing or storing of goods and materials. This category is divided into low hazard 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 7 

 

(F3), medium hazard (F2) and high hazard (F1) based on its combustible content and potential 

for rapid fire growth.” 

 

The potential for major fires within this occupancy type is related to the high levels of 

combustibles that are present in storage and utilized in the manufacturing process. This can 

include highly flammable and corrosive products.  

Risks within these occupancies can include: 

• large dollar loss as a result of a major fire; 

• economic loss in the event of plant shut downs and job loss; 

• environmental impacts; and   

• presence of ignition sources related to processing activities. 

Proactive measures for reducing risks can include: 

 regular fire prevention inspection cycles; 
 staff training in fire prevention and evacuation; 
 targeted public education; 
 pre-planning by fire suppression staff; 
 installation of early detection systems (smoke alarms, heat detectors);and 
 installation of automatic sprinkler systems. 

1.4.8 Other Occupancies/Uses Not Listed Within the OBC (Not Classified) 

There are other occupancies and uses not included within the OBC major building occupancy 

classifications that should be considered as part of developing the Community Risk Profile. 

These include occupancies that may be regulated under other legislation such as federally or 

provincially owned facilities.  

 

Examples of these include: 

• major railway lines;  

• major highways and transportation corridors; 

• outdoor tire / material storage facilities; and 

• farm / agricultural buildings. 

1.4.9 Property Stock Analysis 

Utilizing the property stock classifications contained within the Fire Risk Sub-model Table L-2 

provides a summary of the property stock within the Township of Puslinch. 

 

TABLE L-2: PROPERTY STOCK PROFILE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 

Occupancy 
Classification 

(OBC) 

Occupancy Definition 

Fire Risk Sub-model 

(OFM) 

 

Number of 
Occupancies 

Percentage of 

Occupancies 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 8 

 

Group A – Assembly  

Assembly 

 

Assembly occupancies 38 1.1% 

Group B - Institutional 

Institutional 

 

Care or Detention occupancies 1 0.1% 

Group C - Residential 

Residential 

Residential occupancies 

 

3090 93.0% 

Group D/E - 
Commercial 

Business and Personal Services 
Occupancies 

41 1.2% 

Group F - Industrial Industrial occupancies 78 2.3% 

Other occupancies  
Not classified within the Ontario Building 
Code (i.e. farm buildings) 

 

76 2.3% 

Totals 

 

 3324 100% 

Note: There are 3 mixed occupancy buildings. 

 (Source: Township of Puslinch staff, reflects 2006 fiscal year data) 

  

The majority (93.0%) of the Township of Puslinch property stock is Group C - Residential. The 

second largest percentage of property stock (2.3%) consists of both Group F - Industrial and 

other occupancies not classified within the Ontario Building Code (e.g. farm buildings, etc.).  

 

The primary risks within the Township will relate to the residential occupancies.  Residential 

occupancies include a majority of single family residences as well as multi-unit residences and 

a mobile home park. The building stock analysis indicates that as a community the Township of 

Puslinch typical levels of risk that would be found in comparable municipalities within the 

Province of Ontario. These include smaller urban centers surrounded by large tracts of 

agricultural and rural areas forming a larger community.  

 

This particular analysis confirms that as a community the Township of Puslinch is primarily a 

“bedroom community” for many of Wellington County’s urban municipalities and other 

surrounding regional centres (e.g. Greater Toronto and Hamilton Area (GTHA)). Agriculture is 

also very prevalent throughout the Township.  Farm buildings (not classified within the OBC) 

vary in size and use from small utility sheds to large livestock barns. 

 

The Township’s other occupancies include industry and assembly occupancies. The industrial 

occupancies are mainly located in the Aberfolye Industrial Area. The commercial occupancies 

in Puslinch are located in Aberfoyle, Morriston, around Puslinch Lake, and along Highway 401 

and Highway 6. The commercial occupancies within the Township are limited and residents 

travel to neighboring communities for the majority of their commercial needs (i.e. Grocery 

stores).  

1.4.10 Property Stock Profile Observations 

The analysis of the Property Stock Profile for the Township of Puslinch confirms that the largest 

percentage of major occupancies (93.0%) is “Group C” residential. Significant priority should be 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 9 

 

given to developing a Master Fire Plan that reflects the risks associated with this occupancy 

category.  A key element in mitigating residential risks is maximizing the use of all three lines of 

defence. 

 

The priority of addressing the residential fire risk is supported by the historic data provided by 

the OFMEM that reports for the period from 2008 to 2012 residential fires accounted for 72% 

of all structure fire losses and for the period from 2003 to 2012 residential fires accounted for 

86% of all fire fatalities.  As residential occupancies are where people sleep, there is an 

increased risk and vulnerability for fire loss injuries and fatalities. 

 

The second largest percentage consists of Group F-Industrial occupancies (2.3%) and 

occupancies that are not classified within the Ontario Building Code (2.3%). Industrial 

occupancies are consistent is rural communities that are in close proximity to large cities. The 

large percentage of other occupancies is consistent with the large rural area of the Township 

that contains many farms and related buildings.   

1.5 Building Height and Area 

Buildings that are taller in height, or contain a large amount of square footage (footprint) can 

have a greater fire loss risk and life safety concern.   

1.5.1 Building Height 

One of the unique characteristics and risks of multi-storey buildings is known as the “stack 

effect.”  This is characterized as vertical air movement occurring throughout the building, 

caused by air flowing into and out of the building typically through open doors and windows. 

The buoyancy resulting from the differences between the indoor and outdoor temperature 

and elevation differences causes smoke and heat to rise within the building.  This can have a 

dramatic effect on smoke permeation throughout the common areas and individual units 

within these multi-storey buildings. This can be directly related to the high percentage of 

deaths that occur in high-rise buildings as a result of smoke inhalation.  

 

The nature of taller buildings also results in the presence of higher occupant loads and higher 

fuel loads, due to the higher quantity of furnishings and building materials. Efficient evacuation 

can also be a challenge due to a lack of direction, insufficient signage and limited knowledge / 

building familiarity of the occupants which may result in overcrowding of stairways and exit 

routes. 

 

Ensuring all required life safety systems are in place and functioning is a priority for these 

occupancies. Higher buildings can experience extended rescue / suppression response times 

for firefighters to ascend to the upper levels (vertical response). Options such as “shelter-in-

place” whereby occupants are directed by the fire department to stay within their units can be 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 10 

 

an effective strategy. However, ensuring internal building communications systems are in place 

and functioning is critical to the success of this strategy.     

 

There are no residential high-rise buildings within the Township of Puslinch.     

1.5.2 Building Area 

Building area can cause comparable challenges as those present in taller buildings.  Horizontal 

travel distances rather than vertical can mean extended response times by firefighters 

attempting rescue or fire suppression activities.  

 

Large buildings, such as industrial plants and warehouses, department stores, and the new “big 

box” stores, can contain large volumes of combustible materials. In many of these occupancies 

the use of high rack storage is also present. Fires within this type of storage system can be 

difficult to access and cause additional risk to firefighter safety, due to collapse risks.   

 

The Township has a small number of large industrial/commercial/mixed-use buildings. For 

example, the Nestle Water facility located at 101 Brock Road, is a very large building in terms 

of square footage (752,584 square feet), however, the contents of the building are considered 

to be low hazard in terms of a combustible load. Other examples of buildings with large areas 

and potential fire loss risk include: 

 

• Maple Leaf Foods  

• Royal Canin 

• Barco Cherry Forest Products 

• Ren’s Pet 

• HP Polymers 

• Schneider’s 

1.5.3 Building Height and Area Observations 

The analysis of the height and area of buildings within the Township indicates they represent a 

minimal risk, due to the limited number of these types of buildings. This includes all occupancy 

classifications. There are also a limited number of large area (by square footage) buildings with 

the exception of the industrial buildings mainly located in Aberfoyle.  

 

The buildings which do exist should be considered for a pro-active fire inspection and 

compliance program. These strategies should be aligned with optimization of the first two lines 

of defence with the Master Fire Plan.   

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 11 

 

1.6 Building Age and Construction 

As a community the Township of Puslinch began to develop during the late 1800s. Many of the 

older buildings within the central areas of Morriston and Aberfoyle have historic ties to this era. 

As the community has grown the majority of new construction has occurred outside of the 

downtown core. This includes both commercial and residential growth. Residential 

development has been manly in the form of low density housing. 

1.6.1 Building/Fire Code Application 

The Ontario Building Code (OBC) was adopted in 1975, the Ontario Fire Code (OFC) was 

similarly adopted in 1981. Together these two documents have provided the foundation for 

eliminating many of the inconsistencies in building construction and maintenance that were 

present before their adoption.  

 

The OBC and the OFC were developed to ensure uniform building construction and 

maintenance standards are applied for all new building construction. The codes also provide 

for specific fire safety measures depending on the use of the building. Examples of the fire 

safety issues that are addressed include: 

• Occupancy; 

• exits/means of egress including signs and lighting; 

• fire alarm and detection equipment; 

• fire department access; and 

• inspection, testing, and maintenance. 

In 1983 the OFC was further expanded to include retrofit requirements for many of the 

building constructed prior to adoption of the code. Retrofit requirements were established to 

ensure a minimum acceptable level of life safety is present. A number of occupancy types are 

included within the retrofit requirements including assembly, boarding, lodging and rooming 

houses, health care facilities, multi-unit residential, two-unit residential, and hotels.  

1.6.2 Residential Buildings 

The priority of addressing the residential fire risk is supported by the historic data provided by 

the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management, Ontario that reports2 for the 

 

 
2
 Source: "Fire Loss in Ontario 2008–2012 Causes, Trends and Issues." Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency 

Management, 17 Dec. 2013. Web. 26 Sept. 2014. 
<http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/MediaRelationsandResources/FireStatistics/OntarioFires/Fir
eLossesCausesTrendsIssues/stats_causes.html>.  

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 12 

 

period from 2008 to 2012 residential fires accounted for 72% of all structure fire losses and for 

the period from 2003 to 2012 residential fires accounted for 85% of all fire fatalities3. 

 

These facts make understanding the age and construction of a community’s residential building 

stock an important component of developing a Community Risk Profile.   

 

The Township of Puslinch’s residential building structural dwelling types are summarized in 

Table L-3. 

 

TABLE L-3: RESIDENTIAL STRUCTURAL DWELLING TYPE 

Structural Dwelling Type 
Township of 

Puslinch 
% of Units Ontario % of Units 

Single-Detached House 2,140 84.6% 2,718,880 55.6% 

Semi-Detached House 15 0.6% 279,470 5.7% 

Row House 0 0% 415,230 8.5% 

Apartment-Duplex 15 0.6% 160,460 3.3% 

Apartment-more than 5 Stories 0 0% 789,975 16.2% 

Apartment-less than 5 Stories 30 1.2% 498,160 10.2% 

Other single-attached House 0 0% 9,535 0.2% 

Movable Dwelling 330 13% 15,795 0.3% 

Total 2,530 100% 4,887,510 100% 

(Source: Statistics Canada 2011 Census) 

 

In comparison to the provincial data the Township of Puslinch percentage of single-detached 

housing of 84.6% represents a significantly larger component of the residential dwelling types 

that that of the province at 55.6%. Moveable houses are the second highest percentage of 

residential dwellings at 13% which is much higher than the provincial data of 0.3%.  This relates 

to the rural and recreational nature of the vast tracts of land within the Township. Targeting 

 

 

3
 Source: "Ontario Fatal Fires: 10 years 2003 - 2012." Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management, 17 Dec. 

2013. Web. 27 Sept. 2014. 
<http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/MediaRelationsandResources/FireStatistics/OntarioFatalities
/FatalFiresSummary/stats_fatal_summary.html>. 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 13 

 

the fire prevention and public education to residents living in mobile houses should be 

considered a priority within the Master Fire Plan. 

 

Historical data provided by the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management 

indicates that fires in single-detached dwellings are responsible for nearly two thirds of all 

residential fires. The data further indicates that detached homes generally account for 80% of 

all single-family dwelling fires6. 

 

The Township of Puslinch’s residential buildings age are summarized in Table L-4. 

 

TABLE L-4: AGE OF CONSTRUCTION (2011) 

Period of Construction 
Township of 

Puslinch 
% of Units Ontario % of Units 

Prior to 1960 515 20.3% 1,330,235 27.2% 

1961 to 1980 635 25.0% 1,420,570 29.1% 

1981 to 1990 310 12.2% 763,430 15.6% 

1991 to 2000 350 13.8% 609,310 12.5% 

2001 to 2005 485 19.1% 414,795 8.5% 

2006 to 2011 245 9.6% 348,310 7.1% 

Total 2,535 100% 4,886,655 100% 

(Source: Statistics Canada 2011 National Household Survey) 

An important component of this analysis is the percentage of residential buildings built prior to 

the adoption of the Ontario Fire Code in 1981. Table L-4 indicates that 45.3% of the Township’s 

residential buildings were built prior to 1981 in comparison to 56.3% of those in Ontario. 

 

In relation to the OFC the Township has a relatively newer percentage of residential dwelling 

buildings than that of the province. 

 

 

6
 Source: “” Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Services. June 2009. Web. 8 Oct. 2014 

<http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/FireServiceResources/ComprehensiveFireSafetyEffectiveness
Model/FireRiskSub-
Model/Fire_risk_submodel.html?__utma=1.1922286624.1408381222.1411748755.1412794948.9&__utmb=1.14.10
.1412794948&__utmc=1&__utmx=-
&__utmz=1.1412794948.9.8.utmcsr=mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca|utmccn=(referral)|utmcmd=referral|utmcct=/english/Fire
Marshal/MediaRelationsandResources/FireStatistics/FireStatisticsOverview/fire_statistics.html&__utmv=1.|1=tag_v
isitor_type=external=1&__utmk=83975193> 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 14 

 

1.6.3 Non-Residential Buildings 

During the late 19th century and early 20th century’s balloon frame construction was a common 

framing technique used in both residential and small commercial construction. This technique 

permitted the spread of fire and smoke to move rapidly from the lower floors to upper floors 

and the roof level. Understanding the age of construction of dwellings can assist in determining 

if balloon framing may have been utilized.  

 

Modern construction techniques have introduced the use of platform construction whereby 

each level is built as a component of the overall structure. This technique in addition to the use 

of fire stops has reduced the extension of fire and smoke by creating horizontal barriers. 

1.6.4 Building Age and Construction Observations 

As a community the current building stock of the Township is representative of a small urban 

settlement area that has grown over the past century to the current mixed use urban/rural 

community.  

Residential single-detached housing units represent 84.6% of the 2,140 residential dwelling 

structures. 45.3% of the residential building stock was built prior to adoption of the Ontario 

Fire Code in 1981.  

 

The majority of the residential building stock is of newer construction technology including 

flame retardant materials and construction techniques. Buildings within the downtown cores 

of Morriston and Aberfoyle represent the highest fire loss risk due to age and construction. 

1.7 Building Exposures 

Closely spaced buildings, typical of historic downtown core areas, and newer infill construction, 

have a higher risk of a fire propagating (fire spreading to an adjacent exposed building).  A fire 

originating in one building could easily be transferred to neighbouring structures due to the 

close proximity. The close proximity of buildings can also impede firefighting operations due to 

the limited access for firefighters and equipment.  

 

Adoption of the OBC and the OFC has required spatial separations and the use of fire retardant 

materials and constructions methods to reduce the fire risks. In addition to the construction 

and planning requirements within the respective codes, basic firefighting practices consider 

the protection of exposures as a primary function and consideration in the event of a response 

by the fire and rescue services.  

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 15 

 

1.7.1 Building Exposures Observations 

The risk of exposures as a result of a fire can occur in incidents involving buildings that are in 

compliance with current OBC and OFC requirements as well as those that may have been 

constructed prior to these public safety initiatives.  

 

As the majority of the building stock within the Township of Puslinch has been constructed 

utilizing the applicable code requirements the probability of a fire spreading to involve other 

exposures is limited.  

 

The age and construction of the buildings within the downtown cores of Morriston and 

Aberfoyle present the most significant risk for fire spread both internally and to adjacent 

buildings due to the close proximity and combustible construction of many of these buildings. 

1.8 Demographic Profile 

In terms of demographic profile, as it relates to community risk, it is important to understand a 

number of key factors related to residents of the community. Assessing these factors in 

relation to provincial statistics is an effective tool in understanding where there may be 

vulnerable groups in terms of fire or life risk, or barriers such as language that could affect 

communication of public education programs. The key factors within the demographic profile 

include: 

• Population distribution by age group; 

• Population shifts; 

• Vulnerable individuals or occupancies; 

• Language barriers to public education; and 

• Income level. 

1.8.1 Population Distribution by Age Group 

Within Canada our aging population has been recognized as one of the most significant 

demographic trends. Based on current data it is predicted that by the year 2026, one in every 

five Canadians will have reached the age 65. Seniors, those 65 and above represent one of the 

highest fire risk target groups in Ontario. 

 

Information provided by the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management indicates 

that “between 2000 and 2004 the leading cause of senior (aged 65 and over) fire deaths were 

attributed to “open flame tools/smoker’s articles” and “cooking equipment. These ignition 

sources were responsible for 35% and 10% respectfully of fire deaths for this age category 

during this period. It is believed that the decline in cognitive and physical abilities contributes to 

the frequency of fire incidents relating to careless use of these ignition sources.”  

 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 16 

 

Identifying a community’s population by age category is a core component of developing the 

Community Risk Profile and identifying specific measures that may be required to mitigate risks 

associated with a specific age group, such as seniors. 

 

  

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 17 

 

Table L-5 provides a comparison of the Township’s population by age group to that of the 

provincial statistics according to the 2011 census from Statistics Canada.  

 

  

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 18 

 

TABLE L-5: AGE GROUP7 

Age Characteristics of the 
Population 

Puslinch Ontario 

Total % Total Total % Total 

0 to 4 years 240 3.4% 704,260 5.5% 

5 to 9 years 350 5.0% 712,755 5.5% 

10 to 14 years 420 6.0% 763,755 5.9% 

15 to 19 years 485 6.9% 863,635 6.7% 

20 to 24 years 395 5.6% 852,910 6.6% 

25 to 44 years 1,280 18.2% 3,383,890 26.3% 

45 to 54 years 1,360 19.4% 2,062,020 16.0% 

55 to 64 years 1,175 16.7% 1,630,275 12.7% 

65 to 74 years 860 12.2% 1,004,265 7.8% 

75 to 84 years 375 5.3% 627,660 4.9% 

85 years and over 100 1.4% 246,400 1.9% 

Total population 7,025 - 12,851,820 - 

Median age of the 
population 

47.6 - 40.0 - 

% of the population aged 
14 and under 

1,010 14.4% 2,180,770 17.0% 

% of the population aged 
65 and over 

1,335 19.0% 1,878,325 14.6% 

(Source: Statistics Canada 2011 Census) 

This comparison indicates that the age characteristics of the population within the Township 

are relatively consistent with that of the province. There is a slightly higher portion individuals 

aged 45-74, which is likely a result of residents living in the Township’s senior facilities as well 

as older individuals and couples moving out of the city for retirement. This is particularly 

important when comparing the number of deaths as a result of a fire.  

 

 

 

7
 Source: Statistics Canada - 2011 Census Data 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 19 

 

Table L-6 was prepared using information from the OFMEM’s review of Ontario Fatal Fires 

during the ten year period from 2001 to 2010 (revised October 2011).  Although no particular 

age group stands out as a significantly higher risk, when the number of fatalities per million 

population is calculated, the seniors age group are at the greatest risk of fire death compared 

to other age groups.  

 

TABLE L-6: PROVINCIAL % OF FIRE FATALITIES BY AGE GROUP 

Age Characteristics of the 
Population 

% of  

Age Group 

0 to 10 years 8% 

10 to 19 years 6% 

20 to 29 years 6% 

30 to 39 years 10% 

40 to 49 years 19% 

50 to 59 years 14% 

60 to 69 years 12% 

70 to 79 years 13% 

80+ years 12% 

(Source: Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management) 

 

As indicated by the provincial data, seniors tend to be more at risk. In comparison, the senior’s 

population of the Township of Puslinch as a percentage of the overall population is higher than 

the provincial data.  The median age of the Township is also higher than the Province. This is 

consistent in smaller communities with multiple senior facilities.  

1.8.2 Population Shifts 

The population within a community can shift at various times during the day or week and 

throughout the year. This can be as a result of residents that are required to leave the 

community to seek employment as opposed to those having employment opportunities within 

the community. Other examples can include tourist and vacation destinations within a 

community. Large population shifts can occur during summer months as a direct result of 

seasonal attractions to the community.  

 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 20 

 

Communities that are home to educational institutions such as colleges and universities can 

have a different population shift during the fall and winter months when students are 

attending school and residing in the community (e.g. student residences).  

In both instances the increased risk due to overnight accommodation (sleeping) either in a 

trailer/hotel/or school residence can be a major factor which can impact the demand for fire 

protection services. 

 

The Township of Puslinch experiences large population shifts during summer months as a 

direct result of seasonal residents in the two trailer parks in Puslinch. The average age of the 

seasonal residents is 65 and over.  Specific fire protection strategies to address population 

shifts should be required. The Township uses this opportunity to educate seniors as well as any 

youth visiting the trailer parks.   

1.8.3 Vulnerable Individuals or Occupancies 

Identifying the location and number of vulnerable individuals, or occupancies within the 

community will provide insight into the magnitude of this particular demographic within a 

community. This demographic is typically defined as requiring some type of assistance due to 

physical/cognitive limitations, disabilities, drug or alcohol use and others that may require 

assistance to evacuate in the event of a fire.  

 

Occupancies that should be considered when assessing this demographic include hospitals, 

seniors’ apartments, group homes, rooming houses, residential care facilities, daycare centres 

and long-term care facilities. Table L-7 lists the retirement homes and communities in Puslinch. 

 

TABLE L-7: RETIREMENT HOMES AND COMMUNITIES IN PUSLINCH8 

Community Address 

Mini Lake Residence Park 1 Pavilion Road 

Morriston Park Nursing Home 7363 Calfass Road 

(Source: Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services) 

1.8.4 Language Barriers to Public Education 

Cultural diversity and ethnic background can be a factor that fire departments must consider in 

developing and delivering programs related to fire prevention and public education.  

Communication barriers in terms of language and the ability to read written material can have 

an impact of the success of these programs. Table L-8  provides a breakdown of the mother 

tongue of residents within the Township based on the 2011 Statistics Canada census 

 

 

8
 Source: Canpages.com 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 21 

 

information. The majority of residents in Puslinch (86.8%) have English as their mother tongue, 

and 0.6% has both English and French.   
TABLE L-8: MOTHER TONGUE OF PUSLINCH RESIDENTS 

Language 
Puslinch Ontario 

Total % Total Total % Total 

Total population 6995 - 12,028,895 - 

  English 6075 86.8% 8,230,705 68.4% 

  French 85 1.2% 488,815 4.1% 

  English and French 45 0.6% 32,685 0.3% 

  Other 790 11% 3,276,685 27.2% 

(Source: Statistics Canada 2011 Census) 

A total of 790 individuals (11.3%) have a non-official, non-Aboriginal language as a mother 

tongue. The top five languages in this category are German (1.7%), Italian (1.5%), Punjabi 

(0.86%), Dutch (0.79%), and Portuguese (0.79%). Table L-9 provides a breakdown of knowledge 

of official languages of residents within the Township based on the 2011 Statistics Canada 

census information. The majority of residents in Puslinch (91.9%) know English, and 6.5% know 

both English and French.   

 

TABLE L-9: KNOWLEDGE OF OFFICIAL LANGUAGES OF PUSLINCH RESIDENTS 

Language 
Puslinch Ontario 

Total % Total Total % Total 

Total population (non-institutional) 216,365 - 12,722,060 - 

  English Only 189,930 91.9% 10,984,360 86.3% 

  French Only 110 0.1% 42,980 0.3% 

  English and French 13,500 6.5% 1,395,805 11.0% 

  Other 3,820 1.8% 298,920 2.4% 

(Source: Statistics Canada 2011 Census) 

Language may be a barrier to public education in the community.  It may be worthwhile to 

target specific populations with specialized outreach.  

1.8.5 Income Levels 

Table L-10 summarizes household data from the 2011 Census from Statistics Canada. Puslinch, 

as a Township, has a higher population density than the province.  Puslinch also has a higher 

median income and a slightly higher average value of owned dwellings than the provincial 

average.  These statistics are typical of a mostly rural community in close proximity to large 

cities and regional centres. 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 22 

 

 
TABLE L-10: 2011 STATISTICS CANADA HOUSEHOLD DATA 

Census Characteristic Puslinch Ontario 

Population Density 32.8 14.1 

Median Household Income $89,261 $66,358 

Average Value of Owned Dwelling $561,101 $367,428 

Total # of Dwellings Owned 2,375 3,235,495 

% Owned Dwellings 94% 71% 

% Rented Dwellings 6% 28% 

(Source:  Statistics Canada 2011 Census and 2011 National Household Survey) 

1.8.6 Demographic Profile Observations 

The demographic analysis of Puslinch indicates that by age category the Township is similar to 

the provincial statistics. However, the Township has a slightly higher population of seniors and 

as such should be considered as a vulnerable component of the population. There are a 

minimum number of buildings identified where this vulnerable demographic of the community 

reside (seniors).  These buildings should be considered as high risk with regard to developing a 

pro-active fire prevention and protection program. The Township also has a large percentage 

(13%) of mobile homes where the majority of residents are seniors.  Optimizing the first two 

lines of defence should be considered a priority for these residential and care occupancies as 

part of the Master Fire Plan.   

 

English is the predominate language within the community representing 86.8% of the 

population’s mother tongue. This indicates that there should be a very minimal language 

barrier in the delivery of fire prevention and public education programs.  

In general income levels and the percentage of home ownership are higher than that of the 

provincial averages. These factors also relate to a lower percentage of rental housing 

compared to the provincial averages.  

1.9 Geography / Topography / Road Infrastructure 

The Township of Puslinch is located within Wellington County, directly south of the City of 

Guelph and east of the City of Cambridge.  The Township is the southernmost municipality 

within the County and is the County’s smallest Township with a geographic area of 215 square 

kilometres. The Township also has the smallest population. The Township’s population was 

7,029 in 2011.   

 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 23 

 

The density of the Puslinch is higher than the Province but when compared to cities and 

suburbs is considered relatively low. The Township’s density is representative of a rural 

community with small population centres. The large rural areas in the Township may result in 

longer response times from the fire station or automatic aid stations. The urban and 

settlement area are shown in the Township’s Zoning By-laws Map, Figure L-1.   

 

The road network within the Township is primarily laid out in a grid pattern of arterial rural 

roads and local roads which provide access to rural residential locations.  Roads within the 

population centres and the newer commercial/industrial growth districts within the Township 

are well served and connected by the road network. There are two major highways that run 

through the Township: Highway 401 and Highway 6. Highway 401, which runs east-west, is a 

six lane freeway throughout the municipality and divides the Township. Highway 6 (Hanlon 

Parkway) runs north-south through the middle of Puslinch.  

1.9.1 Geography/Topography/Road Infrastructure Profile Observations 

The risks associated with the geography, topography and road infrastructure within the 

Township are predominantly those associated with the overall size of the municipality and the 

rural residential areas located outside of the built-up communities.  This typically means longer 

emergency response times from the fire station, located in the urban area, out to the rural 

areas and occupancies. In developing the Master Fire Plan consideration should be given to 

prioritizing the delivery of public education and fire prevention programs in these areas. This 

should include optimization of the department’s smoke alarm program and home fire safety 

planning for areas with extended emergency response travel times.    

 

The road network layout is primarily a grid pattern of arterial rural roads and local roads which 

provide access to these rural residential locations.  The population centres within the Township, 

including the settlement areas are well served and connected by the road network.  

 

The following potential constraints within Puslinch have been identified: 

 

• The large rural area may result in longer response times. 

• Lack of snow removal may limit response times.  

• There is only three interchanges to / from Highway 401. This may delay fire and rescue 

services on the section of Highway 401 the Township of Puslinch is responsible for. 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



!H

BROCK ROAD

REGIONAL ROAD 97

EASTVIEW
 RO

AD

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

\\dillon.ca\DILLON_DFS\Toronto\Toronto CAD\GIS\141138 - Puslinch Fire and Rescue

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 7/16/2015

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
!H FIRE STATION

HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD

ZONING
AGRICULTURAL
NATURAL ENVIRONMENT
RURAL RESIDENTIAL
MINI LAKES RESIDENTIAL
HAMLET RESIDENTIAL
MILL CREEK RESIDENTIAL
ESTATE RESIDENTIAL
COMMERCIAL
DISPOSAL INDUSTRIAL
EXTRACTIVE
INDUSTRIAL
INSTITUTIONAL
OPEN SPACE

ZONING BY-LAWS
FIGURE # L-1



L - 25 

 

1.10 Past Fire Loss Statistics  

Identifying and understanding trends through the analysis of historical data provides valuable 

insight into community’s specific trends. Assessing the key factors of life safety risk and fire risk 

in relation to provincial statistics provides a foundation for evaluating where specific programs 

or services may be necessary.   

1.10.1 Fire Loss by Occupancy Classification 

For the period from 2008 to 2012 there were 61,742 fires within Ontario with a loss reported 

to the OFMEM. During this period 64% or 39,440 of these involved a structure and 27% or 

16,929 of these fires involved a vehicle.  

 

Table L-11 indicates the provincial fire loss by property classification for the period 2008 to 

2012.  

 

TABLE L-11: PROVINCIAL FIRE LOSS BY OCCUPANCY CLASSIFICATION  
PERIOD 2008 TO 2012 

Occupancy 

Classification 

(OBC) 

Occupancy Definition 

Fire Risk Sub-model 

(OFMEM) 

Ontario Fire Loss by Occupancy 

Classification 

Group A – Assembly  

Assembly 

 

Assembly occupancies 5% 

Group B - Institutional 

Institutional 

 

Care or Detention occupancies 1% 

Group C - Residential 

Residential 
Residential occupancies 72% 

Group D - Business Business and Personal Services Occupancies 3% 

Group E - Mercantile Mercantile occupancies 4% 

Group F - Industrial Industrial occupancies 7% 

Other occupancies  

Not classified within the Ontario Building Code 

(i.e. farm buildings) 

 

8% 

Reported fires Reported structure fires 39,439 

(Source: Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management) 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 26 

 

For this period 72% of the fires with a loss occurred within a Group C - residential occupancies.  

 

In comparison to the provincial analysis the Township of Puslinch property loss as a result of 

fires is presented in Table L-12 below (OFMEM data for Puslinch). For the same period the 

analysis indicates that 72% of the fires reporting a loss occurred in Group C - residential 

occupancies. During this time period the Township experienced a significantly higher 

percentage of fires with a loss in the ‘Other Occupancies’ classification compared to the 

Provincial statistics.   

 

TABLE L-12: TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH FIRE LOSS BY PROPERTY CLASSIFICATION 
PERIOD 2008 TO 2012 

Occupancy 

Classification 

(OBC) 

Occupancy Definition 

Fire Risk Sub-model 

(OFMEM) 

 

Township of Puslinch 

Fire Loss by  

Occupancy Classification 

Group A – Assembly  

Assembly 

 

Assembly occupancies N/A  

Group B – Institutional 

Institutional 

 

Care or Detention occupancies N/A 

Group C – Residential 

Residential 

Residential occupancies 72% 

Group D - Business Business and Personal Services Occupancies N/A  

Group E - Mercantile Mercantile occupancies 6% 

Group F - Industrial Industrial occupancies 6% 

Other occupancies  
Not classified within the Ontario Building Code 

(i.e. farm buildings) 

 

17% 

Reported fires 
excluding buildings under National Farm 

Building code (6 fires) 
18 

(Source: Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management) 

1.10.2 Reported Fire Cause 

Assessing the possible cause of the fires reported is an important factor in identifying any 

potential trends, or public education initiatives or fire prevention targets that may be 

considered as part of the community fire protection plan.  

 

Table L-13 provides a summary of the reported possible cause of the 18 fires reported during 

the period 2008 to 2012 for the Township of Puslinch.  

 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 27 

 

TABLE L-13: TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 2008 TO 2012 REPORTED FIRE CAUSE 

Nature Fire Cause Number of Fires % of Cause 

Intentional 
Arson N/A  0%  

Vandalism 2 9.5% 

Unintentional 

Children Playing N/A  0% 

Design/Construction/Maintenance deficiency 2 9.5% 

Mechanical /Electrical failure 2 9.5% 

Misuse of ignition source 5 23.8% 

Other unintentional 1 4.8% 

Undetermined 6 28.6% 

Other Other 2 9.5% 

Undetermined Undetermined 1 4.8% 

Total number of fires and percentage 18 100% 

(Source: Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management) 

There are four categories used to classify the cause of a fire. These include intentional, 

unintentional, other, and undetermined. 

 

The “intentional” category recognizes the cause of a fire to be started for a specific reason. 

These are typically classified as arson fires, and for example can be related to acts of vandalism, 

or to achieve personal gain through insurance payment. There were two fires (9.5%) caused by 

vandalism reported for this period. 

 

The “unintentional” category recognizes a number of the common causes of a fire that 

represent both human behavioural causes such as playing with matches, and equipment 

failures such as a mechanical failure. Unintentional design/construction deficiencies represent 

9.5% of the cause for the two unintentional fires during this period.    

 

The cumulative percentage of “unintentional–other unintentional (4.8%), unintentional-

undetermined (28.6%), and other-other (9.5%), undetermined-undetermined (4.8%)” 

represents a total of 47.7% of all fire causes. This indicates that there was no specific cause 

identified for approximately almost half of all fires during this period. 

1.10.3 Reported Ignition Source 

Table L-14 similarly provides the reported ignition source for the 18 fires that occurred during 

the period 2008 to 2013.  

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 28 

 

TABLE L-14:  TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
2008 TO 2012 IGNITION SOURCE CLASS 

Reported Ignition Source Number of Fires % of Cause 

Appliances 1 5.6% 

Cooking equipment 1 5.6% 

Electrical distribution 2 11.1% 

. 
Heating equipment chimney etc. 3 16.7% 

Lighting equipment 1 5.6% 

Open flame tools/smokers articles 2 11.1% 

Other electrical/mechanical 1 5.6% 

Processing equipment N/A  0% 

Miscellaneous 2 11.1% 

Exposure 1 5.6% 

Undetermined 4 22.2% 

Total number of fires and percentage 18 100% 

(Source: Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management) 

Undetermined ignition sources represent the largest percentage at 22.2%. Miscellaneous 

represented the second largest percentage at 19.2%. Out of the main categories of determined 

ignition sources, heating equipment, including chimneys, woodstoves, and fireplaces was the 

largest percentage at 12.7%. 

1.10.4 Reported Civilian Injuries and Fatalities 

Table L-15 indicates the number of fire related civilian injuries and fatalities that occurred 

within the Township of Puslinch during the period 2008 to 2012. 

 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 29 

 

TABLE L-15:  TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH  
2008 TO 2012 REPORTED CIVILIAN INJURIES AND FIRE DEATHS 

Occupancy 

Classification 

(OBC) 

Occupancy Definition 
Fire Risk Sub-model 

(OFMEM) 

 

Injuries Fatalities 

Group A – Assembly  

Assembly 

 

Assembly occupancies 0 0 

Group B - Institutional 

Institutional 

 

Care or Detention occupancies 0 0 

Group C - Residential 

Residential 
Residential occupancies 0 0 

Group D - Business Business and Personal Services Occupancies 0 0 

Group E - Mercantile Mercantile occupancies 0 0 

Group F - Industrial Industrial occupancies 0 0 

Other occupancies  

Not classified within the Ontario Building Code 

(i.e. farm buildings) 

 

0 0 

(Source: Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management) 

During this period there were no reported fatalities or reported injuries.  

1.10.5 Past Fire Loss Profile Observations 

Based on the historical data for the period 2008 to 2012 the Township of Puslinch experienced 

the highest rate of fires within the Group C - residential occupancies. This result is consistent 

with that of the provincial profile. However, the rate of fires in the Other Occupancies Category 

at 17% was more than double the provincial rate. 

 

Undetermined causes representing 33.4% and Misuse of Ignition Source representing 23.8% 

were the leading causes for fires during this period. The cumulative percentage of fire causes 

that could not be determined represented 47.7% of the 18 fires reported during this period. 

 

Undetermined ignition sources at 22.2%, miscellaneous (11.1%), open flame tools/smokers 

articles (1.1%) and electrical distribution (11.1%) represented the top four leading ignition 

sources of the 18 fires reported during this period.  

 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 30 

 

The analysis of the past fire losses within the Township of Puslinch further defines that Group 

C- Residential occupancies represent the highest level of risk within the community.  

 

Enhancing the first line of defence, including pro-active prevention and education programs, 

targeted at the areas identified within this Community Risk Profile, should be considered a 

priority within the Master Fire Plan. 

1.11 Fuel Load Profile 

Fuel load typically refers to the amount and nature of combustible content and materials 

within a building.  This can include combustible contents, interior finishes, as well as structural 

materials.  Combustible content tends to create the greatest potential fire loss risk.  This can 

include industrial materials, commercial materials or typical office furnishings.  Higher fuel 

loads result in increased fire loss risk due to increased opportunity for ignition and increased 

fire severity.  

 

In many communities large amounts of fuel load can be contained within a single occupancy 

such as a building supply business, or alternatively within a large multi-occupancy building such 

a historical downtown core.  

 

As presented previously within this report, age and construction of a building can also have an 

impact on fuel load given that older buildings likely have a larger volume of combustible 

construction such as wood framing rather than newer construction utilizing concrete and steel 

products.  

 

Our analysis of fuel load within the Township of Puslinch indicates that there are a small 

number of buildings or occupancies where significant fuel loads are present that would be 

cause for any specific identification.   Table L-16 shows the buildings in Puslinch which are 

considered to exhibit high fuel loads. Maple leaf Foods having the highest food load due to the 

area of the building and the large amount of ammonia on site.  The historic downtown areas of 

Aberfoyle and Morriston also present a high fuel load from the materials used to construct the 

buildings and the exposure to other buildings. Regular fire prevention inspection cycles and 

strategies to enforce continued compliance with the OFC are considered as best practices to 

achieving the legislative responsibilities of the municipality and providing an effective fire 

protection program to address fuel load risks.    

 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 31 

 

TABLE L-16: PUSLINCH BUILDING WITH FUEL LOAD 

Building Location Area (Square Metres) 
Height 

(Metres) 

Maple Leaf Foods McLean Road and Brock Road 26,198.7 m
2
 12 m 

Nestle Water 101 Brock Road 69,917.3 m
2
 7 m 

Ren’s Pet 20 Brock Road North 1,550 m
2
 9 m 

Royal Canin 100 Bieber Road 6,239 m
2
 32 m 

Barco Cherry Forest 

Products 
24 Kerr Crescent 2,700 m

2
 6 m 

Schneiders 7475 McLean Road East 1,100 m
2
 6 m 

HP Polymers 32 Kerr Crescent 1,200 m
2
 6 m 

(Source: Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services) 

1.11.1 Fuel Load Profile Observations 

In comparison to the number of buildings within the Township of Puslinch there are a small 

number of buildings having a site specific fuel load concern. In addition to ensuring compliance 

to the requirements of the OBC and the OFC there are operational strategies that a fire 

department can implement to address fuel load concerns. These include regular fire inspection 

cycles and pre-planning of buildings of this nature to provide an operational advantage in the 

event of fire.   

1.12 Community Growth & Development 

1.12.1 Historic Growth 

The following table indicates the historic populations within the Township of Puslinch, as 

provided by Statistics Canada, Census Profiles.  Historic household population statistics are also 

included, where available. 

 

TABLE L-17: HISTORIC GROWTH IN POPULATION AND HOUSEHOLDS 

Year Puslinch Population 
% Change in 
Population 

Puslinch 
Population by 
Household 

% Change in 
Households 

1996 5,416 - 1,895 - 

2001 5,885 8.7% 1,955 3.2% 

2006 6,689 13.7% 2,335 19.4% 

2011 7,029 5.1% 2,619 12.2% 

(Source:  Statistics Canada 2011 Census and 2011 National Household Survey) 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 32 

 

From 1996 to 2011 the population of Puslinch grew by 30.0%, approximately 2% per year.  This 

is more than the population growth of the province over the same time period, which was 

19.5%, closer to 1.3% per year.   

1.12.2 Growth Projections 

Table L-18 summarizes the growth projections for the Township from 2006 to 2031.  

 
TABLE L-18: POPULATION AND EMPLOYMENT GROWTH PROJECTIONS 

Year 2006 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 

Population 7,010 7,490 8,130 8,720 9,320 9,920 

Household 2,340 2,520 2,730 2,920 3,100 3,290 

Employment 4,210 4,510 4,850 5,240 5,500 5,760 

(Source:  County of Wellington Official Plan) 

 

The population, household, and employment estimates shown in the table above predict that 

over the next 20 years the Township will experience population growth that is similar to the 

current rate at approximately 1.6% annually.  This represents a 15.9% population increase over 

the next 10 years.  Households are expected to increase in parallel with population increases. 

 

Employment, is predicted to increase by approximately 36.8% from 2006 to 2031 or an average 

of 1.5% per year. This represents a modest increase in employment for the Township.  The 

Township is actively moving towards providing more serviced industrial lands and is prepared 

to designate more lands should the need arise. These lands are primarily located along Brock 

Road and Mclean Road intersection, and the Highway 6 corridor between Concession Road 4 

and Wellington County Road 34. 

1.12.3 Growth Projections Profile Observations 

The population of Township of Puslinch is anticipated to grow at a rapid rate of 1.6% annually 

over the coming 20 year period.  This represents a 15.9% population increase over the next 10 

years.  The majority of this population increase is not expected to be accommodated in the 

urban centres of Aberfoyle and Morriston. This growth is expected to be supported by ongoing 

rural residential development.  Therefore the future geographic locations of population are not 

expected to vary significantly within the 10 year study horizon. 

1.13 Risk Profile Model 

The OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-model defines risk “as a measure of the probability and consequence 

of an adverse effect to health, property, organization, environment, or community as a result of 

an event, activity or operation. For the purposes of the Fire Risk Sub-model, such an event refers 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 33 

 

to a fire incident along with the effects of heat, smoke and toxicity threats generated from an 

incident.”      

The OFMEM model develops an overall risk assessment “by assigning probability and 

consequence levels to potential adverse events or scenarios due to fire and combining the two 

to arrive at an overall risk level.” The OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-model provides a matrix as one 

option in arriving at the level of risk for a range of scenarios. 

 

Alternatively the model provides the opportunity “for analysis purposes, the community being 

assessed can be defined as the municipality in its entirety or as a particular segment of it that 

distinguishes it from other parts.” The model further provides that “it may be convenient to 

subdivide a municipality based on residential subdivision, downtown sections, industrial park, 

and a rural area.”  

 

For analytical purposes, the methodology within this study uses the OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-

model major occupancy classifications as the basis for segmenting the community by primary 

building use. Each major occupancy classification is assigned a probability level based on the 

OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-model definitions. A consequence level also using the OFMEM Fire Risk 

Sub-model definition is then assigned for each major occupancy classification. 

 

The methodology within this report includes a further process of assigning ‘weighting factor’ to 

each of the eight risk factor categories identified by the OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-model. Utilizing a 

range from 1 (lowest) to 3 (highest) each of the factors is assigned a weight factor, to 

calculated a weighted average. The weight factor assigns more or less priority to each of the 

given factors. For example, the demographic profile that identifies the number of vulnerable 

residents has been assigned the highest factor weight of 3.  This process results in the most 

relevant categories having more impact on the risk priority level calculated. 

 

The level of risk (Priority Level) for each major occupancy classification is determined by 

multiplying “probability x consequence = risk level (priority)”. This provides the ability to 

determine an overall risk level for each major occupancy classification within the community. 

 

This methodology then coordinates the assigned risk level for each major occupancy 

classification with the Council approved zoning by-law information and mapping. This process 

provides the opportunity to create a visual model (map) of the Community Risk Profile. This 

provides the opportunity to view both the current and projected level of risk within the 

community based on the Council approved Official Plan. 

 

Creating the Community Risk Profile Model provides the opportunity to evaluate the current 

level of fire protection services provided. The model can further identify where risk levels may 

increase or change based on growth and long-term planning of the community.   

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 34 

 

1.13.1 Probability Levels 

The probability of a fire occurring can in part be estimated based on historical experience of 

the community. The experience of other similar communities and that of the province as a 

whole can also provide valuable insight into the probability of a fire occurring. The experience 

of the evaluator and the local fire service staff in collaborating on determining probability is 

also a key factor.   

 

The OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-model categorizes the probability of an event occurring into five 

levels of likelihood. Table L-19 identifies the OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-model categories.  

   
TABLE L-19: OFMEM FIRE RISK SUB-MODEL LIKELIHOOD LEVELS (PROBABILITY) 
LIKELIHOOD LEVELS (PROBABILITY) 

Description Level Specifics 

Rare 1 
- may occur in exceptional circumstances 

- no incidents in the past 15 years 

Unlikely 2 
- could occur at some time, especially if circumstances change  

- 5 to 15 years since last incident 

Possible 3 
- might occur under current circumstances 

- 1 incident in the past 5 years 

Likely 4 
- will probably occur at some time under current circumstances 

- multiple or reoccurring incidents in the past 5 years 

Almost Certain 5 
- expected to occur in most circumstances unless circumstances change 

- multiple or reoccurring incidents in the past year 

1.13.2 Consequence Levels 

The consequences as a result of a fire relate to the potential losses or negative outcomes 

associated should an incident occur. The Fire Risk Sub-model identifies four components that 

should be evaluated in terms of assessing consequence. These include: 

 

• Life Safety: Injuries or loss of life due to occupant and firefighter exposure to life 

threatening fire or other situations. 

• Property Loss:  Monetary losses relating to private and public buildings, property 

content, irreplaceable assets, significant historic/symbolic landmarks and critical 

infrastructure due to fire. 

• Economic Impact:  Monetary losses associated with property income, business closures, 

downturn in tourism, tax assessment value, employment layoffs due to fire. 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 35 

 

• Environmental Impact:  Harm to human and non-human (i.e. wildlife, fish and 

vegetation) species of life and general decline in quality of life within the community 

due to air/water/soil contamination as a result of fire or fire suppression activities. 

The OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-model evaluates the consequences of an event based on five levels 

of severity. Table L-20 identifies the OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-model categories.  

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 36 

 

TABLE L-20:  OFM FIRE RISK SUB-MODEL CONSEQUENCE LEVELS 

Description Level Specifics 

Insignificant 1 

- no life safety issue 

- limited valued or no property loss 

- no impact to local economy and/or 

- no effect on general living conditions 

Minor 2 

- potential risk to life safety of occupants 

- minor property loss 

- minimal disruption to business activity and/or 

- minimal impact on general living conditions 

Moderate 3 

- threat to life safety of occupants  

- moderate property loss 

- poses threat to small local businesses and/or 

- could pose threat to quality of the environment  

Major 4 

- potential for a large loss of life  

- would result in significant property damage 

- significant threat to businesses, local economy and tourism and/or 

- impact to the environment would result in a short term, partial  

  evacuation of local residents and businesses  

Catastrophic 5 

- significant loss of life  

- multiple property damage to significant portion of the municipality 

- long term disruption of businesses, local employment, and tourism 

  and/or 

- environmental damage that would result in long-term evacuation of  

  local residents and businesses 

 

1.13.3 Risk Levels 

Once probability and consequence are determined for each major occupancy classification the 

level of risk is calculated by multiplying “probability x consequence = risk level (priority).” 

Table L-21 identifies the four levels of risk identified within the OFMEM Fire Risk Sub-model 

including the lower and upper range of each risk classification and the relative definition of 

each. 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 37 

 

 

TABLE L-21:  OFMEM FIRE RISK SUB-MODEL RISK LEVELS 

Risk Level 
Priority 

Level 

Lower – Upper 

Range 
Definition 

Low Risk L1 0 to 6.3 
- manage by routine programs and procedures, 

maintain risk monitoring 

Moderate Risk L2 6.4 to 12.5 

- requires specific allocation of management 

responsibility including monitoring and response  

procedures 

High Risk L3 12.6 to 18.7 
- community threat, senior management attention  

needed 

Extreme Risk L4 18.8 to 25.0 
- serious threat, detailed research and 

management planning required at senior levels 

1.13.4 Ontario Fire Code Compliance 

A major determinate in assessing risk within a community and the major building classifications 

is compliance with the Ontario Fire Code. The Ontario Fire Code which was adopted in 1981 

and the Ontario Building Code were developed to ensure uniform building construction and 

maintenance standards are applied for all new building construction. The codes also provide 

for specific fire safety measures depending on the use of the building. Examples of the fire 

safety issues that are addressed include: 

• occupancy 

• exits/means of egress including signs and lighting 

• fire alarm and detection equipment 

• fire department access 

• inspection, testing, and maintenance 

In 1983 the OFC was further expanded to include retrofit requirements for many of the 

building constructed prior to 1981. Retrofit requirements were established to ensure a 

minimum acceptable level of life safety is present. A number of occupancy types are included 

within the retrofit requirements including assembly, boarding, lodging and rooming houses, 

health care facilities, multi-unit residential, two-unit residential, and hotels.  

 

Determining the status of compliance or non-compliance including the status of retrofit 

requirements particularly for major building occupancies is an important component of 

developing the Community Risk Profile. This is particularly important within the major 

occupancies classifications where there is a documented history of property loss as a result of 

fire, and/or injuries and fatalities as a result of fire. Group A – Assembly and Group B – 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 38 

 

Institutional occupancies are the two primary occupancies types where more detailed analysis 

of compliance and non-compliance should be considered.  

 

Where compliance has been achieved and documented these occupancy classifications can be 

considered as part of the standard risk identification methodology within this report. Where 

compliance has not been achieved including retrofit requirements these occupancies should be 

evaluated independently adding a further assessment of OFC compliance.  

 

Completing the independent evaluation provides the opportunity to assess these buildings on 

a case by case basis and as such does not impact the overall risk level for the occupancy 

classification. In the event an individual property is assigned a higher level of risk as a result of 

non-compliance this methodology provides the opportunity for re-evaluating the risk level for 

that specific property once compliance is achieved.  

1.14 Township of Puslinch Risk Evaluation 

Table L-22 presents the completed risk evaluation for the Township of Puslinch. The evaluation 

utilizes the methodology described above following the framework of the OFMEM Fire Risk 

Sub-model. 

 

The risk evaluation summary incorporates all community risk factors within the Township of 

Puslinch for each major occupancy classification.  The summary identifies that the Township 

has no extreme risk occupancies.  Institutional occupancies were assigned high risk.  This 

should be reflected in the department’s fire prevention and public education program planning.  

Assembly and residential occupancies are identified as moderate level risks.  If, however, any 

buildings under this occupancy are non-compliant, they may be considered high risk. This 

would apply specifically to higher density residential units or assembly occupancies.  Another 

consideration would be residential buildings which specifically house higher risk age-groups 

(e.g. seniors or vulnerable persons), which should be given a higher priority for programming 

based on increased risk. Business and mercantile occupancies in Puslinch represent a moderate 

risk.  

 

 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L-39 

 

TABLE L-22:  RISK EVALUATION SUMMARY 

Community Risk Profile 

Factors
 

Property  

Stock 

Building 

Height / 

Area 

Building 

Age 

Building 

Exposures 

Demographic  

Profile 

Geography 

Topography 

Past 

Fire Loss 

Fuel 

Load 

Prob. 

Level 

Cons. 

Level 

Priority 

Level 

Risk 

Level 

Weight Factor 1 2 3 1 3 1 3 2     

OBC Major Occupancy 

Classification
 

Risk Level Assessment 

Group A 

 

Assembly 

 

3 2 3 2 4 2 1 2 2.4 3 7.2 

 

RL-2 

Group B 

 

Institutional 

 

4 3 4 3 5 3 1 3 3.2 4 12.8 RL-3 

Group C 

 

Residential 

 

4 2 3 3 5 2 3 2 3.1 3 9.3 RL-2 

Group D Business 2 2 3 3 2 2 1 3 2.2 3 6.6 RL-2 

Group E Mercantile 2 2 3 3 2 2 1 3 2.2 3 6.6 RL-2 

Group F 

 

Industrial 

 

3 3 2 2 2 2 2 4 2.4 2 4.9 RL-1 

Mobile Homes & Trailers 

 

3 1 1 1 3 2 2 2 1.9 3 5.6 RL-1 

 

Probability:                                      
1 – Rare 
2 – Unlikely 
3 – Possible 
4 – Likely 
5 – Almost Certain 

 
 
 

X 

Consequence Level: 
1 – Insignificant 
2 – Minor 
3 – Moderate 
4 – Major 
5 - Catastrophic 

 
 
 

= 

Priority Level 
0 to 6.2 = Low 
6.3 to 12.5 = Moderate 
12.6 to 18.7 = High 
18.8 to 25.0 = Extreme 

 
= 
= 
= 
= 

Risk Level 
RL-1 – Low Risk 
RL-2 – Moderate Risk 
RL-3 – High Risk 
RL-4 – Extreme Risk 

 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 40 

 

1.14.1 TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH RISK MODEL 

 Methodology 1.14.1.1

This section provides a brief outline of the scope and methodology used in order to provide 

insight into the modeling procedures adopted to assess Township risk.  A Geographic 

Information Systems (GIS) model was developed to assess risk based on historic call locations, 

risk geography, land use, the department’s existing and predicted emergency response travel 

times relate to these risks, and the Fire Risk Sub-Model (Form 100). 

 

The basis of the GIS risk model is to develop geographical risk zones that represent areas of low, 

moderate, high and extreme risk categories based on land use. The Township’s existing land 

use zoning was used to determine the boundaries and building occupancies associated with 

each zone. Subsequently, all buildings located in areas outside of the Township’s official land 

use zoning were identified using a buildings shapefile provided by the Ministry of Natural 

Resources and Forestry. The shapefile displays the buildings as points, thus each point/building 

was given a 25 metre buffer in order to approximate the building along with its corresponding 

property. All remaining un-zoned areas were given a land use classification of open space. Next, 

building occupancies were assigned to their associated land use in order to determine the base 

risk category (assumes that all buildings are in compliance).  The base risk zones associated 

with each occupancy category are listed in Table L-23. Finally, several occupancies had their 

risk levels up-graded or down-graded based on the Fire Risk Sub-Model (Form 100).  

 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 41 

 

TABLE L-23:  BASE RISK ZONE CATEGORY BY OCCUPANCY 

Occupancy 

Classification 

(OBC) 

Occupancy Definition 

Fire Risk Sub-model 

(OFM) 

 

Base Risk Zone Category Assigned 

Group A – Assembly 

Assembly 

 

Assembly Occupancies moderate 

Group B - Institutional 

Institutional 

 

Care or Detention Occupancies high 

Group C - Residential 

Residential 

Residential Occupancies moderate 

Group D - Business Business and Personal Services Occupancies moderate 

Group E - Mercantile Mercantile Occupancies moderate 

Group F1 - Industrial 

Industrial Occupancies 

low 

Group F2 - Industrial moderate 

Group F3 - Industrial high 

Other occupancies Not classified within the Ontario Building Code 

(i.e. farm buildings) 

 

low 

Rail 
Unpopulated Areas low 

Populated Areas high 

 

 Existing Risk and Response (Call Locations) 1.14.1.2

The existing risk zones and existing emergency response are presented in Figure L-2.  This 

figure depicts historic call data from 2008 to 2013 overlaid onto the existing risk zones 

represented in the model.  These calls were colour coded according to travel time.  

Calculations were carried out to estimate the number of calls within each risk zone category 

and the travel time associated.  From the calculations table, 53.1% of high risk calls were 

responded to in fourteen minutes or less of turnout and travel time. The table indicates that 

58.1% of the moderate risk calls were responded to in fourteen minutes or less of turnout and 

travel time.  This also shows that 44.4% of the low risk calls were responded to in fourteen 

minutes or less of turnout and travel time. This indicates that based on where the majority of 

the calls occur, the department is able to respond to approximately half of the Township calls 

in a timely manner. 

 Existing Risk and Response (Township Geography) 1.14.1.3

The GIS model was used to approximate existing geographic coverage of the existing risk zone 

areas.  The existing station locations were represented in this scenario, shown in Figure L-3.   

Travel times were estimated according to road network distance from the stations, with the 

travel speeds based on the actual posted speed limit of the road. These assumed travel speeds 

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



L - 42 

 

(in minutes) are represented by the road network buffers surrounding the fire stations.  The 

calculations indicate the percentage of the various risk zone categories that fall within the 

estimated travel time buffer. In this figure, 30.0% of the high risk geography, 12.3% of the 

moderate risk geography and 17.1% of the low risk geography is covered within fourteen 

minutes of predicted turnout and travel time.  

Township of Puslinch
Master Fire Plan – Appendix L
November 2015 – 14-1138



!H

BROCK ROAD

REGIONAL ROAD 97

EASTVIEW
 RO

ADVICTORIA ROAD NORTH

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

FIRE RISK AND RESPONSE
CALL LOCATIONS
FIGURE # L-2

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

FILE LOCATION: \\DILLON.CA\DILLON_DFS\LONDON\LONDON CAD\GIS\

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 8/27/2015

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
<=14 MINUTES TURNOUT AND TRAVEL TIME
>14 MINTUES TURNOUT AND TRAVEL TIME

!H FIRE HALL
HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD

FIRE RISK
High
Moderate
Low

Turnout and Travel    |  % of Low | % of Moderate | % of High
Time                  | Risk Calls|   Risk Calls  | Risk Calls----------------------|-----------|---------------|------------
<= 14 min (rural area)|    44.4%  |      58.1%    |    53.1%



!H

BROCK ROAD

REGIONAL ROAD 97

EASTVIEW
 RO

ADVICTORIA ROAD NORTH

TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH
MASTER FIRE PLAN

FIRE RISK AND RESPONSE
TOWNSHIP GEOGRAPHY
FIGURE # L-3

CLIENT LOGO

0 1 20.5 km ²SCALE 1:81,000

MAP DRAWING INFORMATION:
DATA PROVIDED BY MNR AND THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

MAP CREATED BY: SB
MAP CHECKED BY: SC
MAP PROJECTION: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 17N

FILE LOCATION: \\DILLON.CA\DILLON_DFS\LONDON\LONDON CAD\GIS\

PROJECT: 14-1138

STATUS: DRAFT
DATE: 8/27/2015

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
NFPA 1720 - RURAL AREA DEMAND ZONE

!H FIRE HALL
HIGHWAY
ARTERIAL ROAD
COLLECTOR ROAD
LOCAL ROAD

FIRE RISK
High
Moderate
Low

Turnout and Travel    |  % of Low | % of Moderate | % of High
Time                  | Risk Area |   Risk Area   | Risk Area----------------------|-----------|---------------|------------
<= 14 min (rural area)|    17.1%  |      12.3%    |    30.0%









 

Appendix M 
O   Fire Prevention Policy (PFSG 04-45-12)  

P  

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138





Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services ::
Public Fire Safety Guidelines

Fire Prevention Policy

Public Fire Safety Guidelines Subject Coding

PFSG 04-45-12

Section

Fire Prevention and Public Education

Date

August 1998

Subject

Fire Prevention Policy

Page

 

Purpose:

To identify essential considerations for the development of a municipal fire prevention policy.

 

Service Delivery Implications:

Fire prevention includes public fire safety education. 

Fire prevention is an integral part of overall fire protection.

2(1) Fire Protection and Prevention Act 

Every municipality shall, 

(a) establish a program in the municipality which must include public education with respect to

fire safety and certain components of fire prevention

the fire department establishing and regulating by-law provides direction from council and sets

out the principal fire prevention responsibilities

specific policy should be developed to establish:

level of service

types of activities and programs

responsibilities of personnel

 

Policy Requirements:

Policy statement should reflect the following fire prevention activities:

inspection

code enforcement

fire and life safety education

fire investigation and cause determination

fire loss statistics

Fire department operational guidelines will dictate how, when and where activities will be

conducted.



 

Quality and Performance Measures:

The policy should:

encourage the participation of all fire department personnel in prevention and fire and life safety

education.

provide clear direction from council to the chief, members of the department and the public.

 

Related Functions/ Considerations:

The fire prevention policy should describe:

public fire and life safety education programs such as: Learn Not To Burn; Older & Wiser; Alarmed

For Life; The Arson Prevention Program For Children; and Risk Watch.

inspections, code enforcement programs such as: routine inspections; home safety checks;

complaint inspections; request inspections; open air burning regulation; new construction

inspection; and plans examination

fire investigation / fire origin and cause determination - liaison with appropriate agencies

 

Codes, Standards, and Best Practices:

Codes, Standards and Best Practices resources available to assist in establishing local policy on this

assessment are listed below. All are available at http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/ .

<http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/> Please feel free to copy and distribute this document. We

ask that the document not be altered in any way, that the Office of the Fire Marshal be credited

and that the documents be used for non-commercial purposes only.

See also PFSG 

01-02-01

<../../../../english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/01-02-

01.html> Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model 

02-02-12

<../../../../english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-02-

12.html> & 03

<../../../../english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-02-

03.html> Fire Risk Assessment 

02-03-01

<../../../../english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-03-

01.html> Economic Circumstances 

02-04-01

<../../../../english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-04-

01.html> & 02-04-23

<../../../../english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-04-

23.html> Capabilities of Existing Fire Protection Services 

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/01-02-01.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-02-12.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-02-03.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-03-01.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-04-01.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/02-04-23.html


04-12-13

<../../../../english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-12-

13.html> Core Services 

04-39-12

<../../../../english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-39-

12.html> Fire Prevention Effectiveness Model 

04-40-12

<../../../../english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-40-

12.html> & 04-40-03

<../../../../english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-40-

03.html> Selection of Appropriate Fire Prevention Programs 

04-41-12

<../../../../english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-41-

12.html> Community Fire Safety Officer/Team 

 

 

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-12-13.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-39-12.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-40-12.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-40-03.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/firemarshal/fireserviceresources/publicfiresafetyguidelines/04-41-12.html


 

Appendix N 
Q Definitions of the OFMEM Response 

Types   

Township of Puslinch 
Master Fire Plan 
November 2015 – 14-1138





20SLC
Rectangle



 



 

  



 

 
 
 
 
 

Essentials of Municipal Fire Protection 
& Emergency Management 
A Decision Makers’ Guide 

 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 2 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 3 

 

Table of Contents 
Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Contact Information ...................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Office of the Fire Marshal & Emergency Management ................................................................................................. 8 

Structure of the OFMEM ............................................................................................................................................... 8 

Prevention & Risk Management Division .................................................................................................................. 8 

Technical Services ................................................................................................................................................. 8 

Planning & Exercise ............................................................................................................................................... 9 

Training ................................................................................................................................................................. 9 

Academic Standards & Evaluation ........................................................................................................................ 9 

Field and Advisory Services Division.......................................................................................................................... 9 

Advice and Assistance Unit ................................................................................................................................... 9 

Monitor, Audit and Review Unit ......................................................................................................................... 10 

Northern Fire Protection Program and First Nations Program Unit ................................................................... 10 

Inspections and Enforcement Unit ..................................................................................................................... 10 

Public Safety Education Section .......................................................................................................................... 10 

Response Division.................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Fire Investigation Services .................................................................................................................................. 10 

Emergency Preparedness Response Unit ........................................................................................................... 11 

Administration & Business Services Division:.......................................................................................................... 11 

Ontario Fire College: ............................................................................................................................................... 11 

Promoting Public Safety and Safer Communities ........................................................................................................ 12 

Fire Service:  Three Lines of Defence ...................................................................................................................... 12 

Emergency Management Doctrine for Ontario: ..................................................................................................... 12 

Five Components of Emergency Management ................................................................................................... 13 

Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997, Municipal Requirements .......................................................................... 16 

1. Roles ........................................................................................................................................................... 16 

2. Responsibilities .......................................................................................................................................... 19 

Enforcement of Offences Under the FPPA .................................................................................................................. 22 

1. Municipally Determined Fire Protection Services ............................................................................................... 24 

A. Municipal Responsibilities .............................................................................................................................. 24 

B. Determining Municipal Fire Protection Services ............................................................................................ 24 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 4 

i. Municipal Risk Assessment ........................................................................................................................ 25 

ii. Fire Protection Agreements ....................................................................................................................... 25 

iii. Administration and Governance ............................................................................................................ 25 

iv. Records Management ............................................................................................................................ 28 

v. Public Fire Safety Education ....................................................................................................................... 28 

vi. Fire Safety Inspections and Enforcement .............................................................................................. 28 

vii. Fire Protection Services/Emergency Response ..................................................................................... 28 

viii. Communications .................................................................................................................................... 28 

ix. Fire Investigations .................................................................................................................................. 28 

x. Training ...................................................................................................................................................... 28 

xi. Occupational Health & Safety Section 21 Guidance Notes.................................................................... 29 

C. OFMEM Municipal Fire Protection Services Review ...................................................................................... 29 

D. FPPA, PART IX Firefighters: Employment and Labour Relations ..................................................................... 30 

E. FPPA, Part XII Miscellaneous .......................................................................................................................... 30 

1. Fire Code - O. Reg 213/07 ........................................................................................................................................ 34 

A. Roles and Responsibilities .............................................................................................................................. 34 

i. Owner ......................................................................................................................................................... 34 

ii. Chief Fire Official ........................................................................................................................................ 34 

B. Amendments to the Fire Code – Carbon Monoxide ....................................................................................... 35 

2. Mandatory Inspection- Fire Drill in Vulnerable Occupancy - O. Reg. 364/13 .......................................................... 35 

Fire Marshal Directives Relevant to this Regulation ............................................................................................... 36 

3. Mandatory Assessment of Complaints and Requests for Approval - O. Reg. 365/13 ............................................. 36 

Fire Marshal Directives Relevant to this Regulation ............................................................................................... 36 

1. Fire Risk Management Tools ............................................................................................................................... 38 

2. Province of Ontario Mutual Aid Plan .................................................................................................................. 39 

3. Requesting Provincial Resources for Major Incidents ........................................................................................ 41 

4. Provincial Resources for HAZMAT/CBRNE Response and HUSAR ...................................................................... 41 

Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act Requirements .............................................................................. 44 

A. Roles and Responsibilities .............................................................................................................................. 44 

1. Municipality ............................................................................................................................................... 44 

2. Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management .......................................................................... 47 

Roles and Responsibilities ........................................................................................................................................... 50 

1. Critical Infrastructure for Hazards Identification and Risk Assessment ......................................................... 56 

2. Emergency Management Portal ..................................................................................................................... 56 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 5 

3. Public Education on Ontario Hazards ............................................................................................................. 57 

4. Provincial Emergency Operation Centre ........................................................................................................ 58 

5. Ontario Disaster Relief Assistance Program (ODRAP) .................................................................................... 58 

6. Checklist in Consideration of a Declaration of Emergency ............................................................................. 59 

Provincial Legislation & Regulations ............................................................................................................................ 66 

Federal Legislation & Regulations ............................................................................................................................... 72 

A. Other Industry Standards ............................................................................................................................... 73 

 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 6 

Introduction 

Introduction 
The 2015 Essentials of Municipal Fire Protection & Emergency Management - A Decision Makers’ Guide 
and Seminar is a combination of the “Essentials of Municipal Fire Protection” with the Emergency 
Management “Senior Elected Officials Workshop”.  Both programs were developed several years ago 
with the collaborative expertise and efforts of municipal, emergency management and fire service 
stakeholders. 

This guidebook is a reference and companion document to the Essentials Seminar which incorporates 
both fire service and emergency management key information for municipal decision makers to 
understand municipal responsibilities under the Fire Protection and Prevention Act, Emergency 
Management and Civil Protection Act, Fire Code and Ontario Regulation 380/04: Standards and other 
related legislation. 

 

Contact Information 
Enquiries regarding the Essentials of Municipal Fire Protection & Emergency Management - A Decision 
Makers’ Guide should be directed to the Advice and Assistance Unit, Field and Advisory Services, 
OFMEM; staff members can be reached by e-mail at OFMEM-FAS-AA@ontario.ca or by telephone at 1-
844-638-9560.  

mailto:OFMEM-FAS-AA@Ontario.ca


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 7 

 
 
 
 
 

Section I: Office of the Fire Marshal and 
Emergency Management 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 8 

Section I-OFMEM 

Office of the Fire Marshal & Emergency Management 
The Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management (OFMEM) is a branch of the Community 
Safety Division of the Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services. The Fire Marshal & Chief 
of Emergency Management is the principal adviser to government on public fire protection policy, fire 
safety issues and emergency management. 

In 2013, Emergency Management Ontario and the Office of the Fire Marshal integrated into one 
organization known as the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management (OFMEM) to promote 
safer communities.  The OFMEM will strengthen the co-ordination and delivery of community safety 
programs and: 

• Work with municipal partners to deliver fire safety and emergency management programs and 
services; 

• Share expert advice with local decision-makers; 
• Support municipal response efforts when called upon in an emergency. 

The OFMEM is responsible for the administration of the following provincial legislation that promotes 
fire protection, fire prevention, emergency management and public safety in Ontario: 

• the Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997 (FPPA), 
• the Fire Code, a regulation made under the act that governs fire safety standards for equipment, 

systems, buildings, structures, land and premises in Ontario 
• the Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act (EMCPA) and  
• Ontario Regulation 380/04, a regulation made under the EMPCA that strengthens emergency 

management program requirements. 

You can visit the e-Laws website www.ontario.ca/laws to access the FPPA, Fire Code, EMCPA and O. Reg. 
380/04 online. 

Structure of the OFMEM 

Prevention & Risk Management Division 
 

Technical Services 
• Provides opinions, advice and assistance on the Fire Code to fire services and the public 
• Provides expert advice to government on fire safety legislation and regulations 
• Develops proposals to government for amendments to the Fire Code 
• Develops technical guidelines related to the Fire Code and the FPPA 

http://www.ontario.ca/laws
http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/english/elaws_statutes_97f04_e.htm
http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/source/regs/english/2007/elaws_src_regs_r07213_e.htm
http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/english/elaws_statutes_90e09_e.htm
http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/regs/english/elaws_regs_040380_e.htm
http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/regs/english/elaws_regs_040380_e.htm


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 9 

• Administers appeals filed with the Fire Marshal under section 25 of the FPPA and 
renders decisions in disputes between municipal fire inspectors and the appellants 

• Conducts research, technical analysis and provides advice on matters relating to fire 
investigation, protection, prevention and public education 

• Conducts environmental scanning for the purpose of communicating relevant 
information on new issues and trends to the fire service 

• Administers the segments of the Fire Protection and Prevention Act that deals with 
immediate threat to life and orders/authorizations to close buildings 

• Participates on national and international codes and standards technical committees 
• Conducts applied research projects (e.g., product recalls and warnings, smoke alarm 

technologies, stovetop fire mitigation technologies, wood frame construction, 
sprinklers, and more) 

Planning & Exercise 
• Maintains the Provincial Emergency Management Plan 
• Maintains the Provincial Nuclear Emergency Management Plan 
• Leads the testing of the plans as required  
• Liaises with various stakeholders, federal, provincial ministries and municipalities 

Training 
• Develops and maintains training specific to emergency management  
• Provides instruction to instructors for the various courses available 
• Administers and maintains the “Training Portal” on the website  www.ontario.ca/emo 

Academic Standards & Evaluation 
• Develops training programs and evaluation systems to support the Ontario fire service 

professionalization process 
• Develops, administers and manages certification and accreditation programs for the fire 

service 
• Develops partnerships and alternative delivery mechanisms for enhancing fire service 

accessibility to standardized educational and training programs 

Field and Advisory Services Division 
 

Advice and Assistance Unit 
• Provides ongoing assistance and advisory services to municipal and fire department 

officials regarding the delivery of fire protection services and emergency management 
• Publishes guidelines for municipal officials 
• Administers and monitors the provincial mutual aid system and provides related 

consultation and training 
• Assists other OFMEM units upon completion of municipal reviews and audits 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 10 

• Maintains an email address and toll free call line for inquiries regarding Field and 
Advisory Services Section. 

Monitor, Audit and Review Unit 
• Monitors the delivery of fire protection services in Ontario under the authority of the 

FPPA 
• Conducts audits of municipal emergency response plans and compliance under the 

authority of the EMCPA. 
• Conducts Municipal Review in accordance with the FPPA and related regulations. 
• Administers and reviews Ministry Emergency Plans 

Northern Fire Protection Program and First Nations Program Unit 
• Manages and maintains all  Northern Fire Protection Program departments 
• Administers the First Nations Program in conjunction with other Provincial Ministries 

and Federal Departments  

Inspections and Enforcement Unit 
• Supports municipalities on the vulnerable occupancies compliance strategy 
• Provides assistance with fire safety inspections in legal marihuana production 

operations; hoarding situations; vulnerable occupancies and fire safety inspections 
• Provides assistance to municipal officials and fire department officials on matters 

concerned with marijuana and clandestine drug laboratories such as health, safety, Fire 
Code and Ontario Building Code enforcement and prosecutions, environmental impacts, 
and safe remediation protocols for the buildings used in these illegal operations 

• Supports and assists stakeholders with drafting Inspection Orders, entry warrants, 
charging documents and includes assistance with the prosecution process 

• Administers the Northern/Unincorporated inspection program. 

Public Safety Education Section 
• Assists municipal fire departments to meet their responsibilities under the Fire 

Protection and Prevention Act, 1997 by developing fire safety programs, initiatives and 
resources and providing training, advice and assistance. 

• Works with ministries and municipalities to meet their public education requirements 
under the Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act by encouraging a culture of 
personal and family emergency preparedness through awareness, education and action. 

Response Division 
 

Fire Investigation Services 
• Investigates fires and explosions 
• Provides expert testimony in court to support law enforcement 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 11 

• Provides expert support to police and other stakeholders regarding origin and cause of 
fires and explosions 

• Identifies threats to public safety 
• Prepares computer fire simulations 
• Provides training as requested to fire and police services on the subject of investigation 
• Provides technical support to all agencies involved in fire investigation 
• Gathers statistical information on fire investigations 
• Produce Fire investigation reports 
• Training as requested 

Emergency Preparedness Response Unit 
 
The Emergency Preparedness Response Unit leads the provincial Chemical, Biological, 
Radiological, Nuclear, Explosives / Hazardous Materials / Heavy Urban Search and Rescue 
Emergency Response Support Program and administers its provincial partnership agreements.  
These resources are available to municipalities by request through the local mutual aid Fire 
Coordinator.  Please see Section Five for more information. 

 

Administration & Business Services Division: 
 

• Provides corporate support to all divisions 
• Maintains fire-related statistics 
• Provides library resources for both Fire and Emergency Management 

Ontario Fire College: 
 

In operation since 1949, the Ontario Fire College's primary responsibility is to develop and 
deliver academically sound educational/training programs to meet the needs of both today's 
and tomorrow's fire service. The main objective of the Ontario Fire College programs and 
courses is to assist our student-learners to become the best-trained and most professional 
members of the Ontario fire service. The Ontario Fire College offers training and education 
programs which are based on the National Fire Protection Association and other related 
standards.  The courses are available to members of any Ontario municipal fire department, 
whether full-time or volunteer. 

 

For further information please visit the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management website 
at www.ontaria.ca/firemarshal and www.emergencymanagementontario.ca. 

http://www.ontaria.ca/firemarshal
http://www.emergencymanagementontario.ca/


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 12 

Promoting Public Safety and Safer Communities 
The Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management has adopted and utilizes the Three Lines of 
Defence and the Five Pillars of Emergency Management to promote public safety throughout Ontario.  

Fire Service:  Three Lines of Defence 
The introduction of the Fire Protection and Prevention Act in 1997 was a transformational event. It 
established the framework for a fire protection services delivery model that would promote an 
integrated and balanced approach to the Three Lines of Defence. 

Municipal Guidelines on Fire Protection Services should be a balanced integration of the Three Lines of 
Defence:  

Line One: Public Fire Safety Education 
Line Two:  Fire Safety Standards and Enforcement 
Line Three:  Emergency Response 

 
The principles on which the Three Lines of Defence are founded are outlined by the Honourable John B. 
Webber in the 1983 report entitled Report of the Public Inquiry into Fire Safety in Highrise 
Buildings, which are still as relevant today as they were in 1983. 

Fire protection can be organized based on Three Lines of Defence. Fire protection services delivered 
with a focus and emphasis on public safety and fire safety inspections and enforcement can prevent and 
mitigate fire loss, injury or death from fire and promote firefighter safety. 

The first two Lines of Defence are prioritized to focus municipal fire protection services on the proactive 
activities of educating the public about the prevention, risks and hazards of fire, and enforcing the fire 
code.  When fires do occur, the third Line of Defence – emergency response – must be available to 
lessen the impact.  Placing a higher priority on public fire safety education and fire prevention 
transforms the traditional approach in which emergency response was the predominant focus of the fire 
service. 

 

Emergency Management Doctrine for Ontario: 
As part of its commitment to effective and efficient emergency management, the Government of 
Ontario continues to move decisively to implement reforms consistent with internationally 
recommended practices. These reforms are based, in part, on the findings of emergency management 
reform studies in the post SARS, 9/11 and Katrina era. 

At the heart of these reforms is the movement toward the adoption of emergency management 
programs based on a risk management approach and including activities in the five core components of 
emergency management: prevention, mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery. The aim of 
these reforms is to ensure that a proactive and coordinated approach to managing emergencies is in 
place to reduce the significant risks faced by Ontario. 

http://www.ontla.on.ca/library/repository/mon/25006/22138.pdf
http://www.ontla.on.ca/library/repository/mon/25006/22138.pdf


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 13 

The implementation of emergency management programs will ultimately save lives and money, protect 
property, public health and the environment, maintain economic stability, and help assure the 
continuance of critical infrastructure. This will be accomplished by preventing some emergencies before 
they occur, lessening the frequency and potential impact of others, and by speeding the recovery 
process following an event. In short, the end result will be a province comprised of safe, secure, and 
disaster-resilient communities. 

Ontario requires provincial ministries and municipalities to develop, implement, and maintain 
emergency management programs and adopt standards for these programs through regulation. This 
requirement ensures that a consistent, accountable, and robust system of emergency management is 
established throughout the province. 

The main purpose of the doctrine is to set out the overall framework for emergency management in the 
Province of Ontario in order to develop a common understanding of the concept. This, in turn, is meant 
to assist in the ongoing development and implementation of emergency management programs at the 
provincial and municipal levels, and in the establishment of linkages with other partners and 
stakeholders. 
 

Five Components of Emergency Management 
Emergency management is defined as organized and comprehensive programs and activities taken to 
deal with actual or potential emergencies or disasters. It is based on a risk management approach and 
includes activities in five components: prevention, mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery. 

“It is an all-encompassing risk-based approach to emergency management that includes 
prevention, mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery measures” (OFMEM - Hazard 
Identification Risk Assessment) 

 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 14 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 15 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Section II: Municipal Requirements and 
Authorities under the Fire Protection 

and Prevention Act, 1997 
  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 16 

Section II-FPPA 

Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997, Municipal Requirements 
This section outlines the municipal requirements for municipalities pursuant to the Fire Protection and 
Prevention Act, 1997 (FPPA). This section will cover roles and responsibilities, declaration of annual 
compliance and directives.  
 

Fire Protection Services, FPPA, Definitions 
(a) fire suppression, fire prevention and fire safety education, 
(b) mitigation and prevention of the risk created by the presence of unsafe levels of carbon monoxide and 
safety education related to the presence of those levels, 
(c) rescue and emergency services, 
(d) communication in respect of anything described in clauses (a) to (c), 
(e) training of persons involved in providing anything described in clauses (a) to (d), and 
(f) the delivery of any service described in clauses (a) to (e); 

 

1. Roles 

i. Municipality 
Part II of the Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997, declares a municipality’s mandated 
responsibility for fire protection.  

 
2. (1) Every municipality shall, 
(a) establish a program in the municipality which must include public education with respect to fire 
safety and certain components of fire prevention; and 
(b) provide such other fire protection services as it determines may be necessary in accordance with 
its needs and circumstances. 

 
This establishes municipal responsibility for fire protection and makes fire prevention and 
public education mandatory. It serves to clarify the role of municipalities in providing fire 
protection services and establishing a minimum level of fire protection without imposing 
significant costs on municipalities. 

 
Although municipalities are mandated to provide fire protection, this does not necessarily 
mean they must have a fire department.  Municipalities have a number of options available 
to them for the provision of fire protection services. They may: 

 
a) Establish a fire department or fire departments; 
b) Establish a community fire safety team or officer; 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 17 

c) Jointly manage and operate a fire department with one or more other 
municipalities; 

d) Purchase fire protection; 
e) Both b and d together; or 
f) Any combination of a, c, d, or e (in all or parts of a municipality). 

 
If a risk assessment indicates that suppression services, in addition to public education and 
fire prevention, are needed and circumstances are such that the municipality can provide 
those services, then the municipality should establish a fire department. 

 
If a municipality decides to establish a fire department, subsection 5.(1) of the FPPA states a 
fire department shall provide fire suppression services and may provide other fire 
protection services in a municipality, group of municipalities or in territory without 
municipal organization. 

 
Furthermore, 6.(1) of the FPPA states if a fire department is established for the whole or a 
part of a municipality or for more than one municipality, the council of the municipality or 
the councils of the municipalities, as the case may be, shall appoint a fire chief for the fire 
department. 

 

ii. Fire Chief 
The Fire Chief’s responsibilities include and are not limited to: leading and managing the fire 
department; implementing the fire department’s services and providing relevant and timely 
information to council in matters related to public safety and fire protection services and 
duties set out in the FPPA and the Fire Code. 

Responsibility to council, Part II 6. (3)  
(3)  A fire chief is the person who is ultimately responsible to the council of a municipality that 
appointed him or her for the delivery of fire protection services. 

 

Powers of fire chief, Part II 6. (5)  
(5)  The fire chief may exercise all the powers assigned to him or her under this Act within the 
territorial limits of the municipality and within any other area in which the municipality has agreed to 
provide fire protection services, subject to any conditions specified in the agreement. 

 

Delegation, Part II 6. (6) 
(6)  A fire chief may delegate his or her powers or duties under sections 14, 19 and 20 and such other 
powers and duties as may be prescribed to any firefighter or class of firefighters, subject to such 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 18 

limitations, restrictions or conditions as may be prescribed or set out in the delegation. 1997, c. 4, s. 
6. 

iii. Assistants to the Fire Marshal, Part III 
 

Assistants to the Fire Marshal, Part III 
11.  (1)  The following persons are assistants to the Fire Marshal and shall follow the Fire Marshal’s 
directives in carrying out this Act, 
(a) the fire chief of every fire department; 
(b) the clerk of every municipality that does not have a fire department; 
(c) any member of a fire prevention bureau established by a municipality; and 
(d) every person designated by the Fire Marshal as an assistant to the Fire Marshal. 1997, c. 4, s.  
        11 (1); 2002, c. 18, Sched. N, s. 2 (1). 

 

iv. Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management 
The Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management monitors, reviews and advises 
on the delivery of fire protection services.  This is done by providing recommendations to 
improve efficiency and effectiveness of fire protection services. 

PART III - Powers of the Fire Marshal 
9.(1) The Fire Marshal has the power 
(a)  to monitor, review and advise municipalities respecting the provision of fire protection 

services and to make recommendations to municipal councils for improving the efficiency 
and effectiveness of those services; 

(b) to issue directives to assistants to the Fire Marshal respecting matters relating to this Act 
and the regulations; 

(c) to advise and assist ministries and agencies of government respecting fire protection 
services and related matters; 

(d) to issue guidelines to municipalities respecting fire protection services and related matters; 
(e) to co-operate with any body or person interested in developing and promoting the principles 

and practices of fire protection services; 
(f) to issue long service awards to persons involved in the provision of fire protection service; 
(g) to exercise such other powers as may be assigned under this Act or as may be necessary to 

perform any duty assigned under this Act. 

Duties of the Fire Marshal 
(2) It is the duty of the Fire Marshal, 
 (a) to investigate the cause, origin and circumstances of any fire or of any explosion or condition 

that in the opinion of the Fire Marshal might have caused a fire, explosion, loss of life or 
damage to property; 

(b) to advise municipalities in the interpretation and enforcement of this Act and the 
regulations; 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 19 

(c)  to provide information and advice on fire safety matters and fire protection matters by 
means of public meetings, newspaper articles, publications, electronic media and exhibitions 
and otherwise as the Fire Marshal considers advisable; 

(d) to develop training programs and evaluation systems for persons involved in the provision of 
fire protection services and to provide programs to improve practices relating to fire 
protection services; 

(e) to maintain and operate a central fire college; 
(f) to keep a record of every fire reported to the Fire Marshal with the facts, statistics and 

circumstances that are required under this Act; 
(g) to develop and maintain statistical records and conduct studies in respect of fire protection 

services; and 
(h) to perform such other duties as may be assigned to the Fire Marshal under this Act. 

2. Responsibilities 
 

a:  Declaration of Annual Compliance 
The Declaration of Annual Compliance is intended to affirm that the municipality is meeting the 
requirements of the minimum acceptable model for compliance with clause 2.(1)(a) of the Fire 
Protection and Prevention Act,1997. The minimum acceptable model as stated in Public Fire Safety 
Guideline (PFSG) PFSG 04-40-03 - Selection of appropriate fire prevention programs and PFSG 04-40-
12 - Selection of appropriate fire prevention programs is comprised with the following components: 

1. Risk assessment – PFSG 04-40A-03 and 04-40A-12 
2. Carbon Monoxide (CO) and smoke alarm program, including home escape planning – PFSG 

04-40B-03 and 04-40B-12 
3. Distribution of public education information and implementation of public education 

programs – PFSG 04-40C-03 and 04-40C-12 
4. Fire prevention inspections upon complaint or request - PFSG 04-40D-03 and 04-40D-12 

The minimum acceptable model requires that these components be reviewed annually and updated 
as necessary. It also requires that Council be aware of the current level of compliance. Previously, 
this acknowledgement was indicated using a paper copy of the declaration that was signed by the 
Fire Chief and the Head of Council. Annual compliance is now declared electronically by a form that 
is signed by the person(s) who has the authority to bind the corporation and has ensured that 
Council is aware of the current level of compliance. 

 

b:  OFMEM Directives, Standards & Guidelines 

i. Public Fire Safety Guidelines 
Public Fire Safety Guidelines are issued by the Fire Marshal under the authority of the Fire 
Protection and Prevention Act, 1997: 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 20 

Powers of Fire Marshal 

9. (1) The Fire Marshal has the power, 
(d) to issue guidelines to municipalities respecting fire protection services and related matters; 

 

Public Fire Safety Guidelines were first introduced in 1998 to assist municipal councils, 
administrators and fire chiefs in fulfilling their responsibilities as set out in Part II of the Fire 
Protection and Prevention Act, 1997. 

ii. Fire Marshal’s Directives Relevant to this Section 
Directives are issued by the Fire Marshal under the authority of clause 9.(1)(b) in the Fire 
Protection and Prevention Act, 1997 (FPPA) when there is a need to achieve consistency in the 
application of certain technical or administrative requirements. Directives are issued to 
‘assistants to the Fire Marshal' designated in subsection 11.(1) of the FPPA and it is the 
responsibility of every ‘assistant to the Fire Marshal' to follow Fire Marshal's Directives. 

Source: 
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/Legislation/FireMarshalsDirectives/FM_directives.h
tml  

 

c:  Reporting of Fires and Explosions Requiring Investigation 
Under clause 9.(2)(a) of the FPPA, it is a duty of the Fire Marshal to investigate the cause, origin 
and circumstances of any fire or of any explosion or condition that, in the opinion of the Fire 
Marshal, might have caused a fire, explosion, loss of life or damage to property. In order to carry 
out this duty, specified fires must be reported to the Fire Marshal. Clauses 11.(2) and 11.(3) of 
the FPPA, establish fire reporting duties for assistants to the Fire Marshal. 

All assistants to the Fire Marshal shall notify forthwith the Provincial Emergency Operations 
Centre (PEOC) Duty Officer, Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management (OFMEM) at 
1-800-461-2281 (toll free) of all incidents that meet the following criteria: 

• Fires resulting in either a fatality or serious injury requiring person(s) to be admitted as 
in-patient(s) to a hospital (it is the responsibility of the fire department to confirm the 
status of injured persons transported by ambulance prior to release of the fire scene); 

• Explosions (where the explosion is the primary event); 
• All fires in vulnerable occupancies (i.e. retirement homes, care and treatment 

occupancies, and care occupancies as defined in the Fire Code); 
• Fires suspected of being incendiary and for which expert investigative assistance is 

required with determining cause, origin or circumstance; 
• Large loss fires, $500,000 and over or where the loss is significant to the community; 
• Fires of unusual origin or circumstances and for which expert investigative assistance is 

required with determining cause; 

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/Legislation/FireMarshalsDirectives/FM_directives.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/Legislation/FireMarshalsDirectives/FM_directives.html


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 21 

• Fires resulting in unusual fire/smoke spread; 
• Fires involving circumstances that may result in widespread public concern (e.g. 

environmental hazard); 
• Fires in multi-unit residential occupancies where fire spread is beyond unit of origin or 

where suspected Fire Code violations have impacted on the circumstances of the event; 
and 

• Fires involving clandestine drug operations or marijuana grow operations. 

For all details refer to Fire Marshal’s Directive: 2015-02 

 

d:  Standard Incident Report (SIR) Filing 
Under clauses 9.(2)(f) and 9.(2)(g) of the FPPA, it is a duty of the Fire Marshal to keep a record of 
all fires reported, to develop and maintain statistical records, and to conduct studies in respect 
of fire protection services. Subsections 11.(2) and 11.(3) of the FPPA requires that assistants to 
the Fire Marshal report on fires and other matters related to fire protection as specified by the 
Fire Marshal, in a form and manner, and within a time period, specified by the Fire Marshal. 

Every fire department as defined by subsection 1.(1) of the FPPA, must complete a Standard 
Incident Report for every response made by the fire department. To obtain information on the 
procedures and on what information is required to complete the Standard Incident Report and 
the Casualty Report forms, fire departments should contact the OFMEM by e-mail at 
OFMStatistics@ontario.ca. 

All fire departments are to file incident reports quarterly, no later than the end of the month 
following the quarter. Reports may be filed either by e-mail in a file format defined by the Office 
of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management (OFMEM) or by using the Internet application 
system developed by the OFMEM. For information on electronic file formats and Internet filing, 
contact the OFMEM by e-mail at OFMStatistics@Ontario.ca. 

The information collected by the OFMEM on fire incidents and other fire department emergency 
calls is vital for the purpose of identifying fire safety issues that affect Ontario residents. Results 
of our statistical analyses help to shape the content of fire safety programs and are used to 
identify the need for Fire Code changes and evaluate the success of our programs and 
legislation. Incident information is also essential to the OFMEM to assess community fire risks. 

For all details refer to Fire Marshal’s Directive: 2015-01 

 

iii. Technical Guidelines and Reports 
The Fire Marshal issues guidelines respecting fire protection services and related matters under 
the authority of clause 9.(1)(d) of the FPPA. 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 22 

Technical Guidelines are developed to provide the fire service and building owners with options 
in addressing and mitigating fire safety issues. In some instances, a Fire Marshal’s Directive may 
direct an assistant to the Fire Marshal to refer to a Technical Guideline to meet the 
requirements of a regulation. 

For further information please see visit: 
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/Legislation/TechnicalGuidelinesandReports/OFM_g
uidelines.html  

 Enforcement of Offences Under the FPPA 
The FPPA provides several options that can be exercised by the fire service to achieve 
compliance with the FPPA and the Fire Code.  The efficient and effective use of enforcement 
options as provided by the FPPA will ensure the Ontario Fire Service is protecting the citizens of 
Ontario and all fire service members. 

i. Technical Guideline (TG-01-2012) - Fire Safety Inspections and Enforcement 
This guideline was developed to assist municipalities and their fire services in meeting their fire 
safety inspection and enforcement responsibilities in the most effective and efficient way 
possible, as provided by the FPPA. To ensure efficient and effective fire safety inspections are 
carried out, consideration should be given to the compliance options outlined in Section 4.0 
(Compliance Options) of the guideline. Enforcement strategies selected should ensure that Fire 
Code contraventions are dealt with in the most expeditious manner. 

The guideline consists of: 

• A description of options and analysis to effectively and efficiently gain compliance in the 
most expeditious manner as provided by the FPPA; 

• Tips and discussion points are provided for the assistant to the Fire Marshal to 
efficiently and effectively apply the Fire Code; and 

• An Enforcement Decision Process Flowchart. 

ii. Technical Guideline (TG-02-2009) - Commencing Proceedings Under Part I of the 
Provincial Offences Act 

Assistants to the Fire Marshal have been appointed as provincial offences officers with limited 
authority under the Provincial Offences Act. This designation authorizes them to commence 
proceedings under Part I of the Provincial Offences Act for offences under the Fire Protection 
and Prevention Act, 1997, S.O. 1997, c. 4 for non-compliance with the Ontario Fire Code (O. Reg. 
213/07) for which short form wording and set fines have been established. 

This guideline is intended to assist these provincial offences officers by providing a step-by-step 
process to follow while initiating a proceeding. 

  

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/Legislation/TechnicalGuidelinesandReports/OFM_guidelines.html
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/Legislation/TechnicalGuidelinesandReports/OFM_guidelines.html


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 23 

 
 
 
 
 

Section III: Fire Protection Services 
  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 24 

Section III-Fire Protection Services 

1. Municipally Determined Fire Protection Services 
 

A. Municipal Responsibilities 
Part II of the Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997, states a municipality shall determine other 
fire protection services as it determines may be necessary in accordance with its needs and 
circumstances. 

Municipal responsibilities, Part II 
2. (1) Every municipality shall, 
(a) establish a program in the municipality which must include public education with respect to fire safety and 
certain components of fire prevention; and 
(b) provide such other fire protection services as it determines may be necessary in accordance with its needs 
and circumstances. 
 

Methods of providing services, Part II 
(2)  In discharging its responsibilities under subsection (1), a municipality shall, 
 (a) appoint a community fire safety officer or a community fire safety team; or 
 (b) establish a fire department. 
 

Services to be provided 
(3)  In determining the form and content of the program that it must offer under clause (1) (a) and the other fire 
protection services that it may offer under clause (1) (b), a municipality may seek the advice of the Fire Marshal. 
 

B. Determining Municipal Fire Protection Services 
In determining fire protection services to be provided, the types, levels, extent and administration of 
the services should be considered.  In addition, OFMEM resources such as guidelines, directives and 
OFMEM staff are available to provide advice. 

i. Municipal Risk Assessment, 
ii. Fire Protection Agreements, 

iii. Administration and Governance, 
a. Establishing and Regulating By-law 
b. Other Fire-related By-Laws 
c. Policies and operating guidelines 

iv. Records Management, 
v. Public Fire Safety Education, 

vi. Fire Safety Inspections and Enforcement, 
vii. Emergency Response, 

viii. Communications, 
ix. Fire Investigations, 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 25 

x. Training, 
xi. Occupational Health & Safety Section 21 Guidelines. 

 

i. Municipal Risk Assessment 
Assessing fire risks within a community is the process of examining and analyzing the relevant 
factors that characterize the community and applying this information to identify potential fire 
scenarios that may be encountered.  A fire risk assessment includes an analysis of the likelihood of 
these scenarios occurring and their subsequent consequences. This information serves as the basis 
for formulating and prioritizing fire risk management decisions to reduce the likelihood of these 
events from occurring and to mitigate the impact of these events should they occur.  The risk 
assessment should be reviewed on a regular basis to identify changes in the community. 

 

ii. Fire Protection Agreements 
Municipalities may choose to enter into fire protection agreements where it provides or receives 
services.  Municipalities may choose to enter into agreements to receive fire protection services 
consistent with the Three Lines of Defence (public fire safety education, fire safety standards & 
enforcement and emergency response) which can assist with meeting their local needs and 
circumstances.  Furthermore, municipalities may choose to enter into agreements to provide fire 
protection services to surrounding municipalities.  

 

iii. Administration and Governance 
A municipal fire service bylaw is required to identify the level of fire protection services it will 
provide to its community based on local needs and circumstances and approved by municipal 
council.  

Perhaps the biggest way you can make an impact on your municipality is through your council’s 
bylaws. The direction and policies established by council will shape the long-term health and well-
being of your community for years to come. Most councillors are aware of this role. However, you 
should also be aware of the various legal limitations on your municipal powers. (The Municipal 
Councillor’s Guide 2014, Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing (MMAH), p.30) 

Municipal bylaws cannot conflict with or frustrate the purpose of federal or provincial statutes or 
regulations or legislative instruments (section 14); (The Municipal Councillor’s Guide 2014, MMAH, 
p.37) 

Other statutes such as the Building Code Act, 1992 and the Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997 
also contain by-law making and enforcement powers.  (The Municipal Councillor’s Guide 2014, 
MMAH, p.47) 

Municipal by-laws superseded, Part XII 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 26 

79.  A regulation, including the fire code, supersedes all municipal by-laws respecting standards for land 
and premises, as those standards relate to fire safety or the risk created by the presence of unsafe levels 
of carbon monoxide. 2013, c. 14, s. 5. 

 

a. Establishing and Regulating Bylaw 
The Establishing and Regulating By-law should state the type and level of fire protection services 
determined by the municipality.  The primary considerations in an Establishing and Regulating 
By-law may include policy direction in these areas: 

• Legislative requirements that may impact the delivery of fire protection services (i.e. Fire 
Protection and Prevention Act, Ministry of Labour, Ministry of Environment and Climate 
Change); 

• Fire Marshal directives; 
• Industry best practices (i.e. Ministry of Labour’s Ontario Fire Service Section 21 Committee 

Guidance Notes, NFPA standards); 
• general functions and core services to be delivered; 
• goals and objectives of the department; 
• general responsibilities of fire department personnel; 
• organizational structure; 
• authority to proceed beyond established response areas; 
• authority to apply costs to property owner for fire investigations; and 
• authority to effect necessary department operations. 

 

b. Other Fire-related By-Laws  
Municipal councils are also responsible for developing and passing other by-laws that may 
impact fire protection services within the municipality. These may include by-laws to authorize: 

• designation of the fire chief and deputy fire chief positions;  
• fire access routes;  
• open air burning;  
• regulating fire prevention, including the prevention of the spreading of fires 
• fees-for-service; 
• cost recovery (e.g. for marihuana grow operations and clandestine labs; for 

demolition during fires and investigations); and 
• the safe handling, storage and sale of fireworks. 

 

Consideration for a Cost Recovery for Demolition During Investigations By-Law 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 27 

Fire investigations are often complex and challenging.  OFMEM fire investigation protocols have 
been established to ensure that all fires are investigated to a forensically credible level. Fire 
investigations are often necessary to support criminal investigations, death investigations and 
fire cause determination in cooperation with the authority having jurisdiction. Notwithstanding 
the OFMEM-legislated duties regarding fire investigations, municipal fire services also have a 
responsibility to support and participate in fire investigations. 

Making a fire scene safe for an investigation and taking precautions to ensure the work is 
conducted safely and in compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act can often take 
several days and can include the use of heavy equipment to remove collapse hazards. 

In addition to making the workplace safe, heavy equipment is often required to lift and remove 
large structural elements such as roofs, floors and collapsed equipment in order to provide 
access to the area of interest of the fire investigation.  

Some municipalities have taken steps to enact by-laws for the provision of services and recovery 
of fees related to the actions of their fire services. A number of these by-laws have included 
provisions for municipal resources, private contractors and the rental of special equipment to 
support fire investigations.  There is no universal or standard by-law for municipalities to adopt 
in this area and many are not worded in a fashion that allows support to ‘non-emergency’ 
functions such as fire investigations. 

An example of effective by-law wording is as follows:  

“For purposes of determining the origin, cause, or circumstances of any fire or explosion, if it is 
deemed necessary to retain a private contractor, rent/lease heavy and or specialized 
equipment, specialized services, and associated persons then those costs may be billed to the 
property owner and collected by the municipality by means as determined in this by-law.” 

c. Policies and Operating Guidelines  
Policies and operating guidelines are used by fire departments to ensure that their personnel 
perform service functions in a specific and routine manner to promote continuity and consistent 
delivery of public fire safety education, fire safety standards and enforcement activities and 
emergency response operations. 
 

The creation of policies and guidelines can protect the fire department and municipality from 
civil lawsuits, enhance safety, training and orientation, ensure consistent levels of performance, 
and may also be considered to demonstrate due diligence. 

 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 28 

iv. Records Management 
Management of fire department records is critical to meeting its core business needs. 
Comprehensive record-keeping is a requirement of the Ministry of Labour’s Ontario Fire Service 
Section 21 Committee Guidance Notes. 

v. Public Fire Safety Education 
A municipality’s public fire safety education activities should be based on the needs and 
circumstances, as determined by the current fire risk assessment, fire call data and the results of 
fire investigations (i.e. the cause, origin and circumstances of fires). Targeted public fire safety 
education is designed to increase knowledge and to develop or change the attitudes and 
behaviours of all residents regarding fire safety in identified risk areas. 

vi. Fire Safety Inspections and Enforcement 
Based on local needs and circumstances a municipality should determine an appropriate level of 
fire safety inspection and enforcement activities. 

vii. Fire Protection Services/Emergency Response 
Based on local needs and circumstances, a municipality is responsible for determining the fire 
protection services and programs delivered in their community. 

When selecting the types and levels of emergency response services to deliver within a 
municipality, a risk assessment of the municipality should be conducted to identify fire and 
emergency risks, based upon local needs and circumstances. 

Other factors to consider include fire department capabilities such as staffing, training, 
equipment and response time. 

viii. Communications 
The following are considerations to assist in determining an emergency communications system: 

• Areas of coverage 
• Dispatch protocols 
• Industry standards 

 
ix. Fire Investigations 

Fire investigations can be proactive in assisting with determining, developing and validating 
current fire protection services as they relate to community needs and circumstances.  
Information collected by fire department personnel when conducting investigations is a valuable 
tool in developing an effective fire prevention program for a municipality. 

x. Training 
Training of fire department personnel is required under the Occupational Health and Safety Act 
(OHSA) as prescribed by the Ontario Ministry of Labour. The Ministry of Labour, in collaboration 
with fire service stakeholders, develops Ontario Fire Service Section 21 Committee Guidance 
Notes. 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 29 

The council of a municipality is deemed to be the Employer. As such, council is obliged to ensure 
that all municipal employees, including members of their fire department, are trained and 
equipped to provide the approved fire protection services. 

xi. Occupational Health & Safety Section 21 Guidance Notes 
Ontario Fire Service Section 21 Committee Guidance Notes outline recommended equipment 
and procedures to be used by workers in the fire service to prevent injury or illness, and comply 
with the intent and provisions as outlined in the OHSA. Ministry of Labour inspectors refer to 
guidelines, guidance notes, alerts, etc. when they carry out their enforcement duties under the 
OHSA. They are considered in determining if reasonable precautions for the protection of a 
worker are being taken. 

 

Municipal councils, as employers, and any fire department personnel who perform supervisory 
work, have a legal responsibility to ensure that staff are trained and competent to conduct the 
tasks they are assigned. 

 

C. OFMEM Municipal Fire Protection Services Review  
Under the FPPA (Clause 9 (1) (a), the Ontario Fire Marshal has the authority to monitor, review, and 
advise municipalities respecting the provision of fire protection services and to further make 
recommendations to municipal councils for improving the efficiency and effectiveness of those 
services. 

When the OFMEM initiates a review, OFMEM staff will formally advise municipal council - in writing 
- of the intended scope of the review and a timeline for its completion.  The review is conducted in 
consultation with the municipality and fire service. Where necessary, the review will make a finding 
as to whether the municipality is meeting its responsibilities under the FPPA and include written 
recommendations to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of a municipality’s fire protection 
services. 

PART III - Powers of the Fire Marshal 
9.(1) The Fire Marshal has the power 
(a)  to monitor, review and advise municipalities respecting the provision of fire protection 

services and to make recommendations to municipal councils for improving the efficiency 
and effectiveness of those services; 

 

Components of the Fire Protection Services Review process may include: 
• Municipal Fire Risk 
• Administration and Governance (policies and standard operating guidelines) 
• Records Management 
• Public Fire Safety Education 
• Fire Safety Inspections and Enforcement 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 30 

• Emergency Response 
• Pre-Incident Planning 
• Fire Investigations 
• Training 
• Occupational Health and Safety and Section 21 Guidance Notes 
• Regionalization 

 

D. FPPA, PART IX Firefighters: Employment and Labour Relations 
1. Definitions 

41.  (1)  In this Part, 
“Board” means the Ontario Labour Relations Board; (“Commission”) 
“collective agreement” means an agreement in writing between an employer and a bargaining agent that 
represents firefighters employed by the employer containing provisions respecting terms or conditions of 
employment or the rights, privileges or duties of the employer, the bargaining agent or the firefighters; 
(“convention collective”) 
“employer” means a municipality, person or organization that employs firefighters; (“employeur”) 
“firefighter” means a person regularly employed on a salaried basis in a fire department and assigned to 
fire protection services and includes technicians but does not include a volunteer firefighter. (“pompier”) 

 

E. FPPA, Part XII Miscellaneous 
 

Protection from personal liability [FPPA, Part XII] 
74.  (1)  No action or other proceeding for damages shall be instituted against a firefighter, a fire co-
ordinator, a community fire safety officer, a member or employee of the Fire Safety Commission, an 
assistant to the Fire Marshal, the Deputy Fire Marshal, the Fire Marshal, or a person acting under his or 
her authority, for any act done in good faith in the execution or intended execution of his or her power or 
duty or for any alleged neglect or default in the execution in good faith of his or her power or duty. 
 

Crown, municipality not relieved of liability [FPPA., Part XII, s.74] 
(2)  Despite subsections 5 (2) and (4) of the Proceedings Against the Crown Act, subsection (1) does not 
relieve the Crown or a municipal corporation of liability in respect of a tort committed by a person 
referred to in subsection (1) to which they would otherwise be subject. 1997, c. 4, s. 74. 

 

Indemnification [FPPA, Part XII] 
75.  (1)  A firefighter, a fire co-ordinator, a community fire safety officer, a member or employee of the 
Fire Safety Commission, an assistant to the Fire Marshal, the Deputy Fire Marshal, the Fire Marshal or a 
person acting under his or her authority shall be indemnified for reasonable legal costs incurred, 

(a) in the defence of a civil action, if the person is not found to be liable; 
(b) in the defence of a criminal prosecution, if the person is found not guilty; 
(c) in respect of any other proceeding in which the person’s execution of his or her 
duties is an issue, if the person acted in good faith. 

Same 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 31 

(2)  Indemnification under subsection (1) shall be made by, 
(a) in the case of a firefighter, community fire safety officer or assistant to the Fire Marshal who  
is employed by a municipality, the municipal corporation; 
(b) in the case of a firefighter, community fire safety officer or assistant to the Fire Marshal who  
is working under an agreement with the Crown or in the case of a fire co-ordinator, a member or  
employee of the Fire Safety Commission, the Deputy Fire Marshal, the Fire Marshal or a person  
acting under his or her authority, the Crown. 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 32 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 33 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Section IV: Regulations under the FPPA  
 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 34 

Section IV-FPPA Regulations 
This section outlines the regulatory requirements and compliance for owners, Chief Fire Officials and 
municipalities with the regulations under the FPPA. 

1. Fire Code - O. Reg 213/07 
The Fire Code, Ontario Regulation 213/07 as amended, is a regulation made under the authority of 
the Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997 and establishes minimum fire safety requirements for 
buildings and hazardous processes and activities in the province.  It is the responsibility of every 
individual to comply with the Fire Code.  Enforcement powers and penalties for Fire Code 
contraventions are contained in the Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997.  

Developing and maintaining the Fire Code is a complex and technical undertaking.  Recent Fire Code 
changes encompass a number of priorities including implementation of inquest recommendations, 
harmonization with the National Fire Code and carbon monoxide safety.  

A. Roles and Responsibilities 

i. Owner 
The owner is responsible for complying with the Fire Code, except where otherwise 
specified. 

 

Owner means any person, firm or corporation having control over any portion of the building or property 
under consideration and includes the persons in the building or property. 

ii. Chief Fire Official 
Chief Fire Officials approve provisions and equivalencies contained in Fire Code. 

Chief Fire Official means the assistant to the Fire Marshal who is the Municipal Fire Chief or a member or 
members of the fire department appointed by the Municipal Fire Chief under Article 1.1.1.2. of Division C 
or a person appointed by the Fire Marshal under Article 1.1.1.1. of Division C. 

 

Approved means approved by the Chief Fire Official. 

 

Chief Fire Officials who are responsible for approving a fire safety plan for a building containing 
care occupancy, care and treatment occupancy or a retirement home must have successfully 
completed a program or course acceptable to the Fire Marshal. 

 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 35 

Division C, Subsection 1.2.4. Qualifications of Chief Fire Officials 
Application 
1.2.4.1.  This Subsection applies to every Chief Fire Official who is responsible for approving a fire safety 
plan for a building containing a care occupancy, a care and treatment occupancy or a retirement home. 
Qualifications 
1.2.4.2.  (1)  A person referred to in Article 1.2.4.1. 
(a)must have successfully completed a program or course acceptable to the Fire Marshal 

 

B. Amendments to the Fire Code – Carbon Monoxide 
Ontario Regulation 194/14 was filed on October 14, 2014 and came into force on October 15, 2014. 
This regulation - made under the Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997 (FPPA) - amends the 2007 
Fire Code (Ontario Regulation 213/07). The FPPA was recently amended by the Hawkins Gignac Act 
[Carbon Monoxide Safety], 2013 to allow for the development of requirements related to the 
presence of unsafe levels of carbon monoxide (CO). 

Source - Communiqué 2014-17 

i. Testing and Maintenance 
The testing and maintenance elements of the regulation came into force on October 15, 2014, 
while the CO alarm installation and replacement requirements will have a phased 
implementation of 6 months (April 15, 2015) or 1 year (October 15, 2015) from the in-force 
date, depending on the building size.  

Source: Communiqué 2014-17 

ii. Resources 
A series of technical questions and answers pertaining to Ontario Regulation 194/14 and CO 
alarm requirements, including questions and answers related to enforcement provisions, is 
posted on the OFMEM Web site. 

Source: Communiqué 2014-17 

For more information about carbon monoxide alarms please visit the Carbon Monoxide Alarms 
section of the OFMEM website at http://www.ontario.ca/firemarshal.  This section of the 
website includes compliance schedule, legislation, other documents and Qs and As, public 
education and contact information. 

2. Mandatory Inspection- Fire Drill in Vulnerable Occupancy - O. Reg. 
364/13  

Ontario Regulation 364/13, Mandatory Inspection- Fire Drill in Vulnerable Occupancy prescribes 
specific requirements for Chief Fire Officials and other members of the fire department when the 
Chief Fire Official is notified by the owner of a care occupancy, care and treatment occupancy or 

http://www.ontario.ca/firemarshal


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 36 

retirement home that a fire drill will be carried out under Sentence 2.8.3.2.(2.1) of Division B of the 
Fire Code. 

Fire Marshal Directives Relevant to this Regulation 
• Fire Marshal Directive 2014-001 - Registry of Vulnerable Occupancies 
• Fire Marshal Directive 2014-002 - Vulnerable Occupancies – Fire Drill Scenarios, Fire Drill 

Observations, Fire Safety Inspections (Inspection Checklist) 
• Fire Marshal Directive 2014-003 - Inspections Of All Buildings 
• Fire Marshal Directive 2011-001 – OFMEM Notification of Fires and Explosions (Reporting 

Fires in Vulnerable Occupancies) 

3. Mandatory Assessment of Complaints and Requests for Approval - O. 
Reg. 365/13 

Ontario Regulation 365/13 was made under the authority of section 78 of the Fire Protection and 
Prevention Act, 1997. It sets out specific obligations for municipal fire chiefs and other prescribed 
persons responsible to ensure the following: 

• an assessment and, if deemed necessary, an inspection is conducted upon receipt of a fire 
safety complaint; 

• an assessment and, if deemed necessary, an inspection is conducted upon receipt of a 
request from an owner for assistance to comply with the Fire Code when the approval of the 
Chief Fire Official is required; and 

• required information is filed with the Fire Marshal if the complaint or request for assistance 
is in regard to a care occupancy, care and treatment occupancy or retirement home. 

Fire Marshal Directives Relevant to this Regulation 
• Fire Marshal Directive 2014-001 - Registry of Vulnerable Occupancies 
• Fire Marshal Directive 2014-002 - Vulnerable Occupancies – Fire Drill Scenarios, Fire Drill 

Observations, Fire Safety Inspections (Inspection Checklist) 
• Fire Marshal Directive 2014-003 - Inspections Of All Buildings 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 37 

 
 
 
 
 

Section V: Provincial Programs & 
Resources 

 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 38 

Section V-Programs & Resources 

1. Fire Risk Management Tools 
The following risk management tools may be utilized in completing a fire risk assessment: 

A. Municipal Risk Assessment 
Municipalities have a legislated responsibility under the Fire Protection and Prevention Act (FPPA) to 
provide public education with respect to fire safety and certain components of fire prevention. 
Conducting a simplified risk assessment is the first step towards compliance with these 
requirements and is intended to identify information required by a municipality to make informed 
decisions about the programs and activities necessary to effectively manage the community fire risk 
based upon local needs and circumstances. 

 

B. Fire Risk Sub-Model 
Assessing the fire risk within a community is one of the seven components that comprise the 
Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model. It is a recognized process for examining and 
analyzing the relevant factors that characterize the community and applying this information to 
identify potential fire risk scenarios that may be encountered. The assessment also includes an 
analysis of the likelihood of these scenarios occurring and their subsequent consequences. 

 
Eight key factors have been identified that contribute to a community’s inherent characteristics and 
circumstances. These factors influence events that shape potential fire scenarios along with the 
severity of their outcomes: 

1. Property Stock 
2. Building Height and Area 
3. Building Age and Construction 
4. Building Exposures 
5. Demographic Profile 
6. Geography/Topography/Road Infrastructure 
7. Past Fire Loss Statistics 
8. Fuel Load 

 

C. Integrated Risk Management (IRM) Web-Tool  
The IRM Web-Tool can be used by all Ontario’s municipalities and fire departments to determine 
building fire risks in their respective communities by taking into account individual building 
characteristics (Building Factors) as related to the Three Lines of Defence: 

 

 Three Lines of Defence 
• Line One: Public Fire Safety Education 
• Line Two: Fire Safety Standards and Enforcement 
• Line Three: Emergency Response 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 39 

D. Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model 
Seven key factors have been identified which affect fire losses in Ontario. Together, these factors 
have been conceptualized into the Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model. The completed 
model can serve as a basis for an objective evaluation of fire protection services in a municipality. 
Application of the model provides an opportunity to maximize the effectiveness of local fire 
protection services while ensuring an appropriate level of health and safety for the fire fighters. 
Each of the seven factors will in reality contribute differently to the total level of protection 
provided to a community. Each of the seven factors will contribute in different degrees to the total 
level of fire and life safety protection provided to a community, depending on local circumstances. 

 
1. Fire Risk 
2. Fire Prevention Program Effectiveness 
3. Public Attitude 
4. Detection Capabilities 
5. Built-in Suppression Capabilities 
6. Intervention Time 
7. Fire Ground Effectiveness 

2. Province of Ontario Mutual Aid Plan 
Mutual Aid is most frequently described as the reciprocal giving of help between groups of 
people or organizations. The concept of helping neighbours or others in need is not new and 
have been practiced for centuries. In Ontario, fire departments have participated in organized 
assistance through a formalized Mutual Aid Plan since the 1950’s. 

While co-ordinated by the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management, Fire Co-
ordinators from across the province assisted and continue to assist in the development and 
revision of the plan and program. These individuals represent fire service responders from single 
to the multi-station fire departments. Large or small, all fire departments play an important role 
in their local mutual aid plan and the success of the provincial program lies directly with their 
contributions and involvement. 

Mutual aid plans allow a participating fire department to request assistance from a 
neighbouring fire department, authorized by council to participate in a plan approved by the 
Fire Marshal, to respond to large incidents. The program also permits non-municipal 
participation, such as First Nations and Industry fire departments and brigades. 

A. Highlights of the Minimum Conditions for Participating in Provincial Mutual Aid 
• The participating fire department must be established and regulated by a municipal by-law. 
• Council must confirm the fire chief of a municipal fire department, by by-law. The Office of 

the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management must appoint the fire chief of a fire 
department established for a territory without municipal organization 

• A by-law must be passed by council authorizing its fire department’s participation in the 
mutual aid plan 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 40 

• A participating fire department must have adequate resources to handle the needs and 
circumstances of their own jurisdiction based on the core services that are outlined in their 
establishing and regulating by-law. 

• Participants in the mutual aid plan should adopt and implement the provincial incident 
management system. 

• Participants in the mutual aid plan adopt and implement an incident command system that 
is fully inter-operable with other participants in the mutual aid plan and program. 

• Requirements of the Occupational Health and Safety Act must be met as it pertains to fire 
protection services and all Section 21 Guidance Notes. 

 

B. Fire Co-ordinators 
 

7.  (1)  The Fire Marshal may appoint fire co-ordinators for such areas as may be designated in the 
appointment. 1997, c. 4, s. 7 (1). 
Duties 

(2)  A fire co-ordinator shall, subject to the instructions of the Fire Marshal, 
(a) establish and maintain a mutual aid plan under which the fire departments that serve the  
designated area agree to assist each other in the event of an emergency; and 
(b) perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Fire Marshal. 1997, c. 4, s. 7 (2); 2002,

 c. 18, Sched. N, s. 1. 
 

The fire co- ordinators’ roles and responsibilities are defined in the Province of Ontario Mutual 
Aid Plan.  Fire department personnel appointed by the Fire Marshal as fire co-ordinators shall 
fulfill the duties and responsibilities as instructed by the Fire Marshal (Fire Protection and 
Prevention Act 1997, Section 7).   

C. Highlights of the Roles and Responsibilities of Fire Co-ordinators 
A. In co-operation with the participants and non-municipal participants, develop, review and 

maintain an up-to-date mutual aid plan, under the instructions of the Fire Marshal 
B. Submit the plan to the Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management 
C. Review the mutual aid plan annually or more often if required, with the participants, non-

municipal participants and assigned fire protection adviser(s) and/or specialist(s) and 
resubmit the mutual aid plan by November 30th of every year. 

D. Co-ordinate/monitor activations of the mutual aid plan. 
E. Consider requests and recommend to the Provincial Emergency Operations Centre (PEOC) 

the deployment of provincial and regional assets and/or resources. 
F. Provide advice and assistance to the Fire Marshal upon request. 
G. Provide assistance and guidance to participants and non-municipal participants during 

mutual aid activations. 
H. Other reporting and administrative duties. 

For all duties and responsibilities refer to the Province of Ontario Mutual Aid Plan. 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 41 

3. Requesting Provincial (OFMEM) Resources for Major Incidents 
Municipalities may have to respond to incidents that are beyond the capabilities of the local 
mutual aid system but that are not defined as “significant emergencies”, such as chemical, 
biological, radiological, nuclear, explosive (HAZMAT/CBRNE) response teams and heavy urban 
search and rescue (HUSAR). 

 
The Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management has resources and services available 
to assist in responding to such incidents where a “provincial” response is not required but 
assistance beyond the mutual aid system is needed. 

 
In such circumstances, the local municipality requiring assistance maintains command and 
control and is responsible for consequence management of the incident, displaced individuals, 
transportation and community health issues. The role of the OFMEM is to support 
municipalities, unorganized communities and fire departments and maintain responsibility for 
its own personnel. 

Fire departments requesting the resources should contact their Mutual Aid Fire Co-ordinator as 
their initial contact. The  fire co-ordinator will contact the provincial PEOC who will then forward 
the request for assistance to the on-call OFMEM manager responsible for the OFMEM’s 
Emergency Preparedness and Response Unit (EPRU). 

4. Additional Provincial Resources for HAZMAT/CBRNE Response 
and HUSAR 
The following provides guidance on how to access the resources of the hazardous materials; 
chemical, biological, radiological, nuclear, explosive (HAZMAT/CBRNE) response teams and the 
heavy urban search and rescue (HUSAR) team operating under memorandums of understanding 
(MOU) with the Government of Ontario. These teams are available to respond to events beyond 
the capacity of the local municipality. 

 
In this context, an event is defined as: 

• a large-scale or complex natural or human caused hazardous materials; chemical, 
biological radiological, or nuclear or explosive emergency, or 

• a large-scale or complex natural or human caused heavy urban search and rescue 
emergency 

The Mutual Aid fire co-ordinator for the area may contact the Provincial Emergency 
Operations Centre (PEOC) who will then forward the request for assistance to the on-call 
OFMEM manager responsible for HAZMAT/CBRNE and HUSAR responses. The OFMEM will 
determine if, or to what extent resources – including its own - will respond to the emergency 
or event. The OFMEM may in turn request specialized technical expertise from the 
memorandums of understanding partners or other expert sources to assist the fire 
department. 

 
Note: The municipality does not have to declare an emergency before engaging with the fire co- 
ordinator or the province for the purposes of requesting advice or assistance. 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 42 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 43 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Section VI- Municipal Requirements and 
Authorities under the Emergency 

Management and Civil Protection Act 
  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 44 

Section VI-EMCPA 
The Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act establishes the province’s legal basis and 
framework for managing emergencies. It does this by defining the authority, responsibilities and 
safeguards accorded to provincial ministries, municipalities and specific individual appointments. 

The overall legal framework for emergency management in Ontario is addressed primarily in the Act, 
which along with powers contained in other ministry-specific legislation, allows the government to take 
necessary steps to deal with a provincial emergency. The purpose of the legislation is to promote the 
public good by protecting the health, safety and welfare of the people of Ontario in times of emergency. 

Definitions, EMCPA, s.1. 

“emergency” means a situation or an impending situation that constitutes a danger of major proportions that 
could result in serious harm to persons or substantial damage to property and that is caused by the forces of 
nature, a disease or other health risk, an accident or an act whether intentional or otherwise; (“situation 
d’urgence”) 

Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act Requirements 
This section outlines the municipal requirements for municipalities pursuant to the Emergency 
Management and Civil Protection Act (EMCPA). This section will cover roles and responsibilities and 
program requirements.  

A. Roles and Responsibilities 

1. Municipality 

a. Municipal Emergency Management Programs 
 

Municipal Emergency Management Programs 
2.1 (1) Every municipality shall develop and implement an emergency management program and the 
council of the municipality shall by by-law adopt the emergency management program. 

Same 

(2)  The emergency management program shall consist of, 

(a) an emergency plan as required by section 3; 
(b) training programs and exercises for employees of the municipality and other 
persons with respect to the provision of necessary services and the procedures 
to be followed in emergency response and recovery activities; 
(c) public education on risks to public safety and on public preparedness for 
emergencies; and 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 45 

(d) any other element required by the standards for emergency management 
programs set under section 14. 2002, c. 14, s. 4. 

 

b. Hazard and risk assessment and infrastructure identification 

Hazard and risk assessment and infrastructure identification [EMCPA, s.2.1(3)] 
2.1(3)  In developing its emergency management program, every municipality shall identify and assess the 
various hazards and risks to public safety that could give rise to emergencies and identify the facilities and 
other elements of the infrastructure that are at risk of being affected by emergencies. 2002, c. 14, s. 4. 
 

Specific to the HIRA, there are provisions relating to the Municipal Freedom of 
Information and Protection of Privacy Act and municipal meetings under section 2.1 (4)-
(8) that municipalities adhere to. 

 

c. Municipal Emergency Plan  

Municipal emergency plan [EMCPA, s.3.(1)] 
3.  (1)  Every municipality shall formulate an emergency plan governing the provision of necessary services 
during an emergency and the procedures under and the manner in which employees of the municipality 
and other persons will respond to the emergency and the council of the municipality shall by by-law adopt 
the emergency plan. 2002, c. 14, s. 5 (1). 

 

The EMCPA requires all municipalities to develop a plan to describe how it will respond to 
emergencies within its jurisdiction and it may include co-ordination by county. 

The requirements of the Act are general so communities are free to adopt the plan in any form 
they prefer - as long as their plan includes the responsibilities of staff by position and outlines 
the notification procedures to members of the municipal control group. 

The plan has no authority until it is embodied in a by-law, either independently or as a part of a 
broader by-law authorizing the municipality’s emergency management program. 

The OFMEM considers a plan “approved” once two conditions are met:  

• A by-law is passed authorizing the plan 
• The requirements of the Ontario Regulation are reflected in the plan 

 

Co-ordination by county [EMCPA, s.3.(3)] 
(3)  The council of a county may with the consent of the councils of the municipalities situated within the 
county co-ordinate and assist in the formulation of their emergency plans under subsection (1). R.S.O. 
1990, c. E.9, s. 3 (3). 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 46 

Training and exercises [EMCPA, s.3.(5)] 
3.(5)  Every municipality shall conduct training programs and exercises to ensure the readiness of 
employees of the municipality and other persons to act under the emergency plan. 2002, c. 14, s. 5 (3). 

 

Review of Plan [EMCPA, s.3.(6)] 
3.(6)  Every municipality shall review and, if necessary, revise its emergency plan every year. 2002, c. 14, s. 
5 (3). 

 

Emergency plans submitted to Chief [EMCPA, s.6.2(1)] 
6.2  (1)  Every municipality, minister of the Crown and designated agency, board, commission and other 
branch of government shall submit a copy of their emergency plans and of any revisions to their 
emergency plans to the Chief, Emergency Management Ontario, and shall ensure that the Chief, 
Emergency Management Ontario has, at any time, the most current version of their emergency plans. 
2002, c. 14, s. 10. 

 

d. Declaration of Emergency  
 

The emergency plan should describe the process by which the head of Council may declare an 
emergency. Only the Head of Council or the Acting Head of Council can declare an emergency. 

 

Declaration of emergency [EMCPA, s.4.(1)] 
4.  (1)  The head of council of a municipality may declare that an emergency exists in the municipality or in 
any part thereof and may take such action and make such orders as he or she considers necessary and are 
not contrary to law to implement the emergency plan of the municipality and to protect property and the 
health, safety and welfare of the inhabitants of the emergency area. R.S.O. 1990, c. E.9, s. 4 (1). 

 

The Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management (OFMEM) must be notified of the 
declaration through the Provincial Emergency Operations Centre (PEOC). The OFMEM will 
provide advice and assistance as required. In extreme situations the Lieutenant Governor in 
Council or the Premier may declare an emergency in all or part of the province. 

 

If such a declaration is made, the Premier may [7.0.3. (1)(2)]: 
• Take action and make orders necessary that are not contrary to law 
• Direct and control a municipality’s  administration facilities and equipment 
• Require any municipality to provide assistance  
• Designate a minister to exercise these powers 

Declaration of emergency [EMCPA, s.7.0.1(1)] 
7.0.1  (1)  Subject to subsection (3), the Lieutenant Governor in Council or the Premier, if in the Premier’s 
opinion the urgency of the situation requires that an order be made immediately, may by order declare 
that an emergency exists throughout Ontario or in any part of Ontario. 2006, c. 13, s. 1 (4). 

 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 47 

e. Termination of Municipal Emergency Declaration 
 

i. The head of council or the council of a municipality may at any time declare that an 
emergency has terminated. 

ii. The Premier of Ontario may at any time declare that an emergency has terminated. 
 

The PEOC should be notified when an emergency is terminated. 

Declaration as to termination of emergency [EMCPA, s.4.(2)] 
4.(2)  The head of council or the council of a municipality may at any time declare that an emergency has 
terminated. R.S.O. 1990, c. E.9, s. 4 (2). 
 

Termination of emergency [EMCPA, s.7.0.7(1)] 
7.0.7  (1)  Subject to this section, an emergency declared under section 7.0.1 is terminated at the end of 
the 14th day following its declaration unless the Lieutenant Governor in Council by order declares it to be 
terminated at an earlier date. 2006, c. 13, s. 1 (4). 
 

Premier may declare emergency terminated [EMCPA, s.4.(4)] 
(4)  The Premier of Ontario may at any time declare that an emergency has terminated. R.S.O. 1990, c. 
E.9, s. 4 (4). 

 

2.  Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management 
Chief, Emergency Management Ontario 
6.1  The Lieutenant Governor in Council shall appoint a Chief, Emergency Management Ontario who, 
under the direction of the Solicitor General, shall be responsible for monitoring, co-ordinating and 
assisting in the development and implementation of emergency management programs under sections 
2.1 and 5.1 and for ensuring that those programs are co-ordinated in so far as possible with emergency 
management programs and emergency plans of the Government of Canada and its agencies. 2002, c. 14, 
s. 9. 

 

Repository for emergency plans 
6.(2)  The Chief, Emergency Management Ontario shall keep in a secure place the most current version of every 
emergency plan submitted to him or her. 2002, c. 14, s. 10. 

 

Protection from action [EMCPA, s.11.(1)] 
11.  (1)  No action or other proceeding lies or shall be instituted against a member of council, an employee 
of a municipality, an employee of a local services board, an employee of a district social services 
administration board, a minister of the Crown, a public servant or any other individual acting pursuant to 
this Act or an order made under this Act for any act done in good faith in the exercise or performance or 
the intended exercise or performance of any power or duty under this Act or an order under this Act or 
for neglect or default in the good faith exercise or performance of such a power or duty. 2006, c. 13, s. 1 
(6); 2006, c. 35, Sched. C, s. 32 (6). 

 

http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/french/elaws_statutes_90e09_f.htm#s6p1
http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/french/elaws_statutes_90e09_f.htm#s6p2s2


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 48 

Municipality not relieved of liability [EMCPA, s.11.(3)] 
(3)  Subsection (1) does not relieve a municipality of liability for the acts or omissions of a member of 
council or an employee of the municipality referred to in subsection (1), and the municipality is liable as if 
subsection (1) had not been enacted and, in the case of a member of council, as if the member were an 
employee of the municipality. 2006, c. 13, s. 1 (6). 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 49 

 
 
 
 
 

Section VII- Emergency Management Basics 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 50 

Section VII – Emergency Management Basics 
Ontario Regulation 380/04, Part II – Municipal Standards establishes the minimum standards for 
emergency management programs required by municipalities and supports the requirement in the Act 
for mandatory emergency management programs. 

Roles and Responsibilities 

1. Emergency Management Program Co-ordinator (CEMC) 
 

Emergency Management Program Co-ordinator [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.10.] 
10.  (1)  Every municipality shall designate an employee of the municipality or a member of the council as 
its emergency management program co-ordinator. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 10 (1). 
(2)  The emergency management program co-ordinator shall complete the training that is required by the 
Chief, Emergency Management Ontario. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 10 (2). 
(3)  The emergency management program co-ordinator shall co-ordinate the development and 
implementation of the municipality’s emergency management program within the municipality and shall 
co-ordinate the municipality’s emergency management program in so far as possible with the emergency 
management programs of other municipalities, of ministries of the Ontario government and of 
organizations outside government that are involved in emergency management. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 10 (3). 
(4)  The emergency management program co-ordinator shall report to the municipality’s emergency 
management program committee on his or her work under subsection (3). O. Reg. 380/04, s. 10 (4). 

 

The CEMC is responsible and accountable for coordinating the development and 
implementation of the municipality’s emergency management program in accordance with the 
standards set out in the Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act (EMCPA) and Ontario 
Regulation 380/04 

• Designated municipal employee or member of council 
• CEMC is OFMEM’s liaison during actual emergencies 
• Copy of emergency response plan is provided to OFMEM annually 
• Verification of annual review must be provided to OFMEM  

 

i. Training Requirements for Emergency Management Program Co-ordinator 
(CEMC) 

Emergency management program co-ordinator, [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.10.(2)] 
10. (2)  The emergency management program co-ordinator shall complete the training that is required by 
the Chief, Emergency Management Ontario. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 10 (2). 

 

• The training of the staff in procedures and skills occurs before the exercise. 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 51 

• The exercise practices and confirms the skills taught and the gaps in procedures 
and training are identified and then rectified/re-taught. 

 

FIRE MARSHAL & CHIEF, EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT GUIDANCE: 2015-01-08 
TOPIC: ONTARIO REGULATION 380/04 TRAINING 

   

It will be required that all emergency management program coordinators, designated by their 
municipality, complete the following courses offered by the OFMEM in 2015.  

•  EM 200 – Basic Emergency Management  
•  EM 240 – Note Taking Course  
•  EM 300 – Community Emergency Management Coordinator Course  
•  IMS 100 – Introduction to Incident Management System (available online)  
•  IMS 200 – Basic Incident Management System  

 

In addition, all members of the MECG are required to complete a minimum of four hours of 
annual training in 2015. The required training shall include instruction on note taking, continuity 
of operations planning and a review of specific emergency scenarios or identified local hazards. 
 
Additional information and online courses can be accessed on the Emergency Management 
Training Portal.  
 
https://training.emergencymanagementontario.ca/TPOnline/TPOnline.dll/EMO_Home 

 

2. Emergency Management Program Committee 
 

Emergency Management Program Committee [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.11.] 
11.  (1)  Every municipality shall have an emergency management program committee. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 
11 (1). 
(2)  The committee shall be composed of, 
(a) the municipality’s emergency management program co-ordinator;  
(b) a senior municipal official appointed by the council;  
(c) such members of the council, as may be appointed by the council;  
(d) such municipal employees who are responsible for emergency management functions, as may be 
appointed by the council; and 
(e) such other persons as may be appointed by the council. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 11 (2). 
(3)  The persons appointed under clause (2) (e) may only be, 
(a) officials or employees of any level of government who are involved in emergency management; 
(b) representatives of organizations outside government who are involved in emergency management; or 
(c) persons representing industries that may be involved in emergency management. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 11 
(3). 
(4)  The council shall appoint one of the members of the committee to be the chair of the committee. O. 
Reg. 380/04, s. 11 (4). 

https://training.emergencymanagementontario.ca/TPOnline/TPOnline.dll/EMO_Home


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 52 

(5)  The committee shall advise the council on the development and implementation of the 
municipality’s emergency management program. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 11 (5). 
(6)  The committee shall conduct an annual review of the municipality’s emergency 
management program and shall make recommendations to the council for its revision if 
necessary. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 11 (6). 

 

The emergency management program committee is the critical management team that 
oversees the development, implementation and maintenance of a community’s emergency 
management program. 

Ontario Regulation 380/04 s. 11 (5) (6) provides the legislative requirement on the committee’s 
responsibilities to the council:   

• Review all emergency planning documents 
• Identify gaps in resource capability 
• Recommend approaches to fill the gaps 
• Amend existing plan(s) to reflect changes 
• Submit proposed amendments to Council for approval 

 

3. Municipal Emergency Control Group (MECG) 
When a situation requires a more-than-routine response, the Municipal Emergency Control 
Group (MECG) is responsible for directing the municipality’s response. Responsibilities and 
duties of the MECG need to be outlined in clear language to effectively and efficiently 
coordinate activities and each member should be trained in their respective accountabilities. 

Municipal Emergency Control Group (MECG) [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.12.] 
12.  (1)  Every municipality shall have a municipal emergency control group. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 12 (1). 
(2)  The emergency control group shall be composed of, 
(a) such officials or employees of the municipality as may be appointed by the council; and 
(b) such members of council as may be appointed by the council. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 12 (2). 
(3)  The members of the group shall complete the annual training that is required by the Chief, Emergency 
Management Ontario. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 12 (3). 
(4)  The group shall direct the municipality’s response in an emergency, including the implementation of 
the municipality’s emergency response plan. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 12 (4). 
(5)  The group shall develop procedures to govern its responsibilities in an emergency. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 
12 (5). 
(6)  The group shall conduct an annual practice exercise for a simulated emergency incident in order to 
evaluate the municipality’s emergency response plan and its own procedures. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 12 (6). 
(7)  If determined necessary as a result of the evaluation under subsection (6), the group shall revise its 
procedures and shall make recommendations to the council for the revision of the municipality’s 
emergency response plan. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 12 (7). 
(8)  The group may at any time seek the advice and assistance of the following:  
1. Officials or employees of any level of government who are involved in emergency management. 
2. Representatives of organizations outside government who are involved in emergency management.  
3. Persons representing industries that may be involved in emergency management. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 12 
(8). 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 53 

The plan should also detail MECG operating procedures. Some examples would be the 
operational cycle, who provides logistics and administration support, security and who will chair 
the group. In a two-tier municipality, the plan should outline how both lower and upper tier 
MECGs will coordinate their activities.  

The MECG may also be known as the Community Control Group (CCG) 

The MECG may contain the same members as the Emergency Management Program Committee 

The MECG supports the response and the Incident Commander, in addition to ensuring the 
continuity of ‘normal’ municipal business as much as possible/necessary 

 

i. Training & Practice Exercise Requirements for Municipal Emergency Control 
Group 

Municipal Emergency Control Group (MECG) [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.12.(3), (6)] 
12. (3)  The members of the group shall complete the annual training that is required by the Chief, 
Emergency Management Ontario. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 12 (3). 
(6)  The group shall conduct an annual practice exercise for a simulated emergency incident in order to 
evaluate the municipality’s emergency response plan and its own procedures. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 12 (6). 

 

FIRE MARSHAL & CHIEF, EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT GUIDANCE: 2015-01-08 
TOPIC: ONTARIO REGULATION 380/04 TRAINING 

All members of the MECG are required to complete a minimum of four hours of annual training 
in 2015. The required training shall include instruction on note taking, continuity of operations 
planning and a review of specific emergency scenarios or identified local hazards 

 

Exercise 

• The exercise is an annual requirement for the MECG under Reg. 380/04, and it 
tests the municipality’s ERP and corresponding procedures 

 

4. Emergency Operations Centre 

Emergency operations centre [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.13.(1)] 
13.  (1)  Every municipality shall establish an emergency operations centre to be used by the municipal 
emergency control group in an emergency. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 13 (1). 
 
(2)  The emergency operations centre must have appropriate technological and telecommunications 
systems to ensure effective communication in an emergency.  O. Reg. 380/04, s. 13 (2). 

 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 54 

5. Emergency Information Officer 

Emergency information officer [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.14.] 
14. (1)  Every municipality shall designate an employee of the municipality as its emergency information 
officer. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 14 (1). 
(2)  The emergency information officer shall act as the primary media and public contact for the 
municipality in an emergency. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 14 (2). 

 

Under legislation, every municipality shall designate an employee of the municipality as its 
emergency information officer. 

Procedures defining the responsibility for development, approval and dissemination of 
emergency information should be outlined in the municipality’s emergency response plan. 

 

6. Emergency Plan under O. Reg. 380/04 

Emergency response plan [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.15.] 
15.  (1)  The emergency plan that a municipality is required to formulate under subsection 3 (1) of the Act 
shall consist of an emergency response plan. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 15 (1). 
(2)  An emergency response plan shall,  
(a) assign responsibilities to municipal employees, by position, respecting implementation of the 
emergency response plan; and  
(b) set out the procedures for notifying the members of the municipal emergency control group of the 
emergency. O. Reg. 380/04, s. 15 (2). 

 

i. Standards for emergency management programs and emergency plans 14. (1) 

Standards for emergency management programs and emergency plans [EMCPA, s.14.(1)] 
14.  (1)  The Solicitor General may make regulations setting standards for the development and 
implementation of emergency management programs under sections 2.1 and 5.1 and for the formulation 
and implementation of emergency plans under sections 3 and 6. 2002, c. 14, s. 16. 

 

ii. Conformity to standards required 14. (3) 

Conformity to standards required [EMCPA, s.14.(3)] 
(3)  Every municipality, minister of the Crown and designated agency, board, commission and other 
branch of government shall ensure that their emergency management programs and emergency plans 
conform to the standards set under this section. 2002, c. 14, s. 16. 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 55 

 
 
 
 
 

Section VIII – Provincial Programs and 
Resources for Emergency Management 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 56 

Section VIII – EM Programs & Resources 
1. Critical Infrastructure for Hazards Identification and Risk Assessment 
To support the HIRA [EMCPA, s.2.1(3)] municipalities identify Critical Infrastructure that: 

• Lies within the municipality’s boundaries (regardless of ownership) and which would be affected by 
emergencies 

• The EMCPA stipulates that municipalities and provincial ministries are required to identify critical 
infrastructure 

• While there is no legislative requirement to develop protection plans or other arrangements for 
critical infrastructure elements, it is a good idea for municipalities to develop an awareness of the 
key systems that are present within their jurisdictions and to consider these within their hazard and 
risk assessments and emergency response planning 

2. Emergency Management Portal 
The Emergency Management Portal is a service for Emergency Management stakeholders that includes 
Community Emergency Management Coordinator (CEMC), Ministry Emergency Management 
Coordinators (MEMC) and Emergency Management Public Educators. 

Resources available on the Emergency Management Portal 

• CEMC Handbook and HIRA Workbook 
• Public Education Tools (Graphics, Videos, Toolkit, Videos, Presentations) 
• Emergency Management Notebook 
• Exercise Repository, Forms, Templates and Maps 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 57 

 
Website: http://www.emergencymanagementontario.ca/login.aspx 
 

3. Public Education on Ontario Hazards  
What is a hazard? 

• Any dangerous event or circumstance that has the potential to lead to an emergency or disaster 
• A risk that is a threat 
• A phenomenon, substance, human activity or condition that may cause a loss of life, injury or 

other health impacts, property damage, loss of livelihoods and services, social and disruption or 
environmental damage. These may include natural, technological or human caused incidents, or 
some combination of these (OFMEM Glossary of Terms, 2011) 

 

Source: http://www.emergencymanagementontario.ca/english/beprepared/ontariohazards/ontariohazards.html 

http://www.emergencymanagementontario.ca/login.aspx
http://www.emergencymanagementontario.ca/english/beprepared/ontariohazards/ontariohazards.html


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 58 

 

4. Provincial Emergency Operation Centre 
Staffed at all times, the Provincial Emergency Operations Centre (PEOC) constantly monitors evolving 
situations inside and outside of Ontario. This ensures that key decision makers and provincial resources 
are able to respond to evolving situations as quickly as possible. The main function of the PEOC is to 
coordinate Ontario Government response to major emergencies. This includes providing municipalities 
and First Nations with a single point of contact for provincial assistance in times of crisis. 

The PEOC is directly supported by various provincial ministries who are each assigned the responsibility 
of developing an emergency management program for specific hazards. For example, the Ministry of 
Natural Resources and Forestry is responsible for floods and wildfire response, while the Ministry of the 
Environment and Climate Change is responsible for emergencies related to water quality. During an 
emergency, the PEOC ensures that the response to any event is co-ordinated in support of the lead 
ministry. 

During large-scale emergencies, the Premier and Cabinet may declare a provincial emergency and make 
special emergency orders to protect public safety. 

If the province requires specialized or large-scale assistance from the federal government, it will be 
requested through the PEOC. 

 

5. Ontario Disaster Relief Assistance Program (ODRAP) 
The Ontario Disaster Relief Assistance Program (ODRAP) is a provincial financial assistance program 
developed to assist municipalities, individuals, small businesses, working farms and not for profit 
organizations whose essential property has been damaged in sudden and unexpected natural disasters. 
The ODRAP is designed only to address major disasters that are beyond a municipality’s ability to 
respond. It is not intended to replace private insurance, which is the responsibility of property owners. 
 
ODRAP is administered through the, Municipal Services Offices (MSO) of the Ministry of Municipal 
Affairs and Housing (MMAH). Regional MSO staff support program administration and can deploy to the 
affected area. www.mah.gov.on.ca/odrap  

 
Note: A declaration of an emergency is not required in order to apply for ODRAP. 
 

  

http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/odrap


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 59 

6. Checklist in Consideration of a Declaration of Emergency 
 

 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 60 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 61 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 62 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 63 

 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 64 

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 65 

 
 
 
 
 

Section IX- References to Legislation, 
Regulations & Standards  

  



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 66 

Section IX-References to Legislation, Regulations & Standards 
A municipality is governed by provincial and federal legislation, regulations and other standards.  It is 
important that municipal decision makers, emergency management personnel and fire service leaders 
are knowledgeable about all related legislation, regulations and standards that pertain to municipal 
responsibilities and the delivery of fire protection services and emergency management. 

Note:  For further detailed information please refer to the applicable authority.   

Ontario e-Laws lets you search and browse official electronic copies of Ontario’s statutes and 
regulations. Site: http://www.ontario.ca/laws  

Canada Justice Laws Website is an online source of the consolidated Acts and regulations of 
Canada.  Site: http://www.laws.justice.gc.ca/  

Provincial Legislation & Regulations 

1. Fire Protection and Prevention Act (FPPA), 1997 & Fire Code 

Ministry Responsible  
• Ministry of Community Safety & Correctional Services 

2. Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act 

Ministry Responsible  
• Ministry of Community Safety & Correctional Services 

3. Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act – Ontario Regulation 
380/04 – Standards 

Ministry Responsible  
• Ministry of Community Safety & Correctional Services 

4. Occupational Health and Safety Act 

Ministry Responsible 
• Ministry of Labour 

Overview of Occupational Health and Safety Act 
The main purpose of the Occupational Health and Safety Act (OHSA) is to protect workers from 
health and safety hazards on the job. It sets out duties for all workplace parties and rights for 
workers. It establishes procedures for dealing with workplace hazards and provides for 
enforcement of the law where compliance has not been achieved voluntarily. 

http://www.ontario.ca/laws
http://www.laws.justice.gc.ca/


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 67 

For more information visit the Ministry of Labour website - 
http://www.labour.gov.on.ca/english/hs/index.php  

i. Firefighters – Protective Equipment - O. Reg. 714/94  
This regulation was made under the Occupational Health and Safety Act and 
outlines requirements specific to personal protective equipment and fire apparatus. 

5. Health & Safety Section 21 
Source: Health & Safety Section 21 (Ontario Association of Fire Chiefs) 

The objective of the Ontario Fire Service Advisory Committee on Occupational Health & Safety 
under Section 21 of the Occupational Health & Safety Act is to advise and make 
recommendations on matters relating to the occupational health and safety of all firefighters in 
the Province of Ontario.  In addition, it has developed a Manual of Health and Safety Guidance 
Notes for fire services in Ontario. The Manual  outlines recommended equipment and 
procedures to be used by workers in the fire service to prevent injury or illness, and complies 
with the intent and provisions outlined in the Occupational Health and Safety Act. 

Index of Fire Fighting Guidance Notes 
• Section 1 - Apparatus/ Equipment 
• Section 2 - Communications 
• Section 3 - Environment 
• Section 4 - Personal Protective Equipment 
• Section 5 - Personnel Accountability 
• Section 6 - Procedures 
• Section 7 - Training 

6. Provincial Offences Act, 1990 

Ministry Responsible 
• Ministry of the Attorney General 

Overview of Provincial Offences Act 
The Provincial Offences Act is a provincial statute that sets out procedures for the prosecution of 
offences under other provincial statutes and regulations and municipal by-laws. Under a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), municipalities are responsible for the administration of 
courts hearing Provincial Offences Act (POA) matters and the prosecution of certain POA cases 
on behalf of the Attorney General. 

7. Municipal Act, 2001 

Ministry Responsible 
• Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 

http://www.labour.gov.on.ca/english/hs/index.php
http://www.oafc.on.ca/section-21


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 68 

Overview of Municipal Act 
Source: http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/Page184.aspx  

Effective January 1, 2007, the Municipal Act, 2001 (the Act) has been significantly amended by 
the Municipal Statute Law Amendment Act, 2006 (Bill 130). Further, there is now a separate 
municipal statute for Toronto, the City of Toronto Act, 2006. 

The Municipal Act, 2001 came into force on January 1, 2003. It consolidated dozens of acts 
related to municipal governance or powers and shifted the Municipal Act from a prescriptive to 
a more permissive approach by including natural person powers and spheres of jurisdiction to 
allow municipalities to administer and organize their affairs and deliver services. The review that 
preceded the enactment represented the first comprehensive review and revision of the original 
Municipal Act since its passage in 1849. The Municipal Act, 2001 recognizes the importance of 
ongoing consultation with municipalities on matters of mutual interest by recognizing the 
memorandum of understanding (MOU) between the province and Association of Municipalities 
of Ontario (AMO) in the legislation. 

For further additional information please see the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 
Municipal Councillor's Guide 2014 - http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/Page5030.aspx  

8. Building Code Act, 1992 & Building Code, 2012 

Ministry Responsible 
• Ministry of Municipal Affairs & Housing 

Important Points 
a) The Building Code Act, 1992 requires that the following individuals and firms responsible 

for activities regulated under the Act be qualified and registered: 
• Building officials (chief building officials, supervisors, managers, plans 

examiners, inspectors -- including on-site sewage system inspectors, fire 
protection inspectors) 

• Certain classes of designers 
• On-site sewage system installers 
• Registered Code Agencies (private companies hired by municipalities to 

conduct inspections) 
b) The 2012 Building Code contains specific requirements in order to enhance fire 

protection of large and small buildings. 

For further information please visit the Ministry of Municipal Affairs & Housing 2012 
Building Code Overview webpage. 

http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/Page184.aspx
http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/Page5030.aspx
http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/Page10300.aspx
http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/Page10300.aspx


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 69 

9. Highway Traffic Act  

Ministry Responsible  
• Ministry of Transportation 

Important Points 
• Licensing 
• Green lights 
• Traffic control 

10. Forest Fire Prevention Act 

Ministry Responsible 
• Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry 

Important Points 
• Forest Fire Prevention Act - Fire Regions 
• Municipal Fire Protection Agreements with Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry 

11. Day Nurseries Act, 1990, Reg. 262 

Ministry Responsible 
• Ministry of Community and Social Services 

Important Points 
• Fire Safety and Emergency Information 
 
27.  (1)  Every operator of a day nursery shall ensure that in respect of each day nursery operated by the 
operator, 
(a) a written procedure approved by the local fire chief is established with respect to the duties of each 
member of the staff of each day nursery in the event of a fire; 

12. Technical Standards and Safety Act, 2000 

Important Points 
• Fuels: Propane 

Ministry Responsible 
• Ministry of Government and Consumer Services 

Overview of Technical Standards and Safety Act 
The Technical Standards and Safety Authority enforces Ontario's Technical Standards and Safety 
Act, 2000 covering industry sectors such as amusement devices, boilers and pressure vessels, 
elevating devices, natural gas, petroleum, propane and other fuels and equipment, operating 
engineers and upholstered and stuffed articles. 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 70 

Technical Standards and Safety Authority (TSSA) Fuels 
TSSA's Fuels Safety Program regulates the transportation, storage, handling and use of fuels as 
to ensure conformance to the Technical Standards and Safety Act, 2000, and applicable 
regulations, codes and standards. These fuels include natural gas, propane, butane, hydrogen, 
digester gas, landfill gas, fuel oil, gasoline, and diesel. TSSA licenses fuel facilities, registers 
contractors and certifies tradespersons who install and service equipment. 

Additionally, TSSA reviews and approves facility plans for sites licensed by TSSA, and performs 
custom equipment approvals and inspection services to ensure fuel is handled and used safely. 

For further information please visit TSSA website  - 
https://www.tssa.org/regulated/fuels/Default.aspx  

i. Propane Storage and Handling- O. Reg.  211/01 
This regulation pertains to Risk and Safety Management Plans and their application to 
propane transfer facilities with a total capacity of 5,000 USWG or less.  Fire services must be 
provided with the opportunity to review Emergency Response and Preparedness Plans (a 
component of the risk and safety management plan). 

Please visit the OFMEM website (Risk & Safety Management Plans for Propane Facilities - 
RSMP) for additional information. 

13. Environmental Protection Act, 1990 

Ministry Responsible 
• Ministry of Environment and Climate Change 

Important Points 
• Fire department personnel to report environmental impacts and spills to the Ministry of 

Environment and Climate Change. 

14. Dangerous Goods Transportation Act, 1990 

Ministry Responsible 
• Ministry of Transportation 

Important Points 
• Governs the transportation of dangerous goods. 

15. Development Charges Act, 1997 

Ministry Responsible 
• Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 

Important Points 
• Governs the process, use and limitations of development charges 

https://www.tssa.org/regulated/fuels/Default.aspx


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 71 

16. Coroners Act, 1990 

Ministry Responsible 
• Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services 

Important Points 
• Authorizes Coroners’ inquests and makes inquest recommendations. 

17. Employment Standards Act, 2000  

Ministry Responsible 
• Ministry of Labour 

Important Points 
• Employment standards set out in this Act apply with respect to an employee and his or her 

employer  

18. Human Rights Code, 1990 

Commission Responsible 
• Ontario Human Rights Commission 

Important Points 
• The Code prohibits actions that discriminate against people based on a protected ground in 

a protected social area. 

Protected grounds are: 

 Age 
 Ancestry, colour, race 
 Citizenship 
 Ethnic origin 
 Place of origin 
 Creed 
 Disability 
 Family status 
 Marital status (including single status) 
 Gender identity, gender expression 
 Receipt of public assistance (in housing only) 
 Record of offences (in employment only) 
 Sex (including pregnancy and breastfeeding) 
 Sexual orientation. 

Protected social areas are: 

 Accommodation (housing) 
 Contracts 



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 72 

 Employment 
 Goods, services and facilities 
 Membership in unions, trade or professional associations. 

Source: http://www.ohrc.on.ca/en/ontario-human-rights-code  

19. Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, 1990 

Commission Responsible 
• Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario 

Important Points 
• Local government institution’s protection of privacy of an individual’s personal information 

existing in government records. 

20. Pesticides Act, 1990 

Ministry Responsible 
• Ministry of Environment and Climate Change 

Important Points 
• Oversees the sale, storage, use, transportation and disposal of pesticides. 
• Fire department notification (O. Reg. 63/09: General). 

21. Workplace Safety and Insurance Act, 1997 

Ministry Responsible 
• Workplace Safety and Insurance Board, Ministry of Labour 

Important Points 
• Reporting of workplace incidents. 
• WSIB Presumptive legislation. 

Federal Legislation & Regulations 

1. Criminal Code 

Department Responsible 
• Department of Justice 

Important Points 
• Establishes criminal charges for negligent acts in the workplace by directors, officers or 

corporate decision makers. 

http://www.ohrc.on.ca/en/ontario-human-rights-code


Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 73 

2. Canada Shipping Act 

Department Responsible 
• Transport Canada 

Important Points 
• Registration and crew training requirements. 

3. Transportation of Dangerous Goods Act 

Department Responsible 
• Transport Canada 

Important Points 
• Duty to report the release of dangerous goods. 

4. Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms (Constitution of Canada) 

Department Responsible 
• Department of Justice 

A. Other Industry Standards 
Other industry standards are considered best practices and are important in making Ontario a 
safer place to live and work. The following are organizations and associations with fire related 
standards and references. 

The National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) 
NFPA is an international scientific and educational organization that looks at the causes, 
prevention and control of fire and develops standards accepted by the fire service throughout 
North America and beyond.  They have developed a number of standards that are commonly 
used by the fire service, such as: 

 

• NFPA 1001 – Fire Fighter I 
• NFPA 1002 – Fire Fighter II 
• NFPA 1404 – Fire Department Training and Use of Respiratory Protection Equipment 
• NFPA 1500 – Fire Department Occupational Safety and Health Program 
• NFPA 1932 – Fire Department Ground Ladders, Use, Maintenance    Service Testing 

 
In Ontario, the National Fire Protection Association Professional Qualifications Standards (NFPA 
Pro Quals Standards) are the basis for our competence-based training practices.   



Essentials 2015 
 

Version:  07.2015.2 Page 74 

Other Standards include: 
• Canadian General Standards Board (CGSB) 
• Canadian Standard Association (CSA) 
• Underwriters’ Laboratories Canada (CAN/ULC) 

Manufacturer’s Recommendations 
These are referenced to ensure that equipment and apparatus is used, inspected, replaced and 
repair as they were intended. 

Association Advisory Notes 
Peer groups such as the Ontario Association of Fire Chiefs will often publish and distribute 
advisory notes to their membership with regard to best practices and considerations for issues 
related to public fire safety and firefighter safety. 



1

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Essentials of Municipal Fire Protection
& Emergency Management

07.2015.3 - FINAL

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Learning Outcomes

• Understanding legislative responsibilities
and regulations affecting municipalities

• Fire Protection and Prevention Act
• Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act 
• Concepts relating to Fire Protection 

Services/Emergency Management

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

SECTION I – OFMEM
Essentials Guidebook



2

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Introduction – OFMEM

• Office of the Fire Marshal & Emergency 
Management Integration (page 8)

• Divisions of OFMEM
• Other OFMEM responsibilities

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Office of the Fire Marshal and 
Emergency Management

 Branch of the Ministry of Community Safety and
Correctional Services

 Develops provincial EM Doctrine and Policy

 Operates the Provincial Emergency Operations
Centre (PEOC) for 24/7 reporting of emergencies

 Coordinates provincial response to requests for
emergency assistance from municipalities 

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Three Lines of Defence

Public Fire 
Safety 

Education

Fire Safety 
Standards and 
Enforcement

Emergency 
Response



3

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

PREVENTION

Definition:   

Actions taken to stop 
an emergency or 
disaster from occurring

MITIGATION

Definition:

Actions taken to reduce 
the adverse impacts of 
an emergency or 
disaster.

PREPAREDNESS

Definition:

Actions taken prior to an 
emergency or disaster to 
ensure an effective 
response.

RESPONSE

Definition:

The provision of emergency 
services and public 
assistance or intervention 
during or immediately after 
an incident in order to 
protect people, property, the 
environment, the economy 
and/or services.

RECOVERY

Definition:

The process of restoring 
a stricken community to 
a pre-disaster level of 
functioning.

Components of comprehensive emergency management

Definition:   An all‐encompassing risk‐based approach to emergency management that includes prevention, mitigation, 
preparedness, response and recovery activities

Key Activities
‐ Legislative controls
‐ Zoning restrictions
‐ Improved operating 

standards/procedures
‐ Critical infrastructure 

management

Key Activities
‐ Containment measures
‐ Building codes and 

regulatory measures
‐ Defective systems

Key Activities
‐ Public education
‐ Warning systems
‐ Training
‐ Exercises

Key Activities
Includes the deployment of:
‐ Personnel
‐ Services
‐ Equipment 

Key Activities
‐ Assessment of damages 

and needs
‐ Provision of financial 

assistance
‐ Building repair and/or 

restoration work

Continuity of Operations Plan (COOP) / Business Continuity Plan (BCP):

Definition:
A plan and/or developed and maintained to direct an organization’s internal response to an emergency.
Key Activities:
‐ Risk Assessment – Business Impact Analysis – Plan Exercising – Critical Infrastructure Assurance

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Field and Advisory Services Section

Fire Marshal

ADFM-FAS

Ops Mgr.
NFPP/First Nation

Ops Mgr.
Monitor, Audit & 

Review

Ops Mgr. 
Advice & 

Assistance

Inspection & 
Enforcement

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

SECTION II - FPPA  
MUNICIPAL REQUIREMENTS

Essentials Guidebook



4

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

3 LINES OF DEFENCE

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

• Role of the municipality (page 16)

• Role of the fire chief
• Role of assistants to the Fire 

Marshal
• Powers & duties of the Fire 

Marshal 

Section II – FPPA Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

2 (1) Every municipality shall

(a) establish a program in the municipality 
which must include public education with 
respect to fire safety and certain components 
of fire prevention; and

(b) provide such other fire protection services 
as it determines may be necessary in 
accordance with its needs and circumstances.

Section II – FPPA Municipal Requirements



5

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Municipal Fire Protection Profiles

Declaration of Annual Compliance - 2.(1)(a)
• Municipal Risk Assessment
• Carbon Monoxide (CO) and Smoke Alarm program, 

including home escape planning
• Distribution of public education information and 

implementation of public education programs
• Fire prevention inspections upon complaint or request in 

accordance with O. Reg. 365/13 and FM Directive 2014-03.

Section II – FPPA Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Resources

• Public Fire Safety Guidelines (page 19)

• Fire Marshal’s Directives (page 20)

• OFMEM Technical Guidelines (page 21)

• Inspections & Enforcement (page 22)

Section II – FPPA Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

SECTION III –
FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES

Essentials Guidebook



6

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

“fire protection services” includes,
(a) fire suppression, fire prevention and fire safety education,
(b) mitigation and prevention of the risk created by the presence of unsafe 
levels of carbon monoxide and safety education related to the presence of 
those levels,
(c) rescue and emergency services,
(d) communication in respect of anything described in clauses (a) to (c),
(e) training of persons involved in providing anything described in clauses (a) 
to (d), and
(f) the delivery of any service described in clauses (a) to (e);

Section III – Fire Protection Services

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Municipal Guidelines
• Public Fire Safety Education
• Fire Safety Inspections and Enforcement
• Emergency Response
• Communications
• Fire Investigations
• Training

Section III – Fire Protection Services

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

2 (1) Every municipality shall
(a) establish a program in the municipality 
which must include public education with 
respect to fire safety and certain components 
of fire prevention; and
(b) provide such other fire protection services 
as it determines may be necessary in 
accordance with its needs and circumstances.

Section III – Fire Protection Services



7

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

• Municipal Risk Assessment
• Service Delivery Options

- Fire Protection Agreements
- Establish and Regulate a Fire Department
- Other by-laws to regulate public safety
- Community Fire Safety Officer or Team

• Territories without Municipal Organization 
(NFPP)

Section III – Fire Protection Services

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Risk Management Exercise
#1- Municipality of Septemberville has experienced a population growth 
due to residential developments and a 250 bed long term care home 
being built. Also a large automobile manufacturer has located a new plant 
employing 700 people in your town adjacent to railway lines and a 
provincial highway.
#2- Municipality of Octoberville has experienced a steady decline in 
population due to the closure of largest employer, the lumber mill. Many 
residential homes and commercial retail occupancies are left vacant and 
recent figures show an increase in the number of fires in these 
occupancies.

How has the fire risk(s) in these communities changed?
What will be the priorities for inspections and education programs?

Fire Protection and Prevention Act

Municipal By-Laws

Policies & Procedures

Operational Guidelines

Training

Documentation



8

What kind of  house do you want ?

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Provincial Legislation
• Refer to page 66 in your guidebook that lists relevant 

legislation impacts delivery of fire protection services
Federal Legislation
• Refer to page 72 in your guidebook that lists relevant 

legislation that impacts delivery of fire protection services
Standards
• Refer to page 73 Generally voluntary or best practices
• Some are prescribed, referenced in Acts or Legislation
Section 21 Guidance Notes
• Refer to page 67 (Stakeholders - MOL, OFMEM, AMO, 

OAFC, FFAO, OPFFA)

Section III – Fire Protection Services

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Review 
Choose a core service listed in your E & R By-law.

Ask 
What do you need to conduct this services safely, effectively and in 
the best interest of public safety?

Your task will be to conduct this process for all your core services, 
identify if there are any gaps and determine options to address it.

Exercise Topic: Basic Auto Extrication

Core Services Exercise



9

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Two O'clock Dilemma
Anytown Ontario

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Two O'clock Dilemma
Anytown Ontario

2 PM
Day time response

• Staffing
• Bedroom community
• Unknown numbers of 

response personnel

2 AM
Night time response

• Staffing
• Winter night
• Delayed response 

due to weather



10

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

So what is the problem?
• Building construction has changed
• Fires burn faster and hotter
• Adequate fire ground staffing
• FALSE - Hollywood depiction of firefighting
• Public Attitude and compliance (Smoke/CO Alarms)

Two O'clock Dilemma
Anytown Ontario

93% of  fatal fires occur in 
residential occupancies!

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Two O'clock Dilemma
Anytown Ontario

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Options to address gaps in timely emergency 
response and fire ground staffing issues should 
include:
• Increase public education programs
• Increase fire safety inspections
• Enhance smoke/CO alarm programs

* Effect a cultural change toward home fire safety

Two O'clock Dilemma
Anytown Ontario



11

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Powers of the Fire Marshal 
FPPA 9. (1) The Fire Marshal has the 
power, (a) to monitor, review and advise
municipalities respecting the provision of 
fire protection services and to make
recommendations to municipal councils 
for improving the efficiency and 
effectiveness of those services;

Section III – Fire Protection Services

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Common Recommendations
1. Update/revise E&R By-Law & list of Core Services
2. Develop/implement records management policy 

(all divisions) including training
3. Develop/implement policies, procedures, & 

operating guidelines (OG's) for each fire protection 
service

4. Develop/Implement routine inspection program-
high/extreme risk occupancies

5. Utilize all fire code enforcement options (TG-01-
2012)

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

6. Implement the Comp Model and the Fire Risk 
Sub-model

7. Develop/implement preplans for high/extreme risk 
occupancies

8. Develop a fire prevention, public education and 
code enforcement policy

9. Origin and cause of fires and report to OFMEM as 
per directive 2015-02

Common Recommendations



12

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

10.Implement smoke alarm program w/escape 
planning(alarmed for life)

11.Develop/implement a policy - fire safety plans 
current & approved by trained Chief Fire Official

12.Review annually-by-laws, agreements, policies, 
OG's involving prevention

13.Implement incident command system/personnel 
accountability system

Common Recommendations

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

• FPPA Part IX Firefighters: 
Employment and Labour Relations

• FPPA Part XII Miscellaneous (page 30)
• Protection from personal liability
• Crown, municipality not relieved of 

liability
• Indemnification

Section III – Fire Protection Services

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

SECTION IV –
REGULATIONS UNDER FPPA

Essentials Guidebook



13

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

•O. Reg. 213/07- Amended Fire Code
•O. Reg. 364/13-Mandatory Inspection-
Fire Drill in Vulnerable Occupancies

•O. Reg. 365/13-Mandatory Assessment 
of Complaints and Requests for Approval

Section IV: Regulations under the FPPA

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

• Owner responsible for compliance with Fire 
Code unless otherwise specified

• Chief Fire Official has authority under the 
Fire Code to “approve”

• Both Owner and Chief Fire Officials require 
mandatory training for Fire Safety Plans in 
vulnerable occupancies

* Required by Jan.1st, 2017

Section IV: Regulations under the FPPA

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Care and 
Treatment Care Retirement 

Home

Vulnerable Occupancies



14

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

O. Reg. 364/13 – Mandatory Inspection –
Fire Drills in Vulnerable Occupancy

• Annual fire safety inspection
• Annual fire drill observed based 

on approved scenario
• Required in all care 

occupancies, care and 
treatment occupancies and 
retirement homes

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

O. Reg. 365/13-Mandatory Assessment of 
Complaints and Requests for Approval

• Complaints about fire safety of a building shall be 
assessed to determine whether it would be 
advisable to conduct a fire safety inspection as a 
result of the complaint.

• After assessing the complaint and if the person 
determines that it would be advisable to conduct a 
fire safety inspection, an inspector must conduct 
the fire safety inspection.

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

O. Reg. 365/13-Mandatory Assessment of 
Complaints and Requests for Approval

• If the Chief Fire Official receives request regarding 
fire code approvals, they shall assess and 
determine if it would be advisable to conduct a fire 
safety inspection in order to decide whether to 
grant or refuse the approval.

• If it is determined it would be advisable to conduct 
a fire safety inspection in order to decide whether 
to grant or refuse the approval, they shall ensure 
an inspector conducts the inspection.



15

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Fire Marshal’s Directives

• Under the FPPA the Fire Marshal may issue 
directives to assistants to the Fire Marshal

• Assistants to the Fire Marshal must follow the FM 
Directives

• Assistants to the Fire Marshal are:
a) the fire chief of every fire department
b) the clerk of every municipality without a fire department
c) any member of a fire prevention bureau
d) every person who is designated by the Fire Marshal

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Fire Marshal’s Directives
The OFMEM has developed a compliance strategy to ensure 
we meet the legislative responsibilities to monitor and review 
municipal fire protection services in accordance with the FPPA 
pertaining to enhancing fire safety in vulnerable occupancies in 
the province.

It is a proactive monitoring and validation process to ensure 
municipal fire services are in compliance with all applicable 
legislative requirements and Fire Marshal Directives pertaining 
to care occupancies, care and treatment occupancies and 
retirement homes as defined in the Fire Code.

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

SECTION V – PROVINCIAL 
PROGRAMS AND RESOURCES

Essentials Guidebook



16

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

• Fire Risk Management Tools
• Simplified Risk Assessment
• Fire Risk Sub-Model
• Integrated Risk Management (IRM) Web-Tool
• Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model

• Province of Ontario Mutual Aid Plan
• Minimum Conditions for Participating
• Roles and Responsibilities of Fire Co-ordinators

• Provincial Resources
• Major Incidents
• HAZMAT/CBRNE Response and HUSAR

Section V: Provincial Programs & Resources

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

• OFMEM Web Site
• Web Portal- Facilities Housing Vulnerable Occupants
• Carbon monoxide (CO) Q&A’s
• Technical Guidelines
• Public Education Messages, Programs and 

Resources
• Fire News
• Communiques

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/OFMLanding/OFM_main.html

Section V: Provincial Programs & Resources

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Questions



17

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

SECTION VI – MUNICIPAL 
REQUIREMENTS

Essentials Guidebook

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

• Emergency Management Civil 
Protection Act 

• O. Reg. 380/04 Standards

Section VI: Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Definition of an “emergency”
“A situation or an impending situation 

that constitutes a danger of major proportions 
that could result in serious harm to persons 

or substantial damage to property and that is 
caused by the forces of nature, a disease or other 

health risk, an accident or an act whether 
intentional or otherwise” 

Section VI: Municipal Requirements



18

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Community Emergency Management Coordinators(CEMC)

• Every municipality shall designate an employee of the municipality or a 
member of the council as its emergency management program 
coordinator

• Municipalities are strongly encouraged to designate one or two alternate 
CEMC’s

• Following designation, CEMC’s are recommended to complete the 
OFMEM training within one year

• CEMC is the PEOC point of contact

Section VI: Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Municipal Emergency Control Group (MECG)

• Every municipality shall have a municipal emergency 
control group to direct the municipality’s response to an 
emergency, including the implementation of the 
municipality’s emergency response plan.

• The group shall develop procedures to govern its 
responsibilities in an emergency.

Section VI: Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Emergency Management Program Committee

(1) Every municipality shall have an emergency management 
program committee. 

(2) The committee shall be composed of:
(a) municipality’s emergency management program co-ordinator 
(b) a senior municipal official appointed by the council 
(c) such members of the council as may be appointed by council 
(d) such municipal employees who are responsible for 
emergency management functions, as may be appointed by the 
council; and
(e) such other persons as may be appointed by the council.

Section VI: Municipal Requirements



19

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Emergency Plan

Every municipality shall formulate an emergency plan 
governing the provision of necessary services during an 
emergency and the procedures under and the manner 
in which employees of the municipality and other 
persons will respond to the emergency and the council 
of the municipality shall by by-law adopt the emergency 
plan.

Section VI: Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

An emergency response plan shall,
a) assign responsibilities to municipal employees, by 

position, respecting implementation of the emergency 
response plan;

b) set out procedures for notifying the members of the 
municipal emergency control group of the emergency

Section VI: Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Hazard Identification Risk Assessment (HIRA)
In developing its emergency management program, 
every municipality shall
• identify and assess the various hazards and risks to 

public safety that could give rise to emergencies

Section VI: Municipal Requirements



20

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Section VI: Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Food and Water Transportation Financial Institutions

Electricity Communication Systems Health Care

Public Safety & Security Gas & Oil Continuity of Government

Critical Infrastructure Sectors

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Confidentiality
The EMCPA provides for the protection of Hazard 
Identification Risk Assessment and Critical 
Infrastructure information so that it may remain 
confidential.
See the following sections of the EMCPA:

• Confidentiality for defence reasons – 2.1(4)
• Confidentiality of third party information and trade 

secrets – 2.1(6)

Section VI: Municipal Requirements



21

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Training

• The emergency management program shall consist of
training programs for employees of the municipality and 
other persons with respect to the provision of necessary 
services and the procedures to be followed in emergency 
response and recovery activities.

• Every municipality shall conduct training programs to 
ensure the readiness of employees of the municipality 
and other persons to act under the emergency plan.

Section VI: Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Exercises

• The emergency management program shall consist of 
exercises for employees of the municipality and other 
persons with respect to the provision of necessary 
services and the procedures to be followed in 
emergency response and recovery activities.

• Every municipality shall conduct exercises to ensure 
the readiness of employees of the municipality and 
other persons to act under the emergency plan.

Section VI: Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Exercises

• The municipal emergency control group shall
conduct an annual practice exercise for a 
simulated emergency incident in order to evaluate 
the municipality’s emergency response plan and its 
own procedures.

Section VI: Municipal Requirements



22

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Public Education

The EMCPA states that the emergency management 
program shall consist of, public education on risks to 
public safety and on public preparedness for 
emergencies. 

Section VI: Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Emergency Information Officer (EIO)

• Every municipality shall designate an employee of 
the municipality as its emergency information officer.

• The emergency information officer shall act as the 
primary media and public contact for the municipality 
in an emergency.

Section VI: Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Annual Review and Revision

Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act,
• Every municipality shall review and, if necessary, 

revise its emergency plan every year.
Ontario Regulation 380/04, 

• The emergency management program committee 
shall conduct an annual review of the municipality’s 
emergency management program and shall make 
recommendations to the council for its revision if 
necessary.

Section VI: Municipal Requirements



23

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Declaration of emergency
• Only the Head of Council or Acting Head can 

declare emergency
• Member of council may be appointed in the 

absence of the Head of Council
• Not Contrary to law

Solicitor General (Minister of MCSCS) to be notified
• Mandatory for OFMEM to be notified of declaration 

and termination of emergency

Note:  Checklist in Consideration of a Declaration 
of Emergency (See guidebook)

Section VI: Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Termination of Municipal Emergency Declarations

• Head of Council or the Council may at any time 
terminate an emergency

• Premier may terminate an emergency at any time

Protection from legal action

Municipality not relieved of liability

Section VI: Municipal Requirements

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

SECTION VII – EM BASICS
Essentials Guidebook



24

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

PROTECTING YOUR SAFETY BEGINS AT HOME

Federal
Level

SECTION VII – EM BASICS

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Section VII – EM Basics

• Natural
• Human Caused
• Technological

Categories of 
Emergencies

• Gradual (expected) 
• Sudden 

(unexpected)

Classifications

• Forest Fires
• Floods
• Blizzards
• Chemical Spills
• Structural Collapse
• Utility Outage
• Civil Unrest
• Severe Weather
• Nuclear Accident
• Epidemic/Pandemic
• Water Contamination
• Other

Hazards

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

PREVENTION

Definition:   

Actions taken to stop an 
emergency or disaster 
from occurring

MITIGATION

Definition:

Actions taken to reduce 
the adverse impacts of 
an emergency or 
disaster.

PREPAREDNESS

Definition:

Actions taken prior to an 
emergency or disaster to 
ensure an effective 
response.

RESPONSE

Definition:

The provision of emergency 
services and public 
assistance or intervention 
during or immediately after 
an incident in order to 
protect people, property, the 
environment, the economy 
and/or services.

RECOVERY

Definition:

The process of restoring 
a stricken community to 
a pre-disaster level of 
functioning.

Components of comprehensive emergency management

Definition:   An all‐encompassing risk‐based approach to emergency management that includes prevention, mitigation, 
preparedness, response and recovery activities

Key Activities
‐ Legislative controls
‐ Zoning restrictions
‐ Improved operating 

standards/procedures
‐ Critical infrastructure 

management

Key Activities
‐ Containment measures
‐ Building codes and 

regulatory measures
‐ Defective systems

Key Activities
‐ Public education
‐ Warning systems
‐ Training
‐ Exercises

Key Activities
Includes the deployment of:
‐ Personnel
‐ Services
‐ Equipment 

Key Activities
‐ Assessment of damages 

and needs
‐ Provision of financial 

assistance
‐ Building repair and/or 

restoration work

Continuity of Operations Plan (COOP) / Business Continuity Plan (BCP):

Definition:
A plan and/or developed and maintained to direct an organization’s internal response to an emergency.
Key Activities:
‐ Risk Assessment – Business Impact Analysis – Plan Exercising – Critical Infrastructure Assurance



25

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Command
(Decision-Makers)

Operations
Section
(Do-ers)

Planning
Section

(Thinkers)

Logistics
Section

(Getters)

Finance & Admin
Section
(Payers)

-Information
-Safety
-Liaison

Ontario’s IMS Model
Section VII – EM Basics

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Continuity of Operations Program (COOP)

• Is essential component of every business operation
• Like residents, both public and private sector 

organizations must be self-sufficient during 
emergencies

• Describes the internal arrangements that an 
organization must take in order to sustain its 
operations

• Distinct from a response plan but interdependant

Section VII – EM Basics

CEMC Designation
EM Prog Committee
Program By-law
HIRA
Emerg Resp Plan
EOC
Critical Infrastructure
Annual Training
Annual Exercise
Emerg Info Officer
Public Education
Annual Review

Annual Municipal Maintenance Checklist



26

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

SECTION VIII – PROVINCIAL 
PROGRAMS & RESOURCES

Essentials Guidebook

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Ontario Hazards

Section VIII: Provincial Programs & Resources



27

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Emergency Preparedness

Personal/Family
 Emergencies can happen at anytime and it is important that 

you and your family should be ready to care for yourselves for 
a minimum of 72 hours 

72 hour kit
 Prepared to take care of themselves 

and their families for up to three days

www.ontario.ca/emo

“Are You Prepared?” Video

Section VIII: Provincial Programs & Resources

Section VIII: Provincial Programs & Resources

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

• Provincial Emergency Operations 
Centre

• Staffed 24/7

Section VIII: Provincial Programs & Resources



28

Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Questions



1 

 

 

Otonabee-South Monaghan Department of 
Fire and Emergency Services 

 
ESTABLISHING AND REGULATING BY-LAW 

Corporation of the 
Township of Otonabee-South Monaghan 

 
By-Law No. 2005 - 46 

 
Whereas the Municipal Act, S.O. 2001, c.25, as amended, and the Fire 
Protection and Prevention Act, 1997, S.O. 1997, c.4 as amended, permits 
the council to enact a by-law to establish and regulate a fire department; 

 
BE IT THEREFORE ENACTED by the Municipal council of the Corporation of 
The Township of Otonabee-South Monaghan, as follows: 

 
 
 

Definitions: 

1.  In this by-law, unless the context otherwise requires, 

a.  approved 
means approved by the council 

 
b.  chief administrative officer (CAO) 

means the person appointed by council to act as chief administrative 
officer for the corporation 

 
c.  corporation 

means the Corporation of the Township of Otonabee-South Monaghan 
 

d.  council 
means the council of the Township of Otonabee-South Monaghan 

 
e.  deputy chief 

means the person appointed by council to act on behalf of the fire chief 
of the fire department in the case of an absence or a vacancy in the 
office of fire chief 

 
f. fire chief 

means the person appointed by council to act as fire chief for the 
corporation and is ultimately responsible to council as defined in the Fire 
Protection and Prevention Act 

 
g.  fire department 

means the Township of Otonabee-South Monaghan Department of Fire 
and Emergency Services 

 
h.  firefighter 

means a Fire Chief and any other person employed in, or appointed to, 
a fire department and assigned to undertake fire protection services, 
and includes a volunteer firefighter. 

 
i. firefighter for the purposes of Labour Relations 

means a person regularly employed on a salaried basis either full or 
part-time in a fire department and assigned to fire protection services 
and includes technicians but does not include a volunteer firefighter and 
whereas Part IX of the Fire Protection and Prevention Act would apply. 



2 

 

 

j. fire protection services 
includes fire suppression, fire prevention, fire safety education, 
communication, training of persons involved in the provision of fire 
protection services, rescue and emergency services and the delivery of 
all those services 

 
k.  limited services 

means a variation of services significantly differentiating from the norm 
as a result of extenuating circumstances, such as environmental factors, 
obstructions, remote and/ or island properties, private road ways, lanes, 
and drives 

 
l. member 

means any persons employed in, or appointed to, a fire department and 
assigned to undertake fire protection services, and includes officers, full 
time, part time and volunteer firefighters 

 
m. volunteer firefighter 

means a firefighter who provides fire protection services either 
voluntarily or for a nominal consideration, honorarium, training or activity 
allowance 

 
Fire Department Establishment 

 
2.  A fire department for the Township of Otonabee-South Monaghan to be 

known as the Township of Otonabee-South Monaghan Department of 
Fire and Emergency Services is hereby established and the head of the 
fire department shall be known as the fire chief. 

 
a. The fire department “Mission Statement and Goals” are as stated in 

Appendix “C”, forming part of this by-law. 
 
Structure 

 
3.  The fire department shall be structured in conformance with the 

approved Organizational Chart, Appendix A, forming part of this by law. 
 

4.  Firefighters of the Township of Otonabee-South Monaghan fire 
department for the purposes of “WSIB” Workplace Safety Insurance 
Board shall be defined as volunteer firefighters. 

 
5.  In addition to the fire chief, the council shall appoint a deputy chief and 

such number of other officers and members as may be deemed 
necessary by the council 

 
6.  The fire chief may recommend to the council the appointment of any 

qualified person as a member of the fire department subject to the 
approved hiring policies of the Township of Otonabee-South Monaghan 
fire department. 

 
7.  Persons appointed as members of the fire department to provide fire 

protection services shall be on probation for a period of 12 months, 
during which period they shall take such special training and 
examination as may be required by the fire chief. 

 
8.  The remuneration of the volunteer firefighters shall be as determined by 

the council. 
 

9.  If a probationary member appointed to provide fire protection services 
fails any such special training and examination, the fire chief may 
recommend dismissal and/or appropriate action to council. 



3 

 

 

10. The fire chief may reprimand, suspend or recommend dismissal of any 
member for infraction of any provisions of this by law, policies, general 
orders and departmental rules that, in the opinion of the fire chief, would 
be detrimental to discipline or the efficiency of the fire department. 

 
11. Disciplinary action or dismissal of a volunteer firefighter shall be 

conducted in accordance with the approved fire department and human 
resources policies. 

 
Duties and Responsibility 

 
12. The fire chief is ultimately responsible to council, for proper 

administration and operation of the fire department including the 
delivery of fire protection services. 

 
13. Each division of the fire department is the responsibility of the fire chief 

and is under the direction of the fire chief or a member designated by 
the fire chief. Designated members shall report to the fire chief on 
divisions and activities under their supervision and shall carry out all 
orders of the fire chief. 

 
Policies and Procedures 

 
14. The fire chief shall implement all approved policies and shall develop 

such standard operating procedures and guidelines, general orders and 
departmental rules as necessary to implement the approved policies 
and to ensure the appropriate care and protection of all fire department 
personnel and equipment. 

 
15. The fire chief shall review periodically all policies, orders, rules and 

operating procedures of the fire department and may establish an 
advisory committee consisting of such members of the fire department 
as the fire chief may determine from time to time to assist in these 
duties. 

 
Budgets and Reports 

 
16. The fire chief shall submit to the CAO and council for approval, the 

annual budget estimates for the fire department an annual report and 
any other specific reports requested by the CAO and/or council. 

 
Powers 

 
17. The fire chief shall take all proper measures for the prevention, control 

and extinguishment of fires and the protection of life and property and 
shall exercise all powers mandated by the Fire Protection and 
Prevention Act, and the fire chief shall be empowered to authorize: 

 
a.  pulling down or demolishing any building or structure to prevent the 

spread of fire 
b.  all necessary actions which may include boarding up or barricading of 

buildings or property to guard against fire or other danger, risk or 
accident, when unable to contact the property owner 

c.  recovery of expenses incurred by such necessary actions for the 
corporation in the manner provided through the Municipal Act and the 
Fire Protection and Prevention Act 

 
Emergency Response Outside of Municipal Boundaries 

 
18. The fire department shall not respond to a call with respect to a fire or 

emergency outside the limits of the municipality except with respect to a 
fire or emergency: 



4 

 

 

a.  that, in the opinion of the fire chief or designate of the fire department, 
threatens property in the municipality or property situated outside the 
municipality that is owned or occupied by the municipality 

b.  in a municipality with which an approved agreement has been entered 
into to provide fire protection services which may include automatic 
aid 

c.  on property with which an approved agreement has been entered into 
with any person or corporation to provide fire protection services 

d.  at the discretion of the fire chief, to a municipality authorized to 
participate in any county, district or regional mutual aid plan 
established by a fire co-ordinator appointed by the fire marshal or any 
other similar reciprocal plan or program 

e.  on property beyond the municipal boundary where the fire chief or 
designate determines immediate action is necessary to preserve life 
or property and the appropriate department is notified to respond and 
assume command or establish alternative measures, acceptable to 
the fire chief or designate 

 
Levels of Service 

 
19. 

 
a.  The Township of Otonabee-South Monaghan fire department shall 

provide such approved services as specified and listed in Appendix 
“B” 

 
b.  Due to the fire department’s reliance upon volunteer firefighters, the 

topographic and geographic configuration of the Township, the level 
and amount of equipment at the department’s disposal, and other 
budgetary constraints, the services listed in Appendix “B”, although 
approved, may be provided as “limited services” as defined in section 
1 of this by-law. 

 
c.  The Township of Otonabee-South Monaghan accepts no liability for 

the delay or inability to supply the services set out in Appendix “B” of 
this By-law due to the provision of its approved services as limited 
services or due to the existence of unsafe conditions encountered en 
route, impeded access to property, and/or environmental 
factors/constraints. 

 
 
 
 

AN APPROVED ORGANIZATIONAL CHART FORMS PART of THIS BY 
LAW AS Appendix “A” 

 
AN APPROVED LIST OF SUPPLIED SERVICES FORMS PART of THIS 
BY LAW AS Appendix “ B” 

 
AN APPROVED MISSION STATEMENT AND LIST OF PRIMARY GOALS 
AND OBJECTIVES OF THE DEPARTMENT OF FIRE AND EMERGENCY 
SERVICES FORMS PART of THIS BY LAW AS Appendix “C” 



5 

 

 

This by-law comes into effect the day it is passed by council, in the manner 
appropriate to the municipality 

 
That by-law 2000-31 or any by-laws or parts thereof and all resolutions of 
Council which are inconsistent herewith are hereby repealed. 

 
 
 
 
By-law read a first and second time this 12th  day of September, 2005 

 
 
 
 
By-law read a third time and finally passed this 12th  day of September, 2005 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Paul Heath, Deputy-Reeve 
 
 
 
 
 

Heather Scott, Clerk 



6 

 

 

Appendix “A” 
Township of Otonabee-South Monaghan Department of 
Fire And Emergency Services ORGANIZATION CHART 

 
Municipal Council 

 
 
 

CAO  
Administration 

Fire Chief 

 
 
 
Administrative 

Assistant 
 
 
 

Emergency Operations 
Apparatus & Equipment 

 
Fire Prevention 

Public Education 

 
Training 

Finance 
Logistics 
Planning 

 
Communications 

 
Deputy Chief Deputy Chief  FPO  Training Officer` 

 
Station #1 

HFRT 
 
 
 
Officers 

Station #2 
Station #3 

 
 
 
Officers 

 
 
Public Educator 

STO 
Station 1 

HFRT 

Response Personnel Response Personnel  
STO 

Station 2 
 
 

STO 
Station 3 



7 

 

 

The Township of 
OTONABEE-SOUTH MONAGHAN DEPARTMENT 

Of 
FIRE AND EMERGENCY SERVICES 

 
 

By-law 2005- 46 Appendix “B” PAGE 1 OF 2 
 
Core Services Provided (Response and Support): 

 
A) Emergency Response 

 
1.  Structural firefighting including limited internal rescue & fire attack in 

accordance with the fire department’s level of training, standard 
operating guidelines, Occupational Health and Safety Guidelines and 
the number and type of personnel and equipment available to the 
department and on each specific emergency response. 

 
2.  Emergency responses to water access properties including islands and 

to those properties accessed via private roads, private lanes or private 
driveways subject to the following limitations. 

 
a) Emergency Response to water access properties will be 

limited to safe travel and environmental conditions. 
Response times during acceptable safe conditions may 
range from twenty to forty-five minutes or longer. 

 
If in the opinion of the Fire Chief or his/her designate unsafe 
environmental conditions exists no services shall be 
provided.   Fire Department vehicles shall not enter onto 
frozen  bodies  of  water  (ie.  Lakes,  rivers,  streams)  at 
anytime. 

 
b) Emergency response to properties accessed via private 

roads, private lanes or private driveways may be limited by 
the condition of such road, land or driveway including: 

 
(i) the ability or such road, lane or driveway to support 

and accommodate fire department equipment, 
vehicles and apparatus; and 

 
(ii) the failure of the owner of the lands upon which the 

road,  lane or driveway is located or the user of such 
road, land or driveway to maintain such road, lane or 
driveway in a condition that is passable by fire 
department equipment, vehicles and apparatus. 



8 

 

 

 

Appendix “B” PAGE 2 OF 2 
 
 
 

3.  Vehicle firefighting 
4.  Grass, brush firefighting 
5.  Marine firefighting – defensive only 
6.  Basic medical assist with defibrillation 
7.  Awareness level hazardous materials 
8.  Vehicle accidents 
9.  Vehicle extrication 
10. Transportation incidents involving vehicles, trains, aircraft and watercraft 
11. Water and ice rescue – shore based 
12. Public assistance 
13. Other agencies assistance 
14. High angle rescue – awareness only 
15. Confined space rescue – awareness only 
16. Trench rescue – awareness only 
17. Mutual aid 
18. Automatic aid 
19. Participation in community emergency plan 
20. Fire protection agreements 
21. Joint service agreements 

 
 
 
B) Fire Prevention and Public Education 

 
Fire Prevention and Public Educations activities shall be provided in accordance 
with the approved fire department Fire Prevention/Public Education and Smoke 
Alarm Policies. 



9 

 

 

The Township of 
OTONABEE-SOUTH MONAGHAN DEPARTMENT 

Of 
FIRE AND EMERGENCY SERVICES 

 
 
 
BY-LAW 2005- 46                        APPENDIX “C”                       PAGE 1 OF 2 

 
MISSION STATEMENT 

 
The Mission of the Otonabee-South Monaghan Department of Fire and Emergency 
Services is to take action to protect and/or rescue citizens and/or property from threats 
of health, the effects of natural or man made disaster, and in particular the risk that a 
fire, if started, would seriously endanger the health and safety of any person or quality of 
the natural environment for any use that can be made of it. 

 

 
 
PRIMARY GOALS of the DEPARTMENT OF FIRE AND EMERGENCY 
SERVICES 

 
The primary goal of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services is to provide fire 
protection and rescue services through a range of programs designed to protect the lives 
and property of the inhabitants from the adverse effects of fire, sudden medical 
emergencies, or exposure to dangerous conditions created by man or nature; second to 
those Municipalities requiring assistance through authorized emergency fire service plan 
and program (mutual aid) activities; and third, to those Municipalities which are provided 
fire protection by the Department of Fire and Emergency Services via authorized 
agreement. 

 
PRIMARY OBJECTIVES of the DEPARTMENT OF FIRE AND EMERGENCY 
SERVICES: 

 
In order to achieve the goal of Department of Fire and Emergency Services, necessary 
funding must be in place and the following objectives met: 

 
1. Identify and review the Department of Fire and Emergency Services 

requirements of the Municipality 
 
2.        Provide an administrative process consistent with the needs of the Department 

 
3. Ensure that firefighting equipment and operating personnel is available within the 

Municipality to provide adequate response to a citizen’s call within a reasonable 
length of time. 

 
4. Provide departmental training, to an accepted standard, which will ensure the 

continuous up-grading of all personnel in the latest technique of fire prevention, 
firefighting and control of emergency situations and to co-operate with other 
Municipal departments with respect to management training and other programs. 



10 

 

 

APPENDIX “C” PAGE 2 OF 2 
 

 
 
PRIMARY OBJECTIVES of the DEPARTMENT OF FIRE AND EMERGENCY 
SERVICES: 

 
Cont’d: 

 

 
 
5. Provide a maintenance program to ensure all fire protection apparatus, involving 

all equipment, is ready to respond to emergency calls 
 
6. Provide an effective Fire Prevention Program to: 

(a) Ensure, through plan examination and inspection, that required fire 
protective equipment is installed and maintained within buildings 

(b) Reduce and/or eliminate fire hazards 
(c) Ensure compliance with applicable Municipal, Provincial and 

Federal fire prevention legislation, statues, codes and regulations 
in respect to fire safety. 

 
7. Develop and maintain an effective public information system and educational 

program, with particular emphasis on school fire safety programs; and 
commercial, industrial and institutional staff training. 

 
8. Ensure in the event of a major catastrophe in the Municipality, assistance to cope 

with the situation is available from outside departments and other agencies. 
 
9. Develop and maintain a good working relationship with all Federal, Provincial and 

Municipal departments, utilities and agencies, related to the protection of life and 
property. 

 
10. Interact with other Municipal departments respecting the aspects of fire or any 

given programs. 
 
11. Ensure these objectives are not in conflict with any other Municipal department. 



 

 

 
 
 

Core Services Checklist 
 
 
 
Consider what you need to deliver this service safely and effectively? 

 
Core Service  

Authority Is this service listed in your E&R bylaw? 

Do you have a copy of this document? 

Risk Assessment Has a risk assessment been done relative to this 
service? 

 
Do you have documentation that describes the risk? 

Risk Priorities: 

Legislation List Applicable Legislation 
 
Federal 

Provincial 

Municipal Bylaws 

Standards List Applicable Standards 



 

 

 
Based on the above identify, required and existing capabilities 

 Required Capabilities Existing Capabilities Is there a Gap? 

Equipment    

Apparatus or vehicles    

Training    

# of Personnel    

Operating Guidelines Written 
Accessible 
Understood 
Practiced 

Written 
Accessible 
Understood 
Practiced 

 



 

 

 
If there is a Gap, consider options to address this gap and cost for each option? 
Benefits, Consequences, Human, Capital, Operating, Maintenance, Time Costs 

 
Apply the Comp Model 
What prevention, education, agreements can assist to deliver the same level of service? 

 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

Equipment    

Apparatus or vehicles    

Training    

# of Personnel    

Operating Guidelines    

What will you do if the 
service is not viable? 

 
Consider the “comp 
model” 

Who do you have to notify if the type and level of service 
changes? 

 

 
 
 
 
 
How will you notify them? 

 



PREVENTION 
 

Definition:    

 

Actions taken to stop 

an emergency or 

disaster from 

occurring 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MITIGATION 
 

Definition: 

 

Actions taken to 

reduce the adverse 

impacts of an 

emergency or disaster. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PREPAREDNESS 
 

Definition: 

 

Actions taken prior to 

an emergency or 

disaster to ensure an 

effective response. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RESPONSE 
 

Definition: 

 
The provision of emergency 

services and public 

assistance or intervention 

during or immediately after 

an incident in order to 

protect people, property, 

the environment, the 

economy and/or services. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RECOVERY 
 

Definition: 

 

The process of 

restoring a stricken 

community to a pre-

disaster level of 

functioning. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Components of  comprehensive emergency management 
 

Definition:   An all-encompassing risk-based approach to emergency management that includes prevention, 
mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery activities 

Key Activities 
- Legislative controls 
- Zoning restrictions 
- Improved operating 

standards/procedures 
- Critical infrastructure 

management 

Key Activities 
- Containment measures 
- Building codes and 

regulatory measures 
- Defective systems 

 
 

Key Activities 
- Public education 
- Warning systems 
- Training 
- Exercises 

 
 

Key Activities 
Includes the deployment of: 
- Personnel 
- Services 
- Equipment  

 
 

Key Activities 
- Assessment of damages 

and needs 
- Provision of financial 

assistance 
- Building repair and/or 

restoration work 

Continuity of Operations Plan (COOP) / Business Continuity Plan (BCP): 
 

Definition: 
A plan and/or developed and maintained to direct an organization’s internal response to an emergency. 
Key Activities: 
- Risk Assessment – Business Impact Analysis – Plan Exercising – Critical Infrastructure Assurance 



Essentials 2015 
1 

Essentials of Municipal Fire Protection 
& Emergency Management 
A Decision Makers’ Guide 

www.surveymonkey.com/r/OFMEM 

Participant Seminar Evaluation 
 
Date: ___________________________     Location: ___________________________ 
Please take a moment to provide us with feedback on this seminar.  We value your 
comments and suggestions, as these will help ensure the program remains responsive to the 
needs of municipal decision makers. 
 
Instructions: 
In consideration of your role as a municipal decision maker, please indicate your level of 
agreement with the statements below by checking the appropriate box under each statement. 
 
Part 1 – Learning Value 

 
1. This seminar provided me with relevant information relating to the Fire Service: 

 

 Strongly 
Disagree 

Disagree No 
Opinion 

Agree Strongly 
Agree 

a) Legislation-Fire Protection 
and Prevention Act (FPPA) – 
Sect II 

     

b) Municipal Roles and 
Responsibilities – Sect VI 

     

c) Fire Chiefs’ Roles and 
Responsibility – Sect II 

     

d) Risk Management and Due 
Diligence – Sect III 

     

e) Core Services  and Service 
Delivery Options – Sect III 

     

f) Annual Compliance 
Requirement and 
Documentation 
Submission(FPPA) – Sect II 

     

g) Fire Service Resources and 
Services – Sect VIII 

     

 
2. This seminar provided me with relevant information relating to Emergency 

http://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OFMEM


Essentials 2015 
 

2 

Management: 
 

 Strongly 
Disagree 

Disagree No 
Opinion 

Agree Strongly 
Agree 

a) Legislation-Emergency 
Management and Civil 
Protection Act (EMCPA) – 
Sect VI 

     

b) Municipal Role and 
Responsibilities – Sect VI 

     

c) Community Emergency 
Management Coordinator 
(CEMC) – Sect VI 

     

d) HIRA – Critical Infrastructure – 
Sect VI 

     

e) Declaration and Termination 
of an Emergency – Sect VI 

     

f) Annual Compliance 
Requirement and 
Documentation 
Submission(EMCPA) – Sect 
VII 

     

g) Emergency Management 
Resources and Services – 
Sect VIII 

     

 
 
Part 2 – Guidebook/Material 

 
3. I have a better understanding of where to find the topics and acquire additional information as a 

result of referring to the guidebook throughout the seminar.  
 

     
Strongly 
Disagree 

Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly 
Agree 

 
4. I believe the information in the guidebook and pamphlets provided are valuable reference tools. 
 

     
Strongly 
Disagree 

Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly 
Agree 

 
 
Part 3 – Seminar Features 

 
5. This seminar was logically organized and easy to follow. 

 

     
Strongly 
Disagree 

Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly 
Agree 

 
6. I liked the one-day intensive format and feel it provided sufficient time to learn the information.  



Essentials 2015 
 

3 

 

     
Strongly 
Disagree 

Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly 
Agree 

 
6. There were an appropriate number of slides and case studies used to explain the topics. 

 

     
Strongly 
Disagree 

Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly 
Agree 

 
 
Part 4 – Seminar Facilitators 

 
7. The seminar facilitators were well prepared and knowledgeable. 

 

     
Strongly 
Disagree 

Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly 
Agree 

 
8. The seminar facilitators communicated clearly and in terms with which I was familiar, and/or 

clarified any terms or acronyms that were used. 
 

     
Strongly 
Disagree 

Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly 
Agree 

 
9. The facilitators ensured that the seminar was delivered on time and target with the agenda.  
 

     
Strongly 
Disagree 

Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly 
Agree 

 
Part 5 – Facilities and Preparation 

 
10. The facilities were suitable for the Seminar and its participants (classroom space, acoustics, 

lighting, outside noise level, temperatures, etc). 
 

     
Strongly 
Disagree 

Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly 
Agree 

  
 
Part 6 – General 

 
11. Overall I found the seminar to be a useful and enriching experience for municipal decision 

makers and I would recommend this seminar to:  
 

 Strongly 
Disagree 

Disagree No 
Opinion 

Agree Strongly 
Agree 

a.  My peers      

b.  New councillors, clerks, 
CAOs 

     

 
 



Essentials 2015 
 

4 

12. I had ample opportunity to ask questions and express my thoughts/ideas.  
 

     
Strongly 
Disagree 

Disagree No Opinion Agree Strongly 
Agree 

 
 
Part 7 – Background Information (Optional) 

 
Position/Title:  _______________________________________________________________  
   
Municipality:   _______________________________________________________________  
 
 
Additional Comments if follow-up is required please provide details below: ____________________ 

  
 ____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 ____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 ____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 ____________________________________________________________________________________  
 

Thank You 



Financial Report ‐ October 2015 ‐ Summary

Bank Balance 3,743,664

General Acct. Interest Earned to Date 52,371
 

2015 Taxes Levied to Date Interim 1st Installment 5,480,282
Interim 2nd Installment 5,478,864
Final 1st Installment 5,731,469
Final 2nd Installment
capping
Total Taxes Levied 16,690,615

Taxes Written Off to Date 23,903

Supplemental Billings to Date 66,504
  

Summary of Tax Arrears
2015 Outstanding Taxes 143,866
2015 Outstanding Interest 21,311

Outstanding Taxes and Interest (Prior years)

- 2014 Taxes & Interest 255,477

- 2013 Taxes & Interest 113,842
 

- 2012 & Prior & Interest 81,470

Total Outstanding Taxes & Interest - Prior Years 450,789



2015.06.30 8.0 9759 Township of Puslinch 09/11/2015 2:36PM

Accounts Payable

ChequeCheque

TD Canada Trust Cheque Register By Date

thru 31/10/2015

PayeeNumber Cheque AmountDate

01/10/2015

018960 08/10/2015 001700 73.45CAZZOLA, GEOFF

018961 08/10/2015 000969 157.58FCDQ

018962 08/10/2015 000453 52.26GROOVE IDENTIFICATION SOLUTION

018963 08/10/2015 001996 812.47SERVER CLOUD CANDA

018964 08/10/2015 001039 316.92UNION GAS LIMITED

018965 08/10/2015 001997 1,371.45GALT TILE & CARPET

018967 09/10/2015 001998 881.40911 MARKET

018968 16/10/2015 000514 3,224.80HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC

018969 16/10/2015 001078 50.00WELL. CTY CLERKS &TREASURERS

018970 19/10/2015 000229 2,264.68CIT FINANCIAL LTD.

018971 22/10/2015 000119 1,208.79BELL CANADA

018972 22/10/2015 002001 821.00COOK, TERI LORRAINE

018973 22/10/2015 000295 361.00DAVID SUTTON

018974 22/10/2015 001999 20,000.00DICKSON, VICKI

018975 22/10/2015 000344 355.00EASYPAY

018976 22/10/2015 001824 1,222.40FRENCH, ADAM

018977 22/10/2015 002000 154.45MEZENBERG, JENNIFER

018978 22/10/2015 001206 237.07OACETT

018979 22/10/2015 001068 322.62PROGRESSIVE WASTE SOLUTIONS CDA

018980 22/10/2015 001210 360.13ROGERS

018981 22/10/2015 000998 2,353.55TD VISA

018982 22/10/2015 001860 12,091.00USTI CANADA INC.

018983 28/10/2015 000175 28,775.00CITY OF CAMBRIDGE

018984 31/10/2015 000514 5,291.18HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC

018985 31/10/2015 001145 169.501148362 ONTARIO LTD.

018986 31/10/2015 000023 96.51A.J. STONE CO. LTD.

018987 31/10/2015 000037 1,029.88ACCU PUMPS DISTRIBUTING INC

018988 31/10/2015 000038 3,011.82ACKLANDS-GRAINGER INC.

018989 31/10/2015 000042 215.51ADVANCE CONSTRUCTION EQUIP LTD

018990 31/10/2015 001868 5,218.85ADVANTAGE DATA COLLECTION

018991 31/10/2015 001352 384.63AIR LIQUIDE CANADA INC.

018992 31/10/2015 001847 9,823.95AIRD & BERLIS LLP

018993 31/10/2015 001746 383.41ANGUS INGROUND SPRINKLER CO INC

018994 31/10/2015 001340 10.31ASTLEY GILBERT

018995 31/10/2015 000081 36.12AUDREY MAST

018996 31/10/2015 000128 98.32BENSON TIRE INC.

018997 31/10/2015 000147 900.00BOB BONNEVILLE

018998 31/10/2015 000136 8,886.02BSR&D

018999 31/10/2015 001074 1,386.69C-MAX FIRE SOLUTIONS

019000 31/10/2015 001393 22.60CAMBRIDGE CANVAS CENTRE LTD

019001 31/10/2015 000178 463.30CAMPBELL'S PORTABLE TOILETS

019002 31/10/2015 000182 769.20CAMPUS HARDWARE LIMITED

019003 31/10/2015 001712 596.41CANADA CULVERT

019004 31/10/2015 000171 2,770.00CANADIAN PACIFIC RAILWAY CO.

019005 31/10/2015 000216 167.24CANADIAN SAFETY EQUIPMENT INC

019006 31/10/2015 000200 15,166.92CAPITAL PAVING INC.

019007 31/10/2015 001446 278.25CARTER-GRANT MECHANICAL SYSTEM

019008 31/10/2015 000214 2,446.58CBM AGGREGATES

019009 31/10/2015 000219 86.03CEDAR SIGNS

019010 31/10/2015 001218 37,697.07CITY OF GUELPH

019011 31/10/2015 000238 4,141.45COLEMAN EQUIPMENT INC.

019012 31/10/2015 000716 8,464.65CORP. OF THE TOWN OF MILTON

019013 31/10/2015 000259 2,810.75COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

Page 1



2015.06.30 8.0 9759 Township of Puslinch 09/11/2015 2:36PM

Accounts Payable

ChequeCheque

TD Canada Trust Cheque Register By Date

thru 31/10/2015

PayeeNumber Cheque AmountDate

01/10/2015

019014 31/10/2015 000263 407,777.99COX CONSTRUCTION LIMITED

019015 31/10/2015 001994 40.50CREAMER, PAUL

019016 31/10/2015 001711 39.64DALES SEARCH SERVICES LTD.

019017 31/10/2015 001177 259.56ED STEWART'S EQUIPMENT

019018 31/10/2015 000384 73.45FLEET IMAGE INC.

019019 31/10/2015 000397 406.80FRED E. PRIOR & SONS LTD.

019020 31/10/2015 001824 467.23FRENCH, ADAM

019021 31/10/2015 000409 274.16GAIL J. HUETHER

019022 31/10/2015 002003 30.89GILL, JEANNIE

019023 31/10/2015 000414 23,600.45GM BLUEPLAN ENGINEERING LIMITED

019024 31/10/2015 000448 722.62GREAT-WEST LIFE ASSURANCE CO.

019025 31/10/2015 001216 73.22GUELPH BUILDING SUPPLY

019026 31/10/2015 000400 367.97GUELPH BUSINESS MACHINES

019027 31/10/2015 000468 1,165.37GWS ECOLOGICAL & FORESTRY SERV

019028 31/10/2015 000486 681.39HAYDEN'S PROPERTY MTCE.

019029 31/10/2015 000155 50.21HDS CANADA INC.

019030 31/10/2015 000497 909.47HIGHWAY WESTERN STAR

019031 31/10/2015 000514 154.04HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC

019032 31/10/2015 000565 900.00JOHN UPTEGROVE

019033 31/10/2015 000572 15,187.20K.D.N. PAVEMENT MARKINGS

019034 31/10/2015 002002 110.18KEATING, BILL

019035 31/10/2015 001429 61.00KENNETH ROTH

019036 31/10/2015 000605 1,299.50KROWN BODY MAINTENANCE

019037 31/10/2015 000626 4,148.91LETCO LIMITED

019038 31/10/2015 000661 15,750.03MANULIFE FINANCIAL

019039 31/10/2015 001961 5,789.28MERIDIAN PLANNING CONSULTANTS INC.

019040 31/10/2015 000710 3,271.35MICHAEL'S MOBILE

019041 31/10/2015 000211 53.91MICHELLE CASSAR

019042 31/10/2015 001203 350.00MOOREFIELD FIREFIGHTERS ASSOC.

019043 31/10/2015 000734 245.21MRC SYSTEMS INC.

019044 31/10/2015 001945 2,575.27ONSERVE

019045 31/10/2015 000768 120.00ONT. ASS. COMM. OF ADJUSTMENT

019046 31/10/2015 002004 77.32ONTARIO ONE CALL

019047 31/10/2015 000812 180.00PAUL PILKINGTON

019048 31/10/2015 000830 95.66PUROLATOR COURIER LTD.

019049 31/10/2015 000836 400.02PUSLINCH PIONEER

019050 31/10/2015 001440 711.90REALTAX INC.

019051 31/10/2015 000900 62.05ROYAL CITY AUTOMOTIVE

019052 31/10/2015 000906 513.95RUBBERLINE PRODUCTS LTD.

019053 31/10/2015 000914 305.70S.T.O.P. RESTAURANT SUPPLY

019054 31/10/2015 001990 146.90SCRUBCO

019055 31/10/2015 000932 348.01SENTEX COMMUNICATIONS

019056 31/10/2015 001733 57.57SHRED-IT INTERNATIONAL ULC

019057 31/10/2015 000977 244.50STEVEN GOODE

019058 31/10/2015 000225 614.01STRONGCO

019059 31/10/2015 000374 86.00SUSAN FIELDING

019060 31/10/2015 000988 280.34SWAN DUST CONTROL LTD

019061 31/10/2015 000804 465.67THE PEPSI BOTTLING GROUP

019062 31/10/2015 001076 1,143.48THE WELLINGTON ADVERTISER

019063 31/10/2015 001963 2,735.00THRIVE LANDSCAPES

019064 31/10/2015 001036 6,064.36TOWNSHIP OF CENTRE WELLINGTON

019065 31/10/2015 001025 3,418.64TRANSIT LUBRICANTS LTD.

019066 31/10/2015 001046 4,542.26V.A. WOOD (GUELPH) INCORP.

Page 2



2015.06.30 8.0 9759 Township of Puslinch 09/11/2015 2:36PM

Accounts Payable

ChequeCheque

TD Canada Trust Cheque Register By Date

thru 31/10/2015

PayeeNumber Cheque AmountDate

01/10/2015

019067 31/10/2015 000980 75.00WAYNE STOKLEY

019068 31/10/2015 001965 147.33WESTMAN, DON

019069 31/10/2015 000717 1,753.98MINISTER OF FINANCE

019070 31/10/2015 000764 17,548.56O.M.E.R.S.

019071 31/10/2015 000856 43.61RECEIVER GENERAL

019072 31/10/2015 001147 32,753.27RECEIVER GENERAL

019073 31/10/2015 001113 3,243.21WORKPLACE SAFETY & INSURANCE

Cheque Register Total - 755,305.27

Page 3



 Corporate Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget   YTD Actual  

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

% Budget 

Remaining

01‐0017‐7710 Sale of Flags ‐                   8                   22                 83             78                 100              78%
01‐0017‐7770 Other Revenues 102              58                 639               583           61                 700              9%
01‐0017‐2310 Mun Tax Assistance ‐                   1,307           ‐                    13,067     15,680         15,680         100%
01‐0017‐2320 Host Kilmer (Service Ontario) ‐                   1,856           ‐                    18,558     22,270         22,270         100%
01‐0017‐2330 Ontario Hydro ‐                   1,012           ‐                    10,123     12,147         12,147         100%
01‐0017‐2340 Greater Toronto Transit ‐                   580              ‐                    5,797        6,956           6,956           100%
01‐0017‐2350 Public Works Canada ‐                   166              ‐                    1,664        1,997           1,997           100%
01‐0017‐2360 Hydro One ‐                   ‐                    ‐                    ‐                ‐                    ‐                    0%
01‐0017‐2400 Grant Guelph Junction Railway ‐                   444              5,330            4,442        (0)                  5,330           0%
01‐0017‐2500 Puslinch Landfill ‐                   284              3,351            2,843        60                 3,411           2%
01‐0017‐2600 City of Guelph ‐                   2,072           24,417         20,716     442              24,859         2%
01‐0017‐2700 University of Guelph ‐                   107              1,292            1,074        (3)                  1,289           0%
01‐0017‐2800 CN Railway ‐                   95                 1,135            946           (0)                  1,135           0%
01‐0017‐2900 CP Railway ‐                   655              7,854            6,545        0                   7,854           0%
01‐0017‐5110 OMPF 101,150      33,717         404,600       337,167   ‐                    404,600       0%
01‐0015‐5310 Provincial Aggregate Levy  ‐                   17,847         215,182       178,470   (1,019)          214,164       0%
01‐0017‐7510 Current Taxes 8,665           6,714           60,603         67,136     19,960         80,563         25%
01‐0017‐7520 Tax Arrears 4,851           8,983           81,195         89,827     26,598         107,793       25%
01‐0014‐1220 Supplemental Billings 66                4,167           66,504         41,667     (16,504)       50,000         ‐33%
01‐0017‐7672 Interest on General  5,668           4,546           52,371         45,458     2,179           54,550         4%
01‐0017‐7675 Interest on Grading ‐                   127              1,914            1,267        (394)             1,520           ‐26%
01‐0017‐7676 Int. Education/County DC's ‐                   14                 79                 141           90                 169              53%

Totals 120,501      84,757         926,489       847,572   90,597         1,017,086   9%

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget   YTD Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

% Budget 

Remaining

01‐0010‐4501 Taxes written off (Twp share only) 549              17,832         23,903         178,320   190,081       213,984       89%
01‐0010‐4700 Conservation Authorities Levy Payment ‐                   12,856         133,008       128,555   21,258         154,266       14%

Totals 549              30,688         156,911       306,875   211,339      368,250      57%



 Administration Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0015‐1110 Signature of Commissioner and FOI Requests 50                13                 490           133           (330)             160              ‐206%
01‐0015‐1120 Investigator Fees ‐                   ‐                    ‐                ‐                ‐                    ‐                   0%
01‐0015‐1130 Engineering and Environmental Fees  196              167              17,188     1,667        (15,188)       2,000           ‐759%
01‐0015‐1140 Legal Fees Recovered ‐                   ‐                    ‐                ‐                ‐                    ‐                   0%
01‐0015‐1150 Recoveries from Staff Events ‐                   79                 ‐                792           950              950              100%
01‐0015‐3738 Other recoveries ‐                   ‐                    ‐                ‐                ‐                    ‐                   0%

Totals 246              259              17,678     2,592       (14,568)       3,110           ‐468%

CONTRIBUTION FROM WORKING RESERVES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0013‐3185
Contribution from Legal Contingency Working 
Reserve ‐                   1,167           204           11,667     13,796         14,000        99%

01‐0013‐3195
Contribution from Insurance Contingency 
Working Reserve ‐                   833              ‐                8,333        10,000         10,000        100%

01‐0013‐3100
Contribution from Operating Carryforward 
Working Reserve ‐                   11,639         ‐                116,385   139,662       139,662      100%
Totals ‐                   13,639         204           136,385   163,458      163,662      100%

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0010‐4000 FT Wages 16,339        17,699         177,324   176,994   35,069         212,393      17%
01‐0010‐4001 PT Wages  1,414           3,037           26,066     30,367     10,374         36,440        28%
01‐0010‐4002 OT Wages  ‐                   ‐                    ‐                ‐                ‐                    ‐                   0%
01‐0010‐4100 FT Benefits  2,246           3,009           31,667     30,085     4,436           36,103        12%
01‐0010‐4101 PT Benefits  87                267              1,764        2,666        1,435           3,199           45%
01‐0010‐4102 Manulife Benefits  1,782           1,765           17,824     17,651     3,357           21,181        16%
01‐0010‐4103 WSIB 217              481              4,990        4,815        788              5,777           14%



 Administration Financial Report ‐ October 2015

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0010‐4200 Office Supplies & Equipment ‐                   177              695           1,769        1,428           2,123           67%
01‐0010‐4204 Water Protection ‐                   10                 99             100           21                 120              18%
01‐0010‐4302 Communication (phone, fax, intern) 481              55                 455           546           200              655              31%
01‐0010‐4303 Professional Fees ‐ Legal ‐                   2,383           6,660        23,833     21,940         28,600        77%

01‐0010‐4305
Professional Fees ‐ Engineering & 
Environmental 448              2,250           14,479     22,500     12,521         27,000        46%

01‐0010‐4307 Events and Other ‐                   583              309           5,833        6,691           7,000           96%
01‐0010‐4308 Mileage ‐                   42                 467           417           33                 500              7%
01‐0010‐4309 Professional Development ‐                   1,571           9,395        15,708     9,455           18,850        50%
01‐0010‐4311 Membership and Subscription Fees ‐                   709              8,490        7,092        20                 8,510           0%
01‐0010‐4312 Employee Travel ‐ Meals 25                33                 135           333           265              400              66%
01‐0010‐4313 Employee Travel ‐ Accom/Parking (249)             83                 831           833           169              1,000           17%
01‐0010‐4314 Employee Travel ‐ Airfare ‐                   42                 374           417           126              500              25%
01‐0010‐4315 Insurance ‐                   3,478           18,152     34,782     23,587         41,739        57%
01‐0010‐4316 Advertising 806              238              2,288        2,375        562              2,850           20%
01‐0010‐4317 Water Monitoring ‐                   417              3,697        4,167        1,303           5,000           26%
01‐0010‐4320 Contract Services ‐                   42                 ‐                417           500              500              100%
01‐0013‐3185 Legal Contingency Working Reserve ‐                   417              5,000        4,167        ‐                    5,000           0%
01‐0013‐3195 Insurance Contingency Working Reserve ‐                   417              5,000        4,167        ‐                    5,000           0%

Totals 23,597        39,203         336,163   392,034   134,278      470,441      29%



 Council Financial Report ‐ October 2015

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget   YTD Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0180‐4001 PT Wages  7,040           7,040           70,397         70,397   14,080         84,476        17%
01‐0180‐4101 PT Benefits  84                486              1,008            4,857     4,821           5,829           83%
01‐0180‐4102 Manulife Benefits  1,701           1,701           17,399         17,013   3,016           20,415        15%
01‐0180‐4200 Office Supplies & Equipment ‐                   6                   122               63           (47)               75                ‐62%
01‐0180‐4308 Mileage 177              250              3,273            2,500     (273)             3,000           ‐9%
01‐0180‐4309 Professional Development ‐                   384              4,117            3,842     493              4,610           11%
01‐0180‐4311 Membership and Subscription Fees ‐                   ‐                    91                 ‐              (91)               ‐                   0%
01‐0180‐4312 Employee Travel ‐ Meals ‐                   33                 308               333         92                 400              23%
01‐0180‐4313 Employee Travel ‐ Accom/Parking 23                417              4,556            4,166     444              5,000           9%
01‐0180‐4314 Employee Travel ‐ Air Fare ‐                   42                 ‐                    417         500              500              100%

Totals 9,025           10,359         101,271       ###### 23,034         124,305      19%



 Elections Financial Report ‐ October 2015

Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0120‐4304 Professional Fees ‐ Audit ‐                   125              ‐              1,250     1,500           1,500          100%
01‐0120‐4320 Contract Services ‐                   ‐                   1,208     ‐              (1,208)          0%
01‐0013‐3115 Contibution to Elections WR ‐                   1,167           14,000   11,667   ‐                    14,000        0%

Totals ‐                   1,292           15,208   12,917   292              15,500        2%

EXPENDITURES



 Finance Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

% Budget 

Remaining

01‐0015‐3120  Tax Certificates  600              450               5,880        4,500        (480)             5,400            ‐9%
01‐0015‐1170  NSF Fees  80                67                 520            667            280              800               35%
01‐0015‐1180  Invoice Administration Fee  250              250               975            2,500        2,025           3,000            68%
01‐0015‐1160  Advertising, Legal, and Realtax Fees  641              167               6,502        1,667        (4,502)          2,000            ‐225%
01‐0015‐3739       Other Recoveries  ‐                   167               ‐                 1,667        2,000           2,000            100%
01‐0017‐7780  Garbage bags  635              917               8,030        9,167        2,970           11,000         27%

 Totals  2,206           2,017           21,908      20,167      2,292           24,200         9%

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

% Budget 

Remaining

01‐0100‐4000  FT Wages  16,583        18,434         197,010    184,345    24,204         221,214       11%
01‐0100‐4001  PT Wages   ‐                   ‐                    ‐                 ‐                 ‐                    ‐                    0%
01‐0100‐4002  OT Wages   ‐                   42                 ‐                 417            500              500               100%
01‐0100‐4100  FT Benefits   2,998           3,194           36,883      31,944      1,450           38,333         4%
01‐0100‐4102  Manulife Benefits   3,533           2,020           21,906      20,204      2,338           24,244         10%
01‐0100‐4103  WSIB Benefits  481              502               5,742        5,016        277              6,019            5%

01‐0100‐4199

 Computer Software & Hardware 
Operational Upgrades/Support from IT 
Consultant  ‐                   250               5,693        2,500        (2,693)          3,000            ‐90%

01‐0100‐4200  Office Supplies   549              667               8,134        6,667        (134)             8,000            ‐2%
01‐0100‐4201  Hydro  556              436               4,774        4,358        456              5,230            9%
01‐0100‐4202  Heat  30                188               1,568        1,884        693              2,260            31%

01‐0100‐4215
 Cleaning, Maintenance, Building 
Supplies  490              373               3,153        3,733        1,327           4,480            30%

01‐0100‐4216  Kitchen Supplies and Equipment  13                256               1,471        2,558        1,599           3,070            52%
01‐0100‐4222  Outdoor Maintenance of Building  ‐                   125               741            1,250        759              1,500            51%
01‐0100‐4301  Postage  ‐                   806               5,003        8,063        4,672           9,675            48%

01‐0100‐4302  Communication (phone, fax, intern)  409              383               3,904        3,833        696              4,600            15%



 Finance Financial Report ‐ October 2015

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

% Budget 

Remaining

01‐0100‐4304  Professional Fees ‐ Audit  ‐                   1,167           12,537      11,667      1,463           14,000         10%
01‐0100‐4308  Mileage  142              57                 281            567            399              680               59%
01‐0100‐4309  Professional Development  534              415               4,906        4,150        74                 4,980            1%

01‐0100‐4311  Membership and Subscription Fees  ‐                   173               1,956        1,725        114              2,070            5%
01‐0100‐4312  Employee Travel ‐ Meals  25                17                 50              167            150              200               75%
01‐0100‐4313  Employee Travel ‐ Accomodations   ‐                   33                 397            333            3                   400               1%
01‐0100‐4316  Advertising  671              667               8,468        6,667        (468)             8,000            ‐6%
01‐0100‐4320  Contract Services  10,322        4,302           34,281      43,017      17,339         51,620         34%
01‐0100‐4322  Emergency Management  183              160               1,621        1,600        299              1,920            16%

01‐0100‐4323  Environmental Service ‐ Garbage Bags  ‐                   917               3,322        9,167        7,678           11,000         70%
01‐0100‐4500  Bank Service Charges  213              219               1,630        2,188        995              2,625            38%
01‐0100‐4503  Debt Interest Repayment  ‐                   1,617           10,948      16,171      8,457           19,405         44%
01‐0100‐4600  Grants  ‐                   2,715           32,625      27,146      (50)               32,575         0%
01‐0012‐1200  Principle Repayment  ‐                   8,833           106,000    88,333      ‐                    106,000       0%

 Totals  37,731        48,967         515,003    489,667    72,597         587,601       12%



 Building Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0015‐3742 Building ‐ Other Recoveries ‐                   ‐                   3,000        ‐                (3,000)         0%
01‐0015‐1192 Reproduction of Drawings Fees ‐                   21                100           208           150              250              60%

Residential Building Permits 23,077        16,667        259,325   166,667   (59,325)       200,000      ‐30%
Institutional, Commercial & Industrial Building 
Permits 500              4,167           22,340     41,667     27,660        50,000        55%
Farm Building Permits 150              200              566           2,000        1,834           2,400          76%
Demolition Permit  150              50                1,260        500           (660)             600              ‐110%
Septic System Permit 2,400           1,667           24,900     16,667     (4,900)         20,000        ‐25%
Designated Structures Permit 800              67                2,700        667           (1,900)         800              ‐238%
Tent or Marquee Permit ‐                   75                1,200        750           (300)             900              ‐33%
Deferral of Revocation of Permit ‐                   25                300           250           ‐                   300              0%
Reactivate Abandoned Permit ‐                   13                ‐                125           150              150              100%
Transfer of Permit ‐                   ‐                   ‐                ‐                ‐                   ‐                   0%

Revision to a Permit 1,200           250              5,250        2,500        (2,250)         3,000          ‐75%
Alternate Solution Application ‐                   58                ‐                583           700              700              100%
Conditional Permits ‐                   ‐                   ‐                ‐                ‐                   ‐                   0%

01‐0017‐7290 Special Inspection Fee ‐                   25                900           250           (600)             300              ‐200%
Totals 28,277        23,283        321,841   232,833   (42,441)       279,400      ‐15%

CONTRIBUTION FROM WORKING RESERVES
01‐0013‐3150 Contribution from Building Reserve Fund ‐                   7,021           ‐                49,145     84,248        84,248        100%

Totals ‐                   7,021           ‐                49,145     84,248        84,248        100%

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

% Budget 

Remaining

01‐0020‐4000 FT Wages 14,070        15,244        152,671   152,444   30,262        182,932      17%
01‐0020‐4001 PT Wages  128              183              1,302        1,833        898              2,200          41%
01‐0020‐4002 OT Wages  ‐                   100              240           1,000        960              1,200          80%
01‐0020‐4100 FT Benefits  2,174           2,668           27,943     26,682     4,075           32,018        13%
01‐0020‐4101 PT Benefits  7                   16                71             161           122              193              63%

01‐0017‐7250

01‐0017‐7210

01‐0017‐7240



 Building Financial Report ‐ October 2015

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

% Budget 

Remaining

01‐0020‐4102 Manulife Benefits 1,807           1,755           18,074     17,554     2,991           21,065        14%
01‐0020‐4103 WSIB 444              447              4,840        4,472        526              5,366          10%
01‐0020‐4199 Computer Software & Hardware  ‐                   83                1,505        833           (505)             1,000          ‐51%
01‐0020‐4200 Office Supplies 255              565              5,874        5,651        907              6,781          13%
01‐0020‐4201 Hydro 238              185              2,079        1,846        136              2,215          6%
01‐0020‐4202 Heat 22                117              1,180        1,175        230              1,410          16%
01‐0020‐4203 Fuel ‐                   680              ‐                6,796        8,155           8,155          100%
01‐0020‐4204 Water Protection ‐                   4                   52             40             (4)                 48                ‐8%
01‐0020‐4208 Signage ‐                   8                   ‐                83             100              100              100%
01‐0020‐4215 Cleaning, Maint & supplies for Bldg 205              155              1,598        1,550        263              1,860          14%
01‐0020‐4216 Kitchen Supplies and Equipment 10                157              689           1,575        1,201           1,890          64%
01‐0020‐4220 Vehicle Maintenance ‐                   158              3,544        1,583        (1,644)         1,900          ‐87%
01‐0020‐4222 Outdoor Maintenance of Building ‐                   25                317           250           (17)               300              ‐6%
01‐0020‐4301 Postage (2,146)         346              ‐                3,459        4,150           4,150          100%
01‐0020‐4302 Communication(phone, fax, intern) 204              342              2,270        3,417        1,830           4,100          45%
01‐0020‐4303 Professional Fees‐Legal 36                1,742           2,856        17,417     18,044        20,900        86%
01‐0020‐4304 Professional Fees ‐ Audit ‐                   500              5,373        5,000        627              6,000          10%
01‐0020‐4305 Professional Fees ‐ Engineering ‐                   167              539           1,667        1,461           2,000          73%
01‐0020‐4308 Mileage 172              8                   585           83             (485)             100              ‐485%
01‐0020‐4309 Professional Development 564              661              7,005        6,613        930              7,935          12%
01‐0020‐4311 Membership and Subscription Fees 213              255              2,683        2,550        377              3,060          12%
01‐0020‐4312 Employee Travel ‐ Meals 255              42                876           417           (376)             500              ‐75%
01‐0020‐4313 Employee Travel ‐ Accomodations  1,010           242              2,343        2,417        557              2,900          19%
01‐0020‐4315 Insurance ‐                   1,337           9,616        13,371     6,429           16,045        40%
01‐0020‐4316 Advertising ‐                   63                130           625           620              750              83%
01‐0020‐4318 Vehicle Plates ‐                   24                ‐                236           283              283              100%
01‐0020‐4320 Contract Services 4,816           1,843           17,838     18,433     4,282           22,120        19%
01‐0020‐4321 Clothing, Safety Allowance ‐                   58                422           583           278              700              40%
01‐0020‐4322 Emergency Management 78                68                695           679           120              815              15%
01‐0020‐4500 Service Charges 45                55                488           546           167              655              25%

Totals 24,610        30,304        275,699   303,040   87,949        363,648      24%



 Source Water Protection Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget   YTD Actual   YTD Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0015‐5270
Source Protection Municipal 
Implementation Fund ‐                   1,250           15,000         12,500           ‐                      15,000        0%
Totals ‐                   1,250           15,000         12,500           ‐                      15,000        0%

CONTRIBUTION FROM WORKING RESERVES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget   YTD Actual   YTD Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0013‐3100
Contibution from Operating 
Carryforward Working Reserve ‐                   2,018           ‐                    14,125           24,215           24,215        100%
Totals ‐                   2,018           ‐                    14,125           24,215           24,215        100%

EXPENDITURES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget   YTD Actual   YTD Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0160‐4000
FT Wages/Benefits Source Water 
Protection               ‐                   1,017           ‐                    10,169           12,202           12,202        100%

01‐0160‐4207 Public Education Costs 5,156           773              7,742            7,727             1,530              9,272           17%
01‐0160‐4305 Professional Fees ‐                   1,478           ‐                    14,783           17,740           17,740        100%

Totals 5,156           3,268           7,742            32,679           31,472           39,215        80%



 Planning Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0015‐1190 Engineering, Environmental, and Legal Fees 
Recovered 6,614           3,083           39,499     30,833   (2,499)          37,000         ‐7%

01‐0015‐1191 Advertising Fees Recovered 409              250              701           2,500     2,299           3,000           77%
01‐0015‐3240 Zoning Compliance Letter 225              167              1,725        1,667     275              2,000           14%
01‐0015‐1200 Minor Variance Application 1,300           458              7,800        4,583     (2,300)          5,500           ‐42%
01‐0015‐1205 Agreements ‐                   ‐                   ‐                ‐              ‐                    ‐                    0%
01‐0015‐1210 Part Lot Control Exemption By‐law ‐                   ‐                   ‐                ‐              ‐                    ‐                    0%
01‐0015‐1220 Site Plan Control  2,000           500              10,000     5,000     (4,000)          6,000           ‐67%
01‐0015‐1230 Zoning By‐law Amendment ‐                   833              12,000     8,333     (2,000)          10,000         ‐20%
01‐0017‐7760 Zoning By‐law #19/85 ‐                   ‐                   ‐                ‐              ‐                    ‐                    0%
01‐0015‐1240 Zoning By‐law Amendment ‐ Aggregate 

Applications ‐                   ‐                   7,500        ‐              (7,500)          ‐                    0%
01‐0015‐4100 Business Retention and Expansion Municipal 

Implementation Fund ‐                   1,042           35,000     10,417   (22,500)       12,500         ‐180%
Totals 10,548        6,333           114,225   63,333   (38,225)       76,000         ‐50%

EXPENDITURES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0130‐4000 FT Wages  3,738           4,050           40,405     40,504   8,200           48,605         17%
01‐0130‐4002 OT Wages  ‐                   50                721           500         (121)             600              ‐20%
01‐0130‐4100 FT Benefits 505              708              7,517        7,081     980              8,498           12%
01‐0130‐4102 Manulife Benefits  488              480              4,836        4,803     927              5,763           16%
01‐00130‐4103WSIB ‐                   118              ‐                1,181     1,417           1,417           100%
01‐0130‐4200 Office Supplies ‐                   21                176           208         74                 250              30%
01‐0130‐4208 Signage ‐                   21                21             208         229              250              92%

01‐0130‐4215 Cleaning, Maintenance & Supplies for Building ‐                   ‐                   ‐                ‐              ‐                    ‐                    0%
01‐0130‐4302 Communication (phone, fax, Internet) ‐                   2                   130           21           (105)             25                 ‐420%
01‐0130‐4303 Professional Fees ‐ Legal ‐                   417              7,983        4,167     (2,983)          5,000           ‐60%



 Planning Financial Report ‐ October 2015

EXPENDITURES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0130‐4305 Professional Fees ‐ Engineering & 
Environmental 6,514           3,750           43,808     37,500   1,192           45,000         3%

01‐0130‐4308 Mileage ‐                   21                302           208         (52)               250              ‐21%
01‐0130‐4309 Professional Development ‐                   250              2,912        2,500     88                 3,000           3%
01‐0130‐4311 Membership and Subscription Fees 120              38                120           375         330              450              73%
01‐0130‐4312 Employee Travel ‐ Meals ‐                   8                   ‐                83           100              100              100%
01‐0130‐4313 Employee Travel ‐ Accomodations  ‐                   29                ‐                292         350              350              100%
01‐0130‐4316 Advertising 356              333              4,426        3,333     (426)             4,000           ‐11%
01‐0130‐4317 Professional Fees ‐ Water Monitoring ‐                   184              336           1,838     1,870           2,205           85%
01‐0130‐4320 Contract Services ‐                   292              570           2,917     2,930           3,500           84%

Totals 11,722        10,772        114,264   ###### 15,000         129,264      12%



 By‐law Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget   YTD Actual   YTD Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0015‐1000 Lottery Licences ‐                   17                476               167                 (276)             200              ‐138%

01‐0017‐7220 Dog Tags and Kennel Licences 25                1,000           11,425         10,000           575              12,000        5%
01‐0015‐1260 Fence Viewer's Application ‐                   ‐                   ‐                    ‐                      ‐                   ‐                   0%
01‐0017‐7270 Septic Compliance Letter 150              83                675               833                 325              1,000          33%

Special Occasion Permit Letters ‐                   13                100               125                 50                150              33%
Pool Enclosure Permit ‐                   233              4,200            2,333             (1,400)         2,800          ‐50%
Inspection Permit ‐ LCBO ‐                   17                ‐                    167                 200              200              100%

01‐0017‐7230 Municipal addressing signs 80                67                1,200            667                 (400)             800              ‐50%

01‐0015‐5240
Ontario Wildlife Damage 
Compensation ‐                   125              1,089            1,250             411              1,500          27%

01‐0017‐7410 Guelph Humane Society Fees ‐                   150              1,454            1,500             346              1,800          19%
01‐0015‐1250 Mobile Food Service ‐                   ‐                   ‐                    ‐                      ‐                   ‐                   0%

01‐0015‐1270
Engineering, Environmental and Legal 
Fees Recovered 2,765           833              10,420         8,333             (420)             10,000        ‐4%

01‐0015‐1280 Site Alteration Agreement ‐                   167              3,090            1,667             (1,090)         2,000          ‐55%
01‐0015‐3744 By‐law ‐ Other Recoveries ‐                   ‐                   275               ‐                      (275)             0%

Totals 3,020           2,704           34,404         27,042           (1,954)         32,450        ‐6%

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget   YTD Actual   YTD Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0140‐4000 FT Wages  2,066           2,238           22,667         22,381           4,191           26,857        16%
01‐0140‐4001 Per Diems 289              167              1,643            1,667             357              2,000          18%
01‐0140‐4002 OT Wages  ‐                   ‐                   ‐                    ‐                      ‐                   ‐                   0%
01‐0140‐4100 FT Benefits  372              399              4,092            3,991             698              4,789          15%
01‐0140‐4102 Manulife Benefits 306              300              3,063            2,996             532              3,595          15%
01‐0140‐4103 WSIB 60                64                662               645                 111              773              14%
01‐0140‐4200 Office Supplies ‐                   21                1                   208                 249              250              99%
01‐0140‐4208 Signage  61                108              865               1,083             435              1,300          33%
01‐0140‐4303 Professional Fees ‐ Legal 8,847           1,250           50,210         12,500           (35,210)       15,000        ‐235%

01‐0017‐7280



 By‐law Financial Report ‐ October 2015

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget   YTD Actual   YTD Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0140‐4305
Professional Fees ‐ Engineering & 
Environmental 2,344           1,479           21,952         14,792           (4,202)         17,750        ‐24%

01‐0140‐4308 Mileage 119              38                434               375                 16                450              4%
01‐0140‐4309 Professional Development ‐                   100              ‐                    1,000             1,200           1,200          100%
01‐0140‐4311 Membership and Subscription Fees ‐                   52                180               517                 440              620              71%
01‐0140‐4312 Employee Travel ‐ Meals ‐                   4                   ‐                    42                   50                50                100%
01‐0140‐4313 Employee Travel ‐ Accomodations  ‐                   21                ‐                    208                 250              250              100%
01‐0140‐4316 Advertising ‐                   83                ‐                    833                 1,000           1,000          100%
01‐0140‐4319 Permits ‐                   17                207               167                 (7)                 200              ‐4%
01‐0140‐4320 Contract Services ‐                   403              3,127            4,033             1,713           4,840          35%
01‐0140‐4324 Livestock Loss  ‐                   167              1,059            1,667             941              2,000          47%

Totals 14,464        6,910           110,162       69,104           (27,238)       82,925        ‐33%



 Public Works Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD Actual   YTD Budget   $ Budget 

Remaining 
 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0015‐1290 Oversize‐Overweight Load Permits ‐                   ‐                       ‐                       ‐                       ‐                    ‐                    0%
01‐0015‐3310 Entrance Permit 225              188                 2,925              1,875              (675)             2,250           ‐30%
01‐0015‐3740 Roads Other Recoveries ‐                   65                   999                 650                  (219)             780              ‐28%
01‐0015‐2000 Third Party Cost Recovery ‐                   ‐                       ‐                       ‐                       ‐                    ‐                    0%

01‐0015‐2100
Third Party Cost Recovery 
Administration Fee ‐                   ‐                       ‐                       ‐                       ‐                    ‐                    0%
Totals 225              253                 3,924              2,525              (894)             3,030           ‐30%

CONTRIBUTION FROM WORKING RESERVES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD Actual   YTD Budget   $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0013‐3170

Public Works Replacement and 
Restoration of Aging Infrastructure 
Working Reserve ‐                   7,083              ‐                       49,583            85,000         85,000         100%
Totals ‐                   7,083              ‐                       49,583            85,000         85,000         100%

EXPENDITURES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD Actual   YTD Budget   $ Budget 

Remaining 
 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0030‐4000 FT Wages  26,653        31,041            295,357         310,410          77,135         372,492       21%
01‐0030‐4001 PT/Seasonal Wages ‐                   1,503              31,835            15,034            (13,794)       18,041         ‐76%
01‐0030‐4002 OT Wages 713              2,725              23,885            27,250            8,815           32,700         27%
01‐0030‐4100 FT Benefits  3,776           5,276              54,492            52,760            8,821           63,312         14%
01‐0030‐4101 PT/Seasonal Benefits  ‐                   132                 2,767              1,320              (1,183)          1,584           ‐75%
01‐0030‐4102 Manulife Benefits 3,834           3,800              38,336            37,996            7,259           45,595         16%
01‐0030‐4103 WSIB 725              909                 10,299            9,086              604              10,903         6%
01‐0030‐4200 Office Supplies  ‐                   42                   156                 417                  344              500              69%
01‐0030‐4201 Hydro 514              467                 5,649              4,667              (48)               5,600           ‐1%
01‐0030‐4202 Heat 20                470                 3,638              4,700              2,001           5,640           35%
01‐0030‐4203 Fuel ‐                   7,025              70,325            70,246            13,970         84,295         17%
01‐0030‐4205 Equipment Maintenance & Supplies 55                171                 499                 1,708              1,551           2,050           76%



 Public Works Financial Report ‐ October 2015

EXPENDITURES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD Actual   YTD Budget   $ Budget 

Remaining 
 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0030‐4208 Signage  4,777           833                 6,328              8,333              3,672           10,000         37%
01‐0030‐4209 Pavement Markings 13,677        2,467              25,084            24,667            4,516           29,600         15%
01‐0030‐4210 Railway Maintenance 33,490        6,667              39,113            66,667            40,887         80,000         51%
01‐0030‐4212 Maintenance Gravel ‐                   6,667              69,920            66,667            10,080         80,000         13%
01‐0030‐4213 Calcium ‐                   3,675              51,612            36,750            (7,512)          44,100         ‐17%
01‐0030‐4214 Winter Maintenance ‐                   15,250            138,686         152,500          44,314         183,000       24%
01‐0030‐4217 Waste Removal 24                125                 24                   1,250              1,476           1,500           98%
01‐0030‐4218 Shop Overhead 2,013           1,083              6,268              10,833            6,732           13,000         52%
01‐0030‐4219 Road Maintenance supplies 10,401        3,117              28,817            31,167            8,583           37,400         23%
01‐0030‐4220 Vehicle Maintenance 9,120           3,833              33,022            38,333            12,978         46,000         28%
01‐0030‐4221 Speed Monitor ‐                   42                   ‐                       417                  500              500              100%
01‐0030‐4224 Sidewalk Repairs 1,949           417                 1,949              4,167              3,051           5,000           61%
01‐0030‐4302 Communication(phone, fax, intern) 161              213                 1,632              2,131              925              2,557           36%
01‐0030‐4305 Professional Fees ‐ Engineering ‐                   167                 1,473              1,667              527              2,000           26%
01‐0030‐4308 Mileage ‐                   8                      81                   83                    19                 100              19%
01‐0030‐4309 Professional Development ‐                   118                 991                 1,183              429              1,420           30%
01‐0030‐4311 Membership and Subscription Fees ‐                   67                   787                 667                  13                 800              2%
01‐0030‐4312 Employee Travel ‐ Meals ‐                   8                      85                   83                    15                 100              15%
01‐0030‐4315 Insurance ‐                   7,417              9,422              74,172            79,585         89,006         89%
01‐0030‐4316 Advertising 198              63                   436                 625                  314              750              42%
01‐0030‐4318 Vehicle Plates ‐                   564                 15                   5,643              6,757           6,772           100%
01‐0030‐4319 Permits ‐                   83                   ‐                       833                  1,000           1,000           100%
01‐0030‐4320 Contract Services 2,770           3,267              11,370            32,667            27,830         39,200         71%
01‐0030‐4321 Clothing, Safety Allowance ‐                   63                   285                 625                  465              750              62%
01‐0030‐4326 Bridge Inspections ‐                   833                 4,110              8,333              5,890           10,000         59%
01‐0030‐4400 Street Lights: Repairs and Hydro Bills 3,632           3,863              38,407            38,625            7,943           46,350         17%

Totals 118,501      114,468         1,007,154      1,144,681      366,463      1,373,617   27%



 Parks Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 
 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0015‐2200 Horse Paddock Rental ‐                   ‐                   ‐              ‐              ‐                   ‐                    0%
01‐0015‐2300 Picnic Shelter ‐                   8                  525         83           (425)             100               ‐425%

01‐0015‐2400
Aberfoyle/Morriston Ball Park/ Morriston 
Meadows 160              83                1,182     833         (182)             1,000            ‐18%

01‐0015‐2500 Sports Facility User Fees ‐                   980              13,195   9,804     (1,430)         11,765         ‐12%
Totals 160              1,072          14,902   10,721   (2,037)         12,865         ‐16%

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 
 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0110‐4000 FT Wages ‐ Parks ‐                   2,083          6,077     20,827   18,915        24,992         76%
01‐0110‐4001 PT Wages ‐ Parks 427              510              5,273     5,100     847              6,120            14%
01‐0110‐4002 OT Wages ‐ Parks ‐                   ‐                   ‐              ‐              ‐                   ‐                    0%
01‐0110‐4100 FT Benefits ‐ Parks ‐                   198              550         1,982     1,828           2,379            77%
01‐0110‐4101 PT Benefits ‐ Parks 18                45                207         448         330              537               61%
01‐0110‐4103 WSIB 12                75                327         747         569              896               64%
01‐0110‐4203 Fuel ‐                   183              ‐              1,833     2,200           2,200            100%
01‐0110‐4204 Water Protection ‐                   167              65           1,667     1,935           2,000            97%
01‐0110‐4205 Equipment Maintenance and Supplies 748              375              2,986     3,750     1,514           4,500            34%
01‐0110‐4220 Vehicle Maintenance ‐                   42                ‐              417         500              500               100%
01‐0110‐4222 Outdoor Maintenance 1,680           833              7,817     8,333     2,183           10,000         22%
01‐0110‐4308 Mileage ‐                   42                324         417         176              500               35%
01‐0110‐4316 Advertising ‐                   13                ‐              125         150              150               100%
01‐0110‐4320 Contract Services 2,431           1,725          15,803   17,250   4,897           20,700         24%

Totals 5,316           6,290          39,429   62,895   36,045        75,474         48%



 ORC Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0015‐2600 Ice Rental ‐ Prime ‐                   3,167           34,103     31,667     3,897           38,000         10%
01‐0015‐2700 Ice Rental ‐ Non‐Prime ‐                   167              1,613        1,667        387              2,000           19%
01‐0015‐2800 Arena Summer Rentals 3,445           1,833           14,966     18,333     7,034           22,000         32%
01‐0015‐2900 Gymnasium Rental 1,311           1,000           12,233     10,000     (233)             12,000         ‐2%
01‐0015‐3000 Rink Board and Ball Diamond Advertising ‐                   29                 1,050        292           (700)             350              ‐200%
01‐0015‐3100 ORC Drink Machine  174              108              947           1,083        353              1,300           27%
01‐0015‐3735 Other Recoveries                             ‐                   42                 ‐                417           500              500              100%

Totals 4,931           6,346           64,912     63,458     11,238         76,150         15%

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0080‐4000 FT Wages ‐ ORC 4,326           4,687           46,954     46,870     9,290           56,244         17%
01‐0080‐4001 PT Wages ‐ ORC 1,882           2,126           20,374     21,256     5,133           25,507         20%
01‐0080‐4002 OT Wages ‐ ORC ‐                   100              771           1,000        429              1,200           36%
01‐0080‐4100 FT Benefits ‐ ORC 788              830              8,677        8,297        1,279           9,956           13%
01‐0080‐4101 PT Benefits ‐ ORC 84                187              909           1,866        1,330           2,239           59%
01‐0080‐4102 Manulife Benefits 621              612              6,153        6,122        1,193           7,346           16%
01‐0080‐4103 WSIB 180              199              1,998        1,991        391              2,389           16%
01‐0080‐4200 Office Supplies  69                25                 322           250           (22)               300              ‐7%
01‐0080‐4201 Hydro 1,371           1,827           20,072     18,275     1,857           21,930         8%
01‐0080‐4202 Heat 119              475              4,183        4,754        1,522           5,705           27%
01‐0080‐4203 Fuel 272              255              1,818        2,550        1,242           3,060           41%
01‐0080‐4204 Water Protection 149              67                 410           667           390              800              49%
01‐0080‐4205 Equipment Maintenance & Supplies 132              1,083           1,267        10,833     11,733         13,000         90%
01‐0080‐4208 Signage  ‐                   17                 ‐                167           200              200              100%
01‐0080‐4215 Bldg‐Cleaning, Maint,Supplies Interior 558              833              6,033        8,333        3,967           10,000         40%
01‐0080‐4216 Drink Machine Supplies ‐                   42                 533           417           (33)               500              ‐7%
01‐0080‐4217 Waste Removal 58                50                 406           500           194              600              32%
01‐0080‐4222 Bldg‐Cleaning, Maint,Supplies Exterior 428              833              2,764        8,333        7,236           10,000         72%
01‐0080‐4302 Communication(phone, fax, intern) 161              195              1,721        1,950        619              2,340           26%



 ORC Financial Report ‐ October 2015

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0080‐4305 Professional Fees ‐ Engineering ‐                   583              230           5,833        6,770           7,000           97%
01‐0080‐4308 Mileage ‐                   42                 ‐                417           500              500              100%
01‐0080‐4309 Professional Development ‐                   125              145           1,250        1,355           1,500           90%
01‐0080‐4311 Membership and Subscription Fees ‐                   13                 137           125           13                 150              8%
01‐0080‐4312 Employee Travel ‐ Meals ‐                   13                 ‐                125           150              150              100%
01‐0080‐4315 Insurance ‐                   1,287           7,358        12,871     8,087           15,445         52%
01‐0080‐4316 Advertising ‐                   42                 ‐                417           500              500              100%
01‐0080‐4320 Contract Services ‐                   29                 ‐                292           350              350              100%
01‐0080‐4321 Clothing Safety Allowance ‐                   13                 102           125           48                 150              32%

Totals 11,199        16,588         133,336   165,884   65,724         199,060      33%



 PCC Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 
 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0015‐3110 Archie MacRobbie Hall ‐ Prime 2,395           1,342           16,275     13,417     (175)             16,100        ‐1%
01‐0015‐3115 Archie MacRobbie Hall ‐ Non‐Prime 1,144           642              9,261        6,417        (1,561)          7,700           ‐20%
01‐0015‐3130 Alf Hales Room 477              358              2,587        3,583        1,713           4,300           40%
01‐0015‐3160 Licensed Events Using Patio ‐                   50                 110           500           490              600              82%
01‐0015‐3170 Commercial Rentals ‐                   63                 750           625           ‐                    750              0%
01‐0015‐3180 Bartenders 540              733              5,827        7,333        2,973           8,800           34%
01‐0015‐3190 Pop, Glasses, & Ice 39                233              1,323        2,333        1,477           2,800           53%
01‐0015‐3200 Kitchen Facilities 415              283              1,700        2,833        1,700           3,400           50%
01‐0015‐3220 Advertising Sign 189              17                 252           167           (52)               200              ‐26%
01‐0015‐3736 Other Recoveries                             2,051           100              4,602        1,000        (3,402)          1,200           ‐284%
01‐0015‐5250 Recreation Conditional Grants ‐                   431              ‐                4,306        5,167           5,167           100%

Totals 7,250           4,251           42,688     42,514     8,329           51,017        16%

EXPENDITURES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 
 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0070‐4000 FT Wages ‐ Recreation 3,364           4,101           36,344     41,011     12,870         49,213        26%
01‐0070‐4001 PT Wages ‐ Recreation 2,635           2,917           27,038     29,167     7,962           35,000        23%
01‐0070‐4002 OT Wages ‐ Recreation 113              34                 390           342           20                 410              5%
01‐0070‐4100 FT Benefits ‐ Recreation 298              395              3,231        3,952        1,512           4,742           32%
01‐0070‐4101 PT Benefits ‐ Recreation 76                256              713           2,561        2,360           3,073           77%
01‐0070‐4102 Manulife Benefits ‐ Recreation  903              897              9,029        8,967        1,732           10,761        16%
01‐0070‐4103 WSIB 177              203              1,895        2,031        542              2,437           22%
01‐0070‐4200 Office Supplies ‐                   25                 96             250           204              300              68%
01‐0070‐4201 Hydro 652              1,843           17,017     18,433     5,104           22,120        23%
01‐0070‐4202 Heat 71                273              2,774        2,725        496              3,270           15%
01‐0070‐4203 Fuel ‐                   42                 ‐                417           500              500              100%
01‐0070‐4204 Water Protection 1,205           425              3,436        4,250        1,664           5,100           33%
01‐0070‐4215 Bldg‐Cleaning, Maint,Supplies Interior 735              1,667           9,017        16,667     10,983         20,000        55%
01‐0070‐4216 Kitchen Supplies and Equipment 695              417              2,875        4,167        2,125           5,000           43%
01‐0070‐4217 Waste Removal 232              200              1,790        2,000        610              2,400           25%



 PCC Financial Report ‐ October 2015

EXPENDITURES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD 

Actual 

 YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 
 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0070‐4222 Outdoor Maintenance of Building ‐                   267              2,079        2,667        1,121           3,200           35%
01‐0070‐4302 Communication(phone, fax, intern) 195              250              2,396        2,500        604              3,000           20%
01‐0070‐4308 Mileage ‐                   21                 296           208           (46)               250              ‐18%
01‐0070‐4309 Professional Development ‐                   63                 751           625           (1)                  750              0%
01‐0070‐4311 Membership and Subscription Fees ‐                   19                 224           188           1                   225              1%
01‐0070‐4312 Employee Travel ‐ Meals ‐                   13                 38             125           112              150              74%
01‐0070‐4313 Employee Travel ‐ Accomodations ‐                   38                 299           375           151              450              34%
01‐0070‐4315 Insurance ‐                   1,439           10,112     14,390     7,156           17,267        41%
01‐0070‐4316 Advertising ‐                   292              376           2,917        3,124           3,500           89%
01‐0070‐4320 Contract Services ‐                   421              1,509        4,208        3,541           5,050           70%

Totals 11,353        16,514         133,725   165,141   64,444         198,169      33%



 Fire and Rescue Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD Actual   YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0015‐3241 Tent or Marquee Permit ‐                    58                 ‐                    583           700              700              100%
01‐0015‐3230 Open Burning Permit and Inspection 140               625               10,680         6,250        (3,180)          7,500           ‐42%
01‐0015‐3235 Burning Permit Violations ‐                    171               3,280            1,708        (1,230)          2,050           ‐60%
01‐0015‐3245 Fire Extinguisher Training ‐                    8                   ‐                    75             90                 90                100%
01‐0015‐3260 Fireworks Permits ‐                    33                 300               333           100              400              25%
01‐0015‐3210 Information/Fire Reports  ‐                    38                 75                 375           375              450              83%
01‐0015‐3215 Other Recoveries 326               208               6,150            2,083        (3,650)          2,500           ‐146%
01‐0015‐3270 Occupancy Load ‐                    17                 ‐                    167           200              200              100%
01‐0015‐3280 Fire Safety Plan Review ‐                    30                 720               300           (360)             360              ‐100%
01‐0015‐3290 Post Fire Watch ‐                    34                 ‐                    342           410              410              100%
01‐0015‐3300 Boarding up or Barricading ‐                    ‐                    ‐                    ‐                ‐                    ‐                   0%
01‐0015‐3320 Key Boxes ‐                    8                   100               83             ‐                    100              0%
01‐0015‐3330 Inspections ‐                    17                 100               167           100              200              50%
01‐0015‐3340 Motor Vehicle Emergency Responses 11,275         4,783            66,762         47,833     (9,362)          57,400        ‐16%
01‐0015‐3350 Fire Alarm False Alarm Calls ‐                    34                 410               342           ‐                    410              0%
01‐0015‐3743 Fire Donations 3,500           ‐                    7,721            ‐                (7,721)          0%

Totals 15,241         6,064            96,298         60,642     (23,528)       72,770        ‐32%

EXPENDITURES

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD Actual   YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0040‐4001 PT Wages ‐ Fire Dept 24,304         29,070         272,990       290,700   75,850         348,840      22%
01‐0040‐4101 PT Benefits ‐ Fire Dept 1,309           2,552            13,848         25,523     16,780         30,628        55%
01‐0040‐4102 Group Benefits 723               1,225            14,435         12,250     265              14,700        2%
01‐0040‐4103 WSIB 838               859               8,384            8,588        1,922           10,306        19%
01‐0040‐4200 Office Supplies  ‐                    392               4,935            3,917        (234)             4,700           ‐5%
01‐0040‐4201 Hydro 611               404               5,424            4,038        (579)             4,845           ‐12%
01‐0040‐4202 Heat 22                 80                 1,216            796           (261)             955              ‐27%
01‐0040‐4203 Fuel ‐                    922               ‐                    9,221        11,065         11,065        100%
01‐0040‐4204 Water Protection ‐                    13                 134               133           26                 160              16%
01‐0040‐4205 Equipment Maintenance & Supplies 946               1,508            25,021         15,083     (6,921)          18,100        ‐38%



 Fire and Rescue Financial Report ‐ October 2015

Account  Description

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD Actual   YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0040‐4206 Oxygen & Medical Supplies ‐                    258               3,325            2,583        (225)             3,100           ‐7%
01‐0040‐4207 Public Education ‐                    317               3,955            3,167        (155)             3,800           ‐4%
01‐0040‐4215 Cleaning, Maint & supplies for Bldg 41                 842               15,941         8,417        (5,841)          10,100        ‐58%
01‐0040‐4216 Kitchen Supplies and Equipment ‐                    100               159               1,000        1,041           1,200           87%
01‐0040‐4217 Waste Removal ‐                    33                 183               333           217              400              54%
01‐0040‐4220 Vehicle Maintenance 5,404           2,083            24,824         20,833     176              25,000        1%
01‐0040‐4302 Communication(phone, fax, intern) 515               1,058            7,495            10,583     5,205           12,700        41%
01‐0040‐4308 Mileage 147               625               5,070            6,250        2,430           7,500           32%
01‐0040‐4309 Professional Development 3,366           1,583            17,063         15,833     1,937           19,000        10%
01‐0040‐4311 Membership and Subscription Fees 350               230               3,145            2,297        (389)             2,756           ‐14%
01‐0040‐4312 Employee Travel ‐ Meals ‐                    58                 389               583           311              700              44%
01‐0040‐4313 Employee Travel ‐ Accomodations  ‐                    200               2,529            2,000        (129)             2,400           ‐5%
01‐0040‐4315 Insurance ‐                    1,084            18,366         10,841     (5,356)          13,010        ‐41%
01‐0040‐4316 Advertising ‐                    104               ‐                    1,042        1,250           1,250           100%
01‐0040‐4319 Permits ‐                    44                 471               438           54                 525              10%
01‐0040‐4320 Contract Services 915               2,133            18,003         21,333     7,597           25,600        30%
01‐0040‐4321 Clothing, Safety Allowance 794               2,562            31,865         25,617     (1,125)          30,740        ‐4%

Totals 40,286         50,340         499,170       503,401   104,911      604,081      17%



 Library Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD Actual   YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 
 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0010‐4224 Library Costs Recovered from County ‐                   172              ‐                   1,717       2,060          2,060          100%
Totals ‐                   172              ‐                   1,717       2,060          2,060          100%

EXPENDITURES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD Actual   YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 
 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0010‐4221 Library Rent for Historical society 2,251           376              4,674           3,758       (164)            4,510          ‐4%
01‐0010‐4223 Library Water Monitoring ‐                   146              1,256           1,458       494             1,750          28%

Totals 2,251           522              5,930           5,217       330             6,260          5%



 Badenoch Financial Report ‐ October 2015

REVENUES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD Actual   YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0015‐3741 Badenoch Rental Revenue ‐                   1                     10                   8               ‐                    10                0%

Totals ‐                   1                     10                  8               ‐                    10                0%

EXPENDITURES
Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD Actual   YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0150‐4200 Interior Maintenance Costs ‐                   438                ‐                      4,375       5,250           5,250          100%
01‐0150‐4204 Water Protection ‐                   5                     31                   54             34                 65                53%
01‐0150‐4320 Contract Services ‐                   13                   ‐                      125           150               150              100%
01‐0150‐4325 Badenoch Comm Ctr Grant ‐                   83                   1,000             833           ‐                    1,000          0%

Totals ‐                   539                1,031             5,388       5,434           6,465          84%



 Committees Financial Report ‐ October 2015

Recreation Committee

Account  Description  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

 YTD Actual   YTD 

Budget 

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

01‐0075‐4001 Per Diems ‐                   348              1,567           3,483        2,613             4,180              63%
01‐0075‐4309 Professional Development ‐                   83                ‐                   833            1,000             1,000              100%

Totals ‐                   432              1,567           4,317        3,613            5,180              70%

Heritage Committee

01‐0050‐4001 Per Diems ‐                   149              ‐                   1,492        1,790             1,790              100%
01‐0050‐4200 Office Supplies & Equipment ‐                   21                33                208            217                250                 87%
01‐0050‐4308 Mileage ‐                   4                   ‐                   42              50                  50                   100%
01‐0050‐4309 Professional Development ‐                   83                ‐                   833            1,000             1,000              100%

Totals ‐                   258              33                2,575        3,057            3,090              99%

Planning and Development Advisory Committee

01‐0060‐4001 Per Diems ‐                   348              ‐                   3,483        4,180             4,180              100%
01‐0060‐4308 Mileage ‐                   13                ‐                   125            150                150                 100%
01‐0060‐4309 Professional Development ‐                   208              ‐                   2,083        2,500             2,500              100%

Totals ‐                   569              ‐                   5,692        6,830            6,830              100%

EXPENDITURES



 Revenues Financial Report ‐ October 2015

Total Revenues
Department  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

Operating 

Revenues 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

Operating 

Revenues 

 YTD Actual 

Operating 

Revenues 

YTD Budget 

Operating 

Revenues

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

Corporate  120,501              84,757                926,489              847,572              90,597                1,017,086   9%
Administration  246                      259                      17,678                2,592                   (14,568)               3,110           ‐468%
Elections  ‐                           ‐                           ‐                           ‐                           ‐                           ‐                   0%
Finance  2,206                   2,017                   21,908                20,167                2,292                   24,200        9%
Building 28,277                23,283                321,841              232,833              (42,441)               279,400      ‐15%
Source Water Protection ‐                           1,250                   15,000                12,500                ‐                           15,000        0%
Planning & Development 10,548                6,333                   114,225              63,333                (38,225)               76,000        ‐50%
By‐law 3,020                   2,704                   34,404                27,042                (1,954)                 32,450        ‐6%
Public Works 225                      253                      3,924                   2,525                   (894)                     3,030           ‐30%
Parks 160                      1,072                   14,902                10,721                (2,037)                 12,865        ‐16%
Optimist Recreation Centre 4,931                   6,346                   64,912                63,458                11,238                76,150        15%
Puslinch Community Centre 7,250                   4,251                   42,688                42,514                8,329                   51,017        16%
Fire and Rescue 15,241                6,064                   96,298                60,642                (23,528)               72,770        ‐32%
Library ‐                           172                      ‐                           1,717                   2,060                   2,060           100%
Badenoch ‐                           1                           10                        8                           ‐                           10                0%
Committee ‐                           ‐                           ‐                           ‐                           ‐                           ‐                   0%
Totals 192,605              138,762              1,674,280           1,387,624           (9,131)                 1,665,148   ‐1%

Total Contributions from Working Reserves
Department  Curr Mnth 

Actual 

Operating 

Revenues 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

Operating 

Revenues 

 YTD Actual 

Operating 

Revenues 

YTD Budget 

Operating 

Revenues

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

Administration  ‐                           13,639                204                      136,385              163,458              163,662      100%
Building Surplus Reserve Fund ‐                           7,021                   ‐                           49,145                84,248                84,248        100%
Source Water Protection ‐                           2,018                   ‐                           14,125                24,215                24,215        100%
Public Works ‐                           7,083                   ‐                           49,583                85,000                85,000        100%
Totals ‐                           29,760                204                      249,238              356,921              357,125      100%



 Expenses Financial Report ‐ October 2015

Department

 Curr Mnth 

Actual 

Operating 

Expenditures 

 Curr Mnth 

Budget 

Operating 

Expenditures 

 YTD Actual 

Operating 

Expenditures 

YTD Budget 

Operating 

Expenditures

 $ Budget 

Remaining 

 Total 2015 

Budget 

 % Budget 

Remaining 

Corporate  549                      30,688                156,911              306,875              211,339              368,250      57%
Administration  23,597                39,203                336,163              392,034              134,278              470,441      29%
Council 9,025                   10,359                101,271              103,588              23,034                124,305      19%
Elections  ‐                           1,292                   15,208                12,917                292                      15,500        2%
Finance  37,731                48,967                515,003              489,667              72,597                587,601      12%
Building 24,610                30,304                275,699              303,040              87,949                363,648      24%
Source Water Protection 5,156                   3,268                   7,742                   32,679                31,472                39,215        80%
Planning & Development 11,722                10,772                114,264              107,720              15,000                129,264      12%
By‐law 14,464                6,910                   110,162              69,104                (27,238)               82,925        ‐33%
Public Works 118,501              114,468              1,007,154           1,144,681           366,463              1,373,617   27%
Parks 5,316                   6,290                   39,429                62,895                36,045                75,474        48%
Optimist Recreation Centre 11,199                16,588                133,336              165,884              65,724                199,060      33%
Puslinch Community Centre 11,353                16,514                133,725              165,141              64,444                198,169      33%
Fire and Rescue 40,286                50,340                499,170              503,401              104,911              604,081      17%
Library 2,251                   522                      5,930                   5,217                   330                      6,260           5%
Badenoch ‐                           539                      1,031                   5,388                   5,434                   6,465           84%
Committee ‐                           1,258                   1,600                   12,583                13,500                15,100        89%
Totals 315,759              388,281              3,453,798           3,882,812           1,205,576           4,659,375   26%











 

 

        COMMITTEE REPORT  
  
  

To:  Chair and Members of the Planning Committee 

From:  Aldo Salis, Manager of Development Planning 
Date:            Thursday, November 12, 2015 

Subject:  Aggregate Resources Act Review - Blueprint for Change – PD2015-37 

 

 
Background 
In 2012, the Ontario government began reviewing the Aggregate Resources Act (ARA) and its associated 
regulations and procedures. On October 30, 2013, the Standing Committee on General Government provided 
the Legislature with their detailed submission Report on the Review of the Aggregate Resources Act. In their 
review of the ARA, the Committee provided 38 recommendations for strengthening aggregate resources 
management in Ontario. 
 
In February 2014, the Province released its Comprehensive Government Response to Standing Committee on 
General Government’s Report on the Review of the Aggregate Resources Act. That submission was the combined 
effort of the Ministry of Natural Resources and other provincial ministries. With that response and input from 
various stakeholders, the Government held a series of engagement sessions over the next several months to 
hear what key stakeholders and agencies had to say about topics related to the management and regulation of 
aggregate resources in Ontario.  
 
With the results of that engagement process, the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry (MNRF) released A 
Blueprint for Change: A proposal to modernise and strengthen the Aggregate Resources Act policy framework. 
A Blueprint for Change was published on Environmental Registry (under registry number 012-5444) on October 
21, 2015. 
 
The Provincial Government considers the changes proposed by this document to effectively implement the 
Standing Committee’s 38 recommendations. 
 
Overview of Blueprint For Change 
A Blueprint for Change contains 45 proposed changes under four goals. The goals are: 
 
• Stronger Oversight - by introducing new tools, powers and provisions that improve effectiveness, efficiency 
and flexibility 
• Environmental Accountability – by updating and enhancing application requirements, developing new tools to 
deal with existing sites, and improving record keeping and reporting 
• Improved Information and Participation – by improving consistency in requirements, enhancing opportunities 
for involvement, and making information more accessible and easier to understand 
• Increased and Equalized Fees and Royalties – by indexing fees and royalties, changing Crown land fees and 
royalties, working with municipal organizations to address infrastructure impacts and creating provisions for the 
future. 
 
Through this document the Province is seeking input regarding the proposed changes prior to December 15, 
2015. 
 
 
 

114



 

The Blueprint for Change is organized into four sections: 
1. changes for new aggregate sites 
2. changes that would apply to existing and future aggregate sites 
3. changes to fees and royalties, and  
4. changes that would provide future flexibility and housekeeping amendments.  

 
The changes proposed under section 4 are generally to improve some of the Ministry’s administrative functions, 
reporting, and other organizational responsibilities. We have no specific concerns with these proposed changes 
and therefore will focus this report on the first three sections only. In terms of the first 3 sections, we list most 
of the proposed changes below but have excluded some that would not typically apply in Wellington (e.g. 
matters pertaining to management of Crown land). 
 
Wide-ranging Changes are Proposed 
The Blueprint proposes to address a variety of areas of the ARA and its supporting instruments that the Ministry 
relies on to manage aggregate resources in the Province. The proposed changes include: 
 
In establishing new sites, the Ministry is proposing:  

 enhancement to requirements for studies and information related to the natural environment, surface 
and groundwater, cultural heritage, noise, traffic and dust 

 new application requirements for requests to lower extraction depth below the water table 

 new application requirements for small, temporary extraction operations on farms 

 new study requirements for applications on agricultural lands 

 new timelines, notification, and consultation requirements (varies based on production) 

 new site plan requirement related to ‘maximum disturbed areas’ 

 new provisions to allow for peer review requirements for technical studies 

 new ‘plain language’ requirement for proposal descriptions and summary statements 

 flexibility for grandfathering existing sites in newly designated areas 

 new ability to waive application requirements in unique circumstances 

 new provisions to enable low-risk or non-commercial activities (referred to as ‘permit by rule’). 

 
With respect to the management and operation of existing and future sites, the Ministry is 
proposing: 

• new ability to establish conditions on existing aggregate sites related to source water protection 

• new provision to require additional studies, information and updated site plans for existing aggregate 

sites 

• clarify requirements for requests for a site plan amendment or a change to a licence or permit condition, 

enhancing local involvement on significant changes 

• enable self-filing of amended site plans for minor changes in certain situations 

• enhance and clarify provisions for compliance inspection and false reporting 

• standardize references and interpretation of tonnage limits across the policy framework, and clarifying 

that the total tonnage limit includes both blended and recycled materials 

• new requirements for record-keeping on the importation of fill for rehabilitation 

• establish new reporting requirements for site rehabilitation and for removal of recycled or blended 

materials (annual compliance) 

• provide administrative changes to provide liability protection for ministry employees 

• streamlining and changing the frequency of self-compliance reports 

• new and enhanced powers related to ‘no consent’ transfers and revocation in special circumstances 

• substantial increases in maximum fines issued for offences under the ARA, and elimination of the 

minimum fine to allow issuance of tickets for minor offences (under Provincial Offences Act). 

115



 

With respect to Fees and Royalties, the Ministry is proposing to: 
 index fees and royalties to the Consumer Price Index 

 establish ability to waive fees on private land sites 

 establish ability to disburse fees to recipients that have road responsibilities 

 create ability to make changes in the future that allow for broadening of the collection, disbursement 
and use of fees, and for programs to evaluate their effectiveness 

 
Note: The Province and municipal organizations are currently in discussions regarding possible changes to 
the municipal portion of the annual fees. 

 
Our Review and Findings 
Overall, we are generally satisfied with the proposed changes contained in the Province’s Blueprint. These 
changes reflect many of the concerns previously raised by municipalities, public and other stakeholders and 
should improve the management of aggregate resources and extraction operations. However, some of the 
proposed changes lack detail and, unfortunately, there are community concerns that have not been adequately 
addressed be this review. 
 
We are pleased with: 

 addressing the need for more effective rehabilitation of prime agricultural land 

 provisions that require proponents to prepare clearer plans and more technical studies  

 provisions that allow the Ministry to request new assessments/studies of existing operations 

 new study requirements regarding applications on prime agricultural land 

 requirement for a new application for existing sites that wish to extract below the water table 

 application of source water protection policies on existing aggregate sites  

 addressing the importance of promoting recycling of aggregate related products, and 

 consideration of increasing the aggregate licence annual fee (however, we would have preferred that 
the review include a firm commitment to an increase in the municipal portion).  

 
Some areas require more details: 
While there are positive changes being proposed, some changes create unease due to a lack of details. For 
example, further clarity is needed on the proposals to introduce: 

 new ‘permit to rule’ approach for low risk activities 

 new ability to waive application requirements in unique circumstances 

 provisions regarding cumulative impact assessment 

 new ability to waive fees on private land sites 
 
We are disappointed that: 
There are long-standing and emerging community and municipal concerns that have not been included in this 
proposal or have not been adequately addressed. Those concerns include: 

 a lack of commitment to provide greater capacity for MNRF inspection and enforcement 

 sunset of aggregate licences – time limits on extraction operations to recognize the PPS provision that 
this land use is interim in nature 

 dormant licenced sites – failure of Province to enact authority to rescind licences of dormant sites or 
alternatively to create new provisions of notifying the community well in advance of such sites resuming 
production after prolonged inactivity 

 integration of the timelines and public consultation provisions of ARA with Planning Act, and 

 co-ordinated and effective measures to address importation of fill at aggregate sites  
 
Note: MOECC, MNRF and other ministries are currently reviewing the need to develop an excess soil 
policy for the Province. There are concerns that changes to the ARA under this process may undermine 
the ability of municipalities to regulate such activities through local by-laws.  

116



 

 
Consultation and Further Input  
In our view, some aspects of require further details and discussion with Ministry staff to better understand the 
intent of new provincial processes and requirements. We have been advised by the Ministry that municipalities 
and other stakeholders will be provided opportunities for consultation and further input. Staff will continue to 
review the proposed changes and new changes introduced by the Government and respond accordingly. 
 
Final Observations 
It should be clear that the Blueprint for Change will not resolve the broad community concerns surrounding 
aggregate extraction in Ontario (lack of regulatory control at the municipal level, lack of meaningful public 
process). To address those concerns, a fundamental shift from the current provincial review and approval 
process would need to happen. 
 
Recommendation 
That this report be forwarded to the Province on behalf of the County of Wellington; 
 
That staff continues to monitor the progress of the Government’s review of the Aggregate Resources Act policy 
framework and provide input as necessary. 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
Respectfully submitted,  

 
Aldo L. Salis, BES, M.Sc. MCIP, RPP  
Manager of Development Planning  
Planning & Development Department 
 

117



 

 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 
      BY-LAW NO   64/15 

 

A by-law to permit the Municipality to impose 
fees or charges with respect to services or 
activities provided, related costs payable, and 
for the use of its property. 

WHEREAS Section 391(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, as amended, a 
municipality may pass By-laws imposing fees or charges for services or activities 
provided or done by or on behalf of it, for costs payable by it for services or activities 
provided or done by or on behalf of any other municipality, and for the use of its 
property including property under its control; and 
 
WHEREAS Section 7(1) of the Building Code Act, 1992, S.O. 1992, c. 23, as amended, 
provides that a municipality may pass By-laws imposing fees and charges; and 
 
WHEREAS Section 69 of the Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.P.13, as amended provides 
that the Council of a municipality may by By-law establish a tariff of fees for the 
processing of applications made in respect of planning matters; and 
 
WHEREAS The Council of the Corporation of the Township of Puslinch deems it 
appropriate to update the Township’s User Fees and Charges By-law.  
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the Township of Puslinch enacts 
as follows: 
 

1. For the purpose of this by-law: 
 

a.) “Costs” means any and all disbursements incurred by the municipality, and 
includes, but is not restricted to, any registration costs, title search costs, 
corporate search costs, survey costs, reference plan costs, advertising costs, 
outside counsel fees, paralegal fees, site inspection costs and any applicable  
taxes including P.S.T. and H.S.T.;  
 

b.) “Property Owner” includes the registered owner of property or any person, firm 
or corporation having control over or possession of the property or any portion 
thereof, including a property manager, mortgagee in possession, receiver and 
manager, trustee and trustee in bankruptcy; 

 
c.) “Township” means the Corporation of the Township of Puslinch. 

 
2. Any person requesting, applying or utilizing the services or approvals listed in the 

attached schedules and forming part of this by-law shall pay the fees listed for 
that service or approval as set out in the attached schedules. 
 

3. These fees are applicable to residents and non-residents at the rates noted 
unless there is a specified exemption in the attached schedules. 
 

4. No request by any person for a service or approval listed in the attached 
schedules shall be acknowledged or performed by the Township unless and until 
the person requesting the service or approval has paid the fee or charge for the 
service or approval as set out in the attached schedules, unless noted otherwise. 
 

5. The Township may request a deposit of up to fifty percent (50%) of the applicable 
fee or charge in certain user fees and charges as noted in the attached 
schedules. 
 

6. All Township accounts and invoices are due and payable when rendered. 
 

7. All unpaid fees or charges imposed by this By-law on a person constitute 
a debt of the person to the municipality. 



 

 

8. The Treasurer shall add the fees and charges imposed pursuant to this by-law to 
the tax roll for any real property in the Township for which all of the property 
owners are responsible for paying fees and charges under this by-law and collect 
them in the same manner as municipal taxes in accordance with Section 398 of 
the Municipal Act, 2001 S.O. Chapter 25 as amended.  
 

9. If peer or legal review costs are incurred by the Township in the processing of a 
planning application by the Township, the applicant is required to pay these costs 
to the Township. 
 

10. The Township is not obligated to further process a planning application until all 
outstanding third party fees and other disbursements have been paid by the 
applicant. 
 

11. The fees and charges listed in the schedules to this by-law shall, where 
applicable, be subject to any applicable provincial and federal taxes. 
 

12. Any fee or charge: 
 

a. authorized by a by-law that comes into effect on the same or a later date 
than this By-law; or 
 

b. included in a valid agreement entered into by the Township and one or 
more other parties, 

 
shall be the approved and imposed fee or charge for the service, activity or use 
of property specified. 
 

13. The payment of any fee or charge in this By-law shall be in Canadian currency.  
 

14. The following Schedules form part of this By-law: 
 

Schedule Department 
A Administration  
B Finance  
C Corporate 
D Public Works  
E Fire and Rescue Services 
F Building  
G Planning and Development 
H By-law 
I Parks  
J Optimist Recreation Centre  
K Puslinch Community Centre 

 
15. The rates and service charges, as outlined in the schedules attached hereto and 

forming part of this by-law, shall be implemented and take effect on January 1, 
2016. 

 
16. Should any part of this By-law including any part of the schedules, be determined 

by a Court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or of no force and effect, such 
invalid part of the By-law shall be severable and that the remainder of this By-law 
including the remainder of the Schedules, as applicable, shall continue to operate 
and to be in force and effect.  

 
 

17. This by-law shall be known as the “User Fees and Charges By-law”. 
 

18. That By-law No. 076/14 is hereby repealed.  
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

READ A FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD TIME AND FINALLY PASSED THIS XX DAY 
OF NOVEMBER, 2015.      
 
 
       

_____________________________________ 
        Dennis Lever, Mayor  

 
 

_____________________________________ 
   Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk 



SCHEDULE A: ADMINISTRATION REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF 
REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr  2015 RATE 

(NO TAX) 
 RATE 

(NO TAX) 
 13% 
HST 

 RATE 
INCL HST 

% 
CHANGE

HST 
STATUS

Freedom of Information E

Investigator Fees Flat Fee 175.00$       -$        -$       -$          -100% T

Investigator Fees Flat Fee 350.00$       -$        -$       -$          -100% T

Signature of 
Commissioner

Per 
Document 10.00$         10.00$    1.30$     11.30$      0% T

2016 RATE

COMMENTS

Regulated by Statute Charged at the rate permitted per the legislation. 

Removal of fee recommended - See Report FIN-2015-029

Removal of fee recommended - See Report FIN-2015-029

1

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE B: FINANCE REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF 
REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr  2015 RATE 

(NO TAX) 
 RATE 

(NO TAX) 
 13% 
HST 

RATE 
INCL HST

% 
CHANGE

HST 
STATUS

Administration Fee Per Invoice  $        25.00  $           -   -$      $            -   -100% T

NSF Cheque Per NSF  $        40.00  $     40.00 -$      $      40.00 0% E

Tax Certificate Per Certificate  $        60.00  $     60.00 -$      $      60.00 0% E

Tax Sale Charges T

Removal of fee recommended - See Report FIN-2015-029

2016 RATE

COMMENTS

 Cost recovery of fees and disbursements as charged by 
consultants and solicitors Actual costs incurred

2

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE C: CORPORATE REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF 
REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr 2015 RATE 

(NO TAX)
 RATE (NO 

TAX) 
13% 
HST

RATE INCL 
HST

% 
CHANGE

HST 
STATUS

Canadian Flag Per Flag 22.12$         22.12$      2.88$    25.00$       0% T

Photocopy Per Page 0.25$           0.25$        0.03$    0.28$         0% T

Township Flag Per Flag 44.25$         44.25$      5.75$    50.00$       0% T

2016 RATE

COMMENTS

 Photocopy costs for community groups and 
neighbourhood associations are exempt 

3

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE D: PUBLIC WORKS REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF 
REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr 2015 RATE 

(NO TAX)
RATE 

(NO TAX)
13% 
HST

RATE 
INCL HST

% 
CHANGE

HST 
STATUS

Entrance Permit Flat Fee  $       225.00  $  230.00 -$   $     230.00 2% E

Oversize-Overweight 
Load Permits Annual Fee  $       400.00  $  400.00 -$   $     400.00 0% E

Oversize-Overweight 
Load Permits Per Trip  $       100.00  $  100.00 -$   $     100.00 0% E

Tender Fees Per Package  $         40.00  $    40.00 -$   $       40.00 0% E

Third Party Cost 
Recovery T

2016 RATE

Actual costs incurred + $100.00 administration fee

COMMENTS

Material, equipment, labour/benefits, and 
administration costs

Tender fees applicable for Public Works projects 
administered by the Township's engineering 

consultant

4

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE E: FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICES REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr 2015 RATE 
(NO TAX)

RATE 
(NO TAX)

13% 
HST

RATE 
INCL HST

% 
CHANGE

HST 
STATUS

Boarding or Barricading Plus 
Materials Per Hour Per Truck 410.00$       410.00$   -$      410.00$     0% E

Burning Permit Violations or 
Unauthorized Open Air Burning Per Hour Per Truck 410.00$       410.00$   -$      410.00$     0% E

Daycare & Homeday Care 
Inspections Per Inspection 100.00$       100.00$   13.00$  113.00$     0% T

Emergency Responses to Motor 
Vehicle 

Occurrence/Incident/Collision
Per Hour Per Truck 410.00$       410.00$   -$      410.00$     0% E

Fire Alarm False Alarm Calls Per Hour Per Truck 410.00$       410.00$   -$      410.00$     0% E

Fire Extinguisher Training Per Person 15.00$         15.00$     1.95$    16.95$       0% T

Fire Safety Plan Review Per Plan 120.00$       120.00$   15.60$  135.60$     0% T

Industrial/Commercial/Institutio
nal/Assembly/Apartment Base Inspection 100.00$       100.00$   13.00$  113.00$     0% T

Industrial/Commercial/Institutio
nal/Assembly/Apartment

Plus each 
tenant/occupant/apartment unit 25.00$         25.00$     3.25$    28.25$       0% T

Information or Fire Reports 
Regarding Emergency Incidents                               Per Report 75.00$         75.00$     -$      75.00$       0% E

Key Boxes Per Box 100.00$       100.00$   13.00$  113.00$     0% T

Occupancy Load Flat Fee 100.00$       100.00$   -$      100.00$     0% E

As mandated in the Fire Code

Standard MTO Rate

For rapid entry for firefighters

 Any inspections completed by the fire department 
that are new, complaint driven, requested or 

mandated 

2016 RATE

COMMENTS

 Emergency responses to illegal burning or burning 
without a permit

Standard MTO Rate 

 Township residents are exempt from payment of fee 
for emergency responses where emergency occurs 
on a Township of Puslinch or County of Wellington 

Road
Standard MTO Rate

 A false alarm call after the second false alarm in any 
calendar year

Standard MTO Rate

5

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE E: FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICES REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr 2015 RATE 
(NO TAX)

RATE (NO 
TAX)

13% 
HST

RATE 
INCL HST

% 
CHANGE

HST 
STATUS

Open Air Burning Permit 
Inspection Fee Per Inspection 40.00$         40.00$     5.20$    45.20$       0% T

Open Air Burning Permit Per Permit 20.00$         20.00$     -$      20.00$       0% E

Post Fire Watch Per Hour per Truck 410.00$       410.00$   -$      410.00$     0% E

Replacement of Equipment and 
Resources Used Actual costs incurred 0% T

Sale of Fireworks Permit Per Permit 100.00$       100.00$   -$      100.00$     0% E

Setting Off or Discharge of High 
Hazard Fireworks Permit Per Permit 100.00$       100.00$   -$      100.00$     0% E

Water Tank Locks Per Lock -$            $17.80 2.31$    20.11$       100% T

Smoke Alarm Per Alarm
Special Events - Requests for 

Attendance Per Event

2016 RATE

COMMENTS

 As a result of a request to modify the terms and 
conditions of the Open Air Burning Permit 

Permit must be renewed annually

Standard MTO Rate

No fee at this time

Actual Costs incurred

 Foam and absorbal used in emergency responses 
to motor vehicle occurrence/incident/collision, open 
air burning permit violations, or unauthorized open 

air burning 

No fee at this time

For locking water tank lids closed

6

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE F: BUILDING REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr 2015 RATE 
(NO TAX)

 RATE 
(NO TAX) 

 13% 
HST 

 RATE 
INCL HST 

% 
CHANGE

HST 
STATUS

Minimum Permit Fee (For all work unless 
otherwise noted)

Minimum Permit 
Fee  $           150  $        153 -$       $          153 2% E

Minimum Permit Fee - Farm Buildings Minimum Permit 
Fee  $              -    $        300 -$       $          300 100% E

Farm Buildings Per Sq. Foot  $          0.26  $       0.27 -$       $         0.27 2% E

Single Family Dwelling Per Sq. Foot  $          1.40  $       1.43 -$       $         1.43 2% E

Single Family Dwelling Per Sq. Foot  $          1.85  $       1.89 -$       $         1.89 2% E
Interior Renovations and Finished 

Basements Per Sq. Foot  $          0.50  $       0.51 -$       $         0.51 2% E

Residential Deck Flat Fee  $           150  $        153 -$       $          153 2% E
Accessory Buildings/Attached Garage Per Sq. Foot  $          0.70  $       0.71 -$       $         0.71 2% E

Construction Value Up to $3,000,000
Per $1,000 of 
Construction 

Value
 $        10.00  $     11.00 -$       $       11.00 10% E

Construction Value Over $3,000,000
Per $1,000 of 
Construction 

Value
 $          7.00  $       7.14 -$       $         7.14 2% E

Alternative Solution Application Flat Fee  $      350.00 

Alternative Solution Application - Part 9 
Residential Buildings Flat Fee  $              -    $   357.00 -$       $          357 100% E

COMMENTS

up to 225 m2 (2,421 sq. foot) - total area

2016 RATE

OTHER PERMIT FEES

over 225 m2 (2,421 sq. foot) - total area

CONSTRUCTION - NEW BUILDINGS & ADDITIONS

RESIDENTIAL

AGRICULTURAL
Minimum Permit Fee of $300

INSTITUTIONAL, COMMERCIAL & INDUSTRIAL

 Fee to be applied to residential and 
accessory structures. Third party review 

likely not required. 

 N/A - See Below 

7

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE F: BUILDING REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr 2015 RATE 
(NO TAX)

 RATE 
(NO TAX) 

 13% 
HST 

 RATE 
INCL HST 

% 
CHANGE

HST 
STATUS

Alternative Solution Application - Part 3 
and Part 9 Other than Residential 

Buildings
Flat Fee  $              -    $   650.00 -$       $          650 100% E

Sign Permits Flat Fee  $              -    $   255.00 -$       $          255 100% E

Conditional Permits E

Deferral of Revocation of Permit Flat Fee  $      150.00  $   153.00 -$       $          153 2% E
Demolition Permit Flat Fee  $      150.00  $   153.00 -$       $          153 2% E

Designated Structure Permit Flat Fee  $      400.00  $   408.00 -$       $     408.00 2% E
Occupancy Permit Flat Fee  $      150.00  $   153.00 -$       $     153.00 2% E

Reactivate Abandoned Permit Flat Fee  $      150.00  $   153.00 -$       $     153.00 2% E

Reproduction of Drawings Flat Fee 50.00$          $     50.00 6.50$     $       56.50 0% T

Revision to a Permit Flat Fee  $      150.00  $   153.00 -$       $     153.00 2% E
Revision to a Permit Flat Fee  $      300.00  $   306.00 -$       $     306.00 2% E

Septic System Flat Fee  $      600.00  $   612.00 -$       $     612.00 2% E
Septic System Flat Fee  $      450.00  $   459.00 -$       $     459.00 2% E

Special Inspection Fee Flat Fee  $      100.00  $   102.00 13.26$   $     115.26 2% T

Tent or Marquee Application Fee Per Permit 250.00$        $   255.00 -$      255.00$     2% E

Transfer of Permit Flat Fee  $      150.00  $   153.00 -$       $     153.00 2% E
Re-inspect works not ready Flat Fee  $              -    $   153.00 -$       $     153.00 100% E

Re-inspect code violations/deficiencies Flat Fee  $              -    $     76.00 -$       $       76.00 100% E

  Listed per Div.A, 1.3.1.1 Solar 

20% of permit fee  Fee is in addition to all other required 
permit fees 

Current rate covers costs

Tents and air-supported structures shall 
be in conformance with the Building 

Code and Section 2.9 of the Fire Code

Alter, Repair or extend existing system

 Fee payable before re-inspection and 
applies after first re-inspection 

 Fee includes third party review of 
applications as well as staff time for 

researching the proposal. 

Fee payable before re-inspection

2016 RATE

COMMENTS

 Before Permit is issued
After Permit is issued

New system

8

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE F: BUILDING REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr 2015 RATE 
(NO TAX)

 RATE 
(NO TAX) 

 13% 
HST 

 RATE 
INCL HST 

% 
CHANGE

HST 
STATUS

Partial Inspection Flat Fee  $              -    $     76.00 -$       $       76.00 100% E

Sewage System Evaluation Flat Fee  $              -    $   153.00 -$       $     153.00 100% E

Notes to Building

Note 1: Interpretations

(a) Floor area of the proposed work is to be measured to the outer face of exterior walls
(b) Unfinished basements and attached garages for new dwellings are not included in floor areas
(c) Unfinished loft space or bonus room to be included in area calculations

Note 2: Where the fees are based on the cost of valuation of the proposed work, such cost or valuation shall mean the total cost of  all work regulated by the permit and without 
restricting the  generality of the foregoing, shall include the cost of all material, labour, equipment, overhead and professional and related services.

Note 3: Fees are to be rounded to the nearest dollar.

Note 4: The Chief Building Official may place a valuation on the cost of work and the permit applicant shall pay the prescribed fee(s) before issuing the permit.

 Applies to the review of sewage system 
evaluations by the Building department. 

 Fee payable before inspection for part of 
a prescribed inspection 

2016 RATE

COMMENTS

9

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE G: PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr 2015 RATE 
(NO TAX)

RATE 
(NO TAX)

13% 
HST

RATE 
INCL HST

% 
CHANGE

HST 
STATUS

Grading Review Deposit Flat Fee  $    2,000.00  $    2,000.00 -$      $    2,000.00 0% E
Minor Variance * Administration fee  $       650.00  $       663.00 -$      $       663.00 2% E

Other Agreements * Administration fee  $       500.00  $       500.00 -$      $       500.00 0% E

Part Lot Control Exemption 
By-law * Administration fee  $       550.00  $       550.00 -$      $       550.00 0% E

Plan of Subdivision or 
Condominium Agreement * Administration fee  $       750.00  $       750.00 -$      $       750.00 0% E

Site Plan Control * Administration fee  $    2,000.00  $    2,040.00 -$      $    2,040.00 2% E

Zoning By-law - Copy Flat Fee  $         40.00  $         40.00 5.20$     $         45.20 0% T

Zoning By-Law Amendment * Administration fee  $    2,000.00 

Standard Zoning By-Law 
Amendment Flat Fee  $               -    $  11,200.00 -$      $  11,200.00 100% E

Minor Zoning By-Law 
Amendment Flat Fee  $               -    $    3,600.00 -$      $    3,600.00 100% E

Zoning By-Law Amendment - 
Aggregate * Administration fee  $    7,500.00  $  15,000.00 -$      $  15,000.00 100% E

Zoning Compliance Letter Flat Fee  $         75.00  $         75.00 -$      $         75.00 0% E

Consent Review and Condition 
Clearances Flat Fee  $               -    $       125.00 -$      $       125.00 100% E

Telecommunication Tower 
Proposals Flat Fee  $               -    $       500.00 -$      $       500.00 100% E

Fee charged is consistent for all Township 
departments

For recovery of the costs of facilitating, 
preparing, and discharging a Plan of 

Subdivision or Condominium Agreement

For recovery of the costs of facilitating, 
preparing, and discharging any other planning 

and development agreements (ie. consent) 

 N/A - see below 

2016 RATE

COMMENTS

Applicable for new dwellings

Site Plan Approval Application

10

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE G: PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

Notes to Planning

* the fees denoted with an asterisk are also subject to the Township's disbursements and third party consultant fees incurred for the processing of the application.

A Standard Zoning By-law Amendment Application may include, but is not limited, to the following: 

•         Change in zoning category; 
•         Larger commercial/industrial/residential applications;
•         A major change of use to an existing building or structure;
•         Requirement of technical studies (ie. storm water management, geotechnical, hydrological, environmental impact assessment, etc.) 

Township staff have the discretion to determine whether a zoning by-law amendment application is classified as minor. 

A Minor Zoning By-law Amendment Application may include, but is not limited, to the following:
•         The change in use is compatible with the current zoning designation and does not require the submission of any technical studies;
•         Adding a low impact use to an existing zone;
•         Temporary use;
•         Low impact zone changes involving single or semi-detached dwellings;
•         No change in zoning category

11

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE H: BY-LAW REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr  2015 RATE (NO 
TAX) 

 RATE (NO 
TAX) 

 13% 
HST 

 RATE INCL 
HST 

% 
CHANGE

HST 
STATUS

Dog Tags Per Tag 25.00$                 25.00$      -$       $        25.00 0% E

Fence Viewer's Application Per Application 300.00$               300.00$    -$       $      300.00 0% E

Grading Deposit Flat Fee  $              500.00  $    600.00 -$       $      600.00 20% E

Inspection Permit - LCBO Per Inspection 100.00$               102.00$    -$      102.00$      2% E

Kennel Licence Per Licence 175.00$               179.00$    -$       $      179.00 2% E

Lottery Licence E

Mobile Food Service - Operator Per License 100.00$               100.00$    -$       $      100.00 0% E

Mobile Food Service - Owner Per License 200.00$               200.00$    -$       $      200.00 0% E

Municipal Addressing Signs Flat Fee  $                40.00  $      40.00 5.20$     $        45.20 0% T

Pool Enclosure Permit Flat Fee  $              350.00 357.00$    -$       $      357.00 2% E

Septic Compliance Letter Flat Fee  $                75.00  $      75.00 -$       $        75.00 0% E

Site Alteration Permit Service Fee Per Tonne of Fill  $                  0.06  $        0.06 -$       $          0.06 0% E

Site Alteration Permit Application * Administration 
fee 

 $250 plus $50 
per hectare  E

Special Occasion Permit Per Letter  $                75.00  $      75.00 -$       $        75.00 0% E

* the fees denoted with an asterisk are also subject to the Township's disbursements and third party consultant fees incurred for the processing of the application.

 Requested or required inspection of 
licensed sales establishments (as 

defined by the Liquor Licence 
Establishment Board of Ontario) that 
requires an inspection and/or a letter 

 To cover the costs of the blade and 
post. No cost for installation of the 

municipal addressing signs 

3% of prize value

Paid at time of application

More than 3 dogs

 $1,800 plus $75 per hectare (rounded to the 
greater whole aggregate). 

Maximum of 3 dogs

 Fee charged is consistent for all 
Township departments 

2016 RATE

COMMENTS

Fee regulated by AGCO 
(Nevada, Raffle, Bazaar, etc.)

Pool Enclosure Permit

Fee dependent on Mobile Food Service 
Vehicle Licensing By-law

12

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE I: PARKS REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr 2015 RATE 
(NO TAX)

RATE (NO 
TAX)

13% 
HST

RATE INCL 
HST % CHANGE HST 

STATUS

Aberfoyle/Old Morriston Ball Parks Per Hour before 
8:30 pm  $           20.00  $    20.00  $   2.60  $      22.60 0%  T 

Aberfoyle/Old Morriston Ball Parks Per Hour after 8:30 
pm  $           30.00  $    30.00  $   3.90  $      33.90 0%  T 

Aberfoyle/Old Morriston/Morriston 
Meadows Ball Parks Per Day  $         150.00  $  150.00  $19.50  $    169.50 0%  T 

Aberfoyle/Old Morriston/Morriston 
Meadows Ball Parks

Extra dragging and 
lining  $           40.00  $    40.00  $   5.20  $      45.20 0%  T 

Morriston Meadows Ball Park Per Hour  $           20.00  $    20.00  $   2.60  $      22.60 0%  T 

Ball Diamond Advertising Per Season  $         175.00  $  175.00  $22.75  $    197.75 0%  T 

Horse Paddock Rental Per Day  $         200.00  $  200.00  $26.00  $    226.00 0%  T 

Picnic Shelter Per Hour  $           20.00  $    20.00  $   2.60  $      22.60 0%  T 

Sports Facility User Fees Per Resident  $           10.00  $    10.00  $      -    $      10.00 0%  E 

Sports Facility User Fees Per Non-Resident  $           25.00  $    25.00  $      -    $      25.00 0%  E 

Security Deposit Per Fireworks 
Display 500.00$         500.00$   -$     500.00$    0% E

Fees collected from Minor Soccer, Old Timers 
Baseball, Senior Ladies Baseball, 

Junior/Intermediate Men's Fastball, Minor 
Baseball, Morriston Men's League, and Tennis
Security deposit for the clean up of Township 

lands after use for fireworks display

2016 RATE

COMMENTS

$300.00 damage deposit; rental restricted to 
horse paddock and tractor pull area; bookings 

available from June 15 to September 15

To a maximum of $80.00 per reservation

Available from May to October

Evening booking includes 1 dragging and 
lining

Bookings available after May 1st of each year
Evening booking includes 1 dragging and 

lining
Bookings available after May 1st of each year

Full day booking includes 2 draggings and 
linings

Bookings available after May 1st of each year

Only available with a minimum of 2 hour 
booking

Evening booking includes 1 dragging and 
lining

Bookings available after May 1st of each year

13

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE J: OPTIMIST RECREATION CENTRE REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF 
REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr 2015 RATE 

(NO TAX)
RATE 

(NO TAX)
13% 
HST

RATE 
INCL HST

% 
CHANGE

HST 
STATUS

Arena Summer Rentals Per Hour  $        65.00  $             65.00  $   8.45  $        73.45 0%  T 

Ice Rental - Non - Prime Per Hour  $        78.00  $             78.00  $ 10.14  $        88.14 0% T

Ice Rental - Prime Per Hour  $      155.00  $           155.00  $ 20.15  $      175.15 0% T

Gymnasium Rental Per Hour  $        26.00  $             26.00  $   3.38  $        29.38 0%  T 

Rink Board Advertising Per Year  $      350.00  $           350.00  $ 45.50  $      395.50 0%  T 

2016 RATE

COMMENTS

Weekdays from 5 to 10 pm, Saturday, Sunday

Weekdays from 9 am to 5 pm

Includes use of change rooms

14

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE K: PUSLINCH COMMUNITY CENTRE REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr 2015 RATE 
(NO TAX)

RATE (NO 
TAX) 13% HST RATE INCL 

HST % CHANGE HST 
STATUS

Alf Hales Room Per Hour 25.00$        25.00$     3.25$          28.25$      0% T

Archie MacRobbie Hall - Non-
Prime Per 4 Hour Rental 215.00$      215.00$   27.95$        242.95$    0% T

Archie MacRobbie Hall - Non-
Prime Per Hour after 4 Hours -$            45.63$     5.93$          51.56$      100% T

Archie MacRobbie Hall - Non-
Prime Full Day Rental 365.00$      365.00$   47.45$        412.45$    0% T

Archie MacRobbie Hall - 
Prime Full Day Rental 479.00$      479.00$   62.27$        541.27$    0% T

Archie MacRobbie Hall - Non-
Prime Full Day Rental 357.00$      357.00$   46.41$        403.41$    0% T

Commercial Rentals  (ie. 
Auctions) Full Day Rental 750.00$      750.00$   97.50$        847.50$    0% T

Use of Kitchen Facilities Per 4 Hour Rental 105.00$      105.00$   13.65$        118.65$    0% T

Use of Kitchen Facilities Per Hour After 4 
Hours 25.00$        25.00$     3.25$          28.25$      0% T

Licenced Events Using Patio Flat Rate 55.00$        55.00$     7.15$          62.15$      0% T

Includes use of kitchen facilities

Friday and Saturday Rentals
includes use of kitchen facilities

Dishes, silverware, cooking utensils, 
dishwasher, coffee maker

Dishes, silverware, cooking utensils, 
dishwasher, coffee maker

Monday to Thursday and Sunday Rentals
includes use of kitchen facilities

Maximum of 8 hours

2016 RATE

Sunday Rentals
includes use of kitchen facilities

Monday to Thursday and Sunday Rentals
includes use of kitchen facilities

Monday to Thursday Rentals
includes use of kitchen facilities

COMMENTS

Patio Fencing

15

Attachment 1



SCHEDULE K: PUSLINCH COMMUNITY CENTRE REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
EFFECTIVE 2016

TYPE OF REVENUE/USER Unit/Descr 2015 RATE 
(NO TAX)

RATE (NO 
TAX) 13% HST RATE INCL 

HST % CHANGE HST 
STATUS

Rental Deposit T

Security Deposit Per Booking 365.00$      365.00$   -$           365.00$    0% E

Bartenders Flat Rate 115.00$      115.00$   14.95$        129.95$    0% T

Bartenders Per Hour of Overtime 20.00$        20.00$     2.60$          22.60$      0% T

Fountain Pop Package Per Pound 1.30$          1.30$       0.17$          1.47$        0% T

9 oz Glasses Per Package of 100 6.00$          6.00$       0.78$          6.78$        0% T

14 oz Glasses Per Package of 50 6.00$          6.00$       0.78$          6.78$        0% T

Ice Per Bag 2.00$          2.00$       0.26$          2.26$        0% T

Advertising Sign Two lines/Week 32.00$        32.00$     4.16$          36.16$      0% T

Advertising Sign Four Lines/Week 63.00$        63.00$     8.19$          71.19$      0% T

2016 RATE

COMMENTS

No charge for Puslinch Community Centre 
Facility rentals

No charge for Puslinch Community Centre 
Facility rentals

Includes ice, cups, and fountain pop

Deposit is to be non-refundable and forfeited 
unless notice of cancellation is received by the 

Recreation Department 60 days prior to the 
event with the balance of the rental due 15 

days before the event

50% of total contract rental fee

Deposit is refundable after function if there are 
no damages and key is returned

Smart Serve Certified

Smart Serve Certified

16

Attachment 1


	C03 November 18, 2015 -  Council Agenda
	2015 11 04 - Council Meeting Minutes 
	2015 09 10 -  Public Meeting Minutes - Ferarro
	2015 10 21 - Public Meeting  Minutes - Frosch
	Notice of Public Open House - Parks Master Plan - November 26 2015
	Communications
	Item 6.1(a) 
	Item 6.2(a)
	Item 6.3(a)
	Item 6.4(a)
	Item 6.5(a)
	Item 6.6(a)
	Item 6.6(b)
	Item 6.6(c)
	Item 6.7(a)
	Item 6.8(a)
	Item 6.9(a)

	Intergovernmental Items
	IG#1
	IG #2
	IG#3
	IG#4
	IG#5
	IG#6
	IG#7
	IG#8
	IG#9
	IG#10
	IG#11
	IG#12

	Presentation - November 6th  Fire Master Plan Final Report Council Presentation
	Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services  Monthly Report - October 2015
	FIR-2015-004 Master Fire Plan
	REPORT FIR 2015-004 - Master Fire Plan
	Schedule "A" - Puslinch Fire and Rescue Services Master Fire Plan - Final Report 
	Table of Contents
	Executive Summary
	1.0 Introduction
	PUSLINCH LOCATION MAP
	2.0 Legislation
	3.0 Administration Division
	4.0 Community Risk Profile
	5.0 Fire Prevention & Public Education
	6.0 Training Division
	7.0 Fire Suppression Division
	SATELILITE STATION TEST TRIAL LOCATION
	CURRENT SUPERIOR TANKER SHUTTLE ACCREDIATION
	HISTORICAL CALLS (JANUARY 2009 -OCTOBER 2014)
	ROCKWOOD AUTOMATIC AID COVERAGEAREA
	CAMBRIDGE FIRE PROTECTION AGREEMENT
	EXISTING CONDITIONS - NFPA 1720RURAL AREA DEMAND ZONE COVERAGE
	PROPOSED CITY OF CAMBRIDGE AUTOMATICAID COVERAGE
	PROPOSED CITY OF GUELPH AUTOMATICAID COVERAGE
	OPTION "A" SATELLITE STATION LOCATION
	OPTION "B" SATELLITE STATION LOCATION
	OPTION "C" SATELLITE STATION LOCATION


	8.0 Station, Apparatus & Equipment
	9.0 Communications & Technology
	10.0 Economic Circumstances
	11.0 Public Consultation Process
	12.0 Implementation Plan
	Appendix A Comprehensive Fire SafetyEffectiveness Model (PFSG 01-02-01)
	Appendix B Framework for Setting Guidelineswithin a Provincial-MunicipalRelationship (PFSG 00-00-01)
	Appendix C Master Planning Process for FireProtection Services (PFSG 03-02-13)
	Appendix DFire Protection Review Process(PFSG 01-01-01)
	Appendix E Economic Circumstances (PFSG 02-03-01)
	Appendix F Comprehensive Community Fire RiskAssessment (PFSG 02-02-03)
	Appendix G Capabilities of Existing Fire ProtectionServices (PFSG 02-04-01)
	Appendix H - 1A Economic Circumstances
	Appendix I Selection of Appropriate FirePrevention Programs (PFSG 04-40-03)
	Appendix J Sample Establishing and Regulating Bylaw(PFSG 01-03-12)
	Appendix K Co-ordination, Development, Approvaland Distribution of Standard OperatingGuidelines for Various Disciplines (PFSG04-69-13)
	Appendix L Community Risk Profile (Township ofPuslinch) & Operational Planning: AnOfficial Guide to Matching ResourceDeployment and Risk (PFSG 04-08-10)
	FIRE RISK AND RESPONSETOWNSHIP GEOGRAPHY
	Appendix M Fire Prevention Policy (PFSG 04-45-12)
	Appendix N Definitions of the OFMEM ResponseTypesTownship of


	2015 Essentials of Municipal Fire Protection  Emergency Management - IG Item
	Cover Page 07.2015.2
	Draft Essentials 2015 FINAL for print aka V.07.2015.1

	Guidebook 072015.2 - FINAL
	Introduction
	Contact Information
	Office of the Fire Marshal & Emergency Management
	Structure of the OFMEM
	Prevention & Risk Management Division
	Technical Services
	Planning & Exercise
	Training
	Academic Standards & Evaluation

	Field and Advisory Services Division
	Advice and Assistance Unit
	Monitor, Audit and Review Unit
	Northern Fire Protection Program and First Nations Program Unit
	Inspections and Enforcement Unit
	Public Safety Education Section

	Response Division
	Fire Investigation Services
	Emergency Preparedness Response Unit

	Administration & Business Services Division:
	Ontario Fire College:

	Promoting Public Safety and Safer Communities
	Fire Service:  Three Lines of Defence
	Emergency Management Doctrine for Ontario:
	Five Components of Emergency Management


	Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997, Municipal Requirements
	1. Roles
	i. Municipality
	ii. Fire Chief
	iii. Assistants to the Fire Marshal, Part III
	iv. Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management

	2. Responsibilities
	a:  Declaration of Annual Compliance
	b:  OFMEM Directives, Standards & Guidelines
	i. Public Fire Safety Guidelines
	ii. Fire Marshal’s Directives Relevant to this Section
	c:  Reporting of Fires and Explosions Requiring Investigation
	d:  Standard Incident Report (SIR) Filing
	iii. Technical Guidelines and Reports


	Enforcement of Offences Under the FPPA
	i. Technical Guideline (TG-01-2012) - Fire Safety Inspections and Enforcement
	ii. Technical Guideline (TG-02-2009) - Commencing Proceedings Under Part I of the Provincial Offences Act

	1. Municipally Determined Fire Protection Services
	A. Municipal Responsibilities
	B. Determining Municipal Fire Protection Services
	i. Municipal Risk Assessment
	ii. Fire Protection Agreements
	iii. Administration and Governance
	a. Establishing and Regulating Bylaw
	b. Other Fire-related By-Laws
	c. Policies and Operating Guidelines

	iv. Records Management
	v. Public Fire Safety Education
	vi. Fire Safety Inspections and Enforcement
	vii. Fire Protection Services/Emergency Response
	viii. Communications
	ix. Fire Investigations
	x. Training
	xi. Occupational Health & Safety Section 21 Guidance Notes

	C. OFMEM Municipal Fire Protection Services Review
	Components of the Fire Protection Services Review process may include:

	D. FPPA, PART IX Firefighters: Employment and Labour Relations
	E. FPPA, Part XII Miscellaneous

	1. Fire Code - O. Reg 213/07
	A. Roles and Responsibilities
	i. Owner
	ii. Chief Fire Official

	B. Amendments to the Fire Code – Carbon Monoxide
	i. Testing and Maintenance
	ii. Resources


	2. Mandatory Inspection- Fire Drill in Vulnerable Occupancy - O. Reg. 364/13
	Fire Marshal Directives Relevant to this Regulation

	3. Mandatory Assessment of Complaints and Requests for Approval - O. Reg. 365/13
	Fire Marshal Directives Relevant to this Regulation

	1. Fire Risk Management Tools
	A. Municipal Risk Assessment
	B. Fire Risk Sub-Model
	C. Integrated Risk Management (IRM) Web-Tool
	D. Comprehensive Fire Safety Effectiveness Model

	2. Province of Ontario Mutual Aid Plan
	A. Highlights of the Minimum Conditions for Participating in Provincial Mutual Aid
	B. Fire Co-ordinators
	C. Highlights of the Roles and Responsibilities of Fire Co-ordinators

	3. Requesting Provincial (OFMEM) Resources for Major Incidents
	4. Additional Provincial Resources for HAZMAT/CBRNE Response and HUSAR
	Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act Requirements
	A. Roles and Responsibilities
	1. Municipality
	a. Municipal Emergency Management Programs
	b. Hazard and risk assessment and infrastructure identification
	Hazard and risk assessment and infrastructure identification [EMCPA, s.2.1(3)]
	c. Municipal Emergency Plan
	Municipal emergency plan [EMCPA, s.3.(1)]
	Co-ordination by county [EMCPA, s.3.(3)]
	Training and exercises [EMCPA, s.3.(5)]
	3.(5)  Every municipality shall conduct training programs and exercises to ensure the readiness of employees of the municipality and other persons to act under the emergency plan. 2002, c. 14, s. 5 (3).
	Review of Plan [EMCPA, s.3.(6)]
	3.(6)  Every municipality shall review and, if necessary, revise its emergency plan every year. 2002, c. 14, s. 5 (3).
	Emergency plans submitted to Chief [EMCPA, s.6.2(1)]
	d. Declaration of Emergency
	Declaration of emergency [EMCPA, s.4.(1)]
	Declaration of emergency [EMCPA, s.7.0.1(1)]
	e. Termination of Municipal Emergency Declaration
	Declaration as to termination of emergency [EMCPA, s.4.(2)]
	Termination of emergency [EMCPA, s.7.0.7(1)]
	Premier may declare emergency terminated [EMCPA, s.4.(4)]

	2.  Office of the Fire Marshal and Emergency Management
	Protection from action [EMCPA, s.11.(1)]
	Municipality not relieved of liability [EMCPA, s.11.(3)]



	Roles and Responsibilities
	1. Emergency Management Program Co-ordinator (CEMC)
	Emergency Management Program Co-ordinator [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.10.]
	i. Training Requirements for Emergency Management Program Co-ordinator (CEMC)
	Emergency management program co-ordinator, [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.10.(2)]
	2. Emergency Management Program Committee
	Emergency Management Program Committee [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.11.]
	3. Municipal Emergency Control Group (MECG)
	Municipal Emergency Control Group (MECG) [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.12.]
	i. Training & Practice Exercise Requirements for Municipal Emergency Control Group
	Municipal Emergency Control Group (MECG) [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.12.(3), (6)]
	4. Emergency Operations Centre
	Emergency operations centre [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.13.(1)]
	5. Emergency Information Officer
	Emergency information officer [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.14.]
	6. Emergency Plan under O. Reg. 380/04
	Emergency response plan [O.Reg. 380/04, Part II, s.15.]
	i. Standards for emergency management programs and emergency plans 14. (1)
	Standards for emergency management programs and emergency plans [EMCPA, s.14.(1)]
	ii. Conformity to standards required 14. (3)
	Conformity to standards required [EMCPA, s.14.(3)]
	1. Critical Infrastructure for Hazards Identification and Risk Assessment
	2. Emergency Management Portal
	3. Public Education on Ontario Hazards
	4. Provincial Emergency Operation Centre
	5. Ontario Disaster Relief Assistance Program (ODRAP)
	6. Checklist in Consideration of a Declaration of Emergency

	Provincial Legislation & Regulations
	1. Fire Protection and Prevention Act (FPPA), 1997 & Fire Code
	Ministry Responsible

	2. Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act
	Ministry Responsible

	3. Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act – Ontario Regulation 380/04 – Standards
	Ministry Responsible

	4. Occupational Health and Safety Act
	Ministry Responsible
	Overview of Occupational Health and Safety Act
	i. Firefighters – Protective Equipment - O. Reg. 714/94


	5. Health & Safety Section 21
	Index of Fire Fighting Guidance Notes

	6. Provincial Offences Act, 1990
	Ministry Responsible
	Overview of Provincial Offences Act

	7. Municipal Act, 2001
	Ministry Responsible
	Overview of Municipal Act

	8. Building Code Act, 1992 & Building Code, 2012
	Ministry Responsible
	Important Points

	9. Highway Traffic Act
	Ministry Responsible
	Important Points

	10. Forest Fire Prevention Act
	Ministry Responsible
	Important Points

	11. Day Nurseries Act, 1990, Reg. 262
	Ministry Responsible
	Important Points

	12. Technical Standards and Safety Act, 2000
	Important Points
	Ministry Responsible
	Overview of Technical Standards and Safety Act
	Technical Standards and Safety Authority (TSSA) Fuels
	i. Propane Storage and Handling- O. Reg.  211/01


	13. Environmental Protection Act, 1990
	Ministry Responsible
	Important Points

	14. Dangerous Goods Transportation Act, 1990
	Ministry Responsible
	Important Points

	15. Development Charges Act, 1997
	Ministry Responsible
	Important Points

	16. Coroners Act, 1990
	Ministry Responsible
	Important Points

	17. Employment Standards Act, 2000
	Ministry Responsible
	Important Points

	18. Human Rights Code, 1990
	Commission Responsible
	Important Points

	19. Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, 1990
	Commission Responsible
	Important Points

	20. Pesticides Act, 1990
	Ministry Responsible
	Important Points

	21. Workplace Safety and Insurance Act, 1997
	Ministry Responsible
	Important Points


	Federal Legislation & Regulations
	1. Criminal Code
	Department Responsible
	Important Points

	2. Canada Shipping Act
	Department Responsible
	Important Points

	3. Transportation of Dangerous Goods Act
	Department Responsible
	Important Points

	4. Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms (Constitution of Canada)
	Department Responsible

	A. Other Industry Standards
	The National Fire Protection Association (NFPA)
	Other Standards include:
	Manufacturer’s Recommendations
	Association Advisory Notes



	Essentials 2015-FINAL 07.2015
	app 1-Otonabee-South Monaghan - 2005-46 ER By-law
	app 2-Core Services Checklist Case Study
	app 3-Components of Compreh EM
	Essentials Participant Seminar Evaluation
	Part 1 – Learning Value
	Part 2 – Guidebook/Material
	Part 3 – Seminar Features
	Part 4 – Seminar Facilitators
	Part 5 – Facilities and Preparation
	Part 6 – General
	Part 7 – Background Information (Optional)
	Position/Title:


	Financial Reports - October 2015
	Item 8.2(a)(i) - Financial Report - October 2015 - Summary
	Item 8(a)(ii) Cheque Register - October 1 2015 to October 31 2015
	Item 8(a)(iii)  - Financial Report - October 2015 - Department Summaries
	Corporate Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	Administration Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	Council Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	Elections Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	Finance Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	Building Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	Source Water Protection Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	Planning Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	By‐law Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	Public Works Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	Parks Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	ORC Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	PCC Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	Fire and Rescue Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	Library Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	Badenoch Financial Report ‐ October 2015
	Committees Financial Report ‐ October 2015

	Item 8(a)(iv) Financial Report - October 2015 - Revenues
	Item 8(a)(iv) - Financial Report - October 2015 - Expenditures

	Chief Building Official Report - October 2015
	County of Wellington Planning Report - Aggregate Resources Act Review - Blueprint for Change - November 12, 2015
	County of Wellington Planning Committee Report - Aggregate Resources Act Review - Blueprint for Change – PD2015-37

	By-Law 64/15 - A by-law to permit the Municipality to imposefees or charges with respect to services oractivities provided, related costs payable, andfor the use of its property
	SCHEDULE A: ADMINISTRATION REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
	SCHEDULE B: FINANCE REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
	SCHEDULE C: CORPORATE REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
	SCHEDULE D: PUBLIC WORKS REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
	SCHEDULE E: FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICES REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
	SCHEDULE F: BUILDING REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
	SCHEDULE G: PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
	SCHEDULE H: BY-LAW REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
	SCHEDULE I: PARKS REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
	SCHEDULE J: OPTIMIST RECREATION CENTRE REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES
	SCHEDULE K: PUSLINCH COMMUNITY CENTRE REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICE CHARGES




